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N E T  I N C O M E  Thanks to – in some cases extraordinarily – successful 

disposals and the strong performance of investments in the new 

focus sectors, net income exceeded expectations, surpassing the 

previous year’s figure by more than half as much again. Once again, 

net income was burdened by negative capital market developments.

R E T U R N  With a return on equity per share of 9.1 per cent, we once 

again easily earned our cost of equity in 2018/2019, thus enhancing 

the company value of Deutsche Beteiligungs AG. In a long­term 

comparison, however, the financial year fell short of our ten­year 

average for return on equity after taxes of 11.5 per cent.

P E R F O R M A N C E   Our share price development was very volatile 

throughout the 2018/2019 financial year. Overall, the share price 

developed slightly better than the Dax and clearly outperformed the 

S­Dax index. Our shareholders benefited from an increase in value by 

2.0 per cent. The longer­term development is of more importance: 

over a period of three, five and ten years, DBAG shares have out­

performed their benchmark indices – strongly in most cases.

N E T  A S S E T  VA L U E   Net asset value increased only marginally. 

After adjusting for distributions, year­on­year growth amounts to 

23.2 million euros, an increase of 5.2 per cent.

N E T  I N C O M E F R O M F U N D I N V E S T M E N T  S E R V I C E S   The results of the 

Fund Investment Services segment did not meet our expectations. In 

contrast to expectations, segment income failed to rise – in fact it 

decreased (mainly due to various disposals). The segment result – and 

thus the contribution to the Company’s value growth – fell short of 

the previous year’s figure as well.
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For further information on the DBAG share please refer to  pages 32 ff.
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KO N Z E R N E R G E B N I S   Das Konzernergebnis ist dank zum Teil über­

durchschnittlich erfolgreicher Veräußerungen und der guten Ent­

wicklung der Beteiligungen aus den neuen Fokussektoren besser 

ausgefallen als erwartet und übertrifft den Vorjahreswert um mehr 

als die Hälfte. Es war wieder durch negative Kapitalmarkteinflüsse 

belastet.

R E N D I T E   Mit einer Rendite auf das Eigenkapital je Aktie von  

9,1 Prozent haben wir die Kosten des Eigenkapitals auch 2018/2019 

 sicher verdient und den Wert der Deutschen Beteiligungs AG 

 gesteigert. Im langjährigen Vergleich bleibt das Geschäftsjahr jedoch 

hinter dem Durchschnittserfolg des zehnjährigen Betrachtungshori­

zonts von 11,5 Prozent Eigenkapital rendite nach Steuern zurück.

W E R T E N T W I C K L U N G   Die Kursentwicklung unserer Aktie war 

2018/2019 sehr volatil. Insgesamt legte sie etwas stärker zu als der 

Dax und deutlich stärker als der S­Dax. Die Aktionäre erreichten 

 einen Wertzuwachs um 2,0 Prozent. Von größerer Bedeutung ist die 

längerfristige Entwicklung: Im Drei­, Fünf­ und Zehnjahres vergleich 

hat die DBAG­Aktie ihre Vergleichsindizes übertroffen und meist 

 sogar deutlich stärker zugelegt als diese.

N E T T O V E R M Ö G E N S W E R T   Der Nettovermögenswert erhöhte sich 

nur leicht. Nach Bereinigung um die Ausschüttung ergibt sich gegen­

über dem Vorjahr ein Anstieg um 23,2 Millionen Euro und damit ein 

Zuwachs um 5,2 Prozent.

E R G E B N I S  AU S  D E M F O N D S G E S C H Ä F T   Das Ergebnis aus dem Fonds­

geschäft entspricht nicht unseren Erwartungen. Weil die  Erträge 

des Segments unerwartet nicht gestiegen, sondern vor allem auf­

grund  mehrerer Veräußerungen zurückgegangen sind, fiel auch das 

Segmentergebnis und damit der Beitrag zur Steigerung des Unter­

nehmenswertes niedriger aus als im Vorjahr.
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O U R  N E W  

F O C U S  S E C T O R S

O U R 

C O R E  S E C T O R S

D I V E R S I F Y I N G  

O U R  

I N V E S T M E N T 

U N I V E R S E 

Based on more than 50 years of comprehensive 
investment experience in our core sectors, we 
have systematically broadened our investment 
universe in recent years – reflecting a strategic 
choice of attractive industries and the expansion of 
know-how.

Thus, today we benefit twice – from the opportu
nities of new business models in our core sectors,  
as well as from investments in fast-growing com
panies in our new focus sectors. In this way,  
we enhance our outstanding reputation amongst 
potential future portfolio companies, our share
holders, and investors in our funds.

Identifying 
opportunities.
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Pidictis ut harunt rerum, ea doluptati tor rent. Quo escit dolum quo cus dit quuntem eum 
quia auditio tem et ommodit omnim sequat fugia doluptaturem si reroratus audis est fu-
git, corem fuga. Oreperc hicipsus, sequis numqui nihil exert molore niamet maximenec-
tem dolorrundit ilia voloriones simi, quod expedit lignis neture sus, que poreptatae sequi 
autem. Quia si dolentiore porero quam quiscia doluptatio. Ut omnimi,

VO R S TA N D

D R .  R O L F  S C H E F F E L S

Geboren 1966, Vorstands­
mitglied seit Januar 2004.  
Bestellt bis Februar 2021. 

 
 
Beteiligungsgeschäft, Entwick-
lung Investmentteam, Investor 
Relations (Fonds)

T O R S T E N  G R E D E  

Sprecher des Vorstands 

Geboren 1964, Sprecher  
des Vorstands seit März 2013,  
Vorstandsmitglied seit Ja­
nuar 2001. Bestellt bis 
Dezember 2023. 

Strategie und Business Develop- 
ment, Beteiligungsgeschäft,  
Investor Relations (Fonds), 
Investmentcontrolling, 
Unternehmenskommunikation, 
Compliance, ESG

S U S A N N E  Z E I D L E R  

Finanzvorstand

Geboren 1961, Vorstands- 
mitglied seit November 2012.  
Bestellt bis Oktober 2020. 

 
 
Finanz- und Rechnungswesen,   
Investor Relations (Kapital-
markt), Recht und Steuern, 
Portfoliobewertung, Risiko
management und Interne 
Revision, Personal, Organisati-
on und IT

Frankfurt /Main, 10 December 2019

“Identifying opportunities. Driving developments.“ In 2018/2019, we followed this motto 
with particular fervour, adding five new companies to our portfolio and working on 
additional promising investment projects. In all of these cases, family shareholders and 
founders have chosen us as a partner to further develop their companies. We also  
generated gross revenue of around 100 million euros from three successful disposals in 
recent months. Such was the performance of the portfolio companies that we were  
able to realise premiums, in some cases quite attractive ones.

A couple of weeks ago, the first round of subscriptions for another DBAG fund, DBAG 
Fund VIII, closed not far from our target figure of 1.1 billion euros. Experienced investors 
are confident in our ability to continue to seek out attractive investment opportunities 
in the coming years, thus supporting good companies in becoming even better. Some of 
these investors have been with us since DBAG Fund IV was launched back in 2002;  
others are subscribing to their second or third DBAG fund. This reflects a particularly  
high degree of trust.

This is the same level of trust that you, dear shareholders, also place in Deutsche 
Beteiligungs AG. With an (adjusted) increase of around five per cent in net asset value and 
net income of 45.9 million euros, we exceeded our forecast for the financial year under  
review. This is a very encouraging result.

We therefore assess the financial year under review as a success, not only on the basis 
of the result but for various other reasons too. First of all, expansion of the investment 
strategy bore fruit in the 2018/2019 financial year. In 2013 we started to target invest- 
ments outside of our core sectors. This is because the market volume in these sectors is  

—  1  —
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limited: if we want to invest more in order to grow, we need to focus on a broader universe. 
The resulting diversification of our portfolio adds to risk mitigation and offers new oppor
tunities. The companies from the telecommunications sector with a focus on high-speed  
internet, for example, have performed well, making a significant contribution to the net  
result of valuation. In another example, disposal of the investment in inexio, the provider 
of fibre optics-based high-speed internet connections, is one of the most successful in DBAG’s 
long history.

Second, we have achieved rapid investment progress for the funds we advise. This allowed 
us to initiate DBAG Fund VIII, a successor fund to DBAG Fund VII after three and a half 
years – and to achieve a first close of subscriptions, with investors committing more than 
794 million euros. DBAG itself will co-invest alongside the fund. Furthermore, it will raise 
its co-investment in DBAG Fund VII by 55 million euros to 255 million euros. This growth 
forms the basis for a further increase in the net asset value of the Private Equity Invest-
ments, and hence in DBAG's enterprise value. The start of the investment period of DBAG 
Fund VIII will then significantly increase the fee income from services rendered to  
DBAG funds – and hence, the net result of DBAG’s funds business.

Expanding our offering to mid-market enterprises will also contribute to this increase – 
this is the third reason for our positive assessment of the financial year. We have created 
the prerequisites for DBAG to invest in the future, exclusively deploying its own financial 
resources. This relates to investment opportunities that do not fit the investment strategy 
that we apply to the funds we advise: for the most part, these are scenarios that arise in  
family-owned businesses in which long-term equity is required – beyond even the usual 
term of a private equity fund – to finance a variety of financing situations from ambitious 
growth projects to the acquisition of interests from co-shareholders. It became evident during 
the financial year under review just how attractive such non-controlling shareholdings  
in family-owned enterprises can be, with the successful sales of Novopress and inexio. 

—  2  —
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Unlike DBAG ECF – the vehicle we have used to date to structure such investments – our  
balance sheet does not have a limited term. Rather than managing DBAG ECF further, we 
will structure attractive smaller management buyouts (involving equity investments  
between 20 and 40 million euros – DBAG ECF's second product) through DBAG Fund VIII.

Last year we added two companies with digital business models to the portfolio: estab-
lished software and IT service companies offer considerable potential for growth and value 
appreciation. We have worked intensively to access this focus sector in recent years, with 
our efforts including the development of a high-performance network in this sector. In the 
meantime we have added three focus sectors to our proven core sectors; you will be able to 
read more about the expansion of our investment strategy in the following pages of this 
annual report. It should be made clear here that we have sharpened our focus once again, 
especially with regard to the investments in what are allegedly less attractive sectors, such 
as automotive supply or mechanical engineering. We are confident in our ability to analyse 
future-oriented business models in our core sectors and identify attractive investment  
opportunities, even in times of serious structural changes.

Adjustments to our target system, about which we also inform you in this report, also 
serve to provide better analysis. These adjustments are designed to make it easier for the 
capital markets to appropriately evaluate DBAG.

Dear shareholders, one of our financial targets is – as always – to allow you to participate in 
the financial performance of DBAG. Our dividend proposal provides for distributions to 
increase for a third successive time. This, in turn, offers you a current yield of around four 
per cent on your investment in Deutsche Beteiligungs AG, based on the prevailing share 
price, alongside the appreciation gained through the share price development. It was a low 
two per cent last year, as measured by the long-term average. Nonetheless, appreciation 
of the DBAG share exceeded that of the German benchmark indices; this also applies to 
medium- to long-term periods in the past. 

—  3  —
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We are cautious vis-à-vis 2019/2020. Particularly for the industrial companies in our port
folio, we expect a rather muted development. They feel the uncertainty – especially from 
structural changes in the automotive industry, but also from international trade conflicts – 
weighing on their order books, forcing them to take adjustment measures. A financial 
investor’s investment usually involves change processes being made to the strategic repo
sitioning. Given the economic circumstances, the successes resulting from these changes –  
and hence the increased value of our shareholdings – will not materialise until later than
initially planned. In addition, experience shows that the willingness to offer attractive 
company valuations to strategic buyers in times of recession is lower than usual. Com
panies will therefore tend to remain in our portfolio for longer, while disposal proceeds  
and the related cash inflow will be achieved at a later stage.

While all of this may well be unusual after the longest recovery in recent economic history,  
it represents part of our business as an equity investor. Performance can occasionally be  
volatile; investments and disposals are seldom made in unison. It is therefore very difficult  
to compare individual financial years: private equity is an asset class whose success cannot  
be reasonably measured at yearly intervals. DBAG funds have a minimum term of ten years.

In this letter, we have reported about changes – about the expansion of the investment 
strategy and the restructuring of our offers directed at mid-market enterprises, as well as 
about the adjustments made to our target system. We are now better positioned than before, 
which allows us to concentrate on supporting the portfolio companies in what is a chal-
lenging environment. Our experience shows that even under more difficult conditions a 
whole range of market opportunities present themselves – and we intend to exploit these  
for new, promising investments.

Torsten Grede	                 Dr Rolf Scheffels		  Susanne Zeidler

— 4  —
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Closely associated with the Schirn Kunsthalle art gallery in Frankfurt/Main: Deutsche 
Beteiligungs AG has supported the Verein der Freunde der Schirn Kunsthalle e. V. 
(Friends of the Schirn) since 2002. They play an integral part in making the many 
different projects on offer at the Frankfurt exhibition venue possible. There are many 
things that cannot be financed by public funds alone. By providing donations, DBAG 
helps to ensure that exhibitions, accompanying programmes, publications as well as 
workshops for children and young people can be offered. We would like to thank the 
Schirn Kunsthalle for their hospitality during our photo shoots.
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T H E AU TO M OT I V E SU P PLY  
I N D US T RY A S W EL L A S  
M EC H A N I C A L A N D PL A N T  
E N G I N EE R I N G R EM A I N  
I M P O R TA N T SEC TO R S

The pressure on automotive suppliers 

to change is particularly evident. This 

also has an impact on the buyout mar­

ket. In contrast to the years preceding 

the financial crisis, smaller companies 

are now looking to tap new potential 

with private equity. The average vol­

ume of transactions in mechanical 

and plant engineering has hardly 

changed over the last 15 years, with 

numbers remaining low of late. Both 

sectors make up a significant part of 

the German buyout market. Their 

potential, however, is limited and the 

choice between business models is 

more important than ever.

3 5  C O M PA N I E S  from these sectors, 

with a total value of 3.5 billion euros, 

have changed ownership in the last 

five years. 

“We are in an ideal 
situation to analyse 
pioneering business 
models in our core 

sectors, and to iden-
tify attractive com-
panies even during 
times of change.” 

Torsten Grede,
Spokesman of the Board  

of Management  
of Deutsche Beteiligungs AG

C H A P T E R

1
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Investment strategy: 
Our core sectors 

 
T R A N S F O R M AT I O N  I N  T R A D I T I O N A L  I N D U S T R I E S

DBAG’s experience extends back more than 50 years

A corporate history comprising more than five decades – this represents more than 
300 private equity investments in German mid-sized enterprises for Deutsche 
Beteiligungs AG. A large number of these transactions concerned the four sectors in 
which the German economy demonstrates particular strength: mechanical and plant 
engineering, automotive suppliers, industrial services and industrial components.  
It therefore goes without saying that these are our core sectors. We are active here 
in the DACH region (Germany, Austria and Switzerland) and occasionally in other 
European countries too, such as in France, Denmark and Italy.

Digitalisation opens up opportunities for our core sectors  

Triggered by digitalisation as well as structural change, our core sectors have under
gone a fundamental change process in recent years. In an era of cloud-based IT solu-
tions, globalisation has reached entirely new dimensions and is setting new challenges 
for German medium-sized enterprises that have always been oriented upon the 
global markets. Business models are breaking up, and new opportunities are being  
created – even in sectors that are currently regarded as less attractive. We are deter-
mined to support agile and innovative companies in implementing their visions.

Initiate change processes – support growth opportunities

With our extensive knowledge and a deeply-rooted network in our core sectors, we 
comprehensively support our portfolio companies with capital for financing growth – 
but especially with our long-standing experience in the successful implementation of 
change processes. This support can, for example, comprise operational improvements, 
the development of additional business segments or tapping new markets. Acquisi-
tions are often a focal point, too. We also introduce companies to seasoned industry 
experts, who occasionally assume managerial responsibility in the companies. The 
members of our investment team support portfolio companies as Advisory Board 
members. 

M A N AG E M E N T  B U YO U T S  
in our automotive suppliers  
and mechanical and  
plant engineering core sectors 

T R A N S AC T I O N S
number

T R A N S AC T I O N  V O L U M E
€bn

	 2004–2008

	� 2009–2013

	� 2014–2018

Source: FINANCE research for 
Deutsche Beteiligungs AG

21

35
41

2.3

3.5

4.9
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L E A D I N G - E D G E  T E C H N O LO G I E S :  
T H E  K E Y  T O  T O M O R R O W ' S  M O B I L I T Y  R E Q U I R E M E N T S

Opportunities
in the automotive 

supply industry

Germany is Europe's leading automotive market  

Globally, the German automotive industry is known for its quality, innovation, 
reliability, longevity, safety, efficiency and design. Germany’s first-class R&D 
infrastructure, the full integration of the value creation chain as well as the 
qualified workforce contribute to an environment which is competitive on an 
international level. These are good conditions for companies in order to develop 
leading-edge technologies that will meet tomorrow’s mobility requirements.

Higher R&D requirements provide opportunities for private equity

Currently, the automotive value-added chain is changing fundamentally. This is 
due to topics such as electric mobility (whilst vehicles powered by fossil fuels con-
tinue to exist), autonomous driving, setting up production facilities around the 
globe, as well as the growing diversity of vehicle models. This is the reason why 
the R&D tasks in the automotive industry have become increasingly demanding 
for quite some time. OEMs and large suppliers pass on some of the resulting pres-
sure to their own suppliers – by expecting that they handle a great part of the 
development effort or co-finance it. Even ’healthy‘ family companies therefore are 
asking themselves how they can improve their capitalisation – an opportunity 
for private equity.

Business models which are not related to the drivetrain 

The challenge now is to filter out those business models that offer considerable 
developmental potential independently from traditional drivetrain technology. 
We have a high-performance network in this sector. Already now, you can find 
suppliers in our portfolio that offer useful technical input like connectivity 
blocks or that may benefit from the trends towards more sophisticated interiors.

Due to the current challen­

ges in the sector, it seems 

somewhat bold to talk 

about “opportunities in 

the automotive supply 

industry”. Obviously, drive­

train technology will be 

transformed, and mobility 

requirements will change. 

But in the future, there will 

be more cars on the streets –  

not less.

C O N N E C T I V I T Y  A N D  D I G I TA L I S AT I O N

are turning the automotive industry upside 

down. According to a survey amongst executives 

in the automotive and technology industries as 

well as consumers around the globe conducted 

by advisory company KPMG, connectivity and 

digitalisation is the industry's key trend. Respon­

dents saw a competitive edge for those who 

successfully connect auto and digitalisation. 

Source: KPMG, Global Automotive Executive 
Survey 2019, January 2019

N E W  B U S I N E S S  M O D E L S

Today’s automotive supply means much more 

than wings, air-conditioners and sliding roofs. 

New business models of the sector envisage for 

example how to experience brands in an elec­

tronic showroom, or how to organise different 

mobility models. In other words: software along 

with hardware.

7 0  P E R  C E N T  of the value in the German  

automotive industry is created by mainly mid-

sized suppliers.

Source: German Association of the Automotive 
Industry (Verband der Automobilindustrie – 
VDA), www.vda.de

On the following pages we outline how we imple­
ment our investment strategy in the automotive  
industry, taking our two portfolio companies  
D I E T E R  B R AU N  and  S E R O  as examples.

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8 / 2 0 1 9 I D E N T I F Y I N G  O P P O R T U N I T I E S .  D R I V I N G  D E V E L O P M E N T S . 6



     

Two of the company's future growth 
factors are the increasing use of driver 
assistance systems and the trend toward 
autonomous driving. Vehicles equipped 
in this manner require a wide variety of 
sensors which are connected together 
with cables. 

Acquisitions can also support future 
developments, especially when enhanced 
by additional engineering performance – 
for instance, to expand Dieter Braun's 
offer along the value-creation chain. 
This includes, for example, processes in 
which the finished cables are being addi-
tionally embedded in a plastic matrix so 
that they can fit in properly in a defined 
installation space.

Furthermore, efficiency improvements 
through continuous automation rep-
resent a key issue. The recently com-
pleted new corporate headquarters and 

logistics centre at Dieter Braun's registered  
office in Bayreuth, Germany, are set to 
contribute to enhanced efficiency in the 
company's internal processes, allowing 
the current team to realise higher busi-
ness volume.

If the market opportunities are suitable, 
the regional expansion will once again 
come to the fore. Dieter Braun has already 
successfully built up an international 
presence in close proximity to its cus-
tomers. We can encourage the company 
to use its gained experience for further 
development. Dieter Braun can tap these 
potentials thanks to its strong internally 
generated cash flow.

Dieter Braun benefits from the current transition in the automotive indus­

try: for the networking of intelligent components, an increasing amount 

of cables is built into state-of-the-art vehicles. Likewise, the increasing 

electric mobility supports the company’s growth: this requires additional 

high-voltage networks with particular safety needs and regulations.    

D I E T E R  B R A U N  is a specialist for cable 

systems and vehicle interior lighting. The 

company is valued by its customers for being 

able to deliver efficient solutions of above-

average complexity, even for small- to medi­

um-sized quantities and with variable lead 

times. Dieter Braun benefits from the incre­

asing share of electric and electronic compo­

nents in vehicles. In addition, the company 

has ensured its position in the future field of 

electric mobility. Dieter Braun’s significance 

for its customers in the automotive supply 

industry has become correspondingly high. 

The company has operations in its cus­

tomers’ major production locations: in addi­

tion to its head office in Bayreuth, it has 

factories in the Czech Republic, the Ukraine, 

Mexico and China.

R E V E N U E S  O F  8 7  M I L L I O N  E U R O S
1 , 6 2 0  E M P L OY E E S

D I E T E R  B R AU N  

C A B L E  S Y S T E M S  A N D 

I N T E R I O R  V E H I C L E  L I G H T I N G ,  

B AY R E U T H ,  G E R M A N Y

D E M A N D  G R O W I N G  
BY  E I G H T  P E R  C E N T  P E R  A N N U M 

Networking intelligent 
components in state- 

of-the-art vehicles 
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The proportion of electronics in motor vehicles is predicted 
to increase from about 35 per cent at present to around 50 per 
cent by 2030, driven by the trend towards higher comfort in the 
vehicle interior amongst other factors. This equates to a growth 
rate of 8 per cent a year. 

In the first year since the start of our investment, Sero's manage
ment team has already triggered various change processes, 
including the restructuring of the sales organisation as well 
as the expansion of its presence at industry trade fairs. Oppor
tunities in the international markets such as Mexico and 
North America are set to be exploited in the future. Company 
acquisitions are also conceivable. Moreover, Sero intends to 
further expand its business with industrial customers. A new-
ly installed Advisory Board, comprising members from DBAG’s 
network, is going to contribute the experience of its experts, 
who not only command strong process knowledge but have 
already  successfully supported implementation.

Sero was founded in 1992 as an engineering office 

for electronic testing methods. Today, the company is 

a sought-after service provider in terms of electronic 

testing and production modules or systems, primarily 

for the automotive industry. Thus, the company 

operates in the highly attractive market for electronic 

components – a sub-market of this industry, with 

long-term above-average growth potential.

Alongside the automotive industry, cus­

tomers from other industries are also 

attracted by the outstanding competence 

of the development and manufacturing 

service provider S E R O . For instance, the 

circuit boards assembled by the company 

as well as the electronic components are 

not only being installed in brake lights 

and engine sensors, but also in high-

performance microphones, heat meters 

as well as in other industrial measure­

ment products. Customers attach import­

ance to cost efficiency and top quality. At 

Sero, they find industrialisation expertise 

and a high degree of automation, thanks 

to a machine park that enables inno­

vative production processes. Sero distin­

guishes itself from its competitors 

through its capacity to combine standard 

production lines with self-developed test 

and production modules.

R E V E N U E S  O F  8 6  M I L L I O N  E U R O S
2 7 0  E M P L OY E E S

“We design the electronics manufacturing  
system of tomorrow – with around 300 employees  

providing ideas.” 
 

Dr Bernd Welzel,  
Managing Director of Sero GmbH

S E R O

D E V E L O P M E N T  A N D  

M A N U FA C T U R I N G  S E R V I C E  P R O V I D E R 

F O R  E L E C T R I C  C O M P O N E N T S ,  

R O H R B A C H ,  G E R M A N Y
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S T R U C T U R A L LY  A N D  S U S TA I N A B LY  
G R O W I N G  M A R K E T

Automation  
in the production  

of electronic  
components
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D I V E R S I T Y  
A S  A  M A J O R  B E N E F I T

Industrial  
components –  

a heterogeneous 
market

Advantage Germany  

Germany is the biggest economy in Europe. In 2017, industrial manufacturing 
accounted for nearly one-third of German GDP, which is a considerably larger part 
compared to France (20 per cent), Italy (24 per cent) or the European Union as a 
whole (25 per cent). Germany's leading global position in different manufacturing 
industries such as mechanical engineering, electrical engineering, automotive, 
medical products, or aeronautics is based on the comprehensive national coverage 
of different value creation stages. With numerous research institutions as well as 
customers and suppliers in close proximity, Germany provides an excellent setting 
for developing fresh B2B products. . 

Often very small markets

One of our core sectors is that of industrial component manufacturers. In the past, 
we invested in companies which – typically for this sector – mostly serve very small 
markets. Industrial components comprise a variety of different materials such as 
metals, plastics, electronics or innovative lightweight engineered materials as well 
as a broad range of products such as semi-finished or finished articles, components, 
modules, systems or turnkey solutions. These may be targeting highly productive 
mass production or small niche segments.

Broad range of development approaches

During our decades of commitment to this sector, we have accompanied very diverse 
business models and approaches to develop these models. Very often, investments 
are entered into for expanding the geographical footprint, or for broadening the prod-
uct range. The focus is also frequently on efficiency enhancements – for example,  
through better processes or reduced scrap.

Germany possesses a 

strong industrial basis – 

German companies enjoy 

a globally leading posi­

tion in many sectors. 

We have rich experience 

through diverse invest­

ments in companies which 

manufacture industrial 

components.

I N D U S T R Y  4 . 0

Whenever machines ask for maintenance 

themselves as required, or re-order material; 

whenever humans, machines and industrial 

products form intelligent networks – then we 

are talking about Industry 4.0. The fourth 

industrial revolution, along with smart facto­

ries, follows on from disruptive developments 

such as the steam engine, the assembly line 

or the computer. Examples for companies 

that take a leading role in this area are also 

found in our portfolio.

T O P  R A N K   for Germany – this is how the 

World Economic Forum judges Germany’s 

innovative power. For the second time in a 

row, Germany has achieved this top position 

in international comparison, this time ahead 

of competitors such as the United States or 

Switzerland.

Source: World Economic Forum,  
Global Competitiveness Report 2019,  
October 2019

On the following pages we outline how we  
implement our investment strategy in the market 
for industrial components, taking our two  
portfolio companies K R A F T  &  B AU E R and  
D UAG O N / M E N  as examples. 
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By now, most of the leading international 
machine tool manufacturers are cus- 
tomers of Kraft & Bauer. This means that 
the company's fire extinguishing systems 
will be installed on these manufacturers' 
new product lines – so Kraft & Bauer does 
not have to serve end-customers directly. 
This success is also supported by the last-
ing trend towards miniaturisation: oil 
cooling and oil lubrication in machine 
tools of the high performance sector are 
on the rise, yet the use of oil increases fire 
hazard. The second important part of the 
Kraft & Bauer business is machine retro
fitting. Demand is driven by growing 
machine automation as well as the com
panies’ sense of responsibility and secu-
rity awareness. Companies also use auto
matic fire extinguishing systems even if 
not required to do so by regulation. 

The sales activities of Kraft & Bauer are 
currently concentrated on the still-un-
exploited potential in the DACH region 
(Germany, Austria and Switzerland) and 
Italy. Over the medium term, especially 
the market development in China and 
the United States offers great additio
nal opportunities as many customers of 
Kraft & Bauer are present there. DBAG’s 
widely-branched network and great expe- 
rience in processes of globalisation in 
mid-sized companies is set to support the 
management team within converting  
opportunities into sales. 



Kraft & Bauer wants to strongly expand – but not only by installing new 

fire extinguishing systems on new machine tools or by retrofitting exist­

ing systems. It is also the services business that provides strong growth 

potential. To date, Kraft & Bauer only provides maintenance for 50-70 % 

of the relevant installed base. 

K R A F T  &  B A U E R  Kraft & Bauer develops 

and produces fire extinguishing systems, 

installing them in around 800 different types 

of machine tools. The focus here is on extin­

guishing systems controlled by microproces­

sors that detect fires and initiate the extin­

guishing process using sensors. In addition 

to its headquarters in Holzgerlingen (Baden- 

Württemberg, Germany), Kraft & Bauer ope­

rates a site in Bannwil (Switzerland) and 13 

other service locations in Germany, Switzer­

land and Italy. Kraft & Bauer’s systems are 

used in very high-speed and high-precision 

machines and are thus exposed to an in­

creased fire hazard. The outlook for Kraft & 

Bauer is favourable, as the demand for these 

high performance machines is increasing. In 

addition, Kraft & Bauer benefits from a stea­

dily growing services business – with a broad 

installed base of more than 30,000 systems 

in Germany alone – as the fire extinguishing 

systems must be regularly inspected and 

maintained.

R E V E N U E S  O F  2 6  M I L L I O N  E U R O S
8 0  E M P L OY E E S

Leading position  
in a niche market

P R O D U C T S  C R I T I C A L  T O  
S U C C E S S  A N D  S A F E T Y

K R A F T  &  B AU E R

F I R E  E X T I N G U I S H I N G  S Y S T E M S  

F O R  T O O L I N G  M A C H I N E S ,  

H O L Z G E R L I N G E N ,  G E R M A N Y



Full-service provider  
of communication  

solutions  
in rail vehicles

M E G A  T R E N D S :  
T R A N S P O R T  A N D  AU T O M AT I O N

“duagon has further 
strengthened its  

already strong competitive 
position due to the  

merger with MEN –  
an ideal situation for  

sustainable above- 
average growth.” 

Dr Rolf Scheffels, member of 
DBAG's Board of Management, 
with many years of experience  
in private equity investments  

in German mid-sized companies.  
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New opportunities are being created 
for duagon/MEN – for example, by tap-
ping unexploited customer potential: 
duagon has a strong presence in China 
and India, while MEN has successfully 
expanded in the US and Russia. By com-
bining duagon's primarily software-
driven components with MEN's rather 
hardware-oriented solutions, valuable 
synergies can be realised. Key topics are 
automatic security systems and innova-
tive technology trends, such as autono-
mous driving. MEN's hardware systems 
can be equipped with additional software 
components from duagon. Examples in-
clude cyber security features or selected 
digital solutions such as automatic status 
monitoring of machines and systems.

The group wins orders both in connec-
tion with newly-acquired rail vehicles 
and with the retrofitting of older rolling 
stock, with the latter being modernised 
by customers in predictable cycles. Harn
essing the distribution power of the 
combined group allows duagon/MEN to 
adopt a targeted position for such cycles 
in the future.

Last but not least, over the next 10 to 
15 years, duagon/MEN is going to bene-
fit from the trend towards technological 
development of ethernet-based solutions, 
especially in the field of retrofitting. 
Whilst ethernet-based technology is 
much more powerful than existing pro-
tocols – in terms of data transfer rates, 
bandwidth and flexibility – it is also 
significantly more complex. Recognis-
ing the importance of integrated com-
munications solutions for rail vehicles, 
and communications between different 
protocols and standards, duagon has posi
tioned itself accordingly at a very early 
stage – gathering substantial experience 
which the company can now leverage for 
business with other customers. duagon 
ensures that the systems meet rigorous 
regulatory requirements, remaining fail- 
safe and durable even in challenging 
conditions.

duagon/MEN hold an excellent position in China, the world’s largest 

market for rail vehicles – a market characterised by huge investment 

projects as the growing prosperity in broad sections of the population 

goes hand in hand with the growing desire for mobility. Not only  

does China automate existing systems, but the country has also suc­

cessfully tested autonomous high-speed trains in the last year. In this 

attractive environment, the group will be able to profit from several 

growth drivers.

D U A G O N , which has its registered office in 

the Swiss city of Dietikon, was established in 

1995 and has since become a leading inde­

pendent provider of network components 

for data communication in rail vehicles. The 

company’s products allow individual railway 

vehicle systems, such as doors, brakes, air 

conditioning systems and the primary control 

computer, to communicate via what is 

known as the TCN (“train communication 

network”). This makes it easier to integrate 

these systems into the train manufacturers’ 

networks and limits sources of errors in the 

process. This allows suppliers to concentrate 

on their core competencies, namely the 

development of the individual railway vehicle 

components. duagon's products are used by 

virtually all train manufacturers and system 

suppliers. The company has developed long-

standing customer relationships and broad-

based technological expertise in its niche 

market.  

R E V E N U E S  O F  1 0 3  M I L L I O N  C H F

4 0 0  E M P L OY E E S 

D UAG O N

N E T W O R K  C O M P O N E N T S  

F O R  R A I LWAY  V E H I C L E S , 

D I E T I K O N ,  S W I T Z E R L A N D
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C H A P T E R

2

M A R K E T  V O L U M E  I S  
G R O W I N G  R A P I D LY

Both the number and volume of trans­

actions in our new focus sectors have 

grown strongly in the last 15 years. 

While the market focused initially on 

healthcare companies in particular, a 

growing number of management buy­

outs from the IT services/software sec­

tor has been observed over the last five 

years. The transaction size in this sector 

has also grown rapidly, now averaging 

more than 100 million euros, which is 

the usual transaction size for our busi­

ness, taken as a whole.

3 7  C O M P A N I E S  companies from 

these sectors, with a total value of 

3.8 billion euros, have changed owner­

ship in the last five years.

“We see a growing 
number of transac-

tions involving digital 
business models. We 
believe we have what 
it takes to recognise 
the potential of such 
enterprises, and to 

support management 
teams in realising that 

potential.”   

Torsten Grede,
Spokesman of the Board  

of Management  
of Deutsche Beteiligungs AG
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M A N AG E M E N T  B U YO U T S  
in our focus sectors  
IT services/software  
and healthcare 

T R A N S AC T I O N S
number

T R A N S AC T I O N  V O L U M E
€bn

	 2004–2008

	� 2009–2013

	� 2014–2018

Source: FINANCE research for 
Deutsche Beteiligungs AG

Strategic sector selection

Current changes in the established economies are opening up opportunities for us to 
support business models outside our four core sectors. We are seizing these opportu-
nities, concentrating on fast-growing enterprises that are often still young but which 
have already established themselves in their respective markets. We have invested 
in a total of 33 enterprises since 2013. Three new focus sectors have emerged from 
our activities: broadband/telecommunications, IT services/software and healthcare. 
There is a sufficient number of enterprises in these sectors that suit our approach and 
match our business model in terms of size, maturity and developmental potential.

Targeted development of know-how

In our new focus sectors, we have built up a network of industrial partners and 
our Executive Circle; this network has become quite extensive, providing entrepre-
neurial advice to our portfolio companies on a wide range of different situations. In 
addition, we have excellent access to transaction opportunities not readily available 
to other market participants, which has enabled us to explore attractive investment 
opportunities.

Win-win situation for all parties involved

Most of the markets in our new focus sectors are highly fragmented. Private equity 
investments can help companies to grow quickly and establish themselves as mar-
ket leaders. In their endeavours to reach this goal, they create new jobs – often 
in more rural areas, whose attractiveness is enhanced as a result. Not least, they 
strengthen Germany’s economic location and its competitive edge with new,  
innovative solutions. Moreover, market leaders are valued with much higher  
multiples than smaller niche providers. Our fund investors and shareholders  
benefit from this above-average value appreciation potential.

Investment strategy: 
Our new focus sectors

 
YO U N G ,  FA S T- G R O W I N G  C O M PA N I E S
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A P P LY I N G  E X P E R I E N C E  
F R O M  T R A D I T I O N A L  I N D U S T R I E S

Digitalising established business models

Due to innovations and technical advances, IT has become one of the greatest 
drivers for all industry sectors – including sectors in which we have acquired 
expertise over decades. Medium-sized companies dominate Germany's economic 
and industrial landscape, be it the mechanical and plant engineering industry, the 
automotive supply industry and – in general – manufacturing industry as a whole. 
Many of these companies are highly specialised and occupy a top position in their 
(often global) niche markets. They have to adapt their business models in connec-
tion with the digital transformation, thus representing an important client base to 
software companies and IT service providers. The greatest market potential awaits 
competent providers of sector-specific software products and services.

Focus on products and services critical to success  

We focus on software companies and IT services providers offering products 
and services that are crucially important for their clients' success – in industries 
where we are especially well placed to assess business models. The market struc-
ture is advantageous for us. Besides the well-known so-called big players, there are  
numerous medium-sized software companies and IT service providers. They  
are often owner-managed, with the founder still present in the company.   

Investment in, and experience with, growth processes

In recent years, we have observed more and more entrepreneurs with new busi
ness models in promising sectors looking for new shareholders. They have good 
products, and the market is attractive. The potential is not being exploited, due a 
lack of financial resources or M&A experience. We are used to this kind of situa-
tion. And clients place trust in us. It is this market we address in our focus sector 
IT Services/Software.

IT services/ 
software –  

a growing market

D I G I TA L I S AT I O N

or digital transformation, is the continuous 

change process towards digital processes, 

based on a modern IT infrastructure, digital 

applications and ideally linked systems and 

data. In this context, existing business 

models are represented in digital form and/

or new digital products are created. Infor­

mation, communications, processes and 

services are linked by digital platforms.

6 . 3  P E R  C E N T  is the growth rate for the 
software industry in Germany in 2019, com-
pared with the previous year.

Source: Bitkom – ITK market figures, July 2019

Germany, with a quarter of 

the market volume, represents 

the largest software market 

in Europe. It grows, like the 

market for IT services, notably 

stronger – and its develop­

ment during difficult economic 

periods is more stable than in 

other sectors.

On the following pages we outline how we imple­
ment our investment strategy in the market for IT 
services/software, taking our two portfolio com­
panies F L S  and C L O U D F L I G H T  as examples.   
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In its software solutions, FLS relies on a 
proprietary heuristic algorithm which 
provides proposals based on empirical 
values in a fast way – even when not all 
of the information ideally required is 
available. What distinguishes FLS from 
its competitors is that it offers additional 
functions tailored to the needs of indi-
vidual customers, seamlessly integrated 
in the customer's existing software 
environment. 

Product enhancements like account-
ing functions or applications for mobile 
phones are planned for the future. By 
offering this wide range of solutions, FLS 
wants to expand mainly in the DACH 
region, and globally at a later stage. First 
steps have been taken in this respect, 

initiating the set-up of a partner network 
and strengthening existing cooperations 
in the United Kingdom and Scandinavia. 

On this basis and on the basis of a highly 
scalable business model, FLS intends to 
grow rapidly. To this end, the entire cor-
porate organisation will be professiona
lised; in addition, internal processes will 
be standardised.

Customers' expectations of the reliability and accuracy of ordering and 

delivery processes are constantly increasing. For businesses, schedule 

and route planning are a business-critical process that needs to consider 

manifold influencing factors and realtime data – especially when deal­

ing with large teams of field-service staff or a sizeable fleet of delivery 

vehicles. This is the basis for FLS's business.

FLS  develops and sells software that enables 

energy suppliers, industrial companies, finan­

cial services providers, retail and real-estate 

companies to coordinate and optimise their 

schedule and route planning for field service 

employees and delivery vehicles. The pro­

ducts of FLS are based on a heuristic algo­

rithm that works using real-time data, mak­

ing it possible to find solutions to planning 

tasks while taking into account a large num­

ber of influential factors. The market for opti­

misation software in such application envi­

ronments is expanding at double-digit rates, 

substantially driven also by the growth in 

e-commerce. FLS stands out due to the ser­

vices it offers, which are customised to the 

needs of its customers – enabling them to 

benefit from the competitive advantages of 

maximum resource utilisation, cost savings 

and notably superior service quality.

R E V E N U E S  O F  1 0  M I L L I O N  E U R O S
7 0  E M P L OY E E S

Solutions  
for business-critical  

planning tasks  

H I G H - E N D  C LO U D - B A S E D  
S A A S  S O F T WA R E  

F L S

R E A L  T I M E  S C H E D U L I N G  

A N D  R O U T E  O P T I M I S AT I O N  S O F T WA R E ,  

H E I K E N D O R F,  G E R M A N Y
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Integrated  
digital and cloud  
service provider

EU R O P E A N  
G R O W T H  P R O S P E C T S 

New perspectives for 
the Crisp founders and 
Cloudflight management 
through the merger 
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Today, digital transformation represents 
one of the key tasks for companies. This 
is not only a view held by just a few 
visionary managers – nowadays this is 
a widely-accepted conviction, especial-
ly in the executive suites of traditional 
industry sectors. Digitalisation has thus 
reached business-critical processes: for 
companies to be successful in the digital 
economy, merely implementing a new 
software solution will no longer suffice. 
Rather, a cultural change towards agility 
and automation is necessary. In this field, 
there are significant and sustainable 
growth opportunities for Cloudflight, 
with its extensive experience as well as 
consulting skills and solutions.  

Cloudflight’s particular strength lies in 
the processing of large quantities of data. 
This includes, for example, the optimal 
integration of satellite data or inspection 
and mesh processing of 3D point clouds – 
also using artificial intelligence. In this 
way, insurers can better assess potential 
damages. Another specific application 
is the development of a justice portal for 
the Austrian Federal Ministry of Justice, 

which will accompany users through 
all stages of legal proceedings. Existing 
solutions were integrated, new function-
alities added and the entire suite was 
equipped with a uniform customer inter
face. Cloudflight has an extensive list of 
renowned clients, extended in recent 
years by winning global players such as 
Bayer, Bosch and Siemens. 

Cloudflight is receptive for acquisitions. 
Growth potential for the expansion of 
the value-added chain concerns for ex-
ample the ongoing operation of solutions, 
namely the hosting and the monitoring 
of digital processes. Moreover, the com-
pany intends to pursue growth opportu-
nities in Europe, to tap additional client 
potential and also being able to offer its 
employees attractive working locations. 
Cloudflight is already especially inno-
vative and successful in its recruitment: 
some 8,000 developers from all over 
Europe take part in its annual program-
ming contest. 

“We have largely  
initiated the emergence  

of Cloudflight. Right from 
the start, we discussed  

with the founders – trans-
parently and in detail –  

the plan to integrate Cata-
lysts and Crisp Research 

under one roof.” 
 

Lucas Herbert,  
Managing Director  

at DBAG who oversees  
the Cloudf light  

investment

More than 350 software devel­

opers, cloud architects and 

strategy consultants, covering 

of the whole value-added chain, 

17 sites – including an innovation 

lab and two central sites for the 

running of cloud workflows,  

more than 600 successful software 

projects since 2005, a strong, 

visionary management, Catalysts 

revenues growing in excess of 

30 per cent annually in recent 

years: all these are the convincing 

key parameters of Cloudflight.

The combination of software specialist Cata­

lysts with Crisp Research – an IT research and 

consultancy firm specialised in cloud com­

puting – has created C L O U D F L I G H T , a  

provider of digital and cloud services with  

a truly special profile. The company lever­

ages the skills and experience of approxi­

mately 350 cloud computing experts to pro­

vide a comprehensive service to its clients –  

encompassing strategic advice on all things 

digital, platform and architecture design, 

software development, as well as 24/7 cloud 

operations. The company supports SMEs, 

corporate groups and public-sector clients 

with the implementation and acceleration of 

their digital transformation. Catalysts con­

tributes its software development expertise 

to the new Group, whilst Crisp’s team of 

experienced digital strategists and cloud 

computing architects will be advising clients – 

independent of which technology they are 

using. Both companies benefit from long- 

standing client relationships in their respec­

tive fields of activity, as well as possessing 

extensive expertise in “hot spots” such as 

cloud computing, Internet of Things, and 

artificial intelligence. “What convinced us 

was, above all, the team's entrepreneurial 

vision, together with strong growth momen­

tum in the markets served by Cloudflight.”

R E V E N U E S  O F  3 4  M I L L I O N  E U R O S
3 5 0  E M P L OY E E S

C L O U D F L I G H T 

A D V I S O R Y  S E R V I C E S  S O F T WA R E  

D E V E L O P M E N T  A N D  C L O U D  O P E R AT I O N S ,  

M U N I C H ,  G E R M A N Y
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G E R M A N Y ’ S  U N D I S P U T E D  
P E N T- U P  D E M A N D

Extensive needs and high demand – good conditions for growth

In our lives, almost everything is affected by the digital transformation. But without 
the corresponding high-performance infrastructure, we cannot exploit the opportu-
nities of digitalisation. In European comparison, Germany lags significantly, espe-
cially when it comes to providing fast fibre-optic internet connections. Accordingly, 
there are now various subsidy programmes in place to accelerate the nationwide 
broadband expansion. 

Attractive investment opportunities: regional, mid-sized companies

Growing demand for fast internet connections and – not least – the subsidies for 
broadband expansion offer companies with products or services in this area good 
conditions for growth. Apart from large network operators, medium-sized com
panies are involved in the broadband expansion process – especially in less densely 
populated areas and with a regional focus. By providing financial resources for 
required investments and, in particular, their expertise, Private Equity entities can 
support these companies in fully exploiting their market potential . 

Involvement in different stages of the value chain

Companies in the DBAG portfolio offer fast internet connections, provide services 
around the expansion of fibre-optic networks, and deliver the required equipment. 
Thanks to our industry knowledge, we are familiar with the growth drivers of the 
market. Through numerous bolt-on acquisitions, our investments are contributing 
to the consolidation of this highly fragmented market and form high-performance 
suppliers. We profit from regionally oriented companies becoming national market 
leaders, as such companies are more highly valued. 

The demand for fast data trans­

mission continues to grow. This 

applies both to applications in 

the private sector and in par­

ticular to professional solutions. 

Germany is taking measures: 

between now and 2021, the 

federal government will provide 

12 billion euros towards expan­

sion of the telecommunication 

networks.

O B S T R U C T I O N S  T O  P R O G R E S S

One in three of Germany’s 60,000 industrial 

zones does not even have a connection to 

broadband internet with at least 50 Mbit/s – 

this was the response of the federal govern­

ment to a June 2019 parliamentary question 

put forward by the Liberals (FDP) parliamentary 

group in the German Bundestag.

Source: German Bundestag, printed matter no. 
19/11357

T H E  D I G I TA L  G A P  G R O W S

Fast connections get even faster, but at the 

lower end there is only slow progress. The fast­

est connections in Germany (95th percentile) 

have become three times faster between 2013 

and 2019, while the speed of the slowest (5th 

percentile) has only increased by a quarter.

Source: Speedcheck database, July 2019

1 . 3  P E R  C E N T  of German citizens profit from 

a high-performance broadband connection  

to a fibre-optic cable. In Denmark this number 

is 10 times higher; in Sweden it’s 20 times higher 

and in South Korea it’s 25 times higher.

Source: OECD Broadband Statistics,  
December 2018

Existing potential  
in broadband  

telecommunications

On the following pages we outline how we imple­
ment our investment strategy in the broadband 
communications sector, taking our two portfolio 
companies N E T Z KO N T O R  N O R D  and  
I N E X I O  as examples. 
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N E T Z K O N T O R  N O R D , established in 

2008, operates in two different business 

segments with around 280 employees. 

Under the brand name “netzkontor”, the 

company provides planning and monitoring 

services related to the deployment of fibre-

optic networks. Its subsidiary OpenXS hand­

les network management for operators of 

fibre-optic networks. The former regional 

focus on the German federal state of 

Schleswig-Holstein has been expanded to 

Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania, Saxony-

Anhalt and North Rhine-Westphalia. 

R E V E N U E S  O F  3 0  M I L L I O N  E U R O S
2 8 0  E M P L OY E E S

H I G H - E N D  
P R OJ E C T  M A N AG E M E N T

The management of netzkontor nord 
was able to realise strong growth 
rates and earnings increases within 
a short period of time. Since the com
pany has been part of DBAG's invest-
ment portfolio, two acquisitions have 
been completed and another agreed. 
With this, netzkontor nord not only 
increased their human resources and  
regional coverage, but also broadened 
their strategic focus.

With the acquisition of BIB TECH, for 
the first time netzkontor nord now has 
access to large, nationwide telecommu-
nications providers who strongly invest 
in the expansion of their fibre-optic net-
works; the result is larger project volumes 

and thus faster growth. Furthermore, by 
launching specific projects with these 
customers, netzkontor nord aims to gain 
access to nationwide projects – a mile-
stone in the implementation of their cor-
porate vision.

With BFE Nachrichtentechnik, the second 
acquired company, netzkontor nord has 
explored a new business segment: BFE is 
one of the largest German service provi
ders for constructing and operating over-
ground telecommunications services, 
also working on projects in the highly 
attractive and pioneering Fibre-to-the-
Home segment, for both business and 
private customers.  

netzkontor nord wants to become one of the largest project managers  

for the deployment of fibre-optic networks. Two years ago, when the com­

pany shared this vision with DBAG, the deciding factor for this step was 

our comprehensive understanding of the sector. We support the company 

in implementing its buy-and-build strategy.
N E T Z KO N T O R  

N O R D 

S E R V I C E  F O R  T H E  

T E L E C O M M U N I C AT I O N S  S E C T O R ,  

F L E N S B U R G ,  G E R M A N Y

Becoming one of the  
leading German providers 

for broadband  
infrastructure projects  
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One of the leading  
independent  

providers of  fibre- 
optic connections  

in Germany

B LU E P R I N T  F O R  A  
S U C C E S S F U L  I N V E S T M E N T
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We closely supported inexio over a six-
year period – providing additional capital 
as well as know-how. Especially in such 
a fast-growing business, the manage
ment team keeps facing new challenges: 
with an experienced partner at their 
side, they can tackle such situations in a 
more targeted manner, and with less risks 
involved. 

Between 2013 and 2015, DBAG co-
invested with the DBAG ECF fund, 
acquiring further shares in inexio from 
co-shareholders. And when financial 
investor Warburg Pincus supported a 
management buyout in 2016, DBAG and 
DBAG ECF did not sell their stakes – in-
stead, they participated in the capital 
increase conducted upon the entry of 
the new majority shareholder, thus in-
vesting further funds. What convinced 
us, time and again, was the clear focus 
and determination of the management 
team as they worked on developing the 
business, taking the right strategic deci-
sions at every development stage. Today, 
founders David Zimmer and Christoph 
Staudt and their team can boast a flaw-
less track record: they have successfully 
implemented their business concept 

both through organic growth as well as 
through acquisitions.

Launched as a start-up just over a decade 
ago, nowadays inexio is one of the fast- 
growing, leading independent providers 
of fibre-optic connections in Germany. 
Together with its private equity investors, 
the company has established a fibre-optic 
network in rural and suburban areas 
across southern Germany, thus signifi
cantly contributing to the build-up of 
local infrastructure there – allowing 
businesses to stay in their home region, 
creating local jobs.  

In this way, inexio has attracted the inte
rest of large infrastructure investment 
funds. The sector is about to embark 
upon a fundamental change: while the 
company has so far pushed the fiber optic 
expansion into the villages and the last 

“Looking for capital, we 
quickly realised that DBAG 

is an investor that really 
understands the success 
factors of family-owned 

businesses – moreover, an 
investor not looking for a 

short-term bet, but looking 
to provide long-term  

support, aiming to create 
value. This has worked  

out very well here.” 

David Zimmer, founder and Managing  
Partner of inexio, recalls the very beginning 

of the company's cooperation with DBAG

For DBAG, inexio has been a 

prime example of a successful 

private equity investment, where 

we support a talented manage­

ment team, promoting a very  

promising business model. Back  

in 2013, when we acquired a  

minority stake in the previously  

family-owned business during  

the course of a capital increase,  

providing additional profit-partic- 

ipation capital, broadband com­

munications was still the domain 

of pioneers – covering a segment 

with strong growth potential.  

INEX IO  is investing in building and expand­

ing high-performance telecommunications 

infrastructure in several German federal states, 

focusing on the Saarland and Rhineland-

Palatinate, plus Bavaria, Baden-Württemberg, 

Lower Saxony and the East German states. 

inexio runs its own, constantly growing  

fiber optic and municipal network, currently 

covering more than 9,900 kilometres, as well 

as six company-owned data centres. The 

company offers the full spectrum of tele­

communications and IT services, from pure 

carrier services right up to complete telecom­

munications, IT and data centre services. 

Although the company’s original focus was 

on business customers, revenues from high-

speed internet connections for private cus­

tomers are now growing at double-digit 

annual rates, faster than those for business 

customers.

R E V E N U E S  O F  6 8  M I L L I O N  E U R O S
3 2 0  E M P L OY E E S

I N E X I O

T E L E C O M M U N I C AT I O N S  

A N D  I T  S E R V I C E S , 

 S A A R L O U I S ,  G E R M A N Y

mile into the households, realised with 
VDSL technology via the copper cables 
of Deutsche Telekom, fiber optic connec-
tions are now being laid directly into the 
buildings. However, this expanded infra-
structure requires around three times the 
investment volume. inexio will realise 
this new development phase in its corpo-
rate history together with the EQT Infra-
structure IV fund. 
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Stock exchange-listed Deutsche Beteiligungs AG invests 
in well-positioned mid-sized companies with potential  
for growth. 

For many years, we have focused on industrial business 
models in selected sectors. With our experience, exper
tise and equity, we support our portfolio companies in 
implementing their sustainable, value-creating corporate 
strategies. 

Our entrepreneurial approach to investing has made us a 
sought-after investment partner in the German-speaking 
world. We have achieved superior performance over many 
years – for our portfolio companies as well as for our share-
holders and investors.

OUR MISS ION STATEMENT
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D E V E L O P M E N T S  I N  2 0 18 / 2 0 19

> ��Assets under management or advisory declined as scheduled, due 

to several disposals from the portfolios of DBAG Fund VI and DBAG 

ECF.

> �Following another period of intense investment activity in the 

2018/2019 financial year, callable capital commitments declined, as 

did the pending co-investment commitments and the financial 

resources of DBAG.

> �The callable capital commitments will increase with the start of 

DBAG Fund VIII’s investment period; they are generally reduced not 

only through investments but also due to advisory and administra­

tive expenses.

P E R S P E C T I V E

We reached the first close of subscriptions for DBAG Fund VIII in  

November 2019; investors committed 794 million euros to the succes­

sor fund to DBAG Fund VII, which will also be providing capital of 

between 20 and 40 million euros for management buyouts with equity 

investments, which had been structured up to now through DBAG ECF. 

On top of this, there are additional co-investment commitments from 

DBAG amounting to over 255 million euros. The assets under manage­

ment and advisory will therefore increase initially by more than 20 per 

cent, before declining again in the financial years ahead on the back 

of further disposals.

D E V E L O P M E N T S  I N  2 0 18 / 2 0 19

> ��Income from Fund Services fell due to lower fees received from 

DBAG Fund VI (8.6 million euros compared to 9.7 million euros in 

the previous year), DBAG Fund V (0.2 million euros compared to 

0.7 million euros in the previous year) and DBAG ECF (1.6 million 

euros compared with 1.9 million euros in the previous year).

> ��Transaction-based fees in DBAG ECF were considerably lower, due 

to the fact that only one transaction was agreed in this fund in 

2018/2019.

> ��Net expenses under other income/expense items increased by 

1.2 million euros year-on-year.

P E R S P E C T I V E

Thanks to the investment progress achieved for DBAG Fund VII and 

DBAG ECF, we expect the investment period of DBAG Fund VIII, the 

successor fund to these two funds, to start in 2019/2020. Accordingly, 

we expect income from Fund Services to significantly exceed the 

previous year's level. By the end of 2021/2022, we anticipate a further 

slight increase over the 2019/2020 level. In line with our planning, we 

expect to see a year-on-year increase in the segment’s income in this 

year and the two following financial years, thus contributing to the 

increase in the Company’s enterprise value.

The advisory services provided to the DBAG funds by Deutsche Beteiligungs AG’s investment team are bundled 

in the Fund Investment Services business segment. DBAG is paid a volume-based fee for these services, so that 

projections can be made rather easily. The earnings base is reduced by disposals during a fund’s disinvestment 

phase; it grows when a new fund is initiated and capital can be successfully raised. DBAG receives additional 

one-off fees based on individual transactions for providing advice to DBAG ECF.

F U N D  I N V E S T M E N T  S E R V I C E S

1,704

A S S E T S  U N D E R  M A N AG E M E N T  O R  A D V I S O R Y 
€mn

30 Sep 2018 30 Sep 2019

3.0

28.2

5.6

29.7

I N C O M E  A N D  R E S U LT S  F R O M  F U N D  S E R V I C E S 
€mn

 

2017 / 2018 2018 / 2019

	� Income from Fund Services

	� Segment results before tax

1,831
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The Private Equity Investments business line comprises 

the investments in mid-market companies undertaken 

by Deutsche Beteiligungs AG alongside the DBAG 

funds. Following an extension to DBAG's strategy, 

investments that are financed solely from DBAG’s 

balance sheet will also be included. This Principal 

Investments business line will dominate DBAG’s enter-

prise value. Net gain or loss from investment activity 

maps the change in the net asset value, and is the  

key factor influencing DBAG’s net income; it is deter-

mined by the development of the portfolio and  

gains from the disposal of investments.

P R I VAT E  E Q U I T Y  I N V E S T M E N T S

D E V E L O P M E N T  2 0 18 / 2 0 19

> �Net asset value increased by 1.4 million euros; taking into account 

the dividends of 21.8 million euros distributed to our shareholders, 

this represents a 5.2 per cent increase in the net asset value over 

the adjusted value of the previous year. 

> �The changes in value of the current portfolio of 49.3 million euros 

contributed to this increase.

> �Financial resources declined by 42 per cent in the course of the  

investment activity; this decline was more than offset by the increase 

in the portfolio value.

P E R S P E C T I V E

In light of economic developments and having weighed up the oppor­

tunities and risks, we anticipate a below-average increase in the port­

folio value in 2019/2020. Taking into account the distribution in Feb­

ruary 2020 – 22.6 million euros are proposed – the net asset value as 

at the reporting date will be down slightly on recent levels. Given the 

overall quality of the portfolio and the planned investments, we expect 

this value to rise again in the two following years. We have taken our 

dividend policy and the corresponding cash outflows into consideration 

for this estimate. A drastic slump in portfolio valuation parameters – 

driven, for example, by a corresponding change in the valuation levels 

on the capital market – could have an adverse effect on net asset 

value.

N E T  A S S E T  VA L U E 
€mn

30 Sep 2018 30 Sep 2019

	�� Financial assets incl. loans  
and receivables

	� Other financial instruments 

	 Financial resources

69.4
17.0

385.7

119.0

318.9

32.8

470.7 472.1

VA L U E  A P P R E C I AT I O N  P O T E N T I A L  

O F  T H E  P O R T F O L I O

We valued the portfolio of 27 investments in 
mid-market companies at 409 million euros as 
at the reporting date. This equates to 1.4 times 
the acquisition costs. With past disposals, we 
achieved 2.7 times costs (management buy-
outs, gross proceeds of disposals 1998–2019) or 
3.3 times (growth financing, gross proceeds of 
disposals 1999–2019). With every disposal, we 
have realised at least the most recent valuation, 
except for one case.

L AT E S T  VA L UAT I O N :  

7. 8  T I M E S  E B I T DA  

Our portfolio is valued at 7.8 times expected 
EBITDA for the current year. The average covers 
21 out of 27 portfolio companies – new invest-
ments, as well as those disposed of, were not 
included.
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D E V E L O P M E N T  2 0 18 / 2 0 19

> �Net income from investment activity and results in the Private Equity 

Investments segment were higher year-on-year and also exceeded 

expectations, thanks to several successful disposals. 

> �This means that, all in all, the value contribution made by the oper­

ating performance of the portfolio companies – changes in earnings 

and debt – was more than twice that of last year. The operating 

performance of twelve investments made a positive value contri­

bution, while ten made a negative contribution.

> �Unlike the previous financial year, developments on the capital market 

reduced (rather than increased) the overall value of the portfolio 

companies.

> �Carried interest claims of the investment team, mainly from invest­

ments made by DBAG Fund VI and DBAG ECF, resulted in a 12.4 mil­

lion euros charge on net income from investment activity.

P E R S P E C T I V E

As is typical for the business, net income from investment activity may 

fluctuate strongly from year to year. Over the last five years, this has 

amounted to values of between 29.2 and 85.8 million euros, averaging 

51.9 million euros. In the current financial year 2019/2020, we expect 

significantly lower net income from investment activity than the stated 

average value. In line with our planning, earnings before tax in 

2019/2020 will also be considerably lower than the five-year average. 

However, they will rise sharply in the two following years above the 

level forecast for the current financial year. Our planning is generally 

based on the assumption of stable capital market conditions.

D E V E L O P M E N T  2 0 18 / 2 0 19

> �In the year under review, we invested more than we raised from 

disposals – the cash flow from investment activity was thus 

negative.

> �Cash outflows of 15.5 million euros resulted from total proceeds and 

payments relating to financial assets, and loans and receivables in a 

net amount of -31.2 million euros, and of total proceeds and pay­

ments relating to other financial instruments in a net amount of 

15.8 million euros.

> �At 93.4 million euros, payments for investments in financial assets 

and loans and receivables significantly exceeded the previous year’s 

level (63.8 million euros).

> �The volatility of the cash flows relating to investment activity is due 

in part to reporting-date factors and also due to cash flows being 

concentrated on a few – yet sizeable – amounts in the transaction 

business. This is typical for our business model.

P E R S P E C T I V E

On the basis of the co-investment agreements with DBAG funds and 

our latest strategic developments to include Principal Investments, we 

are planning investments for 2019/2020 slightly above the previous 

year. At the same time, we expect inflows from disposals, recapitalisa­

tions and dividend distributions from portfolio companies to be down 

moderately (in other words between 10 and 20 per cent) on recent 

levels. Even though disposal gains may be substantial, we generally do 

not plan for such gains, but assume a sale at fair value. On balance, 

these expected changes will result in a considerably lower (negative) 

cash flow from investing activities for 2019/2020.

N E T  I N C O M E  A N D  N E T  G A I N  O R  L O S S  F R O M  
P R I VAT E  E Q U I T Y  I N V E S T M E N T S
€mn

2017 / 2018 2018 / 2019

	 Net income from investment activity

	 Segment result before tax

42.149.624.231.1

P R I VAT E - E Q U I T Y- I N V E S T M E N T S

C A S H F L O W  F R O M  I N V E S T M E N T  AC T I V I T Y 
€mn

2017 / 2018 2018 / 2019

(30.6) (15.5)
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P O R T F O L I O  C O M PA N I E S 

S TA R T  O F  I N V E S T M E N T: 

I N V E S T

312

MILLION EUROS 

MILLION EUROS 

1 ,271

INVESTMENT VOLUMES S INCE 

THE START OF INVESTMENT

DBAG FUNDS

OF WHICH:  

INVESTMENTS BY DBAG

2 0 12

Heytex

2 0 13

DNS:Net

2 0 14

Pfaudler

2 0 15

Gienanth

JCK*

Oechsler

Silbitz

2 0 16

Frimo

mageba

Polytech

Rheinhold & Mahla

Telio

2 0 17

Dieter Braun

duagon

More than Meals

vitronet

2 0 18

BTV Multimedia

FLS

Karl Eugen Fischer

Kraft & Bauer

netzkontor nord

Sero

Sjølund

von Poll Immobilien

2 0 19

blikk

Cloudflight

– 
Cartonplast

STG

P O R T F O L I O  

C O M PA N I E S  

C R E AT E  T H E  B A S I S  

F O R  F U T U R E  

VA L U E  A P P R E C I AT I O N

27 

T H E  C U R R E N T  
D B AG  P O R T F O L I O

PORTFOL IO GROW TH HAS ALSO BROADENED  

THE R ANGE OF  SECTORS COVERED

The information on investments 
and sales proceeds on the 
following page only takes into 
account the transactions com- 
pleted during the financial year; 
the MBOs of Cartonplast and  
STG and the sale of inexio are 
therefore not included.

* �We significantly increased a stake 
in JCK Holding GmbH Textil KG 
(originally entered into in 1992)  
in 2015.

R E V E N U E  G R O W T H :   

7. 4  P E R  C E N T   	

The 22 companies which we held in our 

portfolio at the beginning of the financial 

year under review, and which were not 

sold, have posted strong revenue growth – 

driven by acquisitions in particular. Organic 

growth was 2.6 per cent. 

E B I T DA  G R O W T H :   

3 . 4  P E R  C E N T  	

The 22 companies which we held in our 

portfolio at the beginning of the financial 

year under review, and which were not 

sold, have achieved only moderate EBITDA 

growth. Without the contribution from 

acquisitions, growth would have been even 

lower.

D E B T:  

3 . 2  T I M E S  E B I T D A    	

Our portfolio companies have a viable capi­

tal structure which is based on their cash 

flow profile. On average, their debt levels 

equate to 3.2 times current EBITDA. This 

calculation does not take into account three 

investments, either because they do not  

retain their value or because they are not 

indebted.
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C H A N G E S  I N  D B AG ’ S  P O R T F O L I O  
D U R I N G  T H E  Y E A R  U N D E R  R E V I E W

I N V E S T D E V E L O P

VA L U E  A P P R E C I AT I O N  

R E A L I S E D  T H R O U G H 

D I S P O S A L S

DBAG and the DBAG funds are 

partners for a certain period of 

time. Once change processes 

have been completed and their 

positive impact has become 

visible, we will sell the invest- 

ment. 

We structured four exits during 

the 2018/2019 financial year, 

and closed one exit agreed 

upon in the previous year 

(Cleanpart). We held the com­

panies in our portfolio for be­

tween four and seven years; 

one initial investment (novo­

press) had been entered into as 

early as 1990. 

The sale of our shareholding in 

inexio was only closed after the 

reporting date. Another invest­

ment ended after the company 

in question had to file for insol­

vency (Unser Heimatbäcker).

 

R E A L I S E

I N V E S T

57

MILLION EUROS 

MILLION EUROS 

253

INVESTMENTS DURING THE 

YEAR UNDER REVIEW

DBAG FUNDS

DBAG'S  SHARE

D E V E L O P

15

MILLION EUROS 

MILLION EUROS 

35

INVESTMENTS DURING THE 

YEAR UNDER REVIEW

DBAG FUNDS

DBAG'S  SHARE

R E A L I S E

64

MILLION EUROS 

MILLION EUROS 

245

DISPOSAL PROCEEDS DURING 

THE YEAR UNDER REVIEW

DBAG FUNDS

DBAG'S  SHARE

F O U R  N E W  I N V E S T M E N T S 

A G R E E D  U P O N  D U R I N G  

T H E  Y E A R  U N D E R  R E V I E W

Throughout the 2018/2019 

financial year, our investment 

team once again screened more 

than 250 investment opportuni­

ties, selecting four which are 

particularly promising.

Two of these transactions be­

came effective during the finan­

cial year, the two remaining 

ones after the reporting date. 

Specifically, we were able to 

structure two MBOs in our core 

sectors of automotive suppliers 

and industrial components, plus 

two additional MBOs in our 

new focus sectors: broadband 

telecommunications and IT ser­

vices/software.

Our decisions during the finan­

cial year triggered new invest­

ments of around 265 million 

euros for DBAG and its funds.

The MBOs of blikk, FLS and 

Kraft & Bauer had been agreed 

upon in the 2017/2018 financial 

year, and were closed during 

the financial year under review.

 

ACQUIS IT IONS AS A  

C ATALYST FOR FURTHER 

DEVELOPMENT

A number of portfolio compa­

nies were compromised in their 

development during 2018/ 

2019, given abating economic 

momentum. Despite an eco­

nomic environment which was 

challenging at times, the port­

folio companies refined their 

strategic repositioning – through 

acquisitions, for example. Seven 

portfolio companies were thus 

able to further expand their 

geographical footprint, supple­

ment their product range, or 

actively pursue consolidation in 

their sector. While these activi­

ties are the foundation for value 

appreciation for these com­

panies, they also ensure that the 

companies are well-positioned 

beyond the duration of our 

investment.

Portfolio companies executed a 

total of eleven acquisitions, of 

which six were financed using 

said companies' own funds. 

The remaining five transactions 

were facilitated by equity con­

tributions by the funds, as well 

as DBAG.

blikk

Cloudflight 

FLS

Kraft & Bauer

Sero 
–

Cartonplast

STG

Infiana

novopress

PSS

–

inexio

BTV Multimedia

duagon

Gienanth

Karl Eugen Fischer

netzkontor nord

Pfaudler

Polytech

Silbitz

Sjølund

Telio

vitronet

von Poll Immobilien
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THE GROWING IMPORTANCE  

OF  FOCUS SECTORS

T H E  S E C T O R  S T R U C T U R E  
O F  O U R  P O R T F O L I O

S Y S T E M AT I C  D E V E L O P M E N T  O F  E X P E R T I S E  

O U T S I D E  T H E  C O R E  S E C T O R S

Investment in new sectors requires careful, thorough planning. This 

is why we have been heavily involved in the development of these 

sectors and analysed the deal flow there long before we added the 

first companies outside our core sectors into our portfolio. The most 

demanding test of our expertise is subsequently provided by the 

entrepreneurs, who often are entrusting us with their life's work. It is 

only when we have convinced them that DBAG offers more than 

capital and that it can steer their company towards a successful future 

that we are able to realise investments with attractive valuations. 

C L E A R  D E F I N I T I O N  O F  T H E  M O S T  AT T R AC T I V E  

B U S I N E S S  M O D E L S

We know our core and new focus sectors inside out. As in all other 

industries, though, we only ever invest in clearly defined, for­

ward-looking business models. In the case of automotive suppliers, 

for example, these are no longer companies that offer products 

related conventional powertrains; instead, they are companies that 

benefit from ongoing structural changes. We are also looking at the 

type of companies in this sector that offer services, or that are less 

heavily influenced by the development of vehicle manufacturers' sales 

volumes. In terms of the healthcare sector, we are focused more on 

medical technology and service providers than on research-based 

pharmaceutical companies. However, the following always applies: it 

is the business model that is the decisive factor, not the sector 

affiliation.

We are continuously developing the investment strategy we apply to our the funds we advise: we started 

investing in new sectors outside our core sectors back in 2013. Two years later, we extended our geographical 

footprint to the DACH region (Germany, Austria and Switzerland) and, for the core sectors, into the neigh

bouring European countries. 2017 saw the launch of the Digital Business Models initiative, and in the course  

of 2019 we defined three new focus sectors.

Automotive suppliers 10

Mechanical and plant 
engineering 10

� Industrial components 24

Broadband/ 
telecommunications 31

IT services / software 4

Healthcare 4

Other 17

PORTFOLIO VALUE BY SECTOR 

% at 30 September 2019

S T R U C T U R E  O F  O U R  P O R T F O L I O

In 2013, our core sectors accounted for just under 80 per cent 

of our portfolio value. Over the past financial year, this figure 

was just over 40 per cent. Of the new sectors, broadband/

telecommunications currently accounts for a particularly high 

share. Shortly before the end of the financial year, we sold our 

stake in inexio – a very successful transaction; however,  

this transaction had not yet been fully consummated at  

the reporting date and is therefore included in the folio split.
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WIDE R ANGE OF  DEVELOPMENT 

OPPORTUN IT IES

VA LU E  A P P R E C I AT I O N  A P P R OAC H E S  
O F  O U R  P O R T F O L I O  C O M PA N I E S

W E L L - E S TA B L I S H E D  C O M PA N I E S  

I N  O U R  C O R E  S E C T O R S  

The companies within our core sectors are generally well established. 

Nevertheless, the support provided by a private equity company opens 

up additional development potential for them, not least because 

changes in their markets offer considerable new opportunities for the 

development of additional business areas – or because they want to 

expand their geographical focus rapidly. Sometimes increasingly 

intense competition also requires extensive changes in operational 

processes, which then go hand in hand with additional investment 

requirements. We help such companies to make rapid changes within 

a short period of time, faster than would be possible with their own 

internal resources, thus enabling them to strengthen their market 

position. At the same time, the companies become more valuable and 

attractive for future owners.

R A P I D - G R O W T H  C O M PA N I E S  A R E  I N C L U D E D  I N  O U R 

N E W  F O C U S  S E C T O R S

The companies in our new focus sectors are often younger than those 

in our core sectors. They are active in markets characterised by strong 

structural growth, which their organisation is not yet geared up for. 

In addition to capital, we offer them in particular a wealth of experi­

ence in creating the organisational prerequisites to cope with growth, 

and in doing so provide them with a sound foundation for their sus­

tainable success. Within the software industry, we are currently 

focusing on companies that offer digital solutions for “old economy” 

products. These companies are attracted, for example, by our in-depth 

understanding of their industrial sales markets – and also by the fact 

that our strong network often includes their own potential customers. 

This allows us to successfully apply our experience to sectors that are 

still relatively new to us.

We invest in companies with a value between 50 and 250 million euros. As partners, thinking and acting like  

entrepreneurs, we want to support them in their development. On the basis of a detailed understanding of  

the industries and the individual business models in which the companies operate, we identify development 

opportunities in close cooperation with the management and lay the foundations for successful future devel-

opment. The strategic orientation of a company is the most important valuation lever when it comes to success- 

ful investment support.

S T R U C T U R E  O F  O U R  P O R T F O L I O

In line with the increasing complexities of the economy and 

the objective of our companies to expand rapidly, most of 

them adopt two parallel approaches to value enhancement. 

This is reflected in the chart above. Essentially, the appreci­

ation of DBAG's portfolio is driven by three factors: the 

expansion of additional business lines and exploration of new 

geographical markets are often supported by acquisitions, 

which we support through additional funds if appropriate. 

PORTFOLIO VALUE BY VALUE  
APPRECIATION METHOD

% at 30 September 2019

Sector
consol- 
idation

Expansion
of product

range

Operational
improve-

ments

Expansion
of additional

business
fields

Geo-
graphical
market

development

9
6

27

17

41
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AN EXCEPT IONAL BUSINESS  MODEL  –  

AN EXCEPT IONAL SHARE

Private equity is a highly attractive asset class in its own right. Funds are predominantly invested in closed-end 

funds, which are usually not directly accessible to private investors. DBAG offers access to this asset class at  

the price of one share – tradeable on a daily basis, and with the maximum transparency that only a listed company 

can offer. This ensures that the interests of our shareholders, our investment team and our fund investors are 

always equally represented, since Deutsche Beteiligungs AG invests alongside the DBAG funds  and members of 

the investment team engage in these investments by investing their personal funds. 

 
B U S I N E S S  M O D E L  A N D  E Q U I T Y  S T O RY

By investing in the DBAG share, you can benefit  
from the dynamic German mid-market sector

DBAG’s business model is exceptional: we generate continuous 
earnings contributions from advisory services and private 
equity funds. At the same time, our shareholders participate 
in the performance of a portfolio of powerful midsized com-
panies, which are not listed. Private equity creates potential 
for these companies: we support our portfolio companies in a 
phase of strategic development, enabling them to rapidly ex-
pand their market position and thus create value. Continuity 
combined with above-average value appreciation potential – 
this is what makes the DBAG share such an attractive choice 
on the capital market.

The DBAG share combines the advantages of an investment in 
German mid-sized businesses with value levers that private 
equity investors can apply. With the expertise and know-how 
that we offer to our portfolio companies, they have the oppor-
tunity to implement their resources in a more targeted way – 
in order to realise their corporate visions. They can also use 
the capital we provide to finance their activities. Not only do 
we strengthen our investments by doing this, we also create 
value for our own shareholders. Four divestments in the past 
financial year underline the success of Deutsche Beteiligungs 
AG in a period during which the German economy's growth 
curve flattened out.

DBAG  is a member of DAI, BVK, DIRK  
and Listed Private Capital (LPeC).

T H E  D B AG  S H A R E
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The investment strategy is geared towards  
new opportunities

Relatively small mid-sized companies often feel the effects of 
changes to the economic climate quite quickly. This means 
that they need to be even better prepared than larger com-
panies to counter economic headwinds or negative market 
developments. We were able to see how important this is 
for some of our investments over the past financial year. 
Although these kinds of situations are challenging, they can 
also offer opportunities. The wealth of experience that DBAG 
has gained over the decades helps the teams managing these 
investments to identify such opportunities, and exploit them 
to create value.

Smaller and more agile companies benefit more when mar-
kets change fundamentally or when entirely new markets 
emerge. This applies, for example, to DBAG’s core sectors in 
which new and attractive business models are emerging, 
especially due to digitalisation. And at the same time, other 
sectors in Germany have been given a significant boost. 

DBAG shareholders are benefiting from this development 
because the Company was quick to reflect these economic 
changes in our portfolio.

New focus sectors account for a quarter  
of investments

As well as its established core sectors, DBAG is now active in 
three new focus sectors of broadband/telecommunications, IT 
services/software and healthcare. Companies from these sec-
tors already account for 23 per cent of the acquisition cost of 
DBAG’s investment portfolio – that is, our resources invested 
specifically in single industries. At 13 per cent, broadband/ 
telecommunications accounts for the largest portion of any 
single industry in the portfolio. We acquired a stake in inexio 
back in 2013, at a time when private equity investments in 
the broadband sector were considered groundbreaking. In the 
past financial year, we were able to dispose of this investment 
extremely successfully.

 
D I V I D E N D  P O L I C Y

The dividend policy as defined in summer 2016  
will be maintained

Shareholder participation in DBAG's success is one of our three 
financial objectives. In the summer of 2016, we set out our 
dividend policy, and this still applies. For the 2015/2016 finan-
cial year, distribution of the dividend was determined for the 
first time on the basis of the (then-new) policy.

Notwithstanding the very volatile results compared to the 
previous year, we want to pay a stable dividend that increases 
whenever possible. At the same time, we aim to provide our 
shareholders with an attractive dividend yield. It means that 
when we propose a dividend to the Annual General Meet-
ing, we are also taking the capital market environment into 

account. When deciding on the dividend amount, cash inflows 
from our two business segments, future funding requirements 
for (co-)investments, and the ability to pay a sustainable divi-
dend also have to be considered. Special gains from the sale of 
individual investments are not taken into account, and there-
fore have no influence on market expectations regarding the 
DBAG dividend.

Over the past four years, through dividends alone, we have 
been able to provide our shareholders with an annual return of 
at least three per cent, and on several occasions more than four 
per cent. Added to this is the positive share price development.

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8 / 2 0 1 9 I D E N T I F Y I N G  O P P O R T U N I T I E S .  D R I V I N G  D E V E L O P M E N T S . 3 3



We are again proposing a dividend increase  
for 2018/2019

We will also propose to the Annual General Meeting that the 
dividend for the past financial year be increased to 1.50  euros 
per share. This corresponds to a dividend yield of 4.3 per cent, 
based on the share price at the end of the financial year. On 
the basis of this proposal, the total dividend payout will 
amount to 22.6 million euros. The distributable net retained 
profit (Bilanzgewinn) of Deutsche Beteiligungs AG amounted 
to 178 million euros at the end of the financial year.

 
C A P I TA L  M A R K E T S  C O M M U N I C AT I O N S

Active exchange with the capital markets

Deutsche Beteiligungs AG is synonymous with maintaining 
close, transparent communications with the capital market; 
that is, with shareholders, financial analysts and journalists. 
We employ a variety of communication channels and offer 
dedicated conferences for this purpose. We always place the 
emphasis on face-to-face communication as well as making 
sure that we actively approach our capital market partners. 
During the last financial year, we put on 13 days of road shows 
and held around 60 meetings in four European countries. This 
is a decline compared to the previous year; we think that it is 
due to changes in the relationship between companies and the 
financial community resulting from the Markets in Financial 
Instruments Directive (MiFID II). To counteract this, we have 
mandated a bank to support us in providing contacts.

We regularly talk to our partners about what makes our busi-
ness model so attractive, how we can develop our portfolio 
companies, and what Deutsche Beteiligungs AG is doing in 

terms of its strategic development. In the past financial year, 
the main topics also included the impact on results from the  
highly volatile capital market multiples seen through the 
year and from the slowdown in economic growth. Beyond 
the financial data, the so-called soft factors that make a com
pany successful in the first place increasingly become the focus. 
These are reflected in the non-financial corporate objectives. 
Susanne Zeidler, DBAG’s Chief Financial Officer, explains 
recent changes in the target system on page 37.

Capital Markets Day held for the first time  
receives a great response

A new platform for discussing these topics is our Capital Mar-
kets Day, which was held for the first time in May 2019. The 
three members of DBAG's Board of Management, alongside 
members of the investment team, offered detailed insights into 
DBAG's investment process, investment strategy, and the result-
ing impact on the Company's capital market valuation. Practi-
cal examples were provided by the managing directors of three 

DIVIDEND PER SHARE 

€

2015 / 2016 2016 /2017 2018 / 20192017 / 2018

1.20
1.40 1.45 1.50

 �Dividend yield (%, based on the share price at the end  
of the financial year)

4.1 3.1 4.1

4.3

We regularly update analysts' valuations that we receive on our website  
under Investor Relations/DBAG Shares/Analyst Ratings.
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Strong capital markets volatility during  
the past financial year 

Our share price performance in the past financial year – as well 
as that of its most important benchmark indices – was marked 
by high volatility. This was due in part to market uncertainty 
caused by the lack of clarity regarding the political framework, 
and the absence of any significant action on the part of key 
political figures. Key issues such as international commercial 
disputes, fears of recession and Brexit negotiations must be  
mentioned here.

Such influences have a two-fold effect on the price of the 
DBAG share: firstly, movements in the market as a whole 
inevitably have an effect on individual securities. Secondly, 
changes in capital market multiples lead to valuation 

adjustments in our investment portfolio and have a direct 
impact on income. Meanwhile, burdens on the economy are 
no longer feared; in fact, stagnation has already become visi-
ble in many indicators.

As a result, during the past financial year we have had to com-
municate our quarterly figures provisionally in the form of 
ad-hoc announcements: firstly because fluctuations in capital 
market multiples have led to considerable positive or negative 
effects on results, and secondly because some of our portfolio 
companies fell short of expectations in the third quarter.

portfolio companies , who gave in insight into their companies 
and their development. The Capital Markets Day was met with 
great interest and was attended by around 20 guests. The feed-
back was so positive that we will stick to this format.

We also attach great importance to meaningful and high-qual-
ity communication media in terms of content and design –  
be it our presentations, our internet presence or our financial 

reports. Our huge commitment to investor relations work con-
tinues to be perceived positively by the market. We regularly 
take the top spot in various studies and competitions. 

DBAG is a member of DAI, BVK, DIRK and LPeC.
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S H A R E  P E R F O R M A N C E 

PERFORMANCE OF DBAG SHARES AND BENCHMARK INDICES

(1 October 2009 – 30 September 2019, indexed to: 1 October 2009 = 100)
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1 Oct. 2009 1 Oct. 2011 1 Oct. 2013 1 Oct. 2015 1 Oct. 2017 1 Oct. 2019

 DBAG   Dax    S-Dax    LPX50    

1 Oct. 2018: €35.45  
at the beginning of the financial year

7 Aug. 2019: €30.05  
Financial year low

30 Sep. 2019: €34.70 
at the end of the financial year

24 April 2019: €37.35  
Financial year high



Key data and ratios for the DBAG share and its liquidity can be found on our 
website, under Investor Relations/DBAG Shares

 
S H A R E H O L D E R  P R O F I L E

Growing share of institutional investors  
and family offices

As at 30 September 2019, 40 per cent of our shares were held 
by 15,601 private individuals and joint shareholders. Thus, 
the proportion of this investor group is about 4 per cent lower 
than last year. The proportion attributable to Family Offices, 
on the other hand, has increased from 23 per cent to 31 per 
cent. Among them there are two shareholders which hold 
more than five per cent of the shares: Rossmann Beteiligungs 
GmbH announced in January 2019 that it holds 20.03 per 
cent in DBAG. According to a notification dated December 
2017, Mr Ricardo Portabella holds a stake of 6.65 per cent in 
DBAG via Taiko SA, an investment vehicle associated with 
him. These two positions reduce the proportion of shares in 
free float. According to the voting right notifications that are 
available to us, the free float was at 73.3 per cent, calculated 
in accordance with Deutsche Börse’s definition.

S H A R E H O L D E R  P R O F I L E  ( AT  3 0  S E P T E M B E R  2 0 19 )

in % 

Private shareholders 40

Family offices 31

� Institutional Investors 
Germany 17

Institutional Investors 
Europe 8

Institutional Investors USA 3

Institutional Investors 
rest of world 1

Encouraging share price performance – especially  
over longer observation periods

In spite of the challenging capital market environment, our 
share price significantly outperformed its benchmark indices in 
the period to May 2019. In the following months, the share price 
lagged behind the Dax and LPX50, but caught up significantly 
following the successful sale of the inexio stake. The result was 
a somewhat stronger increase in the share price over the entire 
financial year than that of the Dax – and significantly stronger 
than that of the S-Dax.

We continue to stress that short-term considerations are only 
of limited value, because the value enhancement strategies of 
our portfolio companies are designed for a horizon of several 
years. From our point of view, the longer-term development of 
our share is therefore of greater importance. In a three-, five- and 
ten-year comparison, it not only outperformed its benchmark 
indices, but mostly did so quite strongly. 

PERFORMANCE 1 (P.A.  IN  %)  OVER

The DBAG share Dax S-Dax LPX502

1 year (financial year 2018/2019) 2.0 0.7 (7.8) 12.0

3 years (financial years 2016/2017 to 2018/2019) 8.3 5.6 5.7 14.7

5 years (financial years 2014/2015 to 2018/2019) 14.2 5.8 10.1 13.3

10 years (financial years 2009/2010 to 2018/2019) 13.3 8.4 12.3 15.3

1 ��allowing for the distribution of dividends
2 Index of the 50 largest internationally listed private equity companies in terms of market capitalisation; the DBAG share is included in this index.
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With this annual report, the 

weightings of some performance 

indicators have changed, and it  

is clear that DBAG has re-worked 

its targets and management ap- 

proach. An interview with Chief 

Financial Officer Susanne Zeidler 

on the rationale behind this 

decision.

What is the reason for the changes?

We want to make it easier for read-
ers to identify the value of Deutsche 
Beteiligungs AG. The first step in this 
direction was the introduction of 
segment reporting at the beginning 
of the 2014/2015 financial year. Now 
we are ready to take the next step: the 
value of the company is determined 
by the value of the two business seg-
ments, Private Equity Investments 
and Fund Investment Services, with 
all financial and non-financial targets 
contributing. The development in 
value of Private Equity Investments  
is calculated on the basis of the net 
asset value, the change in value of 
Fund Investment Services is derived 
from the long-term development of net 
income from advising funds. 

So you no longer want net income to 
be used as a benchmark?

Net income remains an important in-
dicator. It is, after all, determined by 
the change in net asset value and the 
income from Fund Services. However, 
what we would rather focus on are the 
long-term drivers of DBAG's value. 
Net income is much more volatile 
than the other two indicators and a 
high level of volatility makes it diffi-
cult, in particular for external parties, 
to assess what is really going on inside 
the Company.

What benefits do you see in this 
approach?

Our intention is to move more in line 
with the reporting methods of other 
listed private equity companies. This 
may help us to gain greater interest 
from investors seeking exposure to 
such types of shares.

Have there been any other changes?

During the financial year under re-
view, we revised our target system 
with regard to non-financial targets, 
in order to bring them and the respec-
tive management indicators closer to-
gether. As part of this process, we also 

reviewed the management indicators 
across the board and adjusted them in 
some areas. 

As a result, the "Retention of experi-
enced and motivated staff" has been 
added as a non-financial objective. 
Our staff are key to the progress of 
our investment activities. It is there-
fore vital to DBAG's business success 
that we continually invest in the 
expertise, motivation and loyalty of 
our staff, and monitor these activities 
closely. To see whether our efforts 
bear fruit and whether we have 
achieved this non-financial objec-
tive, it is enough to look at the average 
length of service. 

Will DBAG’s core corporate objec-
tive remain the same?

Yes, it will. The core business objec-
tive of our activities has always been 
to increase the long-term value of 
DBAG. We want our shareholders to 
benefit from this – through attractive 
dividends and a fair market valuation 
of the DBAG share.

Ms Zeidler, what is  
the rationale behind DBAG 

changing their target 
system and performance 

indicators?

 
I N T E R V I E W

Susanne Zeidler,  
Chief Financial Officer
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Voluntary commitment: sustainability policy and  
German corporate governance code

Development can only be deemed sustainable when it meets 
the needs of the present while ensuring that the needs of future 
generations are also met. With this in mind, we developed an 
ESG Policy (Environment – Social – Governance) to lay down 
our sustainability principles. Our ESG Policy addresses both 
the integration of the Principles for Responsible Investment 
in our investment process as well as corporate governance 
issues. It also bans us from investing in certain sectors and 
companies, in particular, weapons manufacturers. We do not 
engage in hostile takeovers either.

In addition, we have consistently followed nearly all of the 
recommendations and suggestions of the German Corporate 
Governance Code since its introduction.

Conviction and values that go  
beyond our company

As a company with firmly established ethical, social and eco-
logical principles, we attach a great deal of importance to en-
suring that our portfolio companies also meet our high stand-
ards. In order to ensure that they do, we have established an 
ESG review process; before any investment decision is taken, 
we examine whether our ESG criteria are met as we perform 
due diligence. 

To gain as comprehensive a picture as possible, we observe 
as many ESG criteria as possible along the value chain fo-
cusing not only on risks, but especially on opportunities. An 
example for such an opportunity is the reduction of energy 
consumption in energy-intensive production; this will con-
siderably increase a company’s result and thus its value. The 
same applies if occupational safety can be increased or the 
loyalty of experienced employees strengthened.

C O R P O R AT E  G O V E R N A N C E

Deutsche Beteiligungs AG is committed to the principles of sustainable corporate behaviour. Taking responsi-

bility for the impact that our decisions have on others, both now and in the future, is consistent with the long-

term nature of our business. This includes the decisions we make in the investment process, in the development 

and subsequent disposal of our portfolio companies, and in managing our company. Our focus is on the criteria 

of corporate governance, business ethics, employment matters, as well as social affairs and the environment.

A HOL IST IC  APPROACH TO RESPONSIB I L I T Y  

INCLUDES INVESTMENTS

C O R P O R AT E 

G O V E R N A N C E 

E N V I R O N M E N TE M P L OY M E N T  &  

S O C I A L  A F FA I R S

B U S I N E S S  

E T H I C S 
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For this examination, we do not solely rely on our own exper-
tise (acquired through numerous investments in mid-market 
enterprises), but also on that of seasoned, specialised advisors. 
During the investment period, we exert an indirect influ-
ence by taking offices on advisory councils and supervisory 
boards. The advisory councils and supervisory boards of our 
portfolio companies address sustainability issues at least once 
a year. Furthermore, a direct exchange on related topics takes 
place with the management team. Ultimately, the idea behind 
the review process is to enable our portfolio companies to  
define and report ESG indicators, and to use these indicators 
for specific measures that will make their business operations 
even more sustainable.

The portfolio companies report on their general business 
performance on a quarterly basis; this also includes improve-
ments in ESG issues as well as climate-related aspects such as 
energy consumption. 

The funds managed or advised by DBAG have a contractual 
obligation to introduce an ESG Policy, which includes regular 
reporting to the fund investors. This also allows the DBAG 

funds to take account of the increased demands placed on 
them by their investors, in terms of the sustainability of their 
investments.

Sustainable financing strategy as  
the basis for long-term success

Our business activities are geared towards the overarching 
objective of increasing DBAG’s enterprise value over the long 
term. The biggest value contribution comes from the Private 
Equity Investments segment, i. e. from investments in mid-
market companies with growth potential that we make along-
side the DBAG funds. Our sustainable financing strategy allows 
us to ensure that DBAG always has sufficient funds available 
to make these co-investments – using its own resources. DBAG 
finances its activities in the long term by way of the capital 
markets, and reinvests funds resulting from the disposal of 
its investments. Other than a credit line in place to tempora
rily offset irregular cash flows, the strategy does not involve  
taking any bank debt. This is reflected in our solid consolidated 
statement of financial position, with an equity ratio in excess 
of 90 per cent.

T H E  E S G  R E V I E W  P R O C E S S

E S G  R AT I O S 

M O R E  S U S TA I N A B L E  B U S I N E S S

Advisory boards/supervisory boards 
Monitoring KPIs

D U R I N G  T H E  I N V E S T M E N T

ESG due diligence  
Publicly available data  

Experts DBAG investment team

B E F O R E  T H E  I N V E S T M E N T  

D E C I S I O N  I S  M A D E
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Extensive compliance system:  
zero tolerance for non-compliance

Ensuring that the relevant statutory provisions are adhered 
to within Deutsche Beteiligungs AG itself – and in the port-
folio companies we lend our support to – is an absolute must 
for us. This is an area in which we pursue a zero-tolerance 
approach. We are strictly against all forms of corruption or 
other unethical business practices. In order to meet these 
high compliance standards both within our Company and in 
our dealings with portfolio companies, we have introduced 
a far-reaching compliance system that documents and regu-
lates our obligations. 

Our code of conduct sets out our central values and guid-
ing principles. Our Compliance Guideline sets out detailed 
regulations and information on implementation with regard 
to business trips, hospitality, dealing with gifts and invita-
tions, employee transactions, equal treatment and IT. There 
are also precise requirements governing the organisation 
and monitoring of the compliance system – including its 
enhancement, and regular training sessions for employees.

Our objective as a private equity company is not only to 
ensure that our own employees adhere to defined compliance 
standards. Rather, compliance regulations are also taken into 
account in the due diligence process when evaluating new 
investments. We have set out clear guidelines on what we 
expect from the compliance systems established at portfolio 
companies, and do everything in our power to check that 
these standards are met. In order to ensure uniform stan
dards, we always work with the same experienced compli-
ance experts from a renowned consultancy when carrying 
out assessments.

And last but not least, we also use our offices on advisory 
boards and supervisory boards to support our portfolio com-
panies in promoting the establishment and enhancement of 
compliance systems within these companies.

B U S I N E S S  E T H I C S

C O M P L I A N C E  

W I T H I N  D B A G

C O M P L I A N C E  

I N  T R A N S A C T I O N  P R O C E S S
C O M P L I A N C E  

I N  P O R T F O L I O  C O M PA N I E S

“ 1 0 0 %  C O M P L I A N C E “
 

EQUAL TREATMENT

IT/DATA SECURITY

EMPLOYEE TRANSACTIONS

GIFTS/PERQUISITES

BUSINESS TRIPS

HOSPITALITY

 
O R G A N I S AT I O N

C O N T R O L

F U R T H E R  D E V E L O P M E N T

E M P L OY E E  I N F O R M AT I O N

T H E  D B AG  C O M P L I A N C E  S Y S T E M
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Employees: the best possible working  
environment for all staff

Acknowledging that our employees are our most important 
resource, we want to offer all DBAG employees the best pos-
sible working environment. This includes health-promoting 
measures as well as well-equipped workstations. We promote 
a culture of respect, openness and flat hierarchies – just as 
we promote professionalism, stable processes and ongoing 
professional development. Our remuneration system ensures 
that all employees participate in the Company’s success.

In relation to the size of the Company, DBAG invests an 
above-average amount in training. We had five apprentices 
working for us at the most recent reporting date; this corre-
sponds to around seven per cent of our workforce.

DBAG Foundation: social and cultural commitment

The charitable foundation “Gemeinnützige Stiftung der 
Deutschen Beteiligungs AG” forms the basis of DBAG’s ongoing 
social and cultural commitment. It aims to support active and 
former employees of current and previous portfolio companies 
and their relatives in times of need. These are, for example, 

situations in which the standard social security systems can-
not grant benefits. The DBAG foundation also promotes the arts 
and cultural projects in the greater Frankfurt area, for exam-
ple a short film festival or the “Luminale”, a festival of lighting 
culture.

DBAG takes part in the Malteser Social Day – a charitable event 
organised by the local chapter of the Order of Malta – every two 
years. This nationwide Social Day allows teams of employees 
from numerous companies to be released from their duties in 
order to work on projects at social institutions that could not 
otherwise be realised due to a lack of financial or staff resources.

E M P LOY M E N T  &  S O C I A L  A F FA I R S

Carbon Disclosure Project: ongoing reduction in 
greenhouse gas emissions

DBAG has been involved in the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) 
surveys since 2011. The CDP is a global non-profit organisation 
that represents major institutional investors. It collects data on 
company greenhouse gas emissions, among other things, on 
behalf of institutional investors – i. e. also for our Company’s 
shareholders. Participating in the CDP allows us to meet the 
transparency demands of investors and the general public. The 
annual survey provides us with a good pool of data to facilitate 
continuous improvements in our level of carbon emissions.

Our business model means that our carbon footprint is rela-
tively small. It is influenced primarily by the operation of our 
business premises, as well as by the use of company vehicles 
and by the business trips that our employees make. Our regu-
lation on travel expenses stipulates that they should take the 
train, whenever possible as well as economically efficient and 
viable in terms of timing.

T H E  E N V I R O N M E N T
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COMBINED MANAGEMENT 

REPORT

B U S I N E S S  O V E R V I E W

Deutsche Beteiligungs AG has reached the end of a financial year in which it outstripped its 
original earnings forecast, largely thanks to several, in some cases very successful, disposals. 
While the investment progress made by the DBAG funds was once again encouraging, the 
value appreciation of the portfolio lagged behind our expectations overall. This can be traced 
back to negative economic factors that had a particular impact on portfolio companies with 
industrial business models, as well as to lower valuations on the capital market and delays in 
the implementation of necessary changes at some portfolio companies. 

As a result, the Group‘s net asset value only improved by 1.4 million euros. Taking into account 
the dividend distributed (21.8 million euros), the net asset value was up by 5.2 per cent as against 
the adjusted value for the previous year. Earnings generated by Fund Investment Services came 
to 3.0 million euros as against 5.6 million euros a year earlier. Net income came to 45.9 million 
euros. Total comprehensive income was hit by higher allocations to pension provisions due to 
much lower interest rates, and amounted to 38.2 million euros. Earnings per share of 3.05 euros 
correspond to a return on equity per share of 9.1 per cent, significantly higher than the cost 
of equity.

Five new companies were added to the portfolio in the financial year 2018/2019 and the same 
number of investments were ended, largely very successfully. The portfolio continues to consist 
of 27 equity investments, plus two investments in international buyout funds managed by third 
parties.

The Private Equity Investments segment reported earnings before tax of 42.1 million euros 
in 2018/2019, which was around 75 per cent higher than in the previous financial year. The 
earnings before tax reported by the Fund Investment Services segment was down year-on-year, 
due to the smaller calculation basis for the income generated by this segment.

At 29.1 million euros, the Group’s parent company also posted higher net income than in the 
previous year. Even after the dividend payment, it can report a net retained profit of 178.1 million 
euros thanks to numerous successful disposals in previous financial years; 1.50 euros per share 
is to be distributed to the shareholders, i.e. a total of 22.6 million euros.
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F U N DA M E N TA L  I N F O R M AT I O N  A B O U T  T H E  G R O U P 

Structure and business activity

Positioning: Listed private equity company

Deutsche Beteiligungs AG (DBAG) is a publicly-listed private equity company. It initiates closed-
end private equity funds (“DBAG funds”) for investment in equity or equity-like instruments 
predominantly in unlisted companies, and provides advice regarding these funds. Employing 
its own assets, it mainly enters into investments as a co-investor alongside the DBAG funds. 
Where investments do not match the investment strategies of DBAG funds, DBAG also invests 
independently of the funds (“Principal Investments”). The investment focus, as an investor and 
fund advisor, is on mid-market German companies.

We support our portfolio companies, for a period of usually four to seven years, as a financial 
investor in a focused-partnership role with the objective of appreciating their value. The com-
panies subsequently continue their development under a different constellation; for example, 
alongside a strategic partner, a new financial investor, or as a listed company.

DBAG’s shares have been listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange since 1985. They are traded in 
the market segment with the highest transparency requirements, the Prime Standard.

Deutsche Beteiligungs AG is recognised as a special investment company, as defined by German 
statutory legislation on special investment companies (Gesetz über Unternehmensbeteiligungs-
gesellschaften – UBGG), and is therefore exempt from municipal trade tax. A subsidiary, which 
is registered as a small capital management company (Kapitalverwaltungsgesellschaft – KVG) 
in accordance with the German Capital Investment Code (Kapitalanlagegesetzbuch – KAGB) 
is responsible for the management of the German funds. Another subsidiary is registered in 
Guernsey as a KVG, from where it manages the funds based in Luxembourg and Guernsey.

Integrated business model: Two business segments  
that are closely tied to DBAG funds

The roots of Deutsche Beteiligungs AG reach back to 1965. Since then, DBAG and its predecessor 
company have entered into equity investments in more than 300 companies – from the outset 
(also) through closed-end funds that invest on their own account. Today, DBAG funds bundle 
the assets of German and international investors.

Raising capital for DBAG funds is advantageous for DBAG and its shareholders, as well as for 
investors in the funds.

>	�Shareholders participate in the fee income earned for advising DBAG funds (“Fund Investment 
Services”). The funds’ assets create a substantially larger capital base, which enables investing 
in larger companies without reducing the diversity of the portfolio. Moreover, as a special 
investment company, DBAG is only permitted to take majority positions within strict limits; 
structuring management buyouts (MBOs) together with the DBAG funds is, however, possible 
without restrictions.

>	�The fund investors can, in turn, be assured that their advisor, in its role as a co-investor, 
pursues the same interests.

Strategic development	  
page 50

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8 / 2 0 1 9 C O M B I N E D  M A N A G E M E N T  R E P O R T 4 5

C
O

M
B

IN
E

D
 M

A
N

A
G

E
M

E
N

T
 R

E
P

O
R

T



The two funds that are currently investing, DBAG Fund VII and DBAG Expansion Capital Fund 
(ECF), cover a wide section of the German private equity market with equity investments of 
between 10 and 100 million euros (up to 200 million euros in exceptional cases) for management 
buyouts and growth financing. Currently, there is a total of five DBAG funds that are in different 
phases of their life cycles:

>	��The DBAG Fund IV buyout fund has sold all of its portfolio companies and is currently in 
liquidation.

>	�Its two follow-on funds are in the disinvestment phase. Of the erstwhile eleven portfolio 
companies, DBAG Fund V had sold ten by the reporting date of 30 September 2019. DBAG 
Fund VI still holds investment in seven out of a previous total of eleven MBOs.

>	�DBAG ECF ended its original investment period in May 2017. It made growth financing 
available for eight companies and entered into one MBO. June 2017 saw the start of the 
first, and July 2018 the start of the second new investment period (DBAG ECF I/DBAG ECF II), 
which will run until the end of 2020 at the latest. 43 per cent of the fund was invested at 
the 30 September 2019 reporting date and a further 25 per cent was allocated to another 
investment that had already been agreed, but had not yet been completed, by that date.

>	�DBAG initiated the DBAG Fund VII in 2016. The fund’s investment period started in December 
2016; between then and the reporting date, the fund structured eight MBOs, seven of which 
were completed by the reporting date. Taking into account transactions that have been 
agreed but not yet completed, around 67 per cent of the fund has been called.1 

Given the advanced level of investment of the two funds that are currently investing, we started 
preparing for a new DBAG fund during the financial year. 

Performance  
of DBAG Fund VI 
page 73f.

Performance  
of DBAG ECF 
page 72f.

Performance  
of DBAG Fund VII		
page 70f.

1 Principal fund;  
top-up fund: 32 per cent

Fund Target
Start of invest-
ment period

End of  
investment 
period Size

Thereof  
DBAG

Share of 
DBAG‘s  
co-investment

DBAG Fund IV
(in liquidation)

Managed by  
DBG New Fund 
Management Buyouts September 2002 February 2007 €322mn €94mn 29%

DBAG Fund V
Managed by DBG 
Managing Partner Buyouts February 2007 February 2013 €539mn €105mn 19%

DBAG Expansion  
Capital Fund 
(ECF)

Managed by DBG 
Managing Partner Growth financing May 2011 May 2017 €212mn €100mn 47%

DBAG ECF first 
new investment 
period  
(“DBAG ECF I”)

Managed by DBG 
Managing Partner

Growth financing 
and small buyouts June 2017 June 2018 €85mn €35mn 41%

DBAG ECF 
second new in-
vestment period  
(“DBAG ECF II”)

Managed by DBG  
Managing Partner

Growth financing 
and small buyouts June 2018

December 2020
(at the latest) €97mn €40mn 41%

DBAG Fund VI
Advised by  
DBG Advising Buyouts February 2013 December 2016 €700mn1 €133mn 19%

DBAG Fund VII
Advised by  
DBG Advising Buyouts December 2016

December 2022 
(at the latest) €1.010mn 2  €200mn 3 20%4 

1 Without the co-investment of experienced members of the DBAG investment team  
2 �DBAG Fund VII consists of two sub-funds, a principal fund (808 million euros) and a top-up fund (202 million euros), without the co-investment of members of  

the investment team of DBAG; the top-up fund invests exclusively in transactions with an equity capital investment that exceeds the concentration limit of the  
principal fund for a single investment

3 DBAG has committed 183 million euros to the principal fund and 17 million euros to the top-up fund
4 The proportion of co-investments for the principal fund amounts to 20 per cent and the proportion of co-investments for the top-up fund amounts to eight per cent
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Fund Investment Services business segment

Advisory services provided to DBAG funds are bundled in the Fund Investment Services business 
segment.

Advisory services by the investment team

The advisory services provided to the funds can be split into three material processes: first, 
we identify and assess transaction opportunities (“invest”); second, we support the portfolio 
companies’ development process (“develop”), before thirdly, we realise the value appreciation 
(“realise”) upon a portfolio company’s well-timed and well-structured disinvestment.

We manage these processes with our own resources in tried-and-tested workflows; responsibility 
for this lies primarily with the investment team. It consists of 21 investment managers, with two 
Board of Management members assuming responsibility for the team, whilst also being part 
of it. The team has a broad skill set combined with multifaceted experience in the investment 
business. It is supplemented by three employees in Research and Business Development. The 
auxiliary functions for the investment process and the administrative activities, which are 
collectively referred to as the “corporate functions”, all report to the Chief Financial Officer, 
whose responsibilities also include portfolio valuation and risk management.

INVESTMENT SERVICES BUSINESS SEGMENT

Seek, assess and structure  
investment opportunities

 

Negotiate investment 
agreements

 

Compile investment  
memoranda for the fund 

manager

Support portfolio  
companies

 

Participate in  
supervisory boards 

 

Finance acquisitions

Sell portfolio  
companies

 

Structure  
the sale process 

 

Prepare investment  
decisions

I N V E S T D E V E L O P R E A L I S E
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A project team of two to four individuals is generally responsible for each transaction. One of the 
two members of the Board of Management is assigned to each project team. One member of 
the project team will typically take a seat on the respective portfolio company’s advisory board 
or supervisory board in order to support their management.

Fees resulting from services for DBAG funds as a source of income

DBAG receives volume-related fees for its investment services, which constitute a continual and 
readily forecastable source of income. For DBAG Fund VI and DBAG Fund VII, fees during the 
investment period are based on the committed capital (only DBAG Fund VII in the past financial 
year2). After that, they are measured by the invested capital (only DBAG Fund VI in the past 
financial year). The fees for DBAG ECF are based on the invested capital and we can also receive 
one-off fees based on individual transactions. As agreed, fees are no longer paid in DBAG 
Fund V more than two years after the end of the customary disinvestment phase.

It follows from this fee methodology that fee income from fund advisory services will decline 
with every disposal from a fund’s portfolio. In principle, considerable increases can only be 
achieved when a new fund is launched. Smaller increases are achieved every time DBAG ECF 
enters into a new investment, because the services in connection with this fund are paid based 
on the invested capital.

Alignment of interest and incentives for the investment team 

The members of the investment team with greater experience in investing (13 out of 19), and 
the two Board of Management members responsible for the investment team, personally  
co-invest their own money alongside the DBAG funds, generally investing around one per 
cent (as is common in the industry) of the capital raised by the fund investors and DBAG. This 
meets the expectations of fund investors who, for reasons of identity of interest, expect such a 
private investment. The co-investing members of the investment team receive an incentive for 
generating the best possible financial performance for the funds. They receive a profit share 
that is disproportionate to their capital commitment (“carried interest”) after the fund investors 
and DBAG have realised their invested capital plus a preferred return.

Investment team supported by strong network 

The investment team can rely on a strong network, the nucleus of which is an “Executive Circle” 
consisting of 64 people. The members of the Executive Circle support us in identifying and 
initiating investment opportunities, assist us in assessing certain industries or back us prior to 
making an investment in the particularly comprehensive target company due diligence process. 
The Executive Circle comprises experienced industrial experts, including partners of earlier 
investment transactions. The members have industry experience that is relevant to DBAG. The 
network is supplemented by a large group of financial experts, consultants, lawyers and auditors.

Income from Fund Services 
page 76

2 Fees for the top-up fund  
are also measured by the  
invested capital during the  
investment phase.
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Private Equity Investments business line

Value creation on investments as a source of income

The Private Equity Investments business segment largely encompasses investments which are 
held through investment entity subsidiaries. DBAG co-invests via these companies on the same 
terms, in the same companies and in the same instruments as the DBAG funds. To that end, 
DBAG has concluded co-investment agreements with the DBAG funds that provide for a fixed 
investment ratio for the lifetime of a fund. These agreed ratios also apply upon an investment’s 
disposal. Income is generated from the value appreciation and sale of these investments. 

In addition, DBAG decided in the last financial year to include investments purely from its own 
balance sheet (in other words, not alongside the funds) as an additional investment program-
me (“Principal Investments”). These will include investments that are not consistent with the 
investment strategies of the existing DBAG funds; this applies, for example, to longer-dated 
minority investments.

The modes and specific structuring of an investment are geared to the individual financing 
situation. These could be:

>	a succession solution in a family-owned business,

>	split-offs of peripheral activities from large corporations,

>	a sale from the portfolio of another financial investor,

>	a capital requirement to fund a company’s growth.

Correspondingly, an investment can involve equity or equity-like instruments, taking either 
majority or minority positions. The first three financing situations mentioned above will usually 
be structured as majority acquisitions. Growth financing, on the other hand, is made by way of 
a minority interest or by providing equity-like funding.

Portfolio profile: Predominantly MBOs

Our statement of financial position confirms the success of our investment activity. Since 1997, 
DBAG has financed a total of 53 MBOs together with DBG Fund III, DBAG Fund IV, DBAG 
Fund V, DBAG Fund VI and DBAG Fund VII, as well as DBAG ECF since June 2017. To date, we 
have increased the value of the invested equity to 2.0 times3 the original amount. 32 of these 
investments had been realised completely or for the most part by the end of the previous 
financial year. The disposals generated a multiple of 2.7 times the invested capital.

Growth financing investments are also attractive. Like Principal Investments, these investments 
differ from MBOs in that, among other things, the companies’ debt levels are mostly lower and 
the holding periods are usually longer. The expected rate of return is therefore lower than the 
rate of return for MBOs, while earnings are comparable in absolute terms.

Investment ratios  
of DBAG to DBAG funds 
page 46

Investment criteria  
pages 50ff.

Details on the portfolio  
pages 88ff.

3 This takes into consideration  
all buyouts structured up to  
30 September 2019; it does not  
take into consideration agreed but 
not yet completed transactions.
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Long-term financing of co-investments via the stock market

DBAG finances the co-investments alongside DBAG funds in the long term exclusively through 
the stock market. The structure of its statement of financial position attests to the special nature 
of the private equity business, with investments and realisations that cannot be scheduled. 
The Company maintains sufficient financial resources in order to take advantage of investment 
opportunities and to meet co-investment agreements at any time. Loans are only used in excep-
tional cases and only to serve short-term liquidity requirements. For longer planning horizons, 
we manage the amount of equity capital via distributions, share repurchases (as in 2005, 2006 
and 2007) and capital increases (2004, 2016).

Strategy

Investments in mid-market German companies  
with potential for development

Clear investment criteria

DBAG invests in established companies with a proven business model. This approach excludes 
investments in early-stage companies, or companies requiring considerable restructuring. More
over, we attach a great deal of importance to seasoned and dedicated management teams who 
are able to realise the objectives agreed with them. 

In the year under review, we expanded our investment strategy and, as a result, our product 
range for the mid-market segment: in addition to the co-investments alongside the DBAG 
funds, we now offer equity investments that are financed exclusively from the Deutsche Betei-
ligungs AG balance sheet. These are investments that are not consistent with the investment 
strategies of the existing DBAG funds. As a result, these Principal Investments differ from the 
co-investments made alongside the funds first of all in terms of the intended term of the 
investment: our offering is aimed at family businesses to whom we can offer equity capital from 
our balance sheet, enabling holding periods that are longer than the usual term of a closed-end 
private equity fund.

We look for companies with development potential to add to our portfolio. By way of example, 
measures to strengthen a company’s strategic positioning – e.g. by expanding its product range 
or covering a larger geographical market – can unleash potential for value appreciation. Poten-
tial for earnings improvements that have not yet been realised can be exploited by improving 
operational processes, for example with the aim of making production more efficient. In some 
cases, there is also the option for particularly strong companies to press ahead with consolida-
tion in the industry.

Companies that fit the range of investments we cover are also characterised by leadership 
positions in a (possibly small) market, entrepreneurially-driven management, strong innovative 
capacity and future-proof products. The business models of these companies are also aimed at 
reaping the benefits from the megatrends in their respective sectors. Many such mid-market 
companies can be found in Germany, for example, in mechanical and plant engineering, in the 
automotive supply industry and among industrial support services providers, as well as among 
industrial component manufacturers.

Risks arising from  
co-investment agreements  
page 104f.
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The DBAG investment team has traditionally focused on these industries and industry-related 
services and has a particular wealth of experience and expertise in this area. We are capable of 
structuring even complex transactions in these core sectors, such as the acquisition of companies 
from conglomerates or companies facing operational challenges. In addition to the investments 
in our core sectors, we have increasingly turned to portfolio companies in other new focus 
sectors in recent years and these now account for a considerable proportion of the portfolio.

Transactions in our core sectors, however, account for a limited share of the private equity 
market that has been declining in general of late. These sectors are also more exposed to cyclical 
influences than others. As a result, and also in the interests of further diversifying the risk in our 
portfolio, we have continuously broadened the range of industries we cover to include segments 
outside of our core sectors in recent years. Examples of transactions from these new focus 
sectors involve companies whose business is related to the expansion of digital infrastructure in 
Germany. Companies with mature and attractive business models are increasingly being found 
in the software industry, too. The healthcare sector has also opened up to financial investors 
over the last few years.

Overall, we have made significant changes to the industry structure of our portfolio in recent 
year. While the investments made in the period between 2007 and 2012 came exclusively from 
our traditional core sectors, this has no longer been the case since 2013. Transactions conducted 
outside of the core sectors have increased consistently since then.

Geographically, we concentrate on companies domiciled – or whose business is centred – in 
German-speaking regions. We limit any investments outside of this region to our core sectors. 

SECTOR BREAKDOWN OF THE PORTFOLIO

Costs of purchase (€bn) Automotive supplier 9

Mechanical and plant 
engineering 17

� Industrial components 25

Industrial services 4

Broadband/ 
telecommunications 13

IT services / software 5

Healthcare 5

Other 22

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8 / 2 0 1 9 C O M B I N E D  M A N A G E M E N T  R E P O R T 5 1

C
O

M
B

IN
E

D
 M

A
N

A
G

E
M

E
N

T
 R

E
P

O
R

T



Irrespective of the type of investment, the DBAG funds provide for equity investments in a 
single transaction of between 10 and 100 million euros. When it comes to structuring larger 
transactions with equity investments of up to 200 million euros, we include the top-up fund 
of DBAG Fund VII. For DBAG, this equates to equity investments of between 5 and 20 million 
euros, and for transactions involving the top-up fund, equity investments of up to 34 million 
euros in principle. DBAG’s Principal Investments are designed to achieve a comparable level of 
equity investment; where appropriate, we enter into larger equity investments hand-in-hand 
with co-investors.

Depending on the business model of the future portfolio company, the equity invested corre-
sponds to an enterprise value of between 20 and 400 million euros. Furthermore, the focus 
is on investments in companies with an enterprise value of between 50 and 250 million, i.e. 
companies at the upper end of the mid-market segment. This segment comprises almost 9,000 
companies in Germany.

We endeavour to achieve a diversified portfolio. For investments in several companies operating 
in the same industry, we take care to ensure that they serve different niche markets, operate in 
different geographical regions or have different business models. Most of our portfolio compa-
nies operate internationally. This applies to the markets they serve, but also to their production 
sites. 

Some of our portfolio companies produce capital goods. The demand for these products is 
generally subject to stronger cyclical swings than the demand for consumer goods. This means 
that we pay particular attention to an appropriate financing structure for these companies. 
Investments in companies whose performance is more strongly linked to consumer demand 
mitigate the effects of business cycles on the value of the portfolio. This applies, in particular, 
to the investments in the new focus sectors of broadband/telecommunications and IT services/
software.

Investment performance as a prerequisite for growth  
in both business lines

In our business segment of Fund Investment Services, our aim is to achieve long-term growth 
in the volume of assets under management or advisory. This is achieved by ensuring that a 
successor fund exceeds the size of its predecessor, or by launching further DBAG funds with 
new investment strategies that we have not pursued to date. The distribution of a higher fund 
volume among DBAG and the other investors determines the change in the basis for the fee 
income from investment services to funds, but first and foremost, it determines the growth 
opportunities open to the business segment of Private Equity Investments.

Capital commitments to a (successor) fund are significantly influenced by the performance of a 
current fund. Thus, a prerequisite for increasing managed and advised assets is, among other 
things, an excellent track record. Investors also value DBAG’s access to the mid-market segment, 
the long-term stability of our investment team, and our strong roots in the German economy.

DBAG co-investment  
ratio with the DBAG funds  
page 46
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Objectives 

Core objective: Long-term increase in the Company’s value

The core BUSINESS OBJECTIVE of our activity is to sustainably increase the value of Deutsche 
Beteiligungs AG. We achieve this aim by increasing the value of our two business segments, 
Private Equity Investments and Fund Investment Services.

As is common in the private equity sector, a long period of time is required before we can 
be judged on our success. The income from investment activity is influenced to a significant 
degree by the appreciation in value of our portfolio companies. Exploiting development potential 
requires patience; on average, we support the companies over a period of four to seven years. 
Income from Fund Services is largely influenced by the launch of new funds, something that 
happens every four to five years or so, while the lifetime of a fund generally extends to ten 
years and extensions of up to two years are common. Key indicators can also be headed on a 
downward trajectory in the short term. This is partly a typical feature of the business because, 
for example, income from Fund Services falls after investments are disposed of. In part, however, 
it is also attributable to external factors that can fluctuate considerably in the short term, such 
as the valuation levels of listed peer group companies in the context of the portfolio valuation 
process. This means that a single quarter and even an entire financial year say very little about the 
success of our business activities. It is only when viewed over a sufficiently long period of time 
that it is possible to assess whether we have reached the core objective of our business activity.

Enhancement of the target system

We enhanced our target system in the financial year under review. As in the past, it consists of 
three financial and three non-financial objectives which make indirect and direct contributions 
to achieving the core business objective.

We have renamed the financial objective “Build the value of portfolio companies” “Build the 
value of Private Equity Investments”. This editorial adjustment was made in view of the fact that 
the value of the portfolio companies does not fully reflect the value of the business segment. 
For example, the previous name of the objective does not cover the financial resources, which 
form part of the net asset value.

We have also made an editorial adjustment to the name of another objective: “Generate value 
contribution from Fund Investment Services” is now called “Build the value of Fund Investment 
Services”. This is designed to make it clear that this value contribution is also to be increased 
in the long term.

The non-financial objective “Attract and retain experienced and motivated employees” is a new 
addition. Employees are the key to success, especially in the investment and fund business. This is 
evident, for example, from the fact that investors in private equity funds tend to regard selected 
members of the investment team as “key persons” for the success of a fund, and ensure that they 
are granted certain rights in the event that these individuals no longer belong to the investment 
team. This is why keeping an eye on motivation levels and the loyalty of its employees to the 
company is a top priority for DBAG.
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The former non-financial objective “Maintain and build on our reputation in the private equity 
market” has been combined with the objective “Support promising mid-market business 
models” and is now referred to as “Garner esteem as a financial investor in the mid-market 
segment”. This allows us to create closer links between the financial and non-financial objectives 
for our two business segments.

The enhanced target system will apply from the beginning of the 2019/2020 financial year. The 
previous target system consisting of the following objectives will continue to determine whether 
the objectives set were achieved during the reporting period:

>	��Financial objectives

	 – Generate value contribution from Fund Investment Services

	 – Build the value of portfolio companies

	 – Have shareholders participate in the company’s success

>	Non-financial objectives

	 – Support promising mid-market business models

	 – Maintain and build on our reputation in private equity market

	 – Garner esteem as an advisor of private equity funds

We refer to pages 35 to 37 of the 2017/2018 Annual Report for detailed information on the 
previous objectives.

Target system comprising financial and non-financial objectives  
(from the 2019/2020 financial year onwards)

In order to achieve the core business objective, DBAG continues to pursue three financial and 
three non-financial objectives.

Two out of the three financial objectives, namely “Build the value of Private Equity Investments” 
and “Build the value of Fund Investment Services” make a direct contribution to achieving the 
core business objective. The third financial objective, “Have shareholders participate in the 
company’s success through dividends that are stable and which rise whenever possible”, would 
appear to contradict this: every euro that is distributed is a euro that cannot be invested in value-
enhancing investments in mid-market companies; it reduces the financial resources and, as a 
result, the value of the business segment. This is a contradiction that we are prepared to accept. 
It is important to us that our shareholders participate in our success in the form of distributions 
that – unlike our share price performance – we can influence directly.

The non-financial objectives, on the other hand, make an indirect contribution to the achieve-
ment of the financial objectives and, as a result, to the core business objective. The satisfaction, 
loyalty and respect of the most important stakeholder groups for the investment and fund 
business, namely mid-market entrepreneurs, institutional fund investors and our employees, 
are the most important foundations for the success of our business.   
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Financial objective: Build the value of Private Equity Investments

The Private Equity Investments business segment is structured like a listed private equity portfolio 
managed by an external manager. This means that the equity investments are allocated to this 
business segment, namely those which DBAG enters into as a co-investor alongside the DBAG 
funds, but in future also those equity investments that DBAG makes exclusively using funds from 
its own balance sheet (Principal Investments). Financial resources and other asset and liability 
items that are directly related to private equity investments are also allocated to this business 
segment. In the Fund Investment Services segment, DBAG assumes the functions of an external 
advisor that receives an advisory fee (either a real or synthetic fee, depending on the fund) for 
these activities, as is standard practice in the sector. The costs of the stock exchange listing are 
also allocated to this business segment.

Financial and non-financial  
management indicators 	
pages 60ff.

Financial objectives

Non-financial objectives

CORE BUSINESS OBJECTIVE  
SUSTAINABLY INCREASE THE VALUE OF  DBAG

 

B U I L D  T H E  VA L U E 
O F  P R I VAT E  E Q U I T Y 

I N V E S T M E N T S

 

B U I L D  T H E  VA L U E  
O F  F U N D  I N V E S T M E N T 

S E R V I C E S

 
H AV E  S H A R E H O L D E R S 

PA R T I C I PAT E  I N 
O U R  S U CCE S S 
W I T H  S TA B L E , 

R I S I N G  D I V I D E N D S

 
G A R N E R  E S T E E M  A S  

A  F I N A N C I A L  I N V E S T O R 
I N  T H E  M I D - M A R K E T 

S E G M E N T

 
G A R N E R  E S T E E M  
A S  A N A DV I S O R  

O F  P R I VAT E  E Q U I T Y 
F U N D S

 
R E TA I N  

E X P E R I E N CE D  
A N D  M O T I VAT E D 

E M P L OY E E S

OBJECTIVES OF DEUTSCHE BETEIL IGUNGS AG
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Building the value of Private Equity Investments in the long run first of all requires investments to 
be made in promising mid-market business models. To grow the value of the equity investments, 
DBAG supports the portfolio companies during a phase of strategic development in its role as 
a financial investor, usually over a period of four to seven years. The increase in value is realised 
by way of ongoing distributions, recapitalisation measures and the disposal of the investment. 
The higher the increases in value that can be realised with the investments made, and the higher 
the proportion of these increases in value that is reinvested in new investments, the greater the 
increase in the value of the business segment.

Financial objective: Build the value of Fund Investment Services

The Fund Investment Services business segment is structured like a manager or advisor of 
closed-end private equity funds. Managers or advisors of private equity funds tend to be teams 
of investment managers that are organised as partnerships and are not listed on the stock 
exchange. Things are different at DBAG: the members of the investment team are salaried 
employees of the listed company Deutsche Beteiligungs AG. Accordingly, this business segment 
comprises the employees that make up the investment team and the Group functions, unless 
they are involved in the duties associated with the stock exchange listing or capital market 
activities.

An increase in the value of the Fund Investment Services business segment requires substantial 
assets under management or advisory that increase in the medium term. The value of the busi-
ness segment is measured by the sustainable growth in fee income from Fund Services, which 
tends to be volume-based, and the extent to which it exceeds the corresponding expenses. The 
value of the Fund Services segment can be determined using the DCF method or by applying 
a multiple based on a peer group or market transactions. The value of the business segment 
increases if (based on a given multiple) the excess of income over expenses increases.

Financial objective: Have shareholders participate  
in our success with stable, rising dividends

We intend to have our shareholders participate in financial gains by paying stable dividends that 
will thrive as much as possible. Three aspects play a key role when it comes to deciding on the 
amount of the distribution: the inflow of funds from the two business segments (income from 
Fund Services and net inflows after disposals), future liquidity requirements for (co-)investments 
and securing the dividend capacity in the long run. We also view an attractive dividend yield as 
a significant element of our shareholders’ participation in DBAG’s success.
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Non-financial objective: Garner esteem as a financial investor  
in the mid-market segment 

We want to invest the funds that shareholders and fund investors entrust to us. In order to achieve 
this, we not only need to identify and analyse a sufficient number of investment opportunities 
in our target market – companies in the German mid-market segment. In a highly competitive 
environment, it is also about setting ourselves apart from our peers. When company founders 
or family shareholders sell their companies or let DBAG in as a minority shareholder, esteem and 
trust are key factors in that decision, making them an important basis for our success. 

Esteem and trust are nurtured by our long-standing market presence in the mid-market segment, 
in which we have proven time and again that we are not only able to preserve the life’s work 
of founders or families, but also to secure their successful future. We have helped peripheral 
businesses of large corporations that have slipped out of focus on the path to successful devel
opment as independent entities. Our fundamental approach also helps to foster our good repu-
tation among other stakeholders, including banks as financing partners or the workforces and 
representative bodies of the companies in which we invest. The transparency associated with 
our stock exchange listing and our focus on sustainability also help to build trust – both in the 
management of our Company and in the selection of, and support for, portfolio companies. If 
we have become the new owners of a company due to the trust placed in us, we aim to give our 
portfolio companies the leeway they need to successfully pursue their strategic development – 
with our equity, for example, to extend their market position through acquisitions – as well as 
with our experience, wealth of knowledge and network.

Non-financial objective: Garner esteem as an advisor  
of private equity funds

The assets of the DBAG funds constitute a substantial part of DBAG’s investment base. The funds 
are organised as closed-end funds; regularly raising successor funds is therefore a requirement. 
This is why it is important for investors in this asset class to value us as an advisor and, for ex-
ample, invest on a recurring basis. Furthermore, our funds should be sufficiently successful that 
we can maintain and expand our flexibility as regards fund volume and conditions. This will only 
succeed if investors in current funds achieve commensurate returns, and if we are perceived to 
be solid and trustworthy. We therefore attach great importance to open, responsible interaction 
with the fund investors.

Sustainability reporting 
pages 38ff.
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Non-financial objective: Retain experienced and motivated employees

Our success thrives on the professional and personal skills of our people in all areas of the Com-
pany. We therefore pay particular importance to nurturing a corporate culture which promotes 
loyalty to the Company and strengthens ties to DBAG. Performance orientation and a team-
based work environment are key characteristics of our corporate culture. We base our success 
on a culture of professionalism and mutual respect. We attach great importance to treating 
each other and our business partners with respect.

The private equity business requires a great amount of resilience from employees. The com-
mitment required in this business calls for strong identification with the role. We promote this 
sense of identification in various ways. We foster a culture of direct communication, team-based 
project organisation and delegating responsibility early on, in all areas of the Company. The 
compensation and incentive system at Deutsche Beteiligungs AG is geared towards encouraging 
achievement and offering not only a motivating work environment, but also a financial incentive 
to retain key staff in the long run, driving DBAG’s performance at the same time.

Steering and control

Enhancement of management indicators

In this Management Report, reporting on the past financial year, such as the information on 
the business review of the Group and the comparison between actual business developments 
and the forecast, largely refers to the previous performance indicators. We had forecast their 
development for the 2018/2019 financial year, and it was these performance indicators that 
were also largely used for steering purposes in the year under review. 

As mentioned earlier, we have enhanced our target system. This also involved adjusting the 
performance indicators and developing additional performance indicators. While the new per-
formance indicators were already relevant, they will play a more important role in our manage-
ment processes in the future.

The information set out below takes into account the further development seen in recent 
months. As a result, we have presented the expected development for the new management 
indicators in the forecast report.

Key management indicator

The key management indicator is the result of the interaction of a wide range of initiatives and 
business processes that are aligned with our financial and non-financial objectives. In order to 
bring the core business objective more closely into line with the other financial and non-financial 
objectives than it was in the past, we have also adjusted the key management indicator; it also 
takes account of special features of the valuation of private equity companies that are standard 
in the sector.
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Previous key management indicator: Return on capital employed

To date, the financial performance indicator used to steer and control the core business objective 
has been the return on capital employed. The Company’s value was understood to have incre-
ased in the long term when, over an average of ten years, the return on the capital employed 
per share exceeded the cost of equity. We calculated it based on the equity per share at the end 
of the financial year and the equity, less dividends, at the start of the financial year.

By the nature of our business model, investments may predominate in some years, and dis
investments in others. This and the influence of external factors on value growth lead to marked 
fluctuations in performance from year to year. As a result, we have expressed an individual year’s 
performance contribution by comparing it to a ten-year average to date.

We derived the cost of equity once a year on the reporting date, based on the capital asset 
pricing model (CAPM) from a risk-free base rate and a risk premium for the entrepreneurial risk. 
The risk premium was determined by also considering a risk premium for the stock market as 
well as DBAG’s individual risk, expressed in the beta factor.

30 Sep 2019 30 Sep 2018

Risk-free base rate (%) 0.1 1.1

Market risk premium (%) 7.0 7.0

Beta Factor 0.8 0.7

Cost of equity (%) 5.7 6.0

Up until only recently, the cost of equity calculated in this manner was heavily influenced by the 
unusually low interest rate level and DBAG’s relatively modest risk position in view of its capital 
structure. In order to reduce the impact of the interest rate level regarding the reporting date, we 
applied the average cost of equity calculated from the previous ten reporting dates as a measure 
of our long-term success. This figure came to 6.3 per cent for the financial years from 2009/2010 
to 2018/2019; over the previous ten-year period, the cost of equity had averaged 6.5 per cent.

New management indicator for the core business objective:  
Value of DBAG

We aim to increase the value of DBAG in the long term. We will achieve this by increasing the 
value of our two business segments, Private Equity Investments and Fund Investment Services. 
All financial and non-financial objectives will contribute to this. The value of DBAG is calculated 
by adding up the values of the two business segments. We are aware that every valuation is of 
a subjective nature. This is why we do not carry out our own valuation of DBAG. By offering the 
greatest possible degree of transparency, however, we aim to ensure that market participants 
can carry out their valuation on the most objective basis possible.
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Management indicators for the other financial and non-financial  
objectives (from the 2019/2020 financial year onwards)

Management indicator for the financial objective  
“Build the value of Private Equity Investments”

The Private Equity Investments business segment is structured like a listed private equity port-
folio managed by an external manager. Comparable business models are usually valued at net 
asset value. 

We calculate and report the net asset value on a quarterly basis. It mainly consists of the gross 
portfolio value and short-term loans to investment entity subsidiaries for the pre-financing of 
acquisitions, as well as the financial resources. It is reduced by carried interest entitlements 
resulting from private investments made by members of the investment team in the DBAG funds.

The net asset value does not change as a result of investments and disposals; these merely 
produce a shift between the portfolio value and the financial resources (the loans granted for 
prefinancing purposes are a hybrid of the two). It changes primarily as a result of changes in 
the value of the portfolio. It is reduced by the distribution of the dividend, the costs associated 
with the stock exchange listing (including the fee for listing the shares on the Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange, expenses for investor relations, etc.) and the costs of portfolio management (real 
and synthetic fee paid to the Fund Investment Services segment). The higher the proportion of 
invested funds, the greater the change, in both positive and negative territory, and vice versa: 
the greater the share of the net asset value that is attributable to financial resources, the more 
stable the value is. 

While the dividend allows our shareholders to participate in our success, the distribution reduces 
our financial resources and, as a result, the asset value. In order to make the increase in the net 
asset value visible in a given financial year, the opening balance of the net asset value is therefore 
adjusted to reflect the distribution made in that financial year.

The gross portfolio value corresponds to the market value of the portfolio companies on the 
relevant reporting date, which we calculate on a quarterly basis using the recognised valuation 
methods that are applied as standard in the industry. It is entirely possible for the gross portfolio 
value to fall in some years because it is also subject to influences that DBAG cannot control, 
such as the capital market.

Management indicator for the financial objective  
“Build the value of Fund Investment Services”

In order for the Fund Investment Services business segment to be successful, there have to 
be substantial assets under management or advisory that increase in the medium term; the 
volume of these assets determines the fee income from Fund Services generated by the fund 
investors and the Private Equity Investments business segment. In addition to this fee income, 
earnings before tax generated by Fund Investment Services is significantly influenced by the 
cost of identifying investment opportunities, of supporting the portfolio companies, and of 
their ultimate disinvestment. These costs include the personnel expenses for our investment 
team and the Group functions, as well as the expenses for our Executive Circle and for legal 
and other advisors.
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We measure whether we have achieved the financial objective “Build the value of Fund Invest-
ment Services” by looking at the long-term development of the earnings generated by Fund 
Investment Services.

The earnings generated by Fund Investment Services can fall in individual periods. This is due, for 
one, to the fact that the calculation basis for advisory fees depends on the portfolio volume; in 
the disinvestment phase of a fund, for example, it decreases every time a portfolio investment 
is sold. It only rises again when a new fund is launched. Even if advisory fees remain constant 
for a longer period of time, as is generally the case during a fund’s investment phase, higher 
costs can send results on a downward trajectory. This explains why a longer observation period 
is important for this management indicator, too.

Management indicator for the financial objective  
“Have shareholders participate in the company’s success through  
dividends that are stable and which rise whenever possible”

We measure and manage the participation of the shareholders in our performance using the 
absolute dividend per share and the dividend yield. We aim for a stable distribution per share 
in euros that would ideally increase on an annual basis. Our shareholders should also expect to 
achieve an attractive dividend yield. This means that we also take the capital markets environ
ment into consideration when determining the dividend proposal at the Annual Meeting.

Management indicator for the non-financial objective  
“Garner esteem as a financial investor in the mid-market segment”

We are particularly successful as an investment partner to mid-market family-owned businesses. 
The proportion of MBOs that involve company founders or family shareholders on the seller side 
is particularly high at DBAG. We aim to continue to generate a large proportion of our trans
actions from this environment. This is based on a market presence that generates a high-quality 
selection of investment opportunities in both quantitative and qualitative terms. In addition to 
our market presence spanning decades, our reputation and our roots in Germany, an Executive 
Circle and a variety of other activities help us to achieve this. We measure the achievement of 
this objective in particular based on the number and quality of investment opportunities that 
we can address each year.

Management indicator for the non-financial objective  
“Garner esteem as an advisor of private equity funds”

We measure and manage our reputation as an advisor of private equity funds based on the 
percentage of capital commitments made to a fund by investors in previous DBAG funds. A high 
level of esteem is generally reflected in the highest value possible. This figure is not, however, 
viewed in isolation from strategic considerations. It can make sense, for example, to tap into 
new investor groups and, as a result, make a conscious decision to accept lower values than 
those that could be generated from the demand of previous investors. We can only update this 
figure in a year in which a new DBAG fund has been launched.
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Management indicator for the non-financial objective  
“Retain experienced and motivated employees”

We measure whether we have succeeded in retaining experienced and motivated employees on 
the basis of the average length of service. We conduct surveys on an ongoing basis to collect 
information on employee satisfaction. We also review the appropriateness of the remuneration 
paid compared with the market on a regular basis and offer the investment team the opportunity 
to participate in the performance of the DBAG funds (carried interest), as well as providing the 
sort of incentive system that is customary in the industry, which we also review on a regular 
basis to check that it can be considered appropriate.

Regular assessment of equity investments

Because of the particularities of our activity, we do not steer our business by traditional annual 
indicators such as operating margins or EBIT. Instead, the key management indicators at Group 
level are – as described above – the parameters that we can influence and that determine the 
value of our two business segments, Private Equity Investments and Fund Investment Services. 
These are the net asset value and the earnings generated by Fund Investment Services.

At the portfolio company level, traditional indicators, on the other hand, play a direct role: when 
making our decision to invest, we clearly define performance targets based on the business plans 
developed by the portfolio companies’ managements – such as for revenues, profitability and 
debt. During the time of our investment, we conduct a valuation of our portfolio companies at 
quarterly intervals, using their current financial metrics (profitability indicators such as EBITDA, 
and net debt). On that basis, we closely follow their progress in a year-over-year and current 
budget comparison. We also consider other indicators, such as order intake and orders on hand.

Ensuring performance: Board of Management members involved  
in relevant operating processes

As mentioned, members of the Board of Management are also involved in the core processes 
of DBAG’s business (i.e. investment, development, realisation). They are involved, in particular, 
in generating investment opportunities (deal flow) as well as in due diligence and negotiating 
acquisitions and disinvestments. Additionally, they discuss new investment opportunities and key 
new developments within the portfolio companies at weekly meetings with those members of 
the investment team who are involved in transactions or in supporting the portfolio companies.

A key instrument in ensuring performance is the investment controlling system which, by way 
of example, identifies deviations from the originally agreed development steps or provides infor-
mation that may be useful for managing an investment portfolio, e.g. pointing to the potential 
negative impact that economic developments could have on the portfolio companies.
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B U S I N E S S  R E V I E W  O F  T H E  G R O U P

Comparison between actual business developments and the forecast

Actual 
 2017/20181

Reference point
of the forecast2

Expectations 
2018/2019

Actual  
2018/2019

Financial performance indicators3

PRIVATE EQUITY INVESTMENTS SEGMENT

Net income from investment activity €31.1mn €51.9mn
20% to 40%

lower €49.6mn Expectation exceeded

Earnings before tax €24.2mn €44.5mn
20% to  

40% lower €42.1mn Expectation exceeded

Cash flow from investing activities 
(excluding securities) €(30.6)mn €(30.6)mn

More than  
20% lower €(15.5)mn Expectation met

of which: investments (excluding 
securities) €(63.8)mn €(63.8)mn

More than  
20% higher €(93.4)mn Expectation met

Net asset value (reporting date) €470.7mn €475.1mn Up to 10% higher €472.1mn Expectation not met

of which: financial resources 
(reporting date) €119.0mn €119.0mn

More than  
20% lower €69.4mn Expectation met

Number of investments (reporting date) 29 29 Up to 10% higher 29 Expectation not met

FUND INVESTMENT SERVICES SEGMENT

Income from fund services €29.7mn €29.4mn Up to 10% higher €28.2mn Expectation not met

Earnings before tax €5.6mn €6.0mn Up to 10% lower €3.0mn Expectation not met

Assets under management  
or advisory (reporting date) €1,831.4mn €1,831.4mn

10% to 
20% lower €1,704.0mn Expectation met

GROUP

Net income €29.7mn €48.0mn
20% to  

40% lower €45.9mn Expectation exceeded

Equity (reporting date) €443.8mn €447.8mn Up to 10% higher €460.2mn Expectation met

Earnings per share  €1.97  €3.29
20% to  

40% lower €3.05 Expectation exceeded

Equity per share €29.50  €29.76 Up to 10% higher €30.59 Expectation met

Return on equity per share 6.9% 14.6%
20% to  

40% lower 9.1% Expectation met

Non-financial performance indicators

Number or employees (reporting 
date, including vocational trainees) 71 Unchanged 75 Expectation not met

Investment opportunities 262 Unchanged 258 Expectation not met

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 											         
2 Reference point for the forecast was not adjusted for the purposes of projected/actual comparison						    
3 For previous indicators, refer to page 20 and to the Annual Report 2017/2018
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Net gains from investment activity and hence DBAG’s net income for the 2018/2019 financial 
year were better than expected, thanks in part to above-average success achieved on disposals. 
They also exceed the respective prior-year figures by more than half. Income from Fund Services 
declined; we had expected to receive additional transaction-based fees from DBAG ECF. The 
segment result was influenced by the unexpected low fee income, so that it also failed to reach 
the planned level.

Macroeconomic and sector-related underlying conditions

Real economy: Trade conflicts are depressing global growth –  
Germany in industrial recession

The macroeconomic environment has changed significantly since the beginning of the financial 
year. Over the course of several years, our business and that of our portfolio companies have 
been built on a robustly expanding global economy. In 2018/2019, however, the pace of global 
economic growth has slowed due to perceived risks: the exchange of goods between the US and 
China has fallen drastically, and intra-European trade is suffering from the turmoil surrounding 
the UK‘s withdrawal from the European Union. All in all, global trade in goods has been on a 
downward trend since autumn 2018. Trade conflicts are also dampening companies’ willing-
ness to invest: production levels in the manufacturing sector have been stagnating since the 
beginning of 2019. and for some advanced economies it has even fallen. In the German manu
facturing sector, value added declined for four consecutive quarters. The industrial recession 
in Germany is gradually spreading to company-related service providers as well. From a global 
perspective, however, services continue to expand significantly in many places, largely due to 
robust consumer demand. Against this background, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) has 
repeatedly lowered its forecasts for global economic growth. It still expects an increase of only 
3.0 per cent in economic output (World Economic Output)4, the lowest rate since the 2008/2009 
financial crisis. The IMF anticipates growth of 3.4 per cent for 2020. Comparing this with the 
growth rates forecast six months earlier for the same periods – 3.3 per cent for 2019 and 3.6 per 
cent for 20205 – shows how much momentum has softened.

This also applies to Germany in particular. The IMF states that, apart from Italy, Germany will 
be the industrialised country with the lowest growth rate in 2019. German economic forecast-
ers share the same view. The six economic research institutes tasked by the German federal 
government to prepare a joint report estimate that economic output in Germany has shrunk 
in the second and third quarters of 2019.6 Since the start of the downswing at the turn of the 
year 2018/2019, the previously quite significant over-utilisation of production capacity has been 
reduced to a large extent. The reasons for the economic slowdown are largely industry-related. 
The slowdown has been particularly noticeable in the automotive industry, where production has 
fallen by more than 20 per cent since mid-2018.7 Besides cyclical factors, another contributing 
factor is likely to be the significant technological changes occurring on the global automo-
tive market. For 2019, the economic research institutes tasked recently forecast an increase of  

4 “Global Manufacturing  
Downturn, Rising Trade  
Barriers – World Economic  
Outlook”, International  
Monetary Fund, October 2019

5 World Economic Outlook, IMF, 
April 2019: Growth Slowdown, 
Precarious Recovery.

6 Joint Economic Forecast 2/19, 
September 2019: Industry  
in Recession – Forces Driving 
Growth Wane.

7 “Industry in Recession –  
Growth Forces Diminish“,  
Joint Economic Forecast 2/19,  
September 2019, page 10
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0.5 per cent in gross domestic product of 0.5 per cent, 0.3 percentage points less than the 
figure posted in spring 2019. For 2020, they estimate growth to be weaker again at 1.1 per cent, 
compared with 1.8 per cent in spring.

Our portfolio comprises companies that are affected in varying degrees by the developments 
described above. In broadening our investment strategy in recent years, we have been able to 
reduce our risk exposure to economic and structural changes. In addition, although most of 
the automotive suppliers in our portfolio are not affected by the transition to new drivetrain 
technologies, they are nonetheless feeling the effects of the declining volumes procured by 
their customers because fewer vehicles are being manufactured overall. The consumer-oriented 
companies in our portfolio are benefiting from strong domestic demand in Germany. Although 
broadband telecommunications operators are benefiting from government support to expand 
the digital infrastructure, some of the benefits cannot be fully realised due to a shortage of 
skilled labour.

However, the underlying conditions for our portfolio companies were less favourable overall in 
the past financial year than in previous periods. Several companies are facing challenges in their 
respective markets, such as the automotive and wind energy industries; these are reflected, for 
example, in lower order intake, delays in announced projects and more demanding payment 
terms. While the possible withdrawal of the UK from the European Union has not had any 
significant impact on them yet, trade restrictions and, particularly, the reluctance to invest in 
equipment have been noticeably felt.

Financial markets:  
Financing conditions remain positive

Central banks have responded to the economic slowdown. The US Federal Reserve, for example, 
cut its key interest rate – the Fed Funds target range – twice in 2019, first in July and more 
recently in September. It was generally expected back in autumn 2018 that the European 
Central Bank would raise its key interest rate for the first time in the second half of 2019. In the 
meantime, however, the opposite has happened: the ECB has once again loosened its monetary 
policy and tightened penalty interest rates for banks. It has also resumed bond purchases. The 
ECB lowered its key interest rate in March 2019 to a record low of zero per cent, where it has 
remained ever since.

The prospect that the low interest rate period will continue has once again boosted equity mar-
kets, having first seen price drops and significantly declining valuations in the fourth quarter of 
2018. There was a slightly negative change in valuations on the major stock markets year-on-year. 
The companies represented in the DAX index were valued on the reporting date at 8.7 times 
(median) the profit (EBITDA) expected for the current year. This multiple had been 9.2 one 
year earlier. MSCI World constituents were valued at 11.3 (median, 30 September 2019) and  
11.4 (median, 30 September 2018).
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The financing situation for the German corporate sector is particularly positive, with just under 
nine per cent of companies reporting difficulties in accessing credit – compared with 61 per 
cent which find it “easy”. A year ago, these figures were around 13 and 54 per cent, respec-
tively. Never before have fewer companies described their access to loans as more “difficult”. 
In addition to strong internal financing capabilities, this situation has been helped along by low 
interest rates, the easing of lending standards of banks and positive business development.8 The 
total volume of loans extended by banks in Germany (excluding housing loans and financing 
institutions) in the second quarter of 2019 was 5.4 per cent higher than in the same quarter of 
the previous year.9

The overall conditions for the financing of our portfolio companies therefore remained positive. 
The supply of acquisition finance, which is key to our business, also remained strong over the 
past financial year. Private debt funds, which extended the banks‘ traditional offering and 
meanwhile command a market share of 50 per cent, also contributed to this.10 However, the 
financing institutions meanwhile appear very reticent as regards lending to industrial enterprises.

Currencies: Impact on portfolio value low, near-neutral  
in this financial year

The direct impact of exchange rate fluctuations on the value of our portfolio continues to be 
negligible, as we only make investments in non-euro currencies in exceptional cases. At present, 
our investments in four portfolio companies (duagon, mageba, Pfaudler and Sjølund) as well as 
those in the externally-managed foreign buyout fund Harvest Partners are exposed to currency 
risks. The Swiss franc and the US dollar have appreciated against the euro, while the British 
pound remained virtually unchanged compared to the previous reporting date. The Danish krone 
is pegged to the euro, and its value also remained fairly stable. The parities changed by 4.0 
and 6.0 per cent and therefore at a higher rate than in the previous financial year: compared to 
the reporting date of 30 September 2018, the price gains led to a gross value appreciation of 
3.6 million euros. This compares with the 2017/2018 financial year, when changes in exchange 
rates led to a gross value appreciation of 0.3 million euros.

Beyond that, exchange rate fluctuations also have a direct influence on the business activities 
of our portfolio companies in their respective international markets. This is partly compensated 
for by the fact that the companies have manufacturing operations in various currency areas.  

Private equity market: Number and volume of transactions  
stable at a high level

Due to the size and structure of the private equity market, comparisons based on short periods 
are only of limited informative value and at best allow us to identify trends. Transparency 
is limited: for every transaction for which a value is published, there is more than one for 
which there is none – or only unreliable, quantitative information. Market studies and other 
statistical information are often driven by different interests and therefore do not provide a truly 
representative picture of the market.

8 “Financing climate defies eco-
nomic development” and “Credit 
market sentiment remains strong”, 
Kf W business surveys from July 
2019 and July 2018

9 “The situation in corporate 
f inancing” Association of German 
Banks (Bundesverband deutscher 
Banken), September 2019

10 “MidCap Monitor Q2 2019”, 
GCA Altium, July 2019

Analysis of earnings sources 	
pages 78ff.
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Having said that, the investment dynamics of the private equity market in Germany remained 
virtually unchanged in 2018/2019. We can see from the number of transactions executed during 
the twelve-month period ending on 30 June 2019 that 230 transactions involving financial inves-
tors were registered in Germany. This is only twelve fewer than in the previous twelve-month 
period and eight more than the year prior to that. In view of the statistical uncertainty, these 
differences are irrelevant. Nor did the share of the total M&A market (number of transactions) 
change significantly. The development of the transaction volume is exaggerated because it is de-
fined to a greater or lesser extent in individual periods by a few, particularly large transactions.11

However, the change in registered disposals indicated a shift in sentiment. Out of the portfolios 
of financial investors, only 44 German companies were sold in the first half of 2019. This repre-
sents a sharp decline compared with 64 exits in the second half of 2018 and is also well below 
the average of the last ten years (51 exits). Sales to strategic investors are clearly stagnating, with 
the decline attributable exclusively to such transactions. Financial investors seem to be delaying 
selling: the average holding period – in other words, the holding period for investments sold by 
financial investors within a given six-month period – has extended significantly, and rose from 
57 to 67 months in the first half of 2019.

Buyouts dominate private equity business in Germany. In 2018, 6.7 billion euros or around 
70 per cent of all funds invested in Germany were invested in this type of majority acquisition; 
practically nothing has changed in this respect over the past eight years. Growth financing 
accounts for a good 15 per cent of investments; this share has also remained constant over the 
years – albeit with fluctuations.12

DBAG focuses largely on the mid-market segment in German-speaking regions, namely on 
transactions with an (enterprise) value of 50 to 250 million euros. There has been a significant 
increase in buyout activity in this specific sub-market. At 47 transactions, financial investors in 
German SMEs structured 12 MBOs more in 2018 than in 2017. This represents a new record for 
this segment since the beginning of analysis in 2002. Transaction volume amounted to 4.8 billion 
euros, compared with 4.4 billion euros in 2017. The increase went hand in hand with a structural 

11 “German Private Equity Deal 
Survey 2019HY1 – Activities in 
Germany at a glance”, EY 2019, 
and “Private Equity – The Trans
action Market in Germany,  
H1 2019”, EY 2019

12 “BVK Statistics 2018”, German 
Private Equity and Venture Capital 
Association, February 2019  
(“Market statistics, investments  
by f inancing situation”)

  Private equity transactions   

  Strategic transactions  

M&A-MARKET GERMANY –  TRANSACTION VALUE 
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market change. Among the sellers of companies to financial investors, company founders and 
families accounted for around 40 per cent, the highest rate ever recorded, and a new record level. 
In 2018, 19 of the 47 MBOs in our market segment were succession solutions. This is a further 
increase over the two previous years which had already recorded an above-average number 
of buyouts from family ownership. In previous years, only one in ten transactions had a family 
connection. Younger company founders in particular are becoming increasingly aware of the 
contribution financial investors can make to further developing their companies.13 

It is still the case that conditions in our market segment are changing slowly at most. Competition 
for attractive equity investments remains high and is determined above all by the high availability 
of capital seeking investment. Strategic buyers are competing with financial investors and other 
bidders with medium to long-term investment objectives, such as foundations and family offices. 
Furthermore, a substantial volume of acquisition financing is still available at attractive condi-
tions. This applies all the more because, for some years now, financing has also been provided by 
private debt funds in addition to conventional banks. While there is a large supply of funds ready 
for investment, there is a limited supply of investment opportunities. For quite some time now, 
this has tended to lead to more demanding valuations, that is, higher purchase prices. This trend 
remains intact despite the overall easing of economic momentum. We are registering changes in 
the market structure, despite the high numbers and total volume of private equity transactions 
recorded in 2018. The economic slowdown, particularly in the industrial sector, is reflected in this 
latest development: companies from this sector of the economy currently play little or no role in 
private equity transactions. The willingness of the banks to finance transactions in mechanical 
and plant engineering or in the automotive supply industry is also currently lower than before.

The regular survey of market participants for the German Private Equity Barometer reveals that 
there is a continued high level of dissatisfaction, especially among buyout investors, with the 
entry valuations for new transactions. Of the nine climate indicators collected on a quarterly 
basis, only the entry-level prices are valued as significantly negative. In the latest four surveys, 
the business climate in the private equity market that is relevant for DBAG has continued to 
deteriorate overall, even though expectations have improved again recently as regards future 
developments.14

Business and portfolio review

Private Equity Investments: Strong momentum at portfolio level and 
attractive new investment opportunities

Investment decisions in the amount of 379 million euros implemented

After DBAG’s portfolio gained record new equity investments in the 2017/2018 financial year, 
the focus over the past financial year was on developing these recently acquired investments. 
We have therefore supported many acquisitions that have enabled companies to implement 
and accelerate their strategic development. We have also frequently provided additional funds 
alongside DBAG Fund VI, DBAG Fund VII or DBAG ECF.  

13 This information is based on a 
survey conducted by the industry 
magazine FINANCE on behalf  
of DBAG. This includes majority  
takeovers in the context of MBOs, 
MBIs and secondary/tertiary  
buyouts of German companies 
involving a f inancial investor and  
a transaction volume of between  
50 and 250 million euros.

14 “German Private Equity Baro-
meter: Q2 2019”, Kf W Research 
and BVK, September 2019
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INVESTMENT IN THE PORTFOLIO 

€mn

100

90

80

70

60

50

40

30

20

10

0
2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

8.2

71.4

9.4

21.6

41.7

20.0

32.6

62.9

85.1
78.4

In addition, we were again able to explore a wide range of new investment opportunities and 
provide support for four new MBOs. Of these MBOs, Cartonplast is the largest single invest-
ment that DBAG has ever undertaken together with one of its funds. We structured this large 
volume using DBAG Fund VII’s top-up fund; the transaction was completed at the start of the 
new financial year. Cloudflight reinforces our exposure to the area of digital business models, 
where we can often provide support to businesses growing at a particular fast pace. The same 
applies to STG, another service provider for the telecommunications sector with a focus on the 
construction of fibre-optic networks. Sero is one of the new companies in our core automotive 
supplier sector. As a development and manufacturing service provider for electronic compo-
nents, the company is focused in particular on a market defined by structural growth.

New equity investments were offset by four disposals agreed in the year under review. DBAG’s 
investment portfolio at the end of the financial year thus comprises 27 companies and two 
meanwhile very small investments in externally-managed foreign buyout funds. The portfolio 
consisted of 29 investments at the end of the previous year.

DBAG invested 78.4 million euros from its balance sheet in 2018/2019 (previous year: 85.1 million 
euros): this sum includes not only new investments, but also increases in existing investments.

In its role as a fund manager and advisor, DBAG initiated investment decisions on equity invest-
ments in the financial year 2018/2019 of around 379 million euros (previous year: 307 million 
euros.) The investment decisions not only related to the new MBOs; 108 million euros was also 
attributable to acquisition financing by the portfolio companies and, to a lesser extent (6 million 
euros), to capital invested in existing portfolio companies. 86.2 million euros (previous year: 
85.3 million euros) of the investment decisions was attributable to the co-investments made by 
DBAG (largely) alongside DBAG Fund VII and DBAG ECF.
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Portfolio companies largely in  
the development phase 

The share of investments in the portfolio 
for less than two years is 36 per cent on 
the basis of the acquisition costs (previous 
year: 51 per cent). Investments that we are 
already supporting for two to five years 
account for around 48 per cent (previous 
year: 35 per cent). This is the typical period 
in which the implementation of the agreed 
corporate strategy gains the most momen-
tum; however economic influences, such as 
those that are evident in the industry for 
more than a year now, can lead to delays. 
A further 11 per cent (previous year: 13 per 
cent) relates to portfolio companies which 
we have held in our portfolio for more than 
five years.

DBAG Fund VII: Several transactions completed, two new investments  
and two acquisitions – 67 per cent of the funds allocated

DBAG Fund VII has been investing in mid-sized companies since December 2016. The portfolio 
has meanwhile grown to include eight investments, including three for which the top-up fund 
has also been used. As at the reporting date, some 67 per cent of the funds are already called 
or committed to investments. Three transactions were agreed in the year under review, of which 
two were also completed before the reporting date; in addition, a further two transactions that 
had been agreed in previous financial years were completed.

The investment in KRAFT & BAUER HOLDING GMBH was completed at the start of the year 
under review, in November 2018. Kraft & Bauer develops, produces and installs fire protection 
systems for around 800 kinds of machine tools in the high-performance sector. It focuses on 
microprocessor-controlled extinguishing systems that detect fires using sensors and then initiate 
the extinguishing process. Kraft & Bauer not only benefits from the growing demand for new 
machines – and hence fire protection systems – but also from a stable service business thanks 
to a broad basis of more than 30,000 systems installed in Germany alone. The planned develop-
ment steps include geographical expansion beyond the markets in which it is currently active. 
As part of the MBO, DBAG invested around 14 million euros, which means that 18 per cent of 
the shares in Kraft & Bauer are now attributable to DBAG.

Also in November 2018, DBAG Fund VII acquired the majority of the shares in SERO GMBH,  
a development and manufacturing service provider for electronic components especially for  
the automotive industry, from the founding family. Sero assembles printed circuit boards 
and produces electronic components for brake lights and motor sensors, as well as for high- 
performance microphones, heat meters and other industrial measurement products. As part of 
the MBO, DBAG invested around 11 million euros, which means that it now holds 21 per cent 
of the shares in Sero.
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In May 2019, having met the legal requirements, DBAG Fund VII completed the majority 
investment in a radiology group that now operates as BLIKK HOLDING GMBH. Two radiology 
professional associations form the nucleus of the group. Their acquisition was already agreed in 
March 2017 and their medical care centres were founded by a company providing paramedical 
dialysis case. blikk is expected to grow through further practice acquisitions. DBAG Fund VII 
(principal fund and top-up fund) alongside DBAG already provided funds in this context in 
the course of the previous financial year to acquire two radiology practices – also through the 
aforementioned founding company. In the course of these acquisitions and closing of the under
lying transaction in the third quarter, DBAG has invested a total of 16.5 million euros in blikk to 
date. In addition, the acquisition of a highly-specialised regional hospital in Berlin was agreed 
in September 2019; a major proportion of this hospital’s revenue is generated from outpatient 
examinations or treatments focused on radiological services. The funds for this acquisition will 
be made available in the new financial year.

CLOUDFLIGHT HOLDING GMBH, an IT service provider focusing on digitalisation and cloud 
transformation, has been part of the DBAG Fund VII portfolio since June 2019. As part of 
a management buyout, the fund acquired majority stakes in Austrian firm Catalysts GmbH 
and Crisp Research AG. These two companies trade as Cloudflight, which will support SMEs, 
public-sector authorities and corporate groups in implementing and accelerating their digital 
transformation. DBAG co-invested around 8 million euros, which means that around 13 per cent 
of the shares in Cloudflight Holding GmbH are attributable to DBAG on a look-through basis.

DBAG alongside DBAG Fund VII agreed the investment in CARTONPLAST HOLDINGS GMBH15 
in the fourth quarter of the year under review. When the transaction is completed at the start of 
the new financial year, DBAG Fund VII will acquire the majority of the company’s shares as part 
of an MBO. DBAG will invest some 26 million euros and hold around 17 per cent of the shares 
in Cartonplast in the future. Cartonplast primarily operates a pool of reusable and recyclable 
plastic layer pads on a rental basis for the transport of bottles or glass containers for drinks and 
other foodstuffs to the manufacturers of these bottles and containers. To this end, the company 
has established a closed logistics cycle within its customers’ value-creation chain. Cartonplast 
has established itself as a European leader in a market with solid growth rates. The company 
benefits from the increasing trend towards outsourcing and from sustainability efforts, as well 
as from the growing importance of the closed cycle principle. By further internationalising its 
business, Cartonplast is expected to continue on its dynamic growth trajectory in the years 
ahead. There are also plans to expand the product range, for example, by hiring out additional 
plastic pallets and caps.

DUAGON AG , headquartered in Dietikon, Switzerland, is a leading independent supplier of 
network components for data communication in rail vehicles. The company‘s products enable 
communication between the individual systems of railway vehicles such as doors, brakes, air 
conditioning systems and the primary host computer. After merging with MEN Mikro Elektronik 
GmbH in May 2018, duagon acquired OEM Technology Solutions, an Australian provider of control 
and automation solutions for the global railway industry during the financial year under review. 

15 Company name subject  
to being entered in  
the Commercial Register
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The group is set to benefit from a complementary product offering, enhanced software and 
electronics capabilities and a global sales organisation. duagon financed the transaction using 
its own funds.

DBAG ECF: Diverse investments at portfolio company level – 68 per cent  
of the funds committed as at the reporting date

The DBAG ECF portfolio companies expedited the strategies agreed to strengthen their respec-
tive market positions in the financial year under review, in particular through various acquisi-
tions. In some cases, they financed these from their own resources. DBAG ECF alongside DBAG 
financed some of the acquisitions with additional funds. Furthermore, DBAG ECF structured its 
seventh MBO with the investment in STG Group; 68 per cent of DBAG ECF‘s funds have now 
been committed (“Second Investment Period“).

BTV MULTIMEDIA GMBH is a retail and service company that develops, produces and sells 
components for the construction of cable and fibre-optic networks. As one of the few full-
service providers in this area, BTV Multimedia provides everything needed to set up, upgrade 
and operate broadband infrastructure. It pursues a buy-and-build strategy in order to consolidate 
its market, in the course of which it acquired three companies in the financial year under review, 
including its main competitor in the German market, Anedis Management GmbH (revenue: 19 
million euros). DBAG has invested a further 2.2 million euros in BTV Multimedia in the course of 
this transaction. BTV Multimedia also acquired Holm (revenue: 9 million euros), a wholesaler of 
network components, and DKT (revenue: 19 million euros), a Danish manufacturer of broadband 
network equipment, with a market presence in Denmark and the adjacent European markets. 
BTV Multimedia financed these two transaction from its own resources. 

The investment in FLS GMBH, which was already agreed in the 2017/2018 financial year, was 
completed in the first quarter of the year under review. The company provides software for 
real-time scheduling and route optimisation in service and logistics. Energy suppliers, industrial 
enterprises, financial service providers as well as trading and property companies can use this 
software for planning and optimising their field staff’s and delivery vehicles’ schedules and 
routes, in order to respond better to the customers’ growing expectations of ordering and 
delivery processes.

DNS:NET SERVICE GMBH offers telecommunications and internet services for private and 
business customers using proprietary and leased fibre-optic network infrastructures. The data 
processing facilities for corporate customers are based on the company‘s own as well as on 
leased infrastructure in high-security locations at major internet hubs. The company is gaining 
new customers at rapid pace and is investing in its sales activities and the further expansion of 
its fibre-optic network. In order to finance further growth, DBAG invested five million euros in 
DNS:Net in the year under review.

NETZKONTOR NORD GMBH offers services relating to the planning and supervision of fibre-
optic network construction. It also handles the network management for operators of these 
networks. To date, the company has focused its activities regionally in the German state of 
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Schleswig-Holstein. It plans to broaden this focus in the future and diversify its customer base. 
Having made various acquisitions in the 2017/2018 financial year, netzkontor nord concluded the 
takeover of BFE Nachrichtentechnik (revenue: 10.0 million euros) during the year under review. 
DBAG supported the acquisition with a follow-on investment of 2.6 million euros.

The MBO of STG GROUP is DBAG’s sixth broadband communications investment since 2013: 
it was agreed during the financial year but has yet to be completed. As a service provider for 
the telecommunications sector, STG (based in Bochum, Germany) focuses on the construction 
of fibre-optic networks. Going forward, it is not only looking to benefit from strong market 
growth organically, but also through a buy-and-build strategy, via acquisitions. This will be 
complemented by the expansion of the business as an operator of fibre-optic networks for large 
telecommunications companies and the housing industry. It is envisaged that DBAG alongside 
DBAG ECF will invest around nine million euros, with around 36 per cent of the shares in STG 
attributable to it.

Agreement was reached in the fourth quarter to sell the stake in NOVOPRESS KG . Deutsche 
Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH Fonds I KG, formerly managed by DBAG, already acquired a  
minority interest in Novopress back in 1990. This investment culminated in an – as yet minority – 
investment by DBAG ECF in 2015, through which DBAG has been invested in Novopress since 
then. With the disposal of its minority investment, DBAG realised a double-digit multiple on the 
2.3 million euro investment made in 2015, taking into account distributions received.

In January 2019, DBAG ECF sold its investment in PLANT SYSTEMS & SERVICES PSS GMBH 
(PSS) to the majority shareholder. This was the Fund‘s first investment – and also its smallest, at 
cost of 2.3 million euros. The transaction only had a minor impact on income in the period under 
review; further payments and potential contributions to income may occur after a subsequent 
sale by the new sole shareholder.

DBAG Fund VI: Acquisitions of portfolio companies  
and disposals of investments

DBAG Fund VI has concluded its investment period. The focus is therefore now on supporting the 
development of the portfolio companies, for which the fund alongside DBAG provides additional 
resources where it is necessary and makes sense. Furthermore, investments are gradually being 
disposed of.

TELIO MANAGEMENT GMBH develops, installs and operates communications and media 
systems for law enforcement; these include phones in prisons and the related systems that allow 
prisoners to make phone calls in a controlled environment. In addition to the corresponding 
installations (cables, terminal devices), Telio offers software for controlling and invoicing calls, 
making it easier for the law enforcement officials to run the facilities. Telio acquired the French 
company KEAS during the second quarter of the past financial year. KEAS (2018 revenues: 
11.0 million euros) develops systems that detect and jam mobile communication – for example in 
correctional facilities; the technical solutions that go with them represent a promising expansion 
of Telio’s product range. DBAG supported the transaction with a follow-on investment of 
0.9 million euros.
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In January 2019, UNSER HEIMATBÄCKER GMBH filed for insolvency under self-administration. 
The bakery chain operates in a challenging and highly competitive market environment. DBAG 
Fund VI and DBAG had previously supported extensive restructuring efforts, which included not 
only management changes, but also additional capital investment. The insolvency proceedings 
have largely been concluded. No further proceeds are expected.

The sale of the investment in CLEANPART GROUP GMBH, which was already agreed in the 
2017/2018 financial year, was completed in October 2018; the agreed purchase price was already 
included in the valuation of the investment as at 30 September 2018. 

We were able to agree the disposal of INFIANA GROUP GMBH in the fourth quarter of the 
financial year under review. We were successful in sustainably strengthening the company’s 
position – through organic growth following capacity expansion, broadening the product range 
as well as focusing its business activity following the sale of subsidiaries. The company attracted 
the interest of Pamplona Capital Management, a financial investor. After a holding period of 
a good four and a half years, DBAG managed to realise more than twice the original invested 
capital of 12.6 million euros.

International fund investments: Disposal of a portfolio company

The two externally-managed international buyout funds, DBG Eastern Europe and Harvest 
Partners IV, are meanwhile of minor importance to DBAG’s portfolio: DBG Eastern Europe is 
still invested and we expect a closing distribution from the Harvest Partners IV fund after the 
last investment has been disposed of.

Fund Investment Services: Fundraising for successor funds

The second new investment period of DBAG ECF (“DBAG ECF II”) started in June 2018, with 
the agreement on the MBO of BTV Multimedia. The fund’s first new investment period (DBAG 
ECF I) ended prematurely after twelve months. For DBAG ECF II, investors committed funds 
totalling 97.0 million euros, of which a total of 39.7 million euros was attributable to DBAG’s 
co-investment commitments. The second new investment period is expected to run until 
31 December 2020 at the latest. We receive a regular fee of 1.75 per cent of the invested 
capital for our advisory services and a one-time fee of two per cent of the invested capital for 
concluding a new investment.

With nearly 70 per cent of DBAG Fund VII and DBAG ECF resources called or committed to 
investments, we initially prepared a successor fund for DBAG Fund VII in 2018/2019, for which 
we started a fundraising process. We will not continue to operate DBAG ECF after the end of 
the current investment period.

Comparability of the previous year’s figures

The figures as at 30 September 2018 (2017/2018 financial year) in this annual report can only 
be compared with the figures published in the 2017/2018 annual report to a limited extent.

On changes to our offer  
page 50
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The corrections in accordance with IAS 8 relate – as we have reported since the first quarter 
of 2018 – to the measurement of irrecoverable interest receivable from portfolio companies, 
and the amount of income from advising funds. As a result, net income for the 2017/2018 
financial year was 3.9 million euros lower than originally reported. On balance, equity reported 
in the financial statements as at 30 September 2018 was burdened by 4.0 million euros (not 
already accounted for), bringing the adjusted figure to 443.8 million euros (previously: 447.8 
million euros). As part of these restatements, feedback effects on earnings-related variable 
remuneration components of the Board of Management and the corresponding repayments 
were also taken into consideration. Please refer to Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements 
for further details.

Earnings position

Overall assessment: Net income up significantly on the previous year

At 45.9 million euros, DBAG’s net income for the 2018/2019 financial year exceeded the previous 
year’s earnings by more than half, thanks in part to above-average success achieved on disposals. 
Net gains from investment activity of 49.6 million euros were significantly above the previous year 
and therefore exceeded our original expectations. Income from Fund Services declined slightly 
due to a number of disposals, combined with lower than expected transaction-based fees. 
Net (negative) expenses (“Other income/expenses” in the condensed consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income) increased slightly to 31.5 million euros, largely as a result of higher 
personnel expenses.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

€’000 2018/2019 2017/2018

Restated1

Net income from investment activity 49,629 31,098

Income from fund services 26,970 28,855

Income from fund services and investment activity 76,599 59,953

Personnel expenses (21,042) (18,005)

Other operating income 5,767 3,697

Other operating expenses (16,413) (15,557)

Net interest income 172 (357)

Other income/expense items (31,515) (30,222)

Earnings before tax 45,083 29,731

Income taxes 659 (18)

Earnings after taxes 45,742 29,714

Net income attributable to other shareholders 114 (25)

Net income 45,856 29,688

Other comprehensive income (7,690) (1,203)

Total comprehensive income 38,181 28,486

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8
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Overview: Significantly higher income from investment activity,  
slight decrease in income from advising funds

NET GAINS OR LOSSES FROM FUND SERVICES AND INVESTMENT ACTIVIT Y reached 
76.6 million euros, and were therefore significantly higher than the previous year (60.0 million 
euros). The increase was a result of the performance of net gains from investment activity that 
mainly determine this item, both in terms of amount and volatility (for details, please refer to 
the information under “Net gains or losses from investment activity”). 

At 27.0 million euros, income from Fund Services was slightly lower than in the previous year 
(28.9 million euros). The reduction was largely due to lower income from DBAG Fund VI  
(8.6 million euros, after 9.7 million euros) and from DBAG Fund V (0.2 million euros, after 
0.7 million euros). Investments in the DBAG Fund VI portfolio were sold, thus reducing the basis 
for calculating the fee. As agreed, fees are no longer paid by DBAG Fund V more than two years 
after the end of the customary disinvestment phase. DBAG ECF generated higher transaction-
related fees during the financial year under review, as a result of several new investments.

 
Other income/expenses: Higher net expenses ratio

Net (negative) expenses under OTHER INCOME/EXPENSE ITEMS (the net amount of person-
nel expenses, other operating income and expenses, as well as net interest) increased slightly 
by 1.3 million euros year-on-year. After two years of falling cost/income ratios, this indicator 
was significantly higher in the 2018/2019 financial year compared to the previous year. Net 
management expenses (the net amount of income from Fund Services and personnel costs, 
net consultancy expenses and other expenses) amounted to 10.0 million euros, corresponding 
to 2.2 per cent of the average equity available in the financial year 2018/2019. This figure was 
1.5 per cent in the previous year, on net management expenses of 6.5 million euros.

INCOME FROM FUND SERVICES
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Personnel expenses were considerably higher, essentially for three reasons: firstly, a higher 
volume of variable remuneration of 7.2 million euros was envisaged than in the previous year 
(6.2 million euros). Variable remuneration is based, among other things, on the number of new 
investments, the development of existing investments, and the number and performance of 
disposed investments, as well as on net income and the related return on equity; we had also 
planned remuneration for successful fundraising in the previous financial year. Secondly, we  
track the increase in personnel expenses in general and in our sector in particular. Finally,  
we employed more staff, also due to a temporary duplication of functions.

The performance of other operating income provided relief for the balance of other income/
expense items initially. They were 2.1 million euros higher, as we were able to pass on a higher 
share of the costs from our investment activity to the DBAG funds (4.9 million euros after 
2.9 million euros in the previous year).

Higher income from the reimbursement of transaction-related advisory expenses equates to 
a comparable increase in this item under other operating expenses (6.1 million euros after 
4.2 million euros). Other operating expenses totalled 16.4 million euros and were therefore 
only slightly higher than the previous year (15.6 million euros). Costs incurred in relation to an 
enforcement procedure as well as other expenses relating to another period (1.4 million euros in 
total) were taken into account in the previous year; other expenses were due to the subsequent 
adjustment of remuneration which DBAG had received for the work performed by members of 
the investment team on supervisory bodies of the DBAG Fund V portfolio companies since the 
start of the investment period. 

Other comprehensive income deteriorated significantly year-on-year, by 6.5 million euros. This 
was due to actuarial losses from the measurement of pension obligations. The underlying 
assumed rate of interest declined drastically, namely from 1.54 to 0.47 per cent.

Net gains or losses from investment activity impacted  
by the capital market

Net gains from investment activity primarily reflect the performance of investments in the port-
folio companies, which are held – with one exception (JCK) – via investment entity subsidiaries. 
This means that it depends not only on the earnings outlook of the portfolio companies, but 
also – due to their valuation based on multiples of listed reference companies (peer groups) – 
on developments on the capital markets. The net result also includes current income from the 
portfolio and the net amount of expenses and income of the investment entity subsidiaries. 
It also includes the profit-sharing entitlements attributable to minority partners in investment 
entity subsidiaries.
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NET INCOME FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITY				  

€’000 2018/2019 2017/2018

Restated1

Result of valuation and disposal 62,653 33,100

Net gain or loss attributable to other shareholders of investment  
entity subsidiaries (12,414) (7,756)

Net result of valuation and disposal 50,238 25,345

Current portfolio income 13,505 13,004

Net portfolio income 63,743 38,349

Net gains or losses from other assets and liabilities of investment  
entity subsidiaries (14,114) (7,146)

Income from other financial assets 0 (105)

Net income from investment activity 49,629 31,098

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 	

NET GAIN OR LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OTHER SHAREHOLDERS  
OF INVESTMENT ENTITY SUBSIDIARIES 				  

€’000 2018/2019 2017/2018

Restated1

Carried interest 12,289 7,573

Other comprehensive income 125 183

12,414 7,756

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 	

The portfolio’s RESULT OF VALUATION AND DISPOSAL was almost twice as high in the year 
under review compared with the previous year. The increase was due in part to above-average 
success achieved on disposals of the investments in inexio, Infiana and Novopress. These three 
transactions accounted for 53.4 million euros of the result of valuation and disposal. Unlike  
the previous financial year, developments on the capital markets did not benefit the value of the  
portfolio companies overall. In fact, they reduced their value by around 23.0 million euros.

SOURCE ANALYSIS 1: As at the 30 September 2019 reporting date, we determined the fair 
value of 22 portfolio companies (previous year: 19) using the multiples method. We based this 
calculation (largely) on the expected result for 2019 and the company debt levels expected at 
the end of the year, as well as on capital market valuations and exchange rates at the reporting 
date. We applied haircuts to the results expected for some companies in 2019. Three companies 
were recognised at the original transaction price. We valued one company that is demonstrating 
particularly strong growth using the DCF method. Our valuations of the foreign buyout funds 
were based on the valuation of the fund managers. The investment in inexio was accounted for 
at the disposal price that was agreed as at the reporting date but not yet realised.
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RESULT OF VALUATION AND DISPOSAL BY SOURCES:  SOURCE ANALYSIS  1

€’000 2018/2019 2017/2018

Fair value of unlisted investments 

Change in earnings 46,493 38,361

Change in debt (12,703) (22,271)

Change in multiples 18,321 3,609

Change in exchange rates 3,640 275

Change – other (4,463) 10,872

51,288 30,846

Net result of disposal 13,331 4,578

Acquisition cost 0 0

Other (1,966) (2,323)

62,653 33,100

The contribution from the change in earnings and debt can be viewed as recognition of the 
operational improvements or strategic development of the portfolio companies. On balance, the 
value contribution from the operating performance of the portfolio companies – change in earn-
ings and debt – of 33.8 million euros is now twice that of the previous year (16.1 million euros). 
Twelve investments generated a positive value contribution from their operating performance. 
However, ten delivered a negative value contribution. 

The ratio between companies with positive and those with negative value contributions from the 
operating performance is on par with the previous year. Nonetheless, the value contribution from 
the operating performance falls short of our expectations. Individual companies made a lower 
value contribution than planned. The budget deviations are due for one to change processes in 
these companies that are slower than planned, while the impact of the poor macroeconomic 
environment is meanwhile clearly evident in several portfolio companies on the other. This applies, 
for example, to investments linked to the automotive sector. Economic momentum has eased, in 
part because of simmering global trade conflicts, with customers deferring or cancelling orders 
on a large scale. Two portfolio companies are feeling the effects of considerably lower demand 
for wind turbines. Unexpectedly high commodity prices are having negative consequences in 
one instance. All of these factors have reduced earnings and impacted upon the appreciation in 
the value of several portfolio companies. These factors are generally expected as a result of the 
change processes for realising the development potential after the participation of DBAG funds. 

The economic slowdown in various industries and the resulting lower earnings or earnings fore-
casts of some portfolio companies are offset by positive developments among portfolio com-
panies from other sectors. The investments, for example in the telecommunications sector with 
a focus on investments on broadband networks and high-speed internet, have developed very 
favourably recently.
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The change in value in multiples includes two effects: on the one hand, we report the earnings 
contribution from changes to valuation multiples of listed peer group companies here, which we 
use for the valuation of portfolio companies. Furthermore, in this item we account for appre
ciation in value resulting from implied multiples which, in the case of disposals agreed upon, but 
not yet completed, we derive from agreed disposal prices. This led to a positive contribution of 
39.7 million euros.

These investments developed differently in the course of the financial year. The multiples we use 
(EBITDA and EBITA) for valuing the peer group of listed automotive companies as at the reporting 
date of 30 September 2019, for example, is higher than one year ago. One or both multiples 
in other peer groups, such as mechanical and plant engineering companies, have fallen year-
on-year. All in all, the change in the multiples resulted in a net negative impact of 22.7 million 
euros on income. The capital market developments have impacted negatively in particular on the 
valuation of companies from the mechanical and plant engineering sector, and on manufacturers 
of industrial components.

Even though value contributions from disposal processes and capital market developments can-
not be planned, they can significantly influence our results. The resulting volatility in results is 
typical for this type of business.

Changes in exchange rates impacted on the values of the investments in duagon and mageba 
(Swiss francs), More than Meals (British pound), Pfaudler (US dollar) and Sjølund (Danish krone). 
These currency fluctutations had a positive impact in 2018/2019; they accounted for around five 
per cent of the net result of valuation and disposal.

We value one company using the DCF method; the resulting change in valuation is taken into 
account under Change – other. The negative value contribution of another investment is also 
included there: following a compliance breach at the portfolio company concerned, we applied 
a risk discount to that company’s valuation and wrote down this investment in full as at the 
reporting date.

The net result of disposal, in the amount of 13.3 million euros mainly included value appreciation 
compared with the start of the financial year, which were realised with the disposals of Infinia and 
Novopress. In the previous year, this item only included proceeds from the disposal of remaining 
investments in international buyout funds managed by third parties and subsequent proceeds 
from retentions relating to investments disposed of in previous years.

The contributions to the net valuation result included in the item Other are attributable mainly 
to the insolvency of the bakery chain “Unser Heimatbäcker” in January 2019. 

SOURCE ANALYSIS 2: The positive changes in value are attributable to 14 active portfolio 
companies (previous year: 12) and one investment (previous year: one) in an externally-managed 
international buyout fund. These also include five out of the six investments that were recognised 
at fair value for the first time on this and on the two previous reporting dates. Three investments 
(previous year: four) are carried at their transaction price because they have been held for less 
than twelve months. Ten equity investments (eleven) were valued lower than a year ago; in six 
cases, the valuation was negatively affected by the lower multiples of listed peer-group compa-
nies. The value contribution in one of these six cases would have been positive had the capital 
markets influence been neutral.
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RESULT OF VALUATION AND DISPOSAL BY SOURCES:  SOURCE ANALYSIS  2

€’000 2018/2019 2017/2018

Positive movements 103,879 66,344

Negative movements (41,226) (33,244)

62,653 33,100

If the negative performance is not solely attributable to capital market developments, reasons 
specific to the company in question must be cited in each case. If the development potential is 
realised more slowly, the original investment approach may also be adjusted in individual cases.

SOURCE ANALYSIS 3: DBAG Group’s net result of valuation and disposal was primarily 
impacted in the 2018/2019 financial year by the disposals that were concluded (Infiana, 
Novopress) and those that were agreed but not yet realised (inexio). The net disposal result 
also include contributions from the release of amounts retained for investments already sold 
in previous years and from a distribution made from the externally-managed DBG Eastern 
Europe buyout fund. It disposed of one of the two remaining investments and subsequently 
made a distribution.

RESULT OF VALUATION AND DISPOSAL BY SOURCES:  SOURCE ANALYSIS  3 	

€’000 2018/2019 2017/2018

Net valuation result 9,662 20,677

Unrealised result of disposal 39,660 7,845

Net result of disposal 13,331 4,578

62,653 33,100

NET GAIN OR LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS OF INVESTMENT 

ENTITY SUBSIDIARIES reduced net gain or loss from investment activity for 2018/2019 by 
12.4 million euros (previous year: 7.8 million euros). This relates to carried interest entitlements of 
those active and former members of the DBAG investment team who have co-invested alongside 
the relevant funds.

These entitlements essentially reflect the balance of realised and unrealised value gains of the 
investments in the DBAG funds in the year under review. The carried interest changes depending 
on the further performance of the investments of the funds and in the course of distributions 
following disposals from a fund’s portfolio, provided that the contractual conditions are met. 
Carried interest payments will extend over a number of years depending on the degree to which 
the individual investments appreciate in value.  
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For the purpose of these financial statements, carried-interest entitlements relate to DBAG 
Fund V, DBAG Fund VI and DBAG ECF. DBAG Fund VII first started investing in April 2017. There 
was no carried interest to be taken into account for this fund at the reporting date, and no  
carried-interest entitlements were paid out in the 2018/2019 financial year.

CURRENT PORTFOLIO income mainly relates to interest payments on shareholder loans and 
profit distributions we received from two portfolio companies.

NET GAINS OR LOSSES FROM OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES of investment entity sub
sidiaries amounted to -14.1 million euros (previous year: -7.1 million euros). This item includes the 
fees payable to the manager of DBAG Fund VI and DBAG Fund VII based on DBAG’s invested/
committed capital (5.3 million euros). A negative amount of 4.9 million euros is attributable to 
taxes payable on capital gains at the level of the investment entity subsidiaries.

TEN-YEAR SUMMARY OF EARNINGS		

¤mn 2009/2010 2010/2011 2011/2012 2012/2013 2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019

11 months Restated1 Restated2 Restated2

Net income from investment 
activity 53.2 (4.5) 51.3 41.0 50.7 29.2 59.4 85.8 31.1 49.6

Income from fund services – – – – 22.2 19.2 18.3 27.0 28.9 27.0

Other income/expense items4 (15.5) (15.4) (4.0) (7.3) (24.5) (21.3) (28.4) (30.9) (30.2) (31.5)

EBT 37.6 (19.9) 47.0 33.8 48.4 27.1 49.3 82.0 29.7 45.1

Net income 34.1 (16.6) 44.5 32.3 48.0 27.0 49.5 82.0 29.7 45.9

Other comprehensive income5 (3.3) 0.7 (6.2) (3.7) (6.4) 0.4 (6.5) 2.9 (1.2) (7.7)

Total comprehensive income 30.8 (15.9) 38.3 28.6 41.6 27.4 43.0 84.9 28.5 38.2

Return on equity per share (%) 12.7 (6.2) 16.7 11.5 15.9 9.6 14.9 24.1 6.9 9.1

1 Restated due to amendments to IFRS 10 (see note 3 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements 2016/2017)				  
2 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 												          
3 Net result of valuation and disposal as well as current income from financial assets
4 Net amount of other income and expense items; up to and including FY 2012/2013, including income from fund investment services 				  
5 Actuarial gains/losses on plan assets are recognised directly in equity, through other comprehensive income.						    
								      
														            

Liquidity position

Overall assessment: Funding of investment projects secured  
for the 2019/2020 financial year 

In addition to cash and cash equivalents of 43.9 million euros, DBAG’s financial resources of 
69.4 million euros also consist of units in fixed-income and money market funds amounting to 
25.5 million euros. These funds are available for investment. The investment entity subsidiaries 
hold additional financial resources – exclusively cash and cash equivalents – amounting to  
6.0 million euros. 
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In line with our financing strategy, we maintain liquid funds at approximately the equivalent of 
an average one-year investment programme. DBAG finances its activities over the long term 
through the capital market and not by way of bank debt. The Company aims to be able to 
fulfil its co-investment agreements with the DBAG funds at all times and to take advantage of 
attractive investment opportunities. Pending commitments for co-investments alongside DBAG 
Fund VII and DBAG ECF amounted to approximately 130 million euros as at 30 September 2019. 
Based on the investment progress projected for the new financial year and the following two 
years, the average annual liquidity requirement for investments is around 90 million euros; actual 
requirements can fluctuate considerably.

The following statement of cash flows based on the IFRS shows the changes in cash and cash 
equivalents.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS			 

INFLOWS (+)/OUTFLOWS ( - )

€’000 2018/2019 2017/2018

Restated1

Net income 45,856 29,688

Valuation gains (-)/losses (+) and gains (-)/losses (+)
on disposal of financial assets, as well as loans and receivables (43,825) (22,888)

Other non-cash changes (14,330 3,058

Cash flow from operating activities (12,298) 9,858

Proceeds from disposals of financial assets and loans and receivables 62,183 30,302

Payments for investments in financial assets and loans and receivables (93,412) (63,826)

Proceeds from disposal of other financial instruments 53,544 36,546

Payments for investments in other financial instruments (37,779) (33,644)

Cash flow from investing activities (15,465) (30,641)

Proceeds from (+)/payments for (-) investments in securities 70,113 (62,434)

Other cash inflows and outflows (173) (125)

Cash flow from investing activities 54,475 (93,200)

Payments to shareholders (dividends) (21,814) (21,062)

Cash flow from financing activities (21,814) (21,062)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 20,363 (104,404)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 23,571 127,976

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 43,934 23,571

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 	

FINANCIAL RESOURCES in accordance with IFRS, which exclusively comprise cash and cash 
equivalents, increased in the 2018/2019 financial year by 20.4 million euros to 43.9 million euros 
(reporting date 30 September 2018: 23.6 million euros). In the course of the financial year, we 
received proceeds from three disposals; we also disposed of some securities.
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The negative CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES can mainly be attributable to two 
factors. The biggest impact came from changes relating to the collection of fees for advisory services  
to DBAG Fund VII: unlike in the current period, the previous year already included fees of 
4.1 million euros for advisory services to the fund prior to the reporting date, which related  
to the first quarter of the new 2018/2019 financial year. This revenue was therefore absent 
from the year under review. In addition, the fees for advising the fund for the fourth quarter 
of 2018/2019 have not yet been drawn on (3.3 million euros), with the result that the inflow 
of funds from advising the fund in 2018/2019 was significantly lower than was recognised in 
income for the financial year. Furthermore, income taxes of 5.5 million euros were withheld in 
the 2018/2019 financial year, which will only be refunded in subsequent years.

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITY was negative in the reporting period. Cash outflows 
of 15.5 million euros consisted of total proceeds and payments for financial assets, and loans 
and receivables of -31.2 million euros, and total proceeds and payments for other financial 
instruments in the amount of 15.8 million euros. In the previous financial year, investment activity 
generated cash outflows of 30.6 million euros. This volatility is due in part to reporting date 
factors and is also the result of cash flows being concentrated on fewer, yet sizeable amounts 
of transaction business, which is typical of our business model.

Proceeds from the disposal of financial assets and loans and receivables are mainly attribut
able to four transactions: the investment entity subsidiaries for DBAG Fund VI distributed the 
proceeds from the disposal of the investments in Cleanpart and Infiana, while those for DBAG 
ECF distributed the proceeds from the disposal of the investment in Novopress. In addition, a 
further investment entity subsidiary distributed excess liquidity from realised profits and disposals 
of securities.  

Payments for investments in financial assets and loans and receivables related to capital calls 
made by investment entity subsidiaries for new investments made by DBAG Fund VII (blikk, 
Cloudflight, Karl Eugen Fischer, Sero) and DBAG ECF (FLS) as well as for follow-on investments in 
DBAG ECF portfolio companies (DNS:Net, netzkontor nord, Rheinhold & Mahla, BTV Multimedia) 
and DBAG Fund VI (Telio). DBAG’s investment in duagon (DBAG Fund VII) in the course of the 
final structuring of the investment financing is also recognised as a cash outflow. 

The repayment of the short-term loans granted by DBAG as part of the follow-on investment in 
duagon and for the investments in Karl Eugen Fischer, Kraft & Bauer and Sero is recognised as 
a cash inflow from the disposal of other financial instruments.  
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DBAG once again granted short-term loans in connection with the structuring of its investments 
in blikk, Cloudflight, Kraft & Bauer and Sero, all of which were completed in the course of the 
financial year. The resulting cash outflows are recognised as payments for investments in other 
financial instruments. 

During the past financial year, we used funds previously held in securities and bond and money 
market funds to finance investments, and disposed of these securities accordingly. This resulted 
in a cash inflow of 70.1 million euros.

A dividend payment at the end of February 2019 (21.8 million euros) led to a reduction in 
financial resources.

TEN-YEAR SUMMARY OF CASH POSIT ION				  

¤mn 2009/2010 2010/2011 2011/2012 2012/2013 2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019

11 months Restated1 Restated2 Restated2

Cash flows from operating 
activities (12.8) 0.9 (9.6) (12.0) 0.0 7.1 (0.6) (0.5) 9.9 (12.3)

Cash flows from  
investing activities (44.4) 33.1 (18.2) 18.7 67.9 20.1 1.9 95.1 (93.2) 54.5

Cash flows from  
financing activities (13.7) (19.1) (10.9) (16.4) (16.4) (27.4) 23.5 (18.1) (21.1) (21.8)     

Net change in financial 
resources3 (70.9) 14.9 (38.8) (9.8) 50.9 (0.1) 24.8 76.6 (104.4) 20.4

1 Restated due to amendments to IFRS 10 (see note 3 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements 2016/2017)					   
2 Restated in accordance with IAS 8											         
3 Financial resources: cash and cash equivalents and long-term securities, excluding financial resources of investment entity subsidiaries				  

Asset position

Overall assessment: Increase in assets based on portfolio performance, 
with intensive investment activity  

Total assets at 30 September 2019 were 10.3 million euros higher than at the start of the 
financial year, mainly due to the increase in financial assets and equity. In 2018/2019, too, 
investing in new investments clearly outweighed the proceeds from the sale of existing portfolio 
companies. Added to this was the performance of investments still under management. Financial 
resources declined further, following the investments made in the previous financial year, but 
still account for around 14 per cent of the Group’s assets, which otherwise largely consist of 
the investment portfolio.
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CONDENSED STATEMENT OF F INANCIAL POSIT ION

€’000 30 Sep 2019 30 Sep 2018

Restated1

Financial assets including loans and receivables 385,693 318,931

Long-term securities 0 55,458

Other non-current assets 883 1,277

Deferred tax assets 658 0

Non-current assets 387,233 375,666

Other financial instruments 17,002 32,766

Receivables and other assets 7,398 1,475

Short-term securities 25,498 40,000

Cash and cash equivalents 43,934 23,571

Other current assets 10,550 7,840

Current assets 104,382 105,653

Total assets 491,615 481,319

Equity 460,152 443,790

Non-current liabilities 19,677 12,389

Current liabilities 11,787 25,140

Total equity and liabilities 491,615 481,319

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 						    

Asset and capital structure: Financial assets are dominant in terms  
of asset type, capital structure largely unchanged

In total, the value of investments increased in the 2018/2019 financial year. Four (completed) 
disposals (Cleanpart, PSS, Infiana, Novopress) and one disposal as a result of insolvency (Unser 
Heimatbäcker) were offset by five – some of them major – new (completed) equity investments 
(FLS, Kraft & Bauer, Sero, blikk, Cloudflight). This resulted not only in an extension of the bal-
ance sheet but also in a change in the asset structure. Financial assets increased significantly, 
while financial resources (cash and cash equivalents and short-term securities) declined. As at 
30 September 2019, 79 per cent of all assets were invested in financial assets (previous year: 
66 per cent). Around 14 per cent of assets (previous year:  25 per cent) are attributable to funds 
earmarked for future investments. Short-term loans granted by DBAG to investment entity 
subsidiaries as part of the structuring of its investment in new portfolio companies, amounting 
to 17.0 million euros as at the reporting date, are recognised as other financial instruments and 
included under current assets. The increase in receivables and other assets is mainly attributable 
to the deferral of payment of fees from DBAG Fund VII and the outstanding fees from another 
DBAG fund. The change in other current assets is due to higher refund claims from capital gains 
tax already paid.
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The most recent, dramatic fall in interest rates required additions to provisions for pension liabilities 
in the amount of 6.5 million euros; accordingly, non-current liabilities are markedly higher than in 
the previous year.16 

Current liabilities mainly include provisions for performance-related remuneration. In the previous 
year, this item included a liability from a capital call not yet served and fees already received from 
a DBAG fund relating to a subsequent period.

The ratio of financial assets to financial resources continued to move in the desired direction. As at 
the reporting date of 30 September 2019, the ratio stood at 5.6 : 1 (30 September 2018: 2.7 : 1).

Equity increased by 16.4 million euros to 460.2 million euros compared with the reporting date of 
30 September 2018, reflecting the higher net income. Equity per share increased from 29.50 euros 
to 30.59 euros. Based on equity per share (reduced by the dividend payment) at the beginning of 
the financial year, this corresponds to an increase of 9.1 per cent; the previous year a return on 
equity of 6.9 per cent (restated) was achieved.

The CAPITAL STRUCTURE once again remained largely unchanged compared to the end of the 
previous financial year; the equity ratio rose from 92.2 to 93.6 per cent. Equity covers non-current 
assets in full (as it did on the three previous reporting dates), and current assets at 70 per cent 
(previous year: 65 per cent). Part of the liquidity was invested in fixed-income and money market 
funds.

The 50 million euro CREDIT LINE in place since the beginning of 2016 was not drawn down during 
the course of the past financial year, nor at the reporting date. This credit line runs until 2023.

Financial assets and loans and receivables: Significant increase  
in portfolio value following investments

Financial assets, including loans and receivables, are largely determined by the VALUE OF THE 

PORTFOLIO. The main reasons behind the increase as at 30 September 2019 include portfolio 
additions and an increase in the value of existing investments.

F INANCIAL ASSETS INCLUDING LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

€’000 30 Sep 2019 30 Sep 2018

Restated1

Portfolio value (including loans and receivables)

gross 422,109 348,650

Interests of other shareholders in investment entity subsidiaries (39,850) (27,344)

(net) 382,260 321,306

Other assets and liabilities of investment entity subsidiaries 3,359 (2,450)

Other non-current assets 74 75

Financial assets including loans and receivables 385,693 318,931

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 						    

16 Discount rate based on interest 
rates of 0.47 per cent (previous year: 
1.54 per cent) using the iBoxx  
corporate AA10+ benchmark index. 
This change is due to the change in 
interest rates on corporate bonds.  
In contrast to this, German 
Commercial Code (HGB) financial 
statements are based on an interest 
rate of 2.82 per cent (2017/2018): 
3.34 per cent); these interest rates 
were f ixed by Deutsche Bundesbank.

Change in portfolio value	
page 88f.
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THE SHARE OF NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS IN INVESTMENT ENTITY SUBSIDIARIES 
increased by 12.5 million euros compared with the start of the financial year. The change in 
value takes into account the increase in performance-related profit shares from private equity 
investments of members of the investment team on account of the increase in value of the DBAG 
Fund VI and DBAG ECF portfolios.

The OTHER ASSETS/LIABILITIES OF THE INVESTMENT ENTITY SUBSIDIARIES include cash 
and cash equivalents of 6.0 million euros and receivables from investments in loans and interest 
in the amount of 12.8 million euros, offset by liabilities from other financial instruments and 
unpaid advisory fees of 15.4 million euros.

Portfolio and portfolio value

At 30 September 2019, the DBAG PORTFOLIO 

consisted of 27 equity investments along 
with two investments in international private 
equity funds managed by third parties that we 
entered into in 2000 and 2002, respectively. 
All but one of the investments are held 
indirectly via investment entity subsidiaries – 
with one exception (JCK). The portfolio con
tains 21 MBOs and six investments with the 
purpose of financing growth. One of the 
two international private equity funds now 
holds only one portfolio company, the other 
has sold all of its investments and is about 
to be liquidated; its share of the portfolio 
value is still 0.4 per cent (previous year:  
0.6 per cent).

As at 30 September 2019, the value of the 27 investments, including the loans and receivables 
extended to the portfolio companies and excluding short-term interim financing, amounted to 
409.0 million euros (30 September 2018: 339.4 million euros). In addition, there were entities 
with a value of 13.1 million euros through which representations and warranties on previous 
disposals are (largely) settled (“Other investments”), and which are no longer expected to deliver 
any appreciable value contributions (30 September 2018: 9.3 million euros). These also include 
the two international private equity funds managed by third parties. This brought the portfolio 
value to a total of 422.1 million euros (30 September 2018: 348.7 million euros). The value of 
the 27 investments, including loans to and receivables from portfolio companies, and excluding 
short-term bridge financing, amounted to (as in the previous year) 1.4 times the original cost.

	 <  2 years

	 2–5 years

�	 >  5 years

	 Other
Acquisition  

cost
IFRS value

422.1

311.6

11.4

121.2

187.4

102.1

16.0

112.5

149.0

34.1

PORTFOLIO VALUE

BY AGE STRUCTURE

€mn at 30 September 2019
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During the course of the financial year, the portfolio value increased in gross terms by 73.5 million 
euros. The additions amounting to a total of 78.4 million euros due to the new investments 
alongside DBAG Fund VII (Kraft & Bauer, Sero, blikk and Cloudflight) and DBAG ECF (FLS), the 
conversion of the short-term loans for the bridge financing of the investments in Karl Eugen 
Fischer and duagon, and follow-up investments in existing portfolio companies, as well as the 
changes in the value of 49.3 million euros, are offset by disposals totalling 54.3 million euros. 
The disposals mainly relate to the disposal of investments in Cleanpart, Infiana and Novopress.

The 15 largest investments accounted for around 79 per cent of the portfolio value as of 
30 September 30 2019 (30 September 2018: 77 per cent). The table shows these 15 investments 
in alphabetical order.

PORTFOLIO STRUCTURE (15  LARGEST INVESTMENTS)

Company Cost 
Equity share 

DBAG Investment type Sector

¤mn %

blikk Holding GmbH 15.0 12.1 MBO Healthcare

DNS:Net GmbH 11.4 15.7 Expansion capital Broadband/telecommunications

duagon AG 23.8 21.3 MBO Industrial components

Gienanth GmbH 3.9 11.4 MBO Industrial components

inexio KGaA 7.5 6.9 Expansion capital Broadband/telecommunications

JCK KG 8.8 9.5 Expansion capital Consumer goods

Karl Eugen Fischer GmbH 22.6 21.0 MBO Mechanical and plant engineering

Kraft & Bauer GmbH 14.1 17.9 MBO Industrial components

netzkontor nord GmbH 9.1 35.9 MBO Broadband/telecommunications

Oechsler AG 11.2 8.4 Expansion capital Automotive suppliers

Pfaudler Group 13.3 17.8 MBO Mechanical and plant engineering

Polytech Health & Aesthetics GmbH 13.3 15.0 MBO Industrial components

Telio GmbH 14.3 15.6 MBO Other

vitronet GmbH 4.5 41.3 MBO Broadband/telecommunications

von Poll Immobilien GmbH 11.7 30.1 MBO Services

The following information on the structure of the portfolio is based on the valuation and 
resulting portfolio value as at the reporting date of 30 September 2019. The investments in 
international buyout funds and in companies through which retentions for representations and 
warranties from exited investments are held, are recognised under “Other”. The debt (net debt, 
EBITDA) relates to the expected debt at the end of the financial year 2019 and the EBITDA of 
the portfolio companies that is expected for this year, or for 2018/2019 if the reporting date 
falls during the year.
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CONCENTRATION OF PORTFOLIO VALUE

Size categories %

PORTFOLIO VALUE BY VALUATION METHOD

%

PORTFOLIO VALUE BY NET DEBT/EBITDA
OF PORTFOLIO COMPANIES

%

PORTFOLIO VALUE BY TYPE OF INVESTMENT

%

PORTFOLIO VALUE BY SECTORS

%

PORTFOLIO VALUE BY AGE

Categories %

Multiples method 71

Transaction price 7

� Other (incl. DCF) 22

< 1.0 10

1.0 to < 2.0 8

� 2.0 to < 3.0 27

3.0 to < 4.0 18

> 4.0 21

Other 16

Management buyouts 71

Growth financing 27

� Other (incl. externally managed 
international buyout funds) 2

Mechanical and plant 
engineering 10

Automotive suppliers 10

� Industrial components 24

Broadband/ 
telecommunications 31

Other focus sectors 8

Other 17

Top 1–5 38

Top 6–10 23

� Top 11–15 17

Top 16–27 20

Other (incl. externally managed 
international buyout funds) 2

<  2 years 36

2–5 years 45

� >  5 years 16

Other (incl. externally managed 
international buyout funds) 3
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TEN-YEAR SUMMARY OF THE STATEMENT OF F INANCIAL POSIT ION					   

¤mn 31 Oct 2010 31 Oct 2011 31 Oct 2012 31 Oct 2013 31 Oct 2014 30 Sep 2015 30 Sep 2016 30 Sep 2017 30 Sep 2018 30 Sep 2019

Restated1 Restated2 Restated2

Financial assets including loans 
and receivables 129.9 93.5 150.7 166.8 163.4 247.7 316.3 254.2 318.9 385.7

Securities/cash and cash 
equivalents 140.7 155.6 105.8 98.3 140.7 58.3 72.6 161.6 119.0 69.4

Other assets 45.5 30.8 42.5 45.6 28.5 21.2 15.2 48.2 43.4 36.5

Equity 273.9 238.9 266.2 278.4 303.0 303.1 369.6 436.4 443.8 460.2

Liabilities 42.2 41.0 32.8 32.3 29.6 24.1 34.5 27.5 37.5 31.5

Total assets 316.1 279.9 299.0 310.7 332.6 327.2 404.2 464.0 481.3 491.6

1 Restated due to amendments to IFRS 10 (see note 3 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements 2016/2017)
2 Restated in accordance with IAS 8											         

Business performance by segment

Private Equity Investments segment: Net result  
significantly above the previous year

SEGMENT EARNINGS STATEMENT –  PRIVATE EQUITY INVESTMENTS

€’000 2018/2019 2017/2018

Restated1

Net income from investment activity 49,629 31,098

Other income/expense items (7,578) (6,936)

Earnings before tax 42,050 24,163

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8	

Earnings before tax in the Private Equity Investments segment amounted to 42.1 million euros, 
17.9 million euros more than in the previous year. The reason for this was the significantly higher 
income from investment activity, which in the previous year was more heavily burdened than 
in the reporting year by lower capital market multiples across the portfolio as a whole. Please 
refer to the notes on this item in the section on “Earnings position”.

Net expenses from other income/expenses (net amount of internal management fees, personnel 
expenses, other operating income and expenses and net interest expense) deteriorated by  
0.7 million euros compared with the same period last year, due in part to higher personnel 
expenses. The figure includes internal management fees of 1.2 million euros for the Fund 
Investment Services segment.

Net asset value increased slightly year-on-year. For an explanation of the changes to financial 
assets, please refer to the section on net assets and financial position.
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NET ASSET VALUE AND AVAILABLE L IQUIDITY				  

€’000 30 Sep 2019 30 Sep 2018

Restated1

Financial assets including loans and receivables 385,693 318,931

Other financial instruments 17,002 32,766

Financial resources 69,432 119,029

Net asset value 472,126 470,727

Financial resources 69,432 119,029

Credit line 50,000 50,000

Available liquidity 119,432 169,029

Co-investment commitments alongside DBAG funds 129,733 198,477

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8

Around 53 per cent (previous year: 60 per cent) of the commitments are covered by existing 
financial resources (cash and cash equivalents including short-term securities). A 50 million euro 
credit line is available to compensate for the irregular cash flows resulting from our business 
model. It is provided by a consortium of two banks and runs until 2023.

The surplus of co-investment commitments over the available funds amounts to three per cent 
of financial assets; as at 30 September 2018, this figure was nine per cent. We expect to be able 
to cover this surplus with further disposals over the next few years.

Fund Investment Services segment:  
Lower results following disposals

The Fund Investment Services segment closed the year with earnings before tax of 3.0 million 
euros, compared to 5.6 million euros in the previous year. Income from Fund Services fell by  
1.5 million euros compared with the previous year. As expected, lower fees were generated from 
DBAG Fund VI, DBAG Fund V and DBAG ECF. In particular, transaction-related fees for DBAG ECF 
were significantly lower (0.3 million euros compared to 1.1 million euros previously) because only 
one transaction was agreed for this fund in 2018/2019. The segment information also takes 
into account internal income from the Private Equity Investments segment, in the amount of  
1.2 million euros (previous year: 0.9 million euros).
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SEGMENT EARNINGS STATEMENT –  FUND INVESTMENT SERVICES		

€’000 2018/2019 2017/2018

Restated1

Income from fund services 28,181 29,707

Other income/expense items (25,148) (24,138)

Earnings before tax 3,033 5,568

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8

Net expenses for other income/expenses deteriorated by 1.0 million euros compared with the 
previous year, predominantly due to higher personnel expenses (+2.9 million euros) as a result of 
higher variable remuneration, duplicated functions and general salary developments. By contrast, 
a one-off effect amounting to 0.9 million euros had a negative impact on the segment result 
for the previous year. This was due to the subsequent adjustment of remuneration which DBAG 
received for the work performed by members of the investment team serving on the supervisory 
boards of DBAG Fund V portfolio companies.

ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT OR ADVISORY				  

€’000 30 Sep 2019 30 Sep 2018

Funds invested in portfolio companies 1,088,298 862,076

Funds drawn but not yet invested 0 23,387

Short-term bridge financing for new investments 94,492 145,086

Outstanding capital commitments of third-party investors 452,212 681,799

Financial resources (of DBAG) 69,432 119,029

Assets under management or advisory 1,704,434 1,831,378

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8

The amount of assets under management and under advice declined slightly in the course of 
the financial year as a result of several disposals, the dividend payment and the net operating 
expenses of DBAG; no new investment commitments had been made by the reporting date. 
Please refer to the “Financial position” section for information on changes to DBAG’s financial 
resources.
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B U S I N E S S  R E V I E W  O F  D E U T S C H E  B E T E I L I G U N G S  AG  

( N O T E S  AC C O R D I N G  T O  T H E  H G B )

The management report on Deutsche Beteiligungs AG and the Group management report 
for the 2018/2019 financial year are presented combined, in conformity with section 315 (5) 
in conjunction with section 298 (2) sentence 2 of the HGB. The presentation of the economic 
position of DBAG is based on a condensed statement of financial position and a condensed 
profit and loss account derived from the statement of financial position and profit and loss ac-
count as prescribed by the HGB. The complete annual financial statements of DBAG based on 
HGB are published in the online version of the Federal Gazette, together with the consolidated 
financial statements.

Comparison of actual and forecast business performance

Actual  
2017/2018 1

Basis for the 
forecast

Expectations 
2018/2019

Actual 
2018/2019

Net income €9.9mn €9.9mn
More than  

20% higher €29.1mn 
Expectation 

exceeded

Dividend €1.45 €1.45 Unchanged €1.50
Expectation 

exceeded

Earnings position

Overall assessment: Net gains for the year significantly higher  
than the previous year due to satisfactory disposals results

At 29.1 million euros, net income for 2018/2019 significantly exceeded the previous year‘s 
net income. While there were no disposals completed in 2017/2018, five investments were 
completed in the past financial year – in particular the disposals of Cleanpart, Novopress and 
Infiana contributed to the satisfactory results. Fluctuations like these are typical for the private 
equity business. The balance of the other income/expense items fell because, inter alia, personnel 
expenses significantly exceeded the previous year‘s figure.

Net result from fund services and investment activity:  
Significantly above previous year‘s level

The net result from fund services and investment activity is generally determined by gains or losses 
from the disposal of investments and by the balance of write-downs or write-ups on investments. 
The latter are carried out according to the lowest of cost or market principle and the applicable 
procedure for the reversal of impairment losses according to HGB.

The annual f inancial statements 
are available at www.dbag.com/
investor-relations/publications and 
can be requested from DBAG.
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The current net result of valuation and disposal mainly includes profit contributions from the 
disposal of the investments in Cleanpart and Infiana (DBAG Fund VI) and Novopress (DBAG ECF); 
these three transactions accounted for 35.8 million euros. A write-down of 9.5 million euros 
on an affiliated company, which had distributed 8.5 million euros to the parent company for 
liquidity management reasons, had the opposite effect. There had been no material disposals 
of companies in the previous year; the net result of disposal had largely comprised the results 
of a disposal from Harvest Partners IV, an international buyout fund managed by a third party, 
plus follow-on results from earlier disposals.

Significant components of current income from financial assets are the aforementioned divi-
dend distribution by the subsidiary Deutsche Beteiligungs GmbH as well as profit distributions 
(in particular from DBAG ECF) and interest from portfolio companies. The subsidiary also paid a 
comparably high dividend the previous year following a cash inflow from a disposal.

CONDENSED PROFIT  AND LOSS STATEMENT OF DEUTSCHE BETEIL IGUNGS AG
(BASED ON THE HGB)

€’000 2019/2018 2017/2018

Net result of valuation and disposal1 25,487 1,340

Current income from investments 11,053 11,067

Income from fund services 24,628 26,096

Total income from fund services and investment activity 61,168 38,504

Personnel expenses

Other operating income (excluding write-ups) (21,713) (17,953)

Other operating expenses 1,174 2,277

Depreciation and amortisation on intangible fixed assets and property, 
plant and equipment (8,907) (9,755)

Income from other securities, or loans and advances held as  
financial assets (582) (682)

Other interest and similar income 138 507

Interest and similar expenses 541 344

Total other income/expense items (2,684) (3,295)

Total other income/expense items (32,032) (28,556)

Earnings before tax 29,135 9,948

Income taxes 0 (17)

Other taxes (8) (7)

Net income for the year 29,128 9,924

1 �The net result of valuation and disposal comprises the income statement items „Income from disposal of investments  
of 36.1 million euros (previous year: 1.9 million euros), offset by the two items „Losses from disposal of investments“  
and „Write-downs of financial assets“ in the aggregate amount of 10.6 million euros (previous year: 0.6 million euros.
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Income from Fund Services did not match the previous year‘s levels. The assessment basis for 
calculating fees has fallen following the disposal of certain companies. Because DBAG ECF 
2018/2019 structured fewer transactions, fee income from agreed transactions was also lower 
than previously. While the gross income from Fund Investment Services is taken into account 
in the consolidated financial statements, this item includes net income less the expenses of the 
subsidiaries involved in management and fund advisory services. 

Other income/expenses: Balance slightly higher due  
to higher personnel expenses

The (negative) balance of other income/expenses deteriorated by 3.5 million euros compared 
with the previous year. Personnel costs, other operating income excluding write-ups and other 
operating expenses were largely influenced by the same factors as in the Group. Personnel 
expenses were higher – irrespective of the overall increase in wages and salaries – because more 
staff were employed and, in the course of the financial year, some positions were temporarily 
filled twice as a result of changes. In addition, higher provisions were made for variable remune-
ration of the staff and the Board of Management. In contrast to the consolidated financial state-
ments, the additional expense for pension allocations is recognised under personnel expenses, 
due to the lower interest rate level17; pension expenses therefore increased by 0.9 million euros 
to 1.4 million euros.

The change in other operating income is almost entirely attributable to the reversal of provisions 
for performance-related employee remuneration established in previous years: At 1.2 million 
euros in 2017/2018, this reversal was significantly higher than the 0.1 million euros in the report
ing year. Other operating expenses declined, reflecting markedly lower expenses for the audit 
of the financial statements, advice related to the audit, and tax advice (0.6 million euros, down 
from 1.0 million euros in the previous year – that figure reflected expenses for support provided 
in connection with the enforcement procedure). Overall consulting expenses in 2018/2019 were 
also lower than before (0.9 million euros compared to 1.1 million euros).

The FINANCIAL RESULT improved from -2.4 million euros to -2.0 million euros, mainly due to 
the change in the fair value of plan assets used to finance the pension obligations. Other interest 
income includes income from interim financing of capital calls for co-investments alongside 
DBAG Fund VII.

Income from Fund Services 
page 76

Earnings position	  
pages 75ff.

17 Basis for discount rate were 
2017/2018 interest rates of  
3.34 per cent, 2018/2019 inter
est rates of 2.82 per cent (ten 
years). Interest rates are f ixed 
by the Deutsche Bundesbank. 
In contrast, the discount rate of 
0.47 per cent (previous year: 
1.54 per cent) used for the con
solidated financial statements 
is based on the iBoxx corporate 
AA10+ benchmark index. This  
is due to the change in interest 
rates on corporate bonds.
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Net income for the year: 29.1 million euros

Deutsche Beteiligungs AG generated net income of 29.1 million euros for the 2018/2019 finan-
cial year. Including the profit carried forward from the previous year and the dividend payment, 
the retained profit amounted to 178.1 million euros, of which 3.8 million euros are barred from 
distribution on account of statutory requirements.

Asset position

Total assets of DBAG largely consist of the investment portfolio as well as securities and cash 
and cash equivalents. Assets increased only slightly in 2018/2019, by 0.1 million euros, compared 
with the previous reporting date. The Company distributed 21.8 million euros to shareholders 
in February 2019.

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF F INANCIAL POSIT ION OF DEUTSCHE BETEIL IGUNGS AG
(BASED ON THE HGB)

€’000 30 Sep 2019 30 Sep 2018

Equity shares in associates 309,406 253,132

Investments 3,413 3,414

Investment securities 0 55,559

Other non-current assets 883 1,277

Non-current assets 313,702 313,383

Receivables and other assets 46,918 63,659

Securities held as current assets 25,335 40,002

Cash and cash equivalents 38,918 7,668

Current assets 111,171 111,329

Prepaid expenses 492 566

Total assets 425,366 425,278

Subscribed capital 53,387 53,387

Capital reserves 175,177 175,177

Revenue reserves 403 403

Retained profit 178,080 170,766

Equity 407,046 399,732

Provisions 17,737 13,986

Liabilities 582 11,560

Total equity and liabilities 425,366 425,278
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Assets: Marked increase following brisk investment activity

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES represent the largest item in DBAG‘s non-current assets. Associates 
are, for example, the entities through which DBAG co-invests; the co-investments alongside the 
respective DBAG funds are bundled in these co-investment vehicles. Other major non-current 
asset items are DIRECTLY HELD INVESTMENTS that are shown in “Investments” as well as 
SHORT-TERM SECURITIES, which constitute key components of DBAG’s financial resources.

The increase in interests in associates during the 2018/2019 financial year was mainly attributable 
to five new investments totalling 84.8 million euros. This was offset by disposals which led to 
returns from investment entity subsidiaries in the amount of 18.1 million euros.

Investment securities were partly sold during the year under review, and reclassified to short-
term securities, given that cash and cash equivalents invested in these securities were required 
to finance investments.

Current assets: Significant change in structure following  
investment of cash funds

The structure of current assets has changed considerably. In the previous year, cash and cash 
equivalents accounted for only seven per cent of current assets. Due to high cash inflows fol-
lowing disposals, cash and cash equivalents accounted for around 35 per cent of current assets 
as of 30 September 2019. Further components of current assets were receivables from a loan 
to a DBAG Fund VII company for the interim financing of capital calls, through which the fund 
intends to ultimately finance its investments in blikk, Cloudflight, Kraft & Bauer and Sero, as well 
as receivables from advisory and management companies for DBAG funds.

Higher provisions for pension liabilities

The increase in provisions compared with the last reporting date reflects two developments. 
The provisions to cover pension obligations were much higher. Compared with 4.6 million euros 
previously, they now amount to 7.2 million euros as at the reporting date; thus, the present 
value of the pension obligations exceeds the plan assets. The majority of the other provisions 
are associated with performance-related remuneration with regard to personnel. At 7.2 million 
euros, these were slightly above the figure at the start of the financial year (6.6 million euros).
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Liabilities: Unusually high the previous year, due to the reporting date

The difference in the disclosure of liabilities is due to a reporting date impact from the previous 
year: In 2017/2018, an addition to investments had already been recognised, but the capital 
call associated with it had not yet been served because the transaction took place right on the 
reporting date.

Liquidity position

Financial resources were always more than adequate and sufficiently high to fulfil co-investment 
agreements and to finance the Company‘s operations.

Particularities in assessing the liquidity position:  
Cash flows characterised by irregular outflows

The financial resources of 64.3 million euros reported at the end of the financial year (securi-
ties held as current assets amounting to 25.3 million euros and cash and cash equivalents of 
38.9 million euros) may be used to meet investment commitments. Based on the investments 
planned for the new financial year and the two following years, DBAG will have an annual 
average liquidity requirement for investments of around 90 million euros; the actual requirement 
may fluctuate strongly.

Capital structure: No liabilities to banks

DBAG funded its activities in the 2018/2019 financial year using existing financial resources or its 
own cash flow. In order to be able to take advantage of investment opportunities at any time, 
there is also a 50 million euro credit line in place. It ensures DBAG’s ability to co-invest along-
side the DBAG funds at all times, in addition to creating greater efficiency of the statement of 
financial position. The credit line had not been draw down during the financial year, nor at the 
reporting date. The increase in shareholders‘ equity to 407.0 million euros as of 30 September 
2019 is attributable to the inflow of funds following successful disposals, which exceeded the 
dividend payout. As of 30 September 2018, equity amounted to 399.7 million euros, of which 
21.8 million euros were distributed to shareholders as dividends in February 2019. At 95.7 per 
cent (previous year: 94.0 per cent), the EQUITY RATIO remained very high at the reporting date.
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O P P O R T U N I T I E S  A N D  R I S K S

Objective: Contribution to value creation by balancing  
opportunities and risks 

Deutsche Beteiligungs AG is exposed to multiple risks through its Fund Investment Services and 
Private Equity Investments business segments. These are founded, among other things, on the 
expected returns that are customary in the private equity business, on our geographical focus, 
our sector focus and on the new investment volume targeted annually. In its more than 50-year 
history, DBAG has proven its ability to successfully balance the risks and rewards of its business. 
We want to exploit our opportunities and moderately take on the exposure to the risk involved. 
Risk that endangers the continuity of the Company must basically be avoided.

DBAG’s risk profile is influenced by our risk propensity. We steer it using the risk management 
activities that are set out in this report; they are meant to contribute to value creation by 
specifically balancing opportunities and risks. As a private equity company, we consider risk 
management to be one of our core competencies. Our risk propensity derives from our objective 
of augmenting the value of DBAG; as described, we measure our performance by the long-term 
increase in the value of the Company. To that end, we pursue a conservative approach, which, 
among other things, is mirrored in DBAG’s statement of financial position structure by its high 
equity ratio. DBAG’s activities are financed in the long term by equity; bank liabilities are only 
entered into in the short term to bridge discrepancies between cash inflows and outflows.

Risk management system

We consider risk management to be a proactive and preventative process for controlling risk. 
Risk, in our opinion, refers to potentially negative events that ensue from possible hazards. 
Hazards, in turn, are either non-predictable events or basically predictable, but nevertheless 
coincidental, events.

The risk management system is an integral part of our business processes. It takes into account 
the statutory requirements set out by legislation and resulting from court decisions, the German 
Corporate Governance Code and international accounting standards. 

The system is based on our values and our experience, and it serves the objective described of 
contributing to value creation by balancing rewards and risks. This will be achieved when our risk 
management ensures a comprehensive overview of the Group’s risk profile. Particularly events 
involving material negative financial implications must be recognised promptly so that action 
can be taken to avoid, mitigate or control these risks.
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Structures: Decentralised organisation  
of risk management

Risk management is the direct responsibility of the Board of Management. It is overseen by the 
Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board. Furthermore, the Internal Audit department, as 
an independent constituent, monitors the efficacy of the risk management system; DBAG has 
delegated the internal audit services to an auditing firm. 

The Risk Committee, which reflects the decentralised organisation of risk management within 
DBAG, plays a key role. It consists of the Board of Management and the Risk Manager, who 
reports directly to the Chief Financial Officer, and also comprises risk officers at the level below 
the Board of Management. The Managing Directors in charge of the individual corporate 
departments support the Risk Manager in identifying and assessing risk in their areas of 
responsibility.

The Risk Manager develops the risk management system on an ongoing and systematic basis. 
The manual was most recently checked to ensure that it was up to date in July 2018, and 
adjusted, for example, to include the changes to our organisational structure. The objective 
of our risk management system is to inform the Board of Management and the Supervisory 
Board about the risks involving high and very high expected values (“significant risks”; expected 
value is a combination of probability of occurrence and extent of impact). The risk assessment 
criteria are aligned with the Board of Management’s risk strategy. Risks are recorded, monitored  
and managed on an ongoing basis. The aim is to avoid, mitigate or transfer the negative  
effects of risks.

Instruments: Risk register with 45 risk factors

The basis of the risk management system is a risk management manual and a risk register. 
The manual contains company-specific principles on the methodology of risk management, 
and describes the risk management instruments and their mode of operation. The risk register 
presents and analyses all the risks that we consider significant. It is updated on a quarterly 
basis; at the period ending 30 September 2019, it contained 45 individual risks (previous year: 
42). The significant risks, their causes and effects, as well as the specified actions required to 
control and monitor these risks, are also documented in a risk report addressed to the corporate 
bodies of DBAG.
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Processes: Risk identification in individual  
corporate departments

Risk management is an ongoing process that is firmly integrated into our workflows. The risk 
management process has been devised to ensure that risks are identified early on and risk 
management instruments are used appropriately; it is structured according to the following 
procedure: 

Risks are identified directly at a departmental level by the Managing Directors responsible for 
these units. Particular attention is paid to risks that may jeopardise the continuity of the Company 
as well as risks of major significance to the asset, financial and earnings position of DBAG. To 
that end, appropriate early warning indicators are employed – measures, in other words, that 
are either themselves indicators of changes in a risk or suitable as measurement tools to identify 
changes in risk-driving factors. Such indicators include, for instance, the number of transaction 
opportunities screened, the employee turnover rate or employee satisfaction.

During the risk analysis and assessment process, identified risks are classified by the responsible 
Risk Administrator in coordination with the Risk Manager on the basis of a matrix. First, they are 
categorised according to the probability of their occurrence on a four-point scale. The probability 
of occurrence is designated as “unlikely” (less than 20 per cent), “low” (20 to 50 per cent), 
“possible” (50 to 70 per cent) or “likely” (greater than 70 per cent). In addition, the impact 
is classified according to the severity of financial consequences, reputational consequences, 
regulatory consequences or management action required; the potential impact is assessed 
subsequent to the action taken to avoid or mitigate the risk.

Risk  
documentation  
and reporting

Risk  
identification

Risk  
analysis and  

risk assessment

Early risk  
warning

Risk  
control

CONSTANT 
RISK  

SURVEILLANCE
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The Risk Manager subsequently examines the individual risks and the actions adopted to diversify 
the risks to ascertain their completeness and effectiveness. The implementation of this action 
as well as its management and monitoring is the responsibility of the Risk Administrators in the 
respective corporate units.

Risk control basically pursues the objective of keeping the overall risk at acceptable and 
manageable levels for DBAG. The objective of risk control is therefore not to completely preclude 
risk, but rather to ensure that a targeted risk level is not exceeded. Suitable action to control risk 
may avoid, reduce or transfer risks.

Risk avoidance means completely precluding risk. Since complete avoidance of risk generally 
also means precluding opportunities for reward, this form of risk intervention cannot be 
applied across the board, but only to risks for which security takes priority over other corporate 
objectives. Measures taken to reduce risk are meant to decrease the probability of the occurrence 
of the risk and/or limit the impact. The residual risk that remains after the action has been 

EXPECTED VALUE  (COMBINAT ION OF  PROBABIL ITY  AND IMPACT)

PROBABILITY

> 70% Likely 4
Moderate High Very high Very high

50  to  70% Possible 3
Very low Moderate High Very high

20  to  50% Seldom 2
Very low Moderate High High

< 20% Unlikely 1
Very low Very low Moderate High

1 2 3 4

Low Moderate High Very high

Financial consequences < €10mn €10–50mn €50–100mn > €100mn

Reputational consequences
Isolated negative 
media coverage

Broader negative 
media coverage

Extensive negative 
media coverage and 
temporary loss  
of confidence by  
investors

Extensive negative 
media coverage  
and long-term 
loss of confidence  
by investors

Regulatory consequences Conditional caution Reorganisation
Reorientation of 
business activity

Suspension of  
business activity

Management action required
Event covered by 
normal routine

Critical event 
addressed with 
existing resources

Critical event requiring 
more extensive  
management action

Disaster requiring  
significant manage-
ment action

IMPACT
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implemented is consciously accepted or transferred to third parties. Insurance contracts, a 
classical risk management instrument, serve to transfer risk. Special contractual arrangements 
and financial instruments are also examples of transferring risk to third parties. 

Risks are reported to the complete Board of Management on a quarterly basis. In addition, the 
entire Board of Management is involved in risk management through the Risk Committee. Risks 
that are identified outside of these regular intervals are reported to the Risk Manager imme-
diately. This ensures a comprehensive and current analysis of risk exposure at all times. Once 
every financial year, the Board of Management extensively informs the Audit Committee about 
DBAG’s risk exposure. In the event of an unexpected material change in the exposure to risk, 
the Board of Management informs the Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board immediately.

Explanation of individual risk factors

The table on page 103 describes all risks with a “high” expected value, based on our definition, 
which is determined by the probability of occurrence and extent of impact; the risks with a 
high expected value are the same as those reported at the reporting date for the financial 
year 2017/2018. In our estimation and assessment, there are still no risks with a “very high” 
expected value.

We have allocated operational risks to the business segment that is most strongly affected by the 
risk. However, over the long term, the consequences of risks allocated to the Fund Investment 
Services segment would also affect the Private Equity Investments segment and vice versa. 
In addition to the risk factors described, there are further risks that we regularly monitor and 
control. These risks have an influence on whether and to what extent we achieve our financial 
and non-financial objectives.

Risks of the Fund Investment Services segment

Inability to cover the personnel requirement

Performance in private equity business is closely linked to the people acting in the field. Investors 
in funds also base their capital commitment decision on the stability and experience of the 
investment team. Dissatisfied employees or a high staff fluctuation rate can cause greater 
workloads for other employees; if DBAG were to earn a negative reputation as an employer, 
this would be detrimental to the Company’s personnel recruitment. We address the risk of 
possible staff turnover by systematically developing the skills and knowledge of our people, as 
well as using a competitive remuneration scheme that fits to standard practice in the industry 
and allowing members of the investment team to make private investments in the DBAG 
funds, enabling them to enjoy participation in fund performance that is disproportionate to the 
profit-sharing awards (carried interest). We regularly offer individualised training programmes; 
personality-based training activities are an integral constituent of career plans. 

We regularly measure employee satisfaction in a survey. In view of the Company’s current 
position, we do not expect bottlenecks to occur over the short or medium term.
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Inability to raise capital commitments from external 
investors to DBAG funds

We will be able to pursue our strategy in its present form in the long term only if we succeed in 
soliciting capital commitments to DBAG funds. This requires that the Company or its investment 
team establishes a proven track record of successful investment activity yielding attractive returns, 
which depends on the solid performance of the investments and on the investment progress of a 
fund. Further influencing factors are the macroeconomic environment, the sentiment in the stock 
markets and general readiness of private equity investors to make new capital commitments. 
Fundamental changes to tax legislation that would lead to taxes being imposed on foreign 
partners of German fund entities would have serious disadvantages for DBAG. Without further 
capital commitments, the stability of the management and staff that we need to support the 
portfolio would not be ensured.

We address this risk, among other things, by a regular dialogue with existing and potential 
investors in DBAG funds. In selecting investors, we place special emphasis on their ability to 
possibly also invest in follow-on funds. Additionally, we regularly review our investment strategy.

Extraordinary termination of investment period of one or several DBAG funds  
or extraordinary liquidation of a fund

The investment period of DBAG funds ends automatically when Fund Investment Services are no 
longer provided by certain key persons defined in the fund agreements (the leading members 
of the investment team). Moreover, the fund investors have the right (typically with a 75 per 
cent majority) to end the investment period of that respective fund. The reasons that could 
cause them to initiate such a resolution include an unsatisfactory performance of the fund’s 
investments, insufficient investment progress or a fundamental lack of confidence. In cases 
involving serious contractual breaches, investors have the right to replace the fund management 
company or liquidate the fund.

Ending the investment period of a fund would consequently lead to a considerable reduction 
in fee income for advisory services to that fund. Should fund investors revoke DBAG’s advisory 
mandate for a DBAG fund, DBAG would forfeit the fee income from that fund. Should this 
happen with all funds, it would forfeit fee income from Fund Investment Services altogether. 
Furthermore, DBAG would no longer be able to exert any influence over the management of 
the investments entered into with the fund in question. Without the funds at its side, DBAG’s 
opportunities to make its own investments would also be limited. Ongoing communication and 
early response to the wishes of fund investors serve to mitigate this risk. Above all, however, our 
sustained investment performance counteracts this risk.
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Risks of the Private Equity Investments segment

Investment strategy proves to be unattractive  
or its implementation is inadequate

A key prerequisite for our performance is an attractive investment strategy. Without successful 
investing activity, it would not be possible to generate the targeted returns on equity, investors 
would withdraw their committed capital and new commitments to funds could not be raised. 
In order to mitigate this risk, the Board of Management and the investment team examine on 
a regular basis the extent to which our sector focus and geographical emphasis provide an 
adequate deal flow and a sufficient number of promising investment opportunities. 

Moreover, we regularly review our investment strategy and monitor the market. The 
investment team discusses experience with consultants and service providers gleaned from 
due diligence processes on a regular basis in order to avoid incorrect due diligence results. 
The standardisation of internal processes and the accelerated transfer of knowledge within 
the investment team also help us to achieve this.  

Insufficient access to new, attractive investment opportunities

Access to new investment opportunities is crucial for our operations. If we did not make new in-
vestments, the structure of our statement of financial position would change. The portfolio value 
and, as a result, the net asset value would exhibit slower growth and the proportion of financial 
resources on the statement of financial position that hardly bear interest would increase – both 
would come at the expense of the return on equity. In the medium term, the performance of 
the Fund Investment Services segment would also be adversely affected: the investors in the 
funds expect investment progress that is commensurate with the committed fund size. If this 
progress was not achieved, our chances of raising a successor fund would be diminished, thus 
impacting the performance of Fund Investment Services in the medium term.

However, we have no influence on developments in the private equity market. With a view to 
the persistent low interest rate phase and the abundant stream of capital associated with it, we 
are competing not only with strategic investors, but also with foundations and family offices 
seeking more profitable investment opportunities. By contrast, the maintenance of our network 
and our marketing efforts are aspects that we can influence ourselves.

Our ability to mitigate the risks arising from a decline in the number of potential transactions 
is very limited. If we invest less, the potential for value growth in the segment of Private Equity 
Investments will decline in the medium term. We address this risk, among other things, by 
originating investment opportunities that are not broadly available in the market. We have im-
plemented an ongoing process to improve how we identify investment opportunities. This also 
includes the constant expansion of our network of M&A consultants, banks and industry experts.

Transaction opportunities are not transformed into investments

Even if there is a sufficient supply of attractive investment opportunities, there is a risk of these 
not culminating in concrete investments. One reason for this may be a lack of competitiveness – 
because we react too slowly due to insufficient processes or are unable to arrange the acquisition 
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financing. To avoid the consequences arising from this risk – inadequate investment progress, 
negative effects for future DBAG funds – we continually strive to improve our internal knowledge 
transfer and to adapt the relevant processes to a changed competitive environment.

External risks

Negative impact of the general economy and economic  
cycles in individual sectors on portfolio companies

The development of our portfolio companies is influenced by market factors such as geograph-
ical and sector-related economic cycles, political and financial changes, commodity prices and 
exchange rate trends. These market factors, in turn, are subject to a variety of influences them-
selves. Cyclical impacts in the wake of political instability or limited capability of the banking 
system can also affect the portfolio companies’ earnings, financial and asset position. Techno-
logical changes can also have a negative impact on individual companies or on the companies 
operating in a certain sector. This could extend the holding periods of investments, resulting 
in the gains on disposal being postponed or reduced. In extreme cases, it could lead to a total 
loss of capital for individual investments. In such an event, our reputation would be at stake.

Market factors, in particular, sometimes change at very short notice, and our ability to address 
them is limited. Short-term results, however, are not decisive for success in private equity busi-
ness. Our investment decisions are based on plans that target value development over a span 
of several years. The holding periods for investments generally extend beyond the duration of 
individual cyclical phases. 

The notably lower growth momentum we are seeing for now in most of the important economic 
areas leads us to assume that the probability of this risk occurring is no longer “low” (as before) 
but now “possible”. If appropriate – as was sometimes the case over the last financial year – 
we adapt our value development approach to an individual investment. This requires closely 
monitoring the portfolio companies’ progress. The portfolio’s diversification basically already 
counters the risk arising from cyclical trends in individual sectors.

Lower valuation level on the capital markets

Valuation ratios on the capital markets are reflected in the measurement of the fair value of our 
portfolio companies and, thereby, the portfolio value. A lower valuation level, expressed in lower 
valuation multipliers, generally results in a lower portfolio value. They can be a burden on the 
prices at which we are able to divest companies and thus impair our profitability.

We cannot avert the risk arising from the capital markets. We can, however, mitigate that risk by 
avoiding high entry prices. Achieving an improved strategic position of the portfolio companies 
would justify a higher multiple. Since sectors are rarely all equally affected by changes in the 
equity market, diversifying the portfolio also counters exposure to this risk.

Information on the holding  
periods of current investments 
page 70
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Access to stock and credit markets is not ensured 

DBAG finances its activities in the long term by way of the stock market; over the short term, a 
credit facility may be used to cover temporal discrepancies between expected cash inflows and 
outflows. The capital increase and agreement on a credit line in the financial year 2015/2016 
also have to be viewed within this context. Corporate action can only succeed if DBAG is con-
sidered an attractive investment opportunity. Rising market prices for and sufficient liquidity in 
our shares – both requirements for the membership of DBAG shares in the S-DAX – facilitate 
future corporate actions. Additionally, without adequate access to the financial, credit and stock 
markets, DBAG’s autonomy would be jeopardised in the long run.

We therefore foster an intensive dialogue with current and potential investors. In addition to 
ongoing investor relations work – the dividend policy, for example, which has stable, rising 
dividends as its goal, preferably on an upward trajectory, also aims to make shares in DBAG 
more attractive.

Endangerment of DBAG’s independence  

A sub-par valuation of DBAG shares could enable the entry of a principal shareholder and result 
in them exerting control in the Company. But since the investors in DBAG funds expect the 
DBAG investment team to provide their advisory services free from the influence of third parties, 
this loss of independence would basically jeopardise DBAG’s business model: investors would 
neither commit to new DBAG funds – on the contrary, they could terminate existing advisory 
agreements –, nor would another capital increase be possible on attractive terms. As described 
above, investors could also end the funds’ investment period if (e.g. through the control of a 
principal investor) the key personnel defined in the fund agreements were no longer materially 
involved in investment services to the funds.

By fostering intensive contact with current and potential investors we also mitigate this risk. We 
have additionally set out a legal structure that shields the Fund Investment Services business 
from the influence of third parties. In the event that such control is exerted, the management 
authority of DBAG can be revoked for the Group company charged with providing advisory and 
management services to DBAG funds.  

Operational risks

Insufficient protection of confidential data against unauthorised access  

Our business not only requires suitable software and hardware, but also effective data security 
as well as data access by authorised persons at any time. Of key significance is secure protection 
against unauthorised access, for instance, to sensitive information about potential transactions, 
the portfolio companies or the economic data of DBAG. There is a risk of such unauthorised 
access through cyberattacks, weak spots in our network or, for example, through installation 
of undesirable software by DBAG staff. Our knowledge advantage would be lost, and we could 
be open to extortion.
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DBAG has its own qualified IT specialists; they are supported by external consultants, if needed. 
DBAG responds to the continually growing IT risk by, among other things, conducting regular 
internal and external reviews. In an additional security audit in September 2018, consultants 
verified that, in their opinion, DBAG’s network was sufficiently protected against cyberattacks. 
We encrypt our communication channels through state-of-the-art technologies and use the 
latest virus protection software and security technology.

RISK FACTORS WITH A HIGH EXPECTED VALUE

Risk exposure vs 
previous year

Probability of  
occurrence Extent of impact

Risks of the Fund Investment  
Services segment

Inability to cover the personnel requirement Unchanged Low High

Inability to raise capital commitments from  
external investors to buyout funds Unchanged Unlikely Very high

Extraordinary termination of investment  
period or extraordinary liquidation of one  
or several DBAG funds Unchanged Unlikely Very high

 

Risks of the Private Equity  
Investments Segment

Investment strategy proves to be unattractive Unchanged Low High 

Insufficient access to new, attractive investment 
opportunities Unchanged Low High

Transaction opportunities not tranformed  
into investments Unchanged Low High

External risks

Negative impact of general economy and economic 
cycles in certain sectors on earnings, financial and 
asset position of portfolio companies Higher Possible High 

Lower valuation level on the capital markets Unchanged Possible High

Access to stock and credit markets is not ensured Unchanged Low High

Threat to DBAG’s independence Unchanged Unlikely Very high

Operational risks

Insufficient protection of confidential data against 
unauthorised access Unchanged Possible High

Material changes compared with the preceding year

Compared with the end of the financial year 2017/2018, we now see a greater likelihood that the 
risk of a “negative impact of the general economy and economic cycles in individual sectors on 
portfolio companies” will materialise. The expected value of this external risk – which is beyond 
our control – therefore remains “high”.
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Description of opportunities

Opportunity management is an integral constituent of our operating business. Value creation 
largely occurs in our core activities of investing, developing and realising our investments. We 
therefore place special emphasis on continually improving our business processes. We do not 
actively pursue opportunity management outside of ordinary business operations, such as 
optimising investments of cash and cash equivalents.

Private Equity Investments: Strategic advancement with investments 
deploying only our own financial resources (Principal Investments) 

In the past financial year, we decided to envisage investments deploying only our own financial 
resources, i.e. not alongside any funds, as an additional investment programme. These invest-
ments will typically be longer-term minority shareholdings that do not fit the DBAG funds’ 
investment strategy. The programme was designed with family-owned businesses in mind that 
require equity investments of between 20 and 150 million euros; such businesses would primarily 
be positioned in the upper Mittelstand, generating annual revenues upwards of 100 million 
euros. With this new proposition, DBAG has broadened its range of services and opened the 
door for new investment opportunities.

Competition for attractive investment opportunities has become more intense in recent years. 
A factor that is sometimes crucial in the competitive field is the ability to come to an agreement 
with the vendor within a tight time frame. Rapid availability of the required funding can shorten 
the acquisition process. In that respect, opportunities could arise from DBAG’s solid financial 
resources, which enable the Company to make financing commitments under its own steam.

Fund Investment Services: possibility of higher fee income  
from successor fund

Income from investment services to funds is readily forecastable, because fee agreements are 
largely fixed for a fund’s term. After the start of the investment period of DBAG Fund VII in 
December 2016, fee income from buyout funds is therefore capped initially until the end of the 
investment period, which will last for six years at the most. Opportunities could, however, arise 
from positive investment performance. We remain committed to making continuous improve-
ments to our business processes and strengthening the performance of our investment team. 
This will make us more competitive, in a market where those players able to assess business 
models and exploit transaction opportunities quickly have the edge. This benefits our investment 
progress. Less than four years into the investment period, around 68 per cent of the fund has 
been allocated. If we manage to launch a successor fund with a similar (or larger) volume earlier 
than prior to the end of the initial investment period of six years, DBAG will receive higher fee 
income from advisory services provided to this successor fund earlier as well.

Details concerning  
our investment strategy		
pages 50ff.
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Opportunities are also arising from our new programme for investments made from our own 
resources. For larger investments, co-investors are set to be included, who would then pay 
advisory or structuring fees.

External changes: Increase in value thanks to higher capital market 
multiples; positive effect from higher interest rates

The value of our portfolio companies at a specific reporting date is significantly influenced 
by stock market conditions. This was again evidenced in the past financial year. The result of 
valuation and disposal was hit by lower capital market multiples in an approximate amount of 
23 million euros. Multiples are subject to constant change. If the assessment of the companies’ 
outlook were to improve again, this would augment valuation multiples – which, in turn, have 
an influence on our valuations.

A higher interest rate level would allow us to reverse an additional part of our pension provisions; 
this would increase the equity per share by way of an increase in other comprehensive income.

General statement on opportunities and risks 

In 2018/2019, DBAG’s business model, which is geared towards a long-term view, has proved 
its worth once again. There was no material change in the exposure to risks and opportunities 
compared with the preceding year. In our estimation, there are currently no recognisable 
individual or cumulative risks that would endanger the continuity of DBAG or the Group as a 
going concern. This estimation is based on an analysis and assessment of the material individual 
risks to which the Company is exposed, as well as on the risk management system in place. We 
do not currently perceive any extraordinary opportunities.

Key features of the accounting-related internal control and risk management 
system (sections 289 (4) and 315 (4) of the HGB)

The internal control system (ICS) is an integral constituent of the risk management system 
at Deutsche Beteiligungs AG. It is oriented around the internationally recognised framework 
document for internal control systems issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of 
the Treadway Commission (COSO).
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The extent and design of the internal control and risk management system are aligned with the 
special requirements of the Fund Investment Services and Private Equity Investment businesses. 
The duty of the internal audit – which has been delegated to an external service provider – is 
to monitor the functioning and effectiveness of the ICS independently of processes in a multi-
year examination scheme within the Group and at Deutsche Beteiligungs AG, and to thereby 
promote ongoing improvements to business processes. The accounting-related part of the ICS 
is a component of the annual audit within the scope of a risk-oriented audit approach. Finally, 
the Supervisory Board’s Audit Committee oversees the ICS, as required by section 107 (3) of 
the AktG. 

DBAG prepares its separate and consolidated financial statements in conformity with the 
applicable accounting policies of the HGB and the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS). The internal accounting guidelines are set out in an accounting manual and in 
measurement/valuation guidelines; they consider the different principles of the IFRS and HGB. 
New accounting rules are regularly reviewed to ascertain the implications for DBAG and its 
subsidiaries, and if necessary, the accounting guidelines are adapted. 

Moreover, DBAG possesses clearly defined organisational, control and surveillance structures. 
Explicit assignments within the accounting process are in place. The IT systems used in accounting 
are largely operated with standard software products; these are protected against unauthorised 
internal and external access by comprehensive access permissions. All individuals involved in the 
accounting process are qualified for their assignments. The number of individuals working here 
is sufficient to handle the workflow. The aim is to minimise the risk of erroneous accounting. 
Staff regularly participate in further education programmes and professional training sessions 
on tax- and accounting-related topics. Additionally, advice from external experts is solicited on 
specific accounting issues. 

Material accounting-related processes are regularly examined analytically in respect of the 
availability and operability of the installed internal controls. The completeness and validity of 
accounting data are regularly reviewed manually, based on random samples and plausibility 
checks. For processes that are particularly relevant in accounting, the principle of dual control 
is consistently employed.

The internal controls are designed to ensure that the external financial reporting by DBAG and 
the Group is reliable and in conformity with the valid accounting rules. The aim is to minimise 
the risk of possible misstatements on the actual asset, financial and earnings position. We also 
gain important insight into the quality and operability of accounting-related internal controls 
through the annual audit of the separate and consolidated financial statements, as well as a 
review of the half-yearly consolidated financial statements.
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R E P O R T  O N  E X P E C T E D  D E V E L O P M E N T S

Period covered by this report: short-term predictions  
do not do justice to business model

Our business lends itself to a medium- to long-term planning and forecast horizon. That applies 
both to the co-investment activity and to Fund Services. 

Events or trends that were not predictable at the beginning of a financial year frequently have 
a significant impact on the earnings contribution of our investment activities. These include 
realisations that, at times, achieve prices clearly in excess of their most recent valuation, as well 
as unexpected developments in portfolio companies’ consumer markets or in the stock market. 

DBAG funds have a term of ten years. With the exception of DBAG ECF, the fees we receive for 
management or advisory services are methodically fixed over that term. That is why fee income 
is readily projectable over the short term, but at the same time it is also capped. Increases can 
only result from a follow-on fund, as a matter of principle. Its size and, consequently, its income 
potential, is orientated around the former fund’s investment performance, meaning that the 
income potential can only be judged conclusively at the end of the term. This, too, is indicative 
of the long-term orientation of our business.

As a result, we will be forecasting key figures not only for the current, new financial year 
2019/2020. We will also take this forecast as a basis in order to set out our expectations regard-
ing further development over the next two financial years.

The forecast is based on our medium-term planning for 2022, which consists of a projected 
profit and loss statement, a projected statement of financial position, and a projected statement 
of cash flows. For the Private Equity Investments segment, it is based on detailed assumptions 
on future co-investments alongside the DBAG funds and on own balance-sheet investments, as 
well as on the holding period and the expected capital multiplier for each individual portfolio 
company. We use this information to predict the development of the cost and fair values of 
the portfolio and, based on these figures, the net result of valuation and disposal based on the 
IFRS, the net result of disposal based on the German Commercial Code and – at the level of 
the individual DBAG fund via which the Company made investments in the companies – the 
development of carried interest. We do not assume a linear increase in the value of the individual 
portfolio companies over the holding period. Rather, we apply a standardised value appreciation 
trend that includes smaller increases in value at the start of the holding period and larger ones 
towards the end.

In the Fund Investment Services segment, we take into account the development in fee income 
from Fund Services and other income/expense items, i.e. mainly personnel expenses, variable 
remuneration and advisory expenses, as well as expenses for fundraising in individual years. We 
prepare detailed plans for expenses in the first planning year; thereafter, the various expense 
items are projected based on aggregate assumptions.

Irrespective of our dividend policy, we are not planning to make any changes to the dividend for 
the time being. All plan assumptions that have an impact on cash are included in the projection 
of cash and cash equivalents. 
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Type of forecast: qualified and comparative based  
on individual points of reference

The change in net asset value is determined to a considerable degree by the net gain or loss 
from investment activity, which can fluctuate considerably from year to year. Over the last five 
years, this has amounted to values of between 29.2 million euros and 85.8 million euros. As 
we expect net income to continue to show marked volatility over the current medium-term 
planning period, neither an interval forecast nor a point forecast of these indicators is feasible. 
As a result, we have limited ourselves – as before – to making a qualified comparative forecast18 
on expected developments.

As far as net gain or loss from investment activity and net income are concerned, a qualitative 
and comparative forecast based on the values for the previous year does not make sense, due to 
the very volatile nature of our results. Thus, the respective average value of the last five years is 
used as a reference for the forecast of those indicators mentioned. We use the prior-year values 
based on the carried portfolio for the other financial and non-financial key indicators, making 
adjustments for factors that would not recur on a regular basis. 

In line with this approach, in this forecast we also classify changes in net gain or loss from 
investment activity and net income differently from the other key performance indicators for this 
forecast, as in the previous year. We use the following system for these very volatile indicators. 
We describe changes of up to 20 per cent as “slight”, changes of more than 20 per cent but 
less than 40 per cent are “moderate”, and changes of 40 per cent and more as “significant”.

Changes in the other key indicators are still evaluated within a narrower range. Deviations of 
up to ten per cent are considered “slight”, and changes of more than ten per cent but less than  
20 per cent are termed “moderate”. Changes of 20 per cent and more are “significant”.

Expected development of underlying conditions

Market: No change in a competitive environment that remains intense

Based on the dynamic of the investment opportunities we have learned of during the past twelve 
months, we expect to see constant demand – in terms of number and volume – in our market, 
as far as the current financial year 2019/2020 and the next two financial years are concerned.

18 German Accounting Standard 
No. 20 (GAS 20) provides for three 
types of forecasts: the disclosure of  
a numerical value (“point forecast”), 
a range between two numerical 
values (“interval forecast”) and a 
change in relation to the actual value 
of the reporting period stating the 
direction and intensity of that change 
(“qualif ied comparative forecast”).
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Borrowings: Constant supply based on unchanged conditions

The debt market for acquisition finance is diverse. Debt funds have increased the supply; they 
offer financing through unitranches or mezzanine. The gap created by the withdrawal of some 
banks following the financial crisis has now been closed. The business in leveraged finance for 
transactions in the private equity field is attractive. As a result, we expect to see a sufficient 
supply of this sort of financing over our forecast horizon; as far as the 2019/2020 financial 
year is concerned, we generally expect to see a constant supply at conditions that are largely 
unchanged. We cannot, however, rule out that bank willingness to finance transactions in 
mechanical and plant engineering or in the automotive supply industry will continue to be 
challenging, hampering transactions in these sectors.

Asset class of private equity: No radical changes in the short term

Private equity is firmly rooted as an asset class worldwide. It is an integral part of the investment 
strategy of many institutional investors. The proportion of private equity in the dissemination 
of assets is not constant and may even decrease. Recent surveys amongst investors (June 2019) 
suggest that close to 50 per cent plan on allocating equivalent funds to private equity invest-
ments as in the previous year; 40 per cent even more.19 With a view to the persistent low interest 
rate policy in the US and Europe, we think it likely that shifts in investor asset allocation will not  
be to the detriment of private equity. This suggests at least a consistent offer of investment 
commitments for private equity funds. 

Our experience shows that the attractiveness of DBAG funds is less dependent on investors’ 
general view of the market, and more on their sentiment toward specific sub-markets (Europe, 
Germany, industrial, services, etc.) – and in particular on the investment performance DBAG 
funds have delivered so far. Feedback from the ongoing fundraising for the DBAG Fund VII and 
DBAG ECF successor funds supports our view: given its investment history and under current 
market conditions, DBAG can assume that it will succeed in launching successor funds in due 
time before the end of the investment period, with sufficient capital commitments solicited.

Macroeconomic environment: “Industry in recession,  
growth drivers abating”

The underlying macroeconomic conditions have worsened during the past twelve months, with 
many economies in which our portfolio companies produce or sell their products encumbered 
by dwindling global growth, trade conflicts, Brexit and uncertainties in foreign economics.20  

19 Preqin Investor Update:  
Alternative Assets H2 2019,  
August 2019

20 “Global Manufacturing  
Downturn, Rising Trade  
Barriers – World Economic  
Outlook”, International  
Monetary Fund, October 2019
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In Germany, economic development is torn in two: while the global industrial and investment 
weakness in particular has been weighing on German industry exports and the German industry 
has dipped into recession, the domestic economy remains intact, employment and income are 
on the rise, and the construction sector is booming. In spite of the outlook being muted, an 
economic crisis is not on the horizon.21

Our portfolio companies operate in numerous markets and geographical regions. This holds all 
the more true following expansion of our sector spectrum to include new focus sectors over 
recent years. This means that our investments are subject to very different cyclical influences: 
for companies such as JCK or More than Meals, domestic demand in Germany is of much 
greater influence than for Gienanth, Pfaudler or Silbitz, which offer their goods and services 
on a global scale. Some are strongly affected by developments in certain commodity prices. 
Our investments that are involved in the expansion of the fibre-optic network in Germany, on 
the other hand, are subject to entirely different influences. The level of economic growth is 
unlikely to determine their success to any considerable extent, at least in the short term, but the 
availability of labour will. We have not included the impact of changes in commodity prices or 
exchange rates in our forecast.

Compared with the end of the financial year 2017/2018, we are now faced with a macro-
economic environment characterised by significantly greater uncertainty. Some risks that we 
considered a possible threat six or twelve months ago have materialised: in particular concerning 
investments with a direct or indirect link to the automotive industry, but also concerning the two 
foundries and other industrial companies in our portfolio. In a best-case scenario, we expect 
business for companies with a cyclical business model and automotive-related investments 
to stagnate. The remaining portfolio companies should enjoy generally favourable framework 
conditions during the new financial year 2019/2020. However, it remains impossible to assess 
whether the recovery tendencies that various players have referred to, and the corresponding 
growth drivers, will materialise; the same applies to the impact of Brexit and the future course 
of international trade conflicts.

Expected business development

The point of reference used for the forecast in the table below corresponds – in line with the 
comments on the type of forecast – either to the actual value for 2018/2019 or to the average 
value over the last five years for the performance indicator in question.

Our forecasts are based on the expectations regarding developments on the private equity 
market, the capital markets and developments within the economy as described above. A 
scenario in which the circumstances described in the risks mentioned would materialise to a 
greater degree is not reflected in our planning. If trade disputes between major economies are 
exacerbated further, if a chaotic Brexit becomes a reality, and valuations on the capital markets 
decrease significantly, we will not be able to achieve our forecasts. This scenario could result not 
only in a lower net gain or loss from investment activity, but also delays in investment progress 
and the disposal of mature portfolio companies.

21 “Industry in recession, 
growth drivers abating”, 
Gemeinschaftsdiagnose project 
group 2/19, September 2019

Information on economic risks 	
pages 107f.
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FORECAST FOR FURTHER BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 

Actual
2018/2019

Reference point
for the forecast

Expectations for
2019/2020

Ambitions until 
2021/2022

vs. 2019/2020

Financial performance indicators

PRIVATE EQUITY INVESTMENTS

Net asset value1 (reporting 
date) €472.1mn €472.1mn

Up to  
10% lower

More than  
20% higher

Net income from investment 
activity2 €49.6mn €51.0mn

More than  
40% lower

More than  
40% higher

Cash flow from investing 
activities €(15.5)mn €(15.5)mn 

More than  
20% lower

More than  
20% higher

FUND INVESTMENT SERVICES

Income from fund services €28.2mn €28.2mn
More than  

20% higher
More than  

10% higher

Net income from Fund 
Investment Services1 €3.0mn €3.0mn

More than  
20% higher

More than  
10% higher

Assets under management 
or advisory (reporting date) €1,704.0mn €1,704.4mn

More than  
20% higher

More than  
10% lower

SHAREHOLDERS

Dividend per share €1.50 €1.50 Unchanged Unchanged

Non-financial performance indicators

PRIVATE EQUITY INVESTMENTS

Investment opportunities 258 258 Unchanged Unchanged

FUND INVESTMENT SERVICES

Share of capital commit-
ments of returning investors 75% 75% Unchanged Unchanged

EMPLOYEES

Average length of company 
service 7.6 years 7.6 years Unchanged Unchanged

Other indicators

Net income in accordance 
with IFRS2 €45.9mn €46.8mn

20 than 40% 
lower

More than  
40% higher

Net income in accordance 
with the HGB €29.1mn €29.1mn

More than  
10% higher

1 Also used as a management indicator for the core business objective		
2 The forecast is based on the average value of the previous five financial years.
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In light of economic developments and having weighed up the opportunities and risks, we antic
ipate a below-average increase in the portfolio value in 2019/2020. Against this background and 
taking into account the distribution in February 2020 – 22.6 million euros are proposed – the 
NET ASSET VALUE as at the reporting date 30 September 2020 will be down slightly on recent 
levels. Due to the quality of the overall portfolio and planned investments, we then expect to 
see this value increase in the following two years, meaning that by the end of the financial year 
2021/2022, net asset value should have significantly surpassed the number as at the end of the 
ongoing new financial year. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, which form part of net asset 
value, will drop significantly in 2019/2020, due mainly to planned investments and distribution 
being higher than the returns from planned divestments.

NET GAIN OR LOSS FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITY is the item that has the greatest impact 
on the Private Equity Investments segment. Net asset value – adjusted for the dividend distri-
bution of any given year – can only increase if the net income exceeds the amount earmarked 
for distribution. At the same time, net gain or loss from investment activity is the item with the 
greatest budgetary and forecast uncertainty. It is determined to a considerable degree by the net 
result of valuation and disposal; current income from financial assets and loans and receivables 
is of lesser significance.

Projections of the earnings contribution for the portfolio are based on current assumptions 
regarding the holding period and, as explained above, on a standardised annual increase in the 
value of the investments during this holding period. Here, we take into account deviations from 
the initial premises with regard to the temporal course and the absolute value contribution of 
the change measures initiated in the portfolio companies.

The net valuation result represents the net amount of positive and negative value movements 
of the portfolio companies. These value movements derive from the change in the fair value of 
an investment in comparison to the preceding reporting date. In the past, there were instances 
when sizeable capital gains were realised on disposal of investments, for example because 
industrial buyers were willing to pay premiums on the estimated fair value for strategic reasons or 
because financial investors paid such premiums after intense competition among bidders. Such 
events are not predictable. This is why we have assumed that the sale price corresponds to the 
fair value calculated in each case. Current income from financial assets and loans and receivables 
is also not forecast individually. We assume that earnings generated from the portfolio companies 
are ploughed back in and therefore flow into the achievable market price to the same extent.

Based on our assumptions, we expect net gain or loss from investment activity to be consider-
ably, i.e. more than 40 per cent, lower than the forecast. In the next two years (2020/2021 and 
2021/2022), we then expect to see values that are significantly higher than the values expected 
in the coming financial year.

On the basis of the co-investment agreements with DBAG funds and our latest strategic devel
opments to include Principal Investments, we are planning investments for 2019/2020 to be 
slightly higher than the previous year. At the same time, we expect the decline in inflows from 
disposals, recapitalisations and dividend distributions from portfolio companies to be down 
moderately on recent levels (in other words between 10 and 20 per cent); we do not predict 
any gains on disposals as a general rule, but rather assume that investments will be sold at their 
fair value. This will produce another negative CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITY in 
2019/2020; the consumption of funds will be significantly higher than in 2018/2019.
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INCOME FROM FUND SERVICES is substantially determined by the volume of funds. The terms 
and conditions that govern the compensation for our management and advisory services are 
usually fixed for a fund’s entire term. This makes it easy for us to budget for this income. Thanks 
to the investment progress achieved for DBAG Fund VII and DBAG ECF, we expect a successor 
fund to be closed in 2019/2020 and the investment period for this fund to start in the new finan-
cial year. Accordingly, we expect 2019/2020 income from Fund Services to significantly exceed 
2018/2019’s level. Furthermore, by the end of 2021/2022, we anticipate a further moderate 
increase over the 2019/2020 level. We expect to see a significantly higher result in the Fund 
Investment Services segment in 2019/2020. Earnings will initially continue to rise significantly, 
and in the last year of the forecast period they will approximately reach the level of the current, 
new financial year. ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT OR ADVISORY will, first of all, significantly 
increase in the current financial year, assuming a successful fundraising for the DBAG Fund VII 
and DBAG ECF successor fund. It will then decline due to further disposals from the portfolio. 
For the 30 September 2022 reporting date we expect assets under management and advisory 
to be moderately lower than for the coming reporting date.

General forecast

Net asset value slightly lower, significantly higher earnings from Fund  
Investment Services, net income moderately lower than the point of  
reference used for the forecast

The forecast for the new, current financial year is, however, subject to significantly greater 
uncertainty than in previous years due to the overall environment. Taking this into account, 
we expect a negative contribution to enterprise value made by the change in net asset value. 
However, income from the Fund Services (which determines the value of Fund Investment 
Services) is expected to be significantly higher. Net income 2019/2020 is expected to be mod-
erate, i.e. between 20 and 40 per cent, lower than forecast. This means that the financial year 
2019/2020 will be more of an average year, measured against a ten-year average. Looking ahead 
to the 2020/2021 and 2021/2022 financial years, we anticipate results which will be significantly 
higher – that is, more than 40 per cent above the level for the current financial year.

Profit for 2019/2020 according to the German Commercial Code up  
moderately year-on-year

Deutsche Beteiligungs AG is reporting a net retained profit in accordance with the German 
Commercial Code of 178.1 million euros at 30 September 2019. 22.6 million euros of this amount 
is to be distributed in February 2020. Our dividend policy provides for a dividend that remains 
stable and increases whenever this is possible Over the medium-term planning period, we expect 
the dividend to be constant to start off with. We expect that our retained profit for the coming 
year and the next two years will allow us to make distributions in the planned amounts.

Frankfurt/Main, 3 December 2019

The Board of Management
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C O N S O L I DAT E D  S TAT E M E N T  O F  C O M P R E H E N S I V E  I N C O M E

for the period from 1 October 2018 to 30 September 2019

€’000 Notes
1 Oct 2018 to 

30 Sep 2019
1 Oct 2017 to 
30 Sep 2018

Restated1

Net gain or loss from investment activities 10 49,629 31,098

Income from Fund Services 11 26,970 28,855

Income from Fund Services and investment activities  76,599 59,953

   

Personnel expenses 12 (21,042) (18,005)

Other operating income 13 5,767 3,697

Other operating expenses 14 (16,413) (15,557)

Interest income 15 955 344

Interest expenses 16 (783) (702)

Other income/expense items  (31,515) (30,222)

   

Earnings before taxes  45,083 29,731

Income taxes 17 659 (18)

Earnings after taxes  45,742 29,714

Net gain or loss attributable to non-controlling interests 27 114 (25)

Net income  45,856 29,688

   

a) Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss    
Gains (+)/losses (-) on remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset) 29 (7,690) (1,155)

b) Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss    

Unrealised gains (+)/losses (-) on available-for-sale securities  0 (47)

Changes in the fair value of financial assets measured at fair  
value through other comprehensive income 22 15 0

Other comprehensive income  (7,675) (1,203)

    

Total comprehensive income  38,181 28,486

Earnings per share in euros (diluted and basic)2 36 3.05 1.97

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 (see Note 4 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements)
2 �The earnings per share calculated in accordance with IAS 33 are based on net income divided by the average number of DBAG  

shares outstanding in the reporting period.
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C O N S O L I DAT E D  S TAT E M E N T  O F  C A S H  F L O W S

for the period from 1 October 2018 to 30 September 2019

I N F L O W S  ( + ) / O U T F L O W S  ( - )

€’000 Notes
1 Oct 2018 to 

30 Sep 2019
1 Oct 2017 to 
30 Sep 2018

Restated1

Net income 45,856 29,688

Measurement gains (-)/ losses (+) on financial assets and loans and receivables,  
amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation of property, plant and equipment,  
gains (-)/ losses (+) on securities 10, 18, 19, 20, 22 (43,107) (20,438)

Gains (-)/ losses (+) from disposals of non-current assets 10, 18 (75) (1,133)

Increase (-)/decrease (+) in income tax assets 24 (5,487) 78

Increase (-)/decrease (+) in other assets (net) 21, 23, 24, 25 (4,272) 2,719

Increase (+)/decrease (-) in pension provisions 29 7,384 887

Increase (+)/decrease (-) in income tax liabilities 24 0 17

Increase (+)/decrease (-) in other provisions 28 1,328 (5,608)

Increase (+)/decrease (-) in other liabilities (net) 24, 27, 30 (13,924) 3,647

Cash flows from operating activities 2 (12,298) 9,858

 

Proceeds from disposals of financial assets and loans and receivables 10, 19, 20 62,183 30,302

Payments for investments in financial assets and loans and receivables 10, 19, 20 (93,412) (63,826)

Proceeds from disposals of other financial instruments 23 53,544 36,546

Payments for investments in other financial instruments 23 (37,779) (33,664)

Cash flow from investing activities 32 (15,465) (30,641)

Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 18 79 177

Payments for investments in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 18 (252) (303)

Proceeds from disposals of securities 22, 32 70,328 41,384

Payments for investments in securities 22, 32 (215) (103,818)

Cash flow from investing activities 54,475 (93,200)

   

Payments to shareholders (dividends) 26 (21,814) (21,062)

Cash flow from financing activities  (21,814) (21,06)

    

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 32 20,363 (104,404)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 32 23,571 127,976

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 43,934 23,571

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 (see Note 4 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements) 
2 �This includes income taxes received and paid in the amount of -5,462,000 euros (previous year: 107,000 euros) as well as interest received and paid  

in the amount of of 770,000 euros (previous year: 172,000 euros) and dividends in the amount of 9,267,000 euros (previous year: 5,980,000 euros).
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C O N S O L I DAT E D  S TAT E M E N T  O F  F I N A N C I A L  P O S I T I O N

as at 30 September 2019

€’000 Notes 30 Sep 2019 30 Sep 2018 1 Oct 2017

Restated1 Restated1

A S S E T S

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 18 301 438 693

Property, plant and equipment 18 582 839 1,129

Financial assets 19 385,693 318,931 243,055

Long-term securities 22 0 55,458 33,659

Deferred tax assets 24 658 0 0

Total non-current assets  387,233 375,666 279,873

     

Current assets     

Receivables 21 1,565 1,130 3,657

Short-term securities 22 25,498 40,000 0

Other financial instruments 23 17,002 32,766 35,649

Income tax assets 24 5,833 345 423

Cash and cash equivalents  43,934 23,571 127,976

Other current assets 25 10,550 7,840 6,715

Total current assets  104,382 105,653 174,419

     

Total Assets  491,615 481,319 454,293

E Q U I T Y  A N D  L I A B I L I T I E S

Equity 26

Subscribed capital  53,387 53,387 53,387

Capital reserve  173,762 173,762 173,762

Retained earnings and other reserves  (14,028) (6,331) (5,129)

Consolidated retained profit  247,031 222,973 205,909

Total equity  460,152 443,790 427,929

  

Debt  

Non-current liabilities  

Liabilities to non-controlling interests 27 55 180 148

Provisions for pension obligations 29 19,593 12,209 11,323

Other provisions 28 28 0 0

Total non-current liabilities  19,677 12,389 11,471

  

Current liabilities  

Other current liabilities 30 1,260 15,913 1,321

Income taxes payable 24 17 17 0

Other provisions 28 10,509 9,209 13,573

Total current liabilities 11,787 25,140 14,893

  

Total liabilities 31,463 37,529 26,364

    

Total equity and liabilities 491,615 481,319 454,293

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 (see Note 4 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements)  
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€’000 Notes
1 Oct 2018 to 

30 Sep 2019
1 Oct 2017 to 
30 Sep 2018

Restated1

Subscribed capital

At start and end of reporting period 26 53,387 53,387

    

Capital reserve    

At start and end of reporting period 26 173,762 173,762

    

Retained earnings and other reserves    

Legal reserve    

At start and end of reporting period  403 403

    

First-time adoption of IFRS    

At start and end of reporting period  16,129 16,129

    

Reserve for changes in accounting methods    

At start of reporting period  0 0

Effects from reclassification in accordance with IFRS 9 3 (36) 0

Measurement effects in accordance with IFRS 9 3 (74) 0

At start (restated)2 and end of reporting period 3 (109) 0

    

Reserve for gains/losses on remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset)    

At start of reporting period 29 (22,760) (21,605)

Change in reporting period 29 (7,690) (1,155)

At end of reporting period 29 (30,450) (22,760)

   

Change in unrealised gains/losses on available-for-sale securities    

At start of reporting period 3 (102) (55)

Effects from reclassification in accordance with IFRS 9 3 102 0

At start of reporting period (restated) 2  0 (55)

Changes recognised directly in equity during the reporting period  0 (47)

At end of reporting period  0 (102)

   

Reserves for financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income    

At start of reporting period  0 0

Effects from reclassification in accordance with IFRS 9 3 (67) 0

Measurement effects in accordance with IFRS 9 3 52 0

At start of reporting period (restated)2 3 (15) 0

Changes recognised in income during the reporting period 3 15 0

At end of reporting period 0 0

  

At end of reporting period (14,028) (6,331)

  

Consolidated retained profit   

At start of reporting period 222,973 214,346

Dividend 26 (21,814) (21,062)

Net income 45,856 29,688

At end of reporting period 247,031 222,973

  

Total 460,152 443,790

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 (see Note 4 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements)
2 Restated as part of the transition to IFRS 9 (see Note 3 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements)
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G E N E R A L  I N F O R M AT I O N

1. �Principal activity of the Group

Deutsche Beteiligungs AG (DBAG) is a publicly-listed private 
equity company. It initiates closed-end private equity funds 
(“DBAG funds”) for investment in equity or equity-like instru-
ments predominantly in unlisted companies, and provides 
advice regarding these funds. Employing its own assets, it 
enters into investments as a co-investor, predominantly along-
side the DBAG funds. Its investment focus, as a co-investor and 
fund advisor, is on mid-market German companies. It receives 
income as a co-investor through the increase in value of the 
company in which it has invested, and also as a fund advisor, 
performing services for the DBAG funds.

DBAG’s registered office is at Börsenstrasse 1, 60313 Frankfurt/
Main, Germany. The Company is registered in the Commer-
cial Register at the Frankfurt/Main local court (Amtsgericht 
Frankfurt/Main) under HRB 52491.

2. Basis of the consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements of DBAG as at 30 Sep
tember 2019 are consistent with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB), as adopted by the European 
Commission for use in the European Union. The mandatory 
interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee relevant 
for the consolidated financial statements are also applied. 
In addition, the applicable commercial law requirements as 
stipulated in section 315e (1) of the German Commercial Code 
(Handelsgesetzbuch – HGB) have been taken into account. 

The consolidated financial statements consist of the con-
solidated statement of comprehensive income, the consoli
dated statement of cash flows, the consolidated statement 
of financial position, the consolidated statement of changes 
in equity as well as these notes to the consolidated financial 

statements. They comprise the financial statements of DBAG 
and its fully-consolidated subsidiaries (“DBAG Group”). 

Apart from DBAG, six (previous year: six) of the companies 
included in the consolidated financial statements prepare 
their respective financial statements as at the reporting date 
30 September. For the remaining three (previous year: three) 
consolidated companies, the financial year corresponds to the 
calendar year. These companies prepare interim financial state-
ments as at DBAG’s reporting date for consolidation purposes.

The financial statements of the companies included in the con-
solidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with 
local financial reporting principles and reconciled to IFRS for 
consolidation purposes.

The accounting and consolidation policies as well as the notes 
and disclosures to the consolidated financial statements are 
applied consistently, except when IFRS rules require changes to 
be made (see Note 3) or the changes result in more reliable and 
relevant information. To enhance clarity and transparency, we 
renamed selected line items in the reporting period, as follows:

�>	�“Net gain or loss from investment activities” (previous 
year: “Net gain or loss from investment activity”),

>	�“Income from Fund Services” (previous year: “Fee income 
from fund management and advisory services”),

>	�“Net gain or loss attributable to non-controlling interests” 
(previous year: “Profit (-)/loss (+) attributable to non-
controlling interests”),

>	�“Liabilities to non-controlling interests” (previous year: 
“Liabilities to non-controlling interests”).

Only current key management personnel is considered to be 
related persons (see Note 39).

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income is struc-
tured based on the nature of expense method. In the interests 
of presenting information that is relevant to the business of 
DBAG as a private equity firm, “Net gain or loss from invest-
ment activities” as well as “Income from Fund Services” are 

NOTES  TO THE CONSOL IDATED  
F INANCIAL  STATEMENTS
FOR THE F INANCIAL YEAR FROM  
1  OCTOBER 2018 TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2019
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Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” and, like IAS 39, 
comprises the issues of classification and measurement, impair-
ment as well as hedging transactions. As a result of the effects 
on the consolidated financial statements, which overall are not 
material, DBAG decided to make use of the election provided 
by IFRS 9 not to adjust comparative information for previous 
periods. The effects from initial application were accord
ingly recognised directly in equity on a cumulative basis as at  
1 October 2018 (date of transition).

The first-time application of IFRS 9 had the following effects 
on the presentation of the consolidated financial statements:

Classification and measurement

The new standard IFRS 9 brings fundamental changes to the 
classification and measurement of financial assets.

IFRS 9 introduces a uniform concept for classifying finan-
cial assets. From now on, financial instruments are classified 
according to two criteria – the business model criterion and 
the cash flow criterion – into three categories. Measurement 
follows from the classification.

IFRS 9 provides for the following three categories of financial 
assets:

�>	�“measured at amortised cost”,

�>	�“measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income”,

�>	�“measured at fair value through profit or loss”.

Financial assets whose cash flows consist solely of payments 
of principal and interest satisfy the cash flow criterion; they 
are classified in line with DBAG’s business model pursuant to 
IFRS 9.

�>	�If the business model provides for the asset to be held in 
order to collect contractual cash flows, the asset is measured 
at amortised cost.

�>	�If the business model provides for both the holding and the 
sale of assets, to cover a certain liquidity requirement for 
instance, these assets are measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income.

However, financial assets attributable to DBAG’s investment 
business are always measured at fair value through profit or 
loss. The same applies to financial assets whose cash flows do 
not consist solely of payments of principal and interest.

presented instead of revenues. The items of other comprehen-
sive income are stated after taking into account all related tax 
effects as well as the respective reclassification adjustments. 
Reclassifications between other comprehensive income and 
profit or loss are disclosed in the notes.

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash flows are 
broken down into cash flows from operating activities, cash 
flows from investing activities and cash flows from financing 
activities (see Note 32). To improve transparency of cash flows 
from investing activities, the subtotal “Cash flows from invest-
ing activities” was added in the reporting period. Cash flows 
from investing activities also include the proceeds and pay-
ments resulting from changes in the securities held. 

Presentation of the consolidated statement of financial position 
differentiates between non-current and current assets and lia-
bilities. Assets and liabilities are classified as current when they 
are realised or are due within twelve months after the reporting 
date, otherwise as non-current. 

For the sake of clarity of presentation, various items of the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and the 
consolidated statement of financial position were combined. 
These items are broken down and discussed in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements were prepared ineuros. 
The amounts are rounded to thousands of euros, except when 
transparency reasons require amounts to be presented in euros. 
Rounding differences in the tables in this report may therefore 
occur.

On 4 December 2019, the Board of Management of DBAG will 
authorise  the consolidated financial statements and the com-
bined management report for submission to the Supervisory 
Board. On 9 December 2019, the Supervisory Board will pass a 
vote on the approval of the consolidated financial statements.

3. �Changes in accounting methods due  
to amended rules

Standards and interpretations as well as amend-
ments to standards and interpretations applicable 
for the first time that have an impact on the  
reporting period ending 30 September 2019

In the financial year 2018/2019, the new standard IFRS 9 
“Financial Instruments” has to be applied for the first time. 
The standard replaces the previous standard IAS 39 “Financial 
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In the future, the measurement method results directly from 
this classification. The following overview shows the mea
surement methods and carrying amounts in accordance with 

IAS 39 (up to and including 30 September 2018) as well as the 
categories, the resulting measurement methods and carrying 
amounts in accordance with IFRS 9 (since 1 October 2018):

R E C O N C I L I AT I O N  O F  C A R RY I N G  A M O U N T S  F R O M  I A S  3 9  T O  I F R S  9

€’000 
Measurement method 
in accordance with IAS 39

Category and measurement 
method in accordance  
with IFRS 9

Carrying amounts
in accordance 
with IAS 39 as 

at 30 Sep 2018 

Carrying 
amounts 

in accordance 
with IFRS 9 as 
at 1 Oct 2018 

Restated1

Financial assets

Financial assets
Measured at fair value through 
profit or loss

Measured at fair value through 
profit or loss 318,931 318,931

Securities     

Fixed-rate securities
Measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income

Measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income 33,122 33,400

Mutual funds
Measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income

Measured at fair value through 
profit or loss 62,336 62,336

Receivables Measured at amortised cost Measured at amortised cost 1,130 1,130

Other financial instruments Measured at amortised cost
Measured at fair value through 
profit or loss 32,766 32,766

Cash and cash equivalents Measured at amortised cost Measured at amortised cost 23,571 23,571

Other current assets2     

Trade receivables Measured at amortised cost Measured at amortised cost 264 260

Receivables from DBAG funds Measured at amortised cost Measured at amortised cost 4,806 4,805

Receivables from employees Measured at amortised cost Measured at amortised cost 140 140

Rental deposit Measured at amortised cost Measured at amortised cost 405 404

Interest receivables on securities Measured at amortised cost
Measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income 278 0

Purchase price retention Measured at amortised cost Measured at amortised cost 1,534 1,519

479,284 479,262

1 Restatements refer to financial assets, receivables and other current assets in accordance with IAS 8 (see Note 4)
2 Excluding deferred items, value-added tax and other items in the amount of 413,000 euros.

In summary, the following changes result from the application 
of IFRS 9 at 1 October 2018:

�>	�Changes in the fair value of shares in retail funds 
(62,336,000 euros, unchanged from 30 September 2018  
in accordance with IAS 39) are no longer recognised in  
other comprehensive income due to the cash flow criterion, 

but through profit or loss in net income. Changes in value 
recognised in equity until the first-time application of IFRS 9 
(-36,000 euros) are reclassified within equity as at the date 
of transition.

�>	�Other financial instruments consist of loans to co-invest-
ment vehicles; they were previously measured at amortised 
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cost and will be measured at fair value through profit or loss 
according to their classification (business model criterion) in 
the future. This means that changes in value are recognised 
through profit or loss. As the other financial instruments 
have a term of less than one year, their fair value corre-
sponds to their acquisition price (32,766,000 euros).

�>	�Interest receivables on securities in the amount of 
278,000 euros result from fixed-rate securities, which were 
reclassified upon the transition to IFRS 9 from the item 
“Other current assets” to the item “Securities”.

The effects are not material for DBAG.

Impairment

IFRS 9 introduces a new impairment concept for financial 
instruments that are structured as debt instruments Whereas 
only incurred losses were recognised under IAS 39, IFRS 9 also 
requires the recognition of expected losses. Since the begin-
ning of the current financial year, DBAG has established a loss 
allowance for potential future impairment losses on financial 
assets upon initial recognition of the asset. A loss allowance 
amounting to the expected losses over the remaining lifetime 

(simplified impairment model) will be recognised for receivables 
from co-investment vehicles, receivables from DBAG funds and 
trade receivables, regardless of their credit quality. First-time 
application effects from this amendment were recognised in 
equity in line with the transitional provisions. If expectations 
of the amount and/or accrual of recognised potential impair-
ment losses should change, the changes are recognised in 
accordance with the measurement category for the financial 
instrument (at amortised cost or at fair value through other 
comprehensive income). Overall, IFRS 9 will therefore lead to 
the earlier recognition of impairment losses and an increase in 
impairment amounts. Over time, this recognition of impairment 
losses will reverse until the principal and interest payable on a 
financial instrument has been repaid in full. 

In aggregate, the transitional effects from the introduction of 
the new impairment concept amounted to -74,000 euros; the 
net change in equity was -22,000 euros. The following table 
shows the effects from the reconciliation of the allowance for 
credit losses in accordance with IAS 39 (as at 30 September 
2018) to the loss allowance in accordance with IFRS 9 (as at 
1 October 2018):

R E C O N C I L I AT I O N  O F  T H E  A L L O WA N C E  F O R  C R E D I T  L O S S E S  I N  A C C O R D A N C E  
W I T H  I A S  3 9  T O  T H E  L O S S  A L L O WA N C E  I N  A C C O R D A N C E  W I T H  I F R S  9

€’000 

Allowance for  
credit losses

in accordance with 
IAS 39 

Transitional
effects

Loss allowance 
in accordance 

with IFRS 9 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income  

Securities  

Fixed-rate securities 0 52 52

Total 0 52 52

    

Financial assets measured at amortised cost    

Receivables 0 0 0

Cash and cash equivalents 0 0 0

Other current assets    

Trade receivables 41 4 45

Receivables from DBAG funds 0 1 1

Receivables from employees 0 1 1

Rental deposit 0 1 1

Purchase price retention 0 15 15

Total 41 22 65

41 74 117
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As at 30 September 2018, one receivable in the amount of 
41,000 euros was subject to full impairment. As at 1 October 
2018, loss allowances increased by 74,000 euros, of which 
52,000 euros was attributable to the fixed-rate securities sold 
in the first half of 2018/2019. Another 15,000 euros referred 

�>	Amendments to IFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”,

�>	Amendments to IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts”,

�>	IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”,

�>	�Amendments to IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers”,

�>	�IFRIC 22 “Foreign Currency Transactions and  
Advance Consideration”.

These amendments do not have an effect on the consolidat-
ed financial statements of DBAG. 

 

to a purchase price receivable with what we considered to be 
heightened credit risk.

Effects from the first-time application of IFRS 9 on Group equity 
are shown in the following table:

E F F E C T S  F R O M  T H E  F I R S T- T I M E  A P P L I C AT I O N  O F  I F R S  9  O N  G R O U P  E Q U I T Y

€’000 

Reserve for changes in accounting methods

As at 30 September 2018 in accordance with IAS 39 0

Reclassification from change in unrealised gains/losses on available-for-sale securities (36)

Additions to loss allowances for expected impairment (74)

As at 1 October 2018 in accordance with IFRS 9 (109)

  

Change in unrealised gains/losses on available-for-sale securities  

As at 30 September 2018 in accordance with IAS 39 (102)

Reclassification to reserves for changes in accounting methods 36

Reclassification to reserves for financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 67

As at 1 October 2018 in accordance with IFRS 9 0

  

Reserves for financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income  

As at 30 September 2018 in accordance with IAS 39 0

Reclassification from change in unrealised gains/losses on available-for-sale securities (67)

Change in loss allowances for expected impairment 52

As at 1 October 2018 in accordance with IFRS 9 (15)

Standards and interpretations as well as amend-
ments to standards and interpretations applicable 
for the first time that have no impact on the report-
ing period ending 30 September 2019

In the consolidated financial statements as at 30 September 
2019, the following new standards and interpretations or 
amendments to standards and interpretations are required to 
be applied for the first time:

�>	�Amendments to IAS 40 “Investment Property”

�>	Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2014-2016 Cycle

	 –	 IAS 28 “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures”,

	 –	 IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of IFRS”,
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New standards and interpretations that have not 
yet been applied

a)	 Endorsed by the European Union

The following standards and interpretations were issued by 
the IASB or the IFRIC, respectively, and endorsed by the Euro
pean Commission for application in the European Union. The 
effective date, indicating when the respective standard or in-
terpretation is required to be applied, is given in parentheses. 
DBAG intends to initially apply the respective standard or in-
terpretation for the financial year beginning after that date. 
No use will therefore be made of voluntary early application of 
these standards and interpretations.

Amendments to IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”  
(1 January 2019)

The amendments to IAS 19 specify the IFRS requirements as 
regards the treatment of amendments, curtailments or settle
ments of defined benefit plans. In addition, a clarification 
was introduced as to how a plan amendment, curtailment or 
settlement affects the requirements regarding the asset ceiling. 
DBAG currently is not planning any plan amendments, curtail
ments or settlements. Therefore, these amendments do not 
have an effect on the consolidated financial statements of 
DBAG.  

Amendments to IAS 28 “Investments in Associates  
and Joint Ventures” (1 January 2019)

The amendments to IAS 28 clarify that a company is obliged 
to apply IFRS 9, including its impairment rules, to long-term 
interest in associates or joint ventures that, in substance, form 
part of the company’s net investment in the associate or joint 
venture, rather than using the equity method. The consolidated 
financial statements of DBAG do not include any investments 
in associates or joint ventures. Therefore, these amendments 
do not have an effect on the consolidated financial statements 
of DBAG.

Amendments to IFRS 9 “Financial instruments”  
(1 January 2019)

The amendments to IFRS 9 clarify how to account for prepay-
ment features with negative compensation in the classification 
of financial assets. The amendments do not have an effect on 
the consolidated financial statements of DBAG.

IFRS 16 “Leases” (1 January 2019)

The new standard IFRS 16 replaces the previous standard IAS 17 
Leases, as well as any related interpretations. The major changes 
refer to lessee accounting. The previous classification of leases 
into operating and finance leases by the lessee is abolished by 
IFRS 16. Instead, the new standard introduces a single accounting 
model pursuant to which lessees are obliged to recognise, for 
all leases, a right-of-use asset as well as a corresponding lease 
liability for the outstanding lease payments. Recognition exemp-
tions are granted for leases of low-value assets as well as for 
short-term leases. 

The initial measurement of a lease liability is based on the present 
value of the lease payments required to be made, less any prepay-
ments already made. For subsequent measurement, the carrying 
amount of the lease liability is increased to reflect interest on the 
lease liability – and reduced to reflect the lease payments made. 

The corresponding right-of-use asset is recognised at cost less 
any accumulated depreciation and any necessary impairment 
losses. The cost of the right-of-use asset equals the present value 
of any future lease payments plus any lease payments made at 
or before the commencement of the lease term as well as of any 
initial direct costs and the expected costs incurred in dismantling 
and removing the leased asset. Any lease incentives received are 
deducted. 

 

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8 / 2 0 1 9 C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  A S  A T  3 0  S E P T E M B E R  2 0 1 9 1 3 1

F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 S

T
A

T
E

M
E

N
T

S



The transition to IFRS 16 can either be made using the fully 
retrospective method or the modified retrospective method. 
As a result of the small number of leases and the overall im-
material effects, DBAG decided to apply the modified retro-
spective method. In addition, DBAG makes use of the election 
to recognise the right-of-use asset in the amount of the lease 
liability as at the date of transition. Further exemptions are not 
expected to be used. 

At DBAG, it is mainly the rental agreement on the business 
premises at Börsenstrasse 1, Frankfurt/Main, the vehicles and 
the copiers of the Company, as well as the rental agreement 
on the business premises of DBG Management GP (Guernsey) 
Limited, that fall within the scope of IFRS 16. Due to the short 
remaining term of these agreements, the amount of the right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities to be initially recognised will 
only be marginally different from the sum total of the perma-
nent debt obligations disclosed in Note 31. 

IFRIC 23 “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments”  
(1 January 2019)

IFRIC 23 clarifies how income tax risks have to be accounted 
for in the financial statements. The interpretation has to be 
applied to taxable profit (tax losses), tax bases, unused tax loss-
es and credits as well as tax rates when there is uncertainty over 
income tax treatments in accordance with IAS 12. We currently 
do not expect any effects arising from the application of IFRIC 
23 on DBAG’s consolidated financial statements. 

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017  
Cycle (1 January 2019)

The annual improvements refer to the following financial 
reporting standards

>	�IAS 12 “Income Taxes”,

>	IAS 23 “Borrowing Costs”,

>	�IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” and IFRS 11 “Joint 
Arrangements”.

The amendments to IAS 12 specify the income tax treatment 
of dividends. The amendments to IAS 23 clarify how entities 
have to cease capitalisation of borrowing costs when a quali-
fying asset has been prepared for its intended use or sale. The 
amendments to IFRS 3 and IFRS 11 refer to clarifications regard-
ing measurement in the case of a transfer of control in relation 
to interests in a company previously held as a joint operation. 
The amendments to these standards do not have an effect on 
the consolidated financial statements of DBAG.

b)	 Not endorsed by the European Union

Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial  
Statements” and IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes  
in Accounting Estimates and Errors”

The amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 aim to introduce a stricter 
definition of the vague legal term “material”. We are currently 
analysing the effects of the amendments to these standards 
on DBAG’s consolidated financial statements of DVB. A final 
assessment of the effects is not possible at the moment.

Amendments to IFRS 3 “Business combinations”

The amendments to IFRS 3 refer to the definition of a business, 
and are aimed at solving problems that arise in distinguishing 
between the purchase of a business (“share deal”) and the 
purchase of a group of assets (“asset deal”). The amendments 
are not relevant for DBAG.

Amendments to IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”, IAS 39 
“Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” 
and IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 are the result of 
the so-called “IBOR reform”; they relate to the presentation  
of hedging relationships. The amendments are not relevant 
for DBAG.
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Amendments to IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial 
Statements” and IAS 28 “Long-term Interests in  
Associates and Joint Ventures” 

The amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 concern the dispos-
al of assets and the contribution of assets to an associate or 
a joint venture. The endorsement of these amendments into 
European law has been postponed for an indefinite period. 
The amendments will not have an effect on the consolidated 
financial statements of DBAG.

IFRS 14 “Regulatory Deferral Accounts”

The standard refers to first-time adopters of IFRS, and is not 
relevant for DBAG.

IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts”

The standard concerns the recognition of insurance contracts, 
which DBAG does not issue. Therefore, the standard is not 
relevant for DBAG.

Amendments to references to the IFRS Framework

These amendments involve editorial changes to references to 
the IFRS Framework in various IFRSs. We currently do not ex-
pect any effects arising from these amendments on DBAG’s 
consolidated financial statements. 

4. �Restatements in accordance with IAS 8

Nature of the error

In the first quarter of 2018/2019, we identified an error regard-
ing interest receivables reported in the 2017/2018 consolidated 
financial statements in the two co-investment vehicles of DBAG 
Fund VI and DBAG Fund VII that were no longer recoverable, 
but which continued to be reported. The impairment is par-
tially attributable to events that occurred in the financial year 
2016/2017. As a consequence, the carrying amounts of the 
net asset values of these co-investment vehicles were reported 
too high in the opening statement of financial position as at 
1 October 2017 and in the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 30 September 2018. 

This correction was taken as an opportunity to make further 
adjustments. On the one hand, fee income from Fund Services 
has to be increased due to a clarification of contractual provi-
sions. On the other hand, reversals of personnel provisions that 
were not recorded in the financial year 2016/2017 and were 
subsequently recognised in the financial year 2017/2018 were 
reflected on an accrual basis. As part of these restatements, 
feedback effects on earnings-related variable remuneration 
components pertaining to the Board of Management were 
also taken into consideration.

These corrections of errors were made retrospectively in accor
dance with IAS 8. In this context, the restatements for the 
financial year 2016/2017 were reflected in the opening state-
ment of financial position as at 1 October 2017. The resulting 
restatement of financial assets amounts to -1,338,000 euros 
as at 1 October 2017 and to -4,373,000 euros as at 30 Sep-
tember 2018. In addition, in the opening statement of financial 
position as at 1 October 2017, an amount of 8,438,000 euros 
resulting from a previous change in method was corrected  
(further information can be found in the 2017/2018 Annual 
Report on pages 114 et seqq.).

Adjustments to comparative figures

Restatements of the comparative figures in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated state-
ment of cash flows, the consolidated statement of changes 
in equity and the consolidated statement of financial position 
as well as the changes in earnings per share are shown in the 
following tables:
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A D J U S T M E N T  O F  T H E  C O N S O L I DAT E D  S TAT E M E N T  O F  C O M P R E H E N S I V E  I N C O M E  

I N  AC C O R DA N C E  W I T H  I A S  8  

for the period from 1 October 2017 to 30 September 2018

€’000 
1 Oct 2017 to 
30 Sep 2018

1 Oct 2017 to 
30 Sep 2018

As reported IAS 8 – restatement Restated

Net gain or loss from investment activities1 34,133 (3,035) 31,098

Income from Fund Services² 28,536 319 28,855

Income from Fund Services and investment activities3 62,669 (2,716) 59,953

    

Personnel expenses (16,812) (1,193) (18,005)

Other operating income 3,697 0 3,697

Other operating expenses (15,557) 0 (15,557)

Interest income 344 0 344

Interest expenses (702) 0 (702)

Other income/expense items (29,029) (1,193) (30,222)

    

Earnings before tax 33,640 (3,909) 29,731

Income taxes (18) 0 (18)

Earnings after tax 33,622 (3,909) 29,714

Net gain or loss attributable to non-controlling interests4 (25) 0 (25)

Net income 33,597 (3,909) 29,688

   

a) Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss    
Gains (+)/losses (-) on remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset) (1,155) 0 (1,155)

b) Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss    

Unrealised gains (+)/losses (-) on available-for-sale securities (47) 0 (47)

Other comprehensive income (1,203) 0 (1,203)

   

Total comprehensive income 32,394 (3,909) 28,486

Earnings per share in euros (diluted and basic) 5 2.23 (0.26) 1.97

1 Previous year: “Net gain or loss from investment activity”
2 Previous year: “Fee income from fund management and advisory services”
3 Previous year: “Net result of fund services and investment activity”
4 Previous year: “Profit (-)/loss (+) attributable to non-controlling interests”
5 The earnings per share calculated in accordance with IAS 33 are based on net income divided by the average number of DBAG shares  
outstanding during the reporting period.
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A D J U S T M E N T  O F  T H E  C O N S O L I DAT E D  S TAT E M E N T  O F  C A S H  F L O W S  

I N  AC C O R DA N C E  W I T H  I A S  8 

for the period from 1 October 2017 to 30 September 2018

I N F L O W S  ( + ) / O U T F L O W S  ( - )

€’000 
1 Oct 2017 to 
30 Sep 2018

1 Oct 2017 to 
30 Sep 2018

As reported IAS 8 – restatement Restated

Net income 33,597 (3,909) 29,688

Measurement gains (-)/losses (+) on financial assets and loans and receivables,  
amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation of property, plant and equipment,  
gains (-)/losses (+) on securities (24,718) 4,280 (20,438)

Gains (-)/losses (+) from the disposal of non-current assets (1,133) 0 (1,133)

Increase (-)/decrease (+) in income tax assets 78 0 78

Increase (-)/decrease (+) in other assets (netted) 3,091 (372) 2,719

Increase (+)/decrease (-) in pension provisions 887 0 887

Increase (+)/decrease (-) in income tax liabilities1 17 0 17

Increase (+)/decrease (-) in other provisions (5,556) (52) (5,608)

Increase (+)/decrease (-) in other liabilities (netted) 3,595 53 3,647

Cash flows from operating activities 9,858 0 9,858

Proceeds from disposals of financial assets and loans and receivables 30,302 0 30,302

Purchase of investments in financial assets and loans and receivables (63,826) 0 (63,826)

Proceeds from disposals of other financial instruments 36,546 0 36,546

Payments for investments in other financial instruments (33,664) 0 (33,664)

Cash flow from investing activities (30,641) 0 (30,641)

Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 177 0 177

Payments for investments in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (303) 0 (303)

Proceeds from disposals of securities 41,384 0 41,384

Payments for investments in securities (103,818) 0 (103,818)

Cash flow from investing activities2 (93,200) 0 (93,200)

    

Proceeds from capital increases 0 0 0

Payments to shareholders (dividends) (21,062) 0 (21,062)

Cash flow from financing activities (21,062) 0 (21,062)

    

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (104,404) 0 (104,404)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 127,976 0 127,976

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 23,571 0 23,571

1 Previous year: “Increase (+)/decrease (-) in provisions for taxes” 
2 Taking into account the new structure (see Note 2 and Note 32)
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€’000 
1 Oct 2017 to 
30 Sep 2018

1 Oct 2017 to 
30 Sep 2018 

As reported IAS 8 – restatement Restated

Subscribed capital

At start and end of reporting period 53,387 0 53,387

   

Capital reserve    

At start and end of reporting period 173,762 0 173,762

    

Retained earnings and other reserves    

Legal reserve    

At start and end of reporting period 403 0 403

    

First-time adoption of IFRS    

At start and end of reporting period 16,129 0 16,129

   

Reserve for gains/losses on remeasurements of the net defined benefit  
liability (asset)    

At start of reporting period (21,605) 0 (21,605)

Change in reporting period (1,155) 0 (1,155)

At end of reporting period (22,760) 0 (22,760)

   

Change in unrealised gains/losses on available-for-sale securities    

At start of reporting period (55) 0 (55)

Changes recognised directly in equity during the period (47) 0 (47

At end of reporting period (102) 0 (102

   

At end of reporting period (6,331) 0 (6,331)

    

Consolidated retained profit    

At start of reporting period 214,427 (81) 214,346

Dividend (21,062) 0 (21,062)

Net income 33,597 (3,909) 29,688

At end of reporting period 226,962 (3,989) 222,973

    

Total 447,779 (3,989) 443,790

A D J U S T M E N T  O F  T H E  C O N S O L I DAT E D  S TAT E M E N T  O F  C H A N G E S  I N  E Q U I T Y  

I N  AC C O R DA N C E  W I T H  I A S  8 

for the period from 1 October 2017 to 30 September 2018
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R E S TAT E M E N T  O F  T H E  O P E N I N G  S TAT E M E N T  O F  F I N A N C I A L  P O S I T I O N  

I N  AC C O R DA N C E  W I T H  I A S  8 

as at 30 September 2018

€’000 30 Sep 2018  30 Sep 2018

As reported IAS 8 – restatement Restated

A S S E T S

Non-current assets    

Intangible assets 438 0 438

Property, plant and equipment 839 0 839

Financial assets 323,304 (4,373) 318,931

Long-term securities 55,458 0 55,458

Other non-current assets 0 0 0

Deferred tax assets 0 0 0

Total non-current assets 380,039 (4,373) 375,666

Current assets    

Receivables 1,091 40 1,130

Short-term securities 40,000 0 40,000

Other financial instruments 32,766 0 32,766

Income tax assets 345 0 345

Cash and cash equivalents 23,571 0 23,571

Other current assets 7,408 432 7,840

Total current assets 105,181 472 105,653

 

Total assets 485,220 (3,901) 481,319

E Q U I T Y  A N D  L I A B I L I T I E S    
Equity    

Subscribed capital 53,387 0 53,387

Capital reserve 173,762 0 173,762

Retained earnings and other reserves (6,331) 0 (6,331)

Consolidated retained profit 226,962 (3,989) 222,973

Total equity 447,779 (3,989) 443,790

Debt    

Non-current liabilities    

Liabilities to non-controlling interests1 180 0 180

Provisions for pension obligations 12,209 0 12,209

Total non-current liabilities 12,389 0 12,389

Current liabilities    

Other current liabilities 15,773 141 15,913

Income taxes payable2 17 0 17

Other provisions 9,262 (52) 9,209

Total current liabilities 25,052 88 25,140

    

Total liabilities 37,441 88 37,529

    

Total equity and liabilities 485,220 (3,901) 481,319

1 Previous year: “Minority interests”
2 Previous year: “Tax provisions”
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R E S TAT E M E N T  O F  T H E  C O N S O L I DAT E D  S TAT E M E N T  O F  F I N A N C I A L  P O S I T I O N  

I N  AC C O R DA N C E  W I T H  I A S  8  

as at 1 October 2017

€’000 1 Oct 2017  1 Oct 2017

As reported IAS 8 – restatement Restated

A S S E T S

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 693 0 693

Property, plant and equipment 1,129 0 1,129

Financial assets 252,830 (9,775) 243,055

Loans and receivables 1,338 0 1,338

Long-term securities 33,659 0 33,659

Total non-current assets 289,648 (9,775) 279,873

Current assets    

Receivables 3,649 8 3,657

Short-term securities 0 0 0

Other financial instruments 35,649 0 35,649

Income tax assets 423 0 423

Cash and cash equivalents 127,976 0 127,976

Other current assets 6,624 91 6,715

Total current assets 174,320 100 174,419

 

Total assets 463,968 (9,675) 454,293

E Q U I T Y  A N D  L I A B I L I T I E S    
Equity    

Subscribed capital 53,387 0 53,387

Capital reserve 173,762 0 173,762

Retained earnings and other reserves (5,129) 0 (5,129)

Consolidated retained profit 214,427 (8,518) 205,909

Total equity 436,447 (8,518) 427,929

   

Debt    

Non-current liabilities    

Liabilities to non-controlling interests1 148 0 148

Provisions for pension obligations 11,323 0 11,323

Total non-current liabilities 11,471 0 11,471

    

Current liabilities    

Other current liabilities 1,233 88 1,321

Other provisions 14,818 (1,245) 13,573

Total current liabilities 16,050 (1,157) 14,893

    

Total liabilities 27,521 (1,157) 26,364

    

Total equity and liabilities 463,968 (9,675) 454,293

1 Previous year: “Minority interests”
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5. �Disclosures on the group of consolidated  
companies and on interests in other entities

5.1 �Status of DBAG as an investment entity as  
defined in IFRS 10

DBAG initiates closed-end private equity funds (“DBAG funds”) 
for investments in equity or equity-like instruments, predom
inantly in unlisted companies. It solicits capital commitments 
from institutional investors to DBAG funds and provides asset 
management services to them via fully consolidated subsidiaries. 
The management companies of the DBAG funds are under 
the obligation to their investors to invest the capital based on 
a contractually-agreed investment strategy that aims to realise 
increases in value through sales and to generate current income. 
DBAG measures and evaluates the performance of the invest-
ments made by the DBAG funds at quarterly intervals on a fair 
value basis. Thus, DBAG, as a parent company, meets the criteria 
of an investment entity as defined in IFRS 10. 

DBAG is recognised as a special investment company, as defined 
by German statutory legislation on special investment com
panies (Gesetz über Unternehmensbeteiligungsgesellschaften – 
UBGG) and has made investments in more than 300 companies 
since its foundation. DBAG is a listed public limited company; 
its shareholder structure is composed of private individual in-
vestors, family offices and institutional investors. Employing its 
own assets, it enters into investments as a co-investor alongside 
the DBAG funds. Based on co-investment agreements with the  
DBAG funds, DBAG and the funds invest in the same com
panies and in the same instruments based on the same terms. 
Employees (related parties) and former employees of DBAG also 
co-invest in the co-investment vehicles and DBAG funds. Due to 
the low investment share of related parties, this has no effect on 
DBAG’s status as an investment entity. All typical characteristics 
of an investment entity are therefore met.

5.2 Fully-consolidated subsidiaries

As an investment entity within the meaning of IFRS 10, DBAG 
only consolidates such subsidiaries that provide investment-
related services to the investment entity. The following sub-
sidiaries continue to be included in the consolidated financial 
statements at 30 September 2019:

Name Registered office

 

Equity  
interest  

%

If different,
voting interest 

%

AIFM-DBG Fund VII 
Management                
(Guernsey) LP

St. Peter Port, 
Guernsey 0.00

DBG Advising                   
GmbH & Co. KG

Frankfurt/Main, 
Germany 20.00

DBG Fund VI GP 
(Guernsey) LP

St. Peter Port, 
Guernsey 0.00

DBG Fund VII GP  
S.à r.l.

Luxembourg-
Findel, Luxembourg 100.00

DBG Management            
GmbH & Co. KG

Frankfurt/Main, 
Germany 100.00

DBG Management GP 
(Guernsey) Ltd.

St. Peter Port, 
Guernsey 3.00 0.00

DBG Managing Partner 
GmbH & Co. KG

Frankfurt/Main, 
Germany 20.00

DBG New Fund 
Management  
GmbH & Co. KG

Frankfurt/Main, 
Germany 100.00

European PE  
Opportunity  
Manager LP

St. Peter Port, 
Guernsey 0.00  

These subsidiaries provide the management and advisory 
services for DBAG funds. The range of Fund Investment Services 
comprises the identication, analysis and structuring of invest-
ment opportunities, negotiation of the investment agree-
ments, compilation of investment memorandums for the funds, 
support for the portfolio companies during the holding period, 
and realisation of the funds’ portfolio companies. When man-
aging DBAG funds, the range of services additionally includes 
taking investment decisions.  
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In the case of DBG Fund VII GP S.à r.l., DBG Management GmbH 
& Co. KG and DBG New Fund Management GmbH & Co. KG, 
the parent-subsidiary relationship results from the fact that 
DBAG holds the majority of voting rights in these entities. 

DBAG does not hold the majority of the voting rights in the 
case of AIFM-DBG Fund VII Management (Guernsey) LP, DBG 
Advising GmbH & Co. KG, DBG Fund VI GP (Guernsey) LP,  
DBG Management GP (Guernsey) Ltd., DBG Managing Partner 
GmbH & Co. KG and European PE Opportunity Manager LP. 
However, in the six entities mentioned, there are partners with 
voting rights who are parties related to DBAG and give DBAG 
a controlling position within the meaning of IFRS 10. DBAG 
therefore has control over the entity’s relevant activities; it also 
receives the majority of the distributable amounts and can in-
fluence the amount of these variable returns.

5.3 �Unconsolidated investment entity subsidiaries

The co-investments that DBAG makes using its own assets 
in order to align its interests with those of managed and/or 
advised DBAG funds within the scope of its business activity are 
made through its own companies (referred to as “co-investment 
vehicles”). These companies do not provide investment-related 
services but serve the sole purpose of bundling the co-invest-
ments of DBAG alongside a fund. The subsidiary Deutsche 
Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH (DBG) meets the criteria for 
classification as an investment entity and additionally provides 
investment-related services. The co-investment vehicles and 
DBG – known collectively as investment entity subsidiaries – 
are not consolidated but rather recognised at fair value through 
profit or loss and presented under financial assets (see also the 
comments in Note 7 under the heading “Fair value measure-
ment of financial assets through profit or loss”). 

Name Registered office

Equity/voting
interest

%

DBG Fourth Equity Team GmbH & Co. 
KGaA i. L.

Frankfurt/Main, 
Germany 100,00

DBAG Fund V Konzern GmbH & Co. KG
Frankfurt/Main, 

Germany 99,00

DBAG Expansion Capital Fund Konzern 
GmbH & Co. KG1

Frankfurt/Main, 
Germany 99,00

DBAG Fund VI Konzern (Guernsey) L.P.
St. Peter Port, 

Guernsey 99,99

DBAG Fund VII Konzern SCSp

Luxembourg-
Findel, 

Luxembourg 99,99

DBAG Fund VII B Konzern SCSp

Luxembourg-
Findel, 

Luxembourg 99,99

Deutsche Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH
Königstein/Taunus, 

Germany 100,00

1 �DBAG Expansion Capital Fund Konzern GmbH & Co. KG comprises three consecu-
tive investment periods of DBAG ECF (original investment period, first and second 
new investment periods) which are managed as separate accounting areas.

Before the introduction of the co-investments alongside the 
DBAG funds, DBAG invested in individual portfolio com
panies and international funds via DBG. Distributions from this 
company are expected only after the disposal of a remaining 
investment. 

The investments by DBAG using its own assets alongside the 
DBAG funds are based on co-investment agreements with the 
funds. This means that DBAG has a contractual obligation to 
provide financing for investments and costs at a fixed quota for 
each of the funds; it can, however, unilaterally waive that con-
tractual obligation (right to opt out), but would then forgo the 
opportunity of investing alongside the respective fund for the 
remaining term of that DBAG fund. In order to invest its funds 
profitably and at the same time aligning its own interests with 
those of the fund investors, DBAG does not intend to exercise 
this right to opt out.

At the reporting date, DBAG has the following obligations under 
co-investment agreements (“callable capital commitments”):
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€’000 

Name Capital commitment

Accumulated  
capital calls as  

at 30 Sep 2019

Callable capital 
commitments as  
at 30 Sep 2019

DBG Fourth Equity Team GmbH & Co. KGaA i. L. 93,737 91,108 0

DBAG Fund V Konzern GmbH & Co. KG 103,950 102,578 1,372

DBAG ECF Konzern GmbH & Co. KG Original Investment Period (DBAG ECF) 100,000 78,044 22,208

DBAG ECF Konzern GmbH & Co. KG First New Investment Period (DBAG ECF I) 34,751 25,525 9,314

DBAG ECF Konzern GmbH & Co. KG Second New Investment Period (DBAG ECF II) 39,715 16,970 22,745

DBAG Fund VI Konzern (Guernsey) L. P. 133,000 134,885 1,743

DBAG Fund VII Konzern SCSp 183,000 122,147 60,853

DBAG Fund VII B Konzern SCSp 17,000 5,503 11,497

 705,153 576,760 129,733

€’000 

Name Capital commitment

Accumulated  
capital calls as at 

30 Sep 2018

Callable capital  
commitments as  
at 30 Sep 2018

DBG Fourth Equity Team GmbH & Co. KGaA i. L. 93,737 91,108 0

DBAG Fund V Konzern GmbH & Co. KG 103,950 102,578 1,372

DBAG ECF Konzern GmbH & Co. KG Original Investment Period (DBAG ECF) 100,000 69,696 30,408

DBAG ECF Konzern GmbH & Co. KG First New Investment Period (DBAG ECF I) 34,751 23,240 11,511

DBAG ECF Konzern GmbH & Co. KG Second New Investment Period (DBAG ECF II) 39,715 14,658 25,057

DBAG Fund VI Konzern (Guernsey) L. P. 133,000 132,987 4,475

DBAG Fund VII Konzern SCSp 183,000 71,996 111,004

DBAG Fund VII B Konzern SCSp 17,000 2,350 14,650

 705,153 508,613 198,477

The callable capital commitments are determined in accordance 
with the Articles of Association of the fund. They comprise 
capital commitments that have not yet been called, as well 
as recallable distributions. The partnership agreements for the 
DBAG funds allow up to 20 per cent of distributions to be 
recalled for follow-on investments in existing portfolio compa-
nies. This means that an individual fund can achieve accumulat-
ed capital calls of up to 120 per cent. As at the reporting date, 

the callable capital commitments at DBAG ECF’s co-investment 
vehicle and DBAG Fund VI Konzern (Guernsey) L.P. included 
recallable distributions.

Based on its co-investing activity in the past financial year, 
DBAG received the following disbursements from, or made 
the following investments in, investment entity subsidiaries:
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€’000 2018/2019

Name Disbursements Investments

DBG Fourth Equity Team GmbH & Co. 
KGaA i. L. 0 0

DBAG Fund V Konzern GmbH & Co. KG 0 0

DBAG ECF Konzern GmbH & Co. KG 
Original Investment Period (DBAG ECF) 19,355 8,349

DBAG ECF Konzern GmbH & Co. KG 
First New Investment Period  
(DBAG ECF I) 89 2,285

DBAG ECF Konzern GmbH & Co. KG 
Second New Investment Period  
(DBAG ECF II) 0 11,988

DBAG Fund VI Konzern (Guernsey) L.P. 32,358 2,732

DBAG Fund VII Konzern SCSp 0 50,151

DBAG Fund VII B Konzern SCSp 0 3,153

 51,802 78,657

€’000 2017/2018

Name Disbursements Investments

DBG Fourth Equity Team GmbH & Co. 
KGaA i. L. 0 0

DBAG Fund V Konzern GmbH & Co. KG 5,211 0

DBAG ECF Konzern GmbH & Co. KG 
Original Investment Period (DBAG ECF) 10,996 1,462

DBAG ECF Konzern GmbH & Co. KG 
First New Investment Period  
(DBAG ECF I) 0 23,240

DBAG ECF Konzern GmbH & Co. KG 
Second New Investment Period  
(DBAG ECF II) 0 4,982

DBAG Fund VI Konzern (Guernsey) L.P. 10,235 4,484

DBAG Fund VII Konzern SCSp 0 71,996

DBAG Fund VII B Konzern SCSp 0 2,350

 26,441 108,514

The disbursements of DBAG ECF’s co-investment vehicle in 
the amount of 19,355,000 euros are largely attributable to a 
distribution following disposal of a shareholding, and realised 
income from portfolio companies. Investments in the amount 
of 8,349,000 euros relate to follow-on investments in two 
portfolio companies.

The co-investment vehicle of DBAG ECF I executed a follow-on 
investment in the amount of 2,285,000 euros for an existing 
shareholding.

The co-investment vehicle of DBAG ECF II invested in a new 
portfolio company as well as in a follow-on investment 
for an existing shareholding, in an aggregate amount of 
11,988,000 euros.

DBAG Fund VI Konzern (Guernsey) L.P. disbursed 
32,358,000 euros following the disposal of two investments. 
The company executed follow-on investments in the amount 
of 2,732,000 euros for two existing portfolio companies.

DBAG Fund VII Konzern SCSp invested in four new portfolio 
companies, with DBAG Fund VII B Konzern SCSp (Top-Up Fund) 
co-investing in two of these. 

5.4 �Interests in portfolio companies and  
international funds

DBAG holds direct interests in one portfolio company and one 
international fund.  

Name Registered Office

Equity  
interest

%

If different,
voting interest 

%

JCK Holding GmbH 
Textil KG

Quakenbrück, 
Germany 3.60 0.00

Harvest Partners IV 
GmbH & Co KG Munich, Germany 9.86 0.00

DBAG does not have a significant influence on the portfolio 
company or the international fund. Since both entities are 
allocated to the investment business, they are recognised at 
fair value through profit or loss and presented under financial 
assets (see also the comments in Note 7 under the heading “Fair 
value measurement of financial assets through profit or loss”).
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5.5 Unconsolidated subsidiaries

The following subsidiaries are not included in the consolidated 
financial statements:

Name Registered office

Equity/voting
interest

%

Bowa Geschäftsführungs GmbH i. L.
Frankfurt/Main, 

Germany 100.00

DBG Advising Verwaltungs GmbH
Frankfurt/Main, 

Germany 20.00

DBG Managing Partner  
Verwaltungs GmbH

Frankfurt/Main, 
Germany 20.00

DBG Fund VIII GP (Guernsey) L.P.
St. Peter Port, 

Guernsey 0.00

DBG Fund VIII GP (Guernsey) Limited
St. Peter Port, 

Guernsey 0.00

RQPO Beteiligungs GmbH
Frankfurt/Main, 

Germany 77.54

RQPO Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. 
Papier KG

Frankfurt/Main, 
Germany 90.00

Bowa Geschäftsführungs GmbH i. L. is not included in the con-
solidated financial statements due to immateriality.

DBG Advising Verwaltungs GmbH, DBG Managing Partner 
Verwaltungs GmbH, RQPO Beteiligungs GmbH and RQPO 
Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. Papier KG do not provide investment-
related services and are therefore not consolidated, but instead 
accounted for at fair value through profit or loss.

DBG Fund VIII GP (Guernsey) L.P. and DBG Fund VIII GP 
(Guernsey) Limited, which were founded in the reporting 
year, will provide administration services for DBAG Fund VIII 
in future. Since they have not conducted any business activi-
ties to date, they were not consolidated in the financial year 
2018/2019 due to immateriality.

Please refer to Note 39 for further details concerning the  
“Relationships in connection with DBG Managing Partner 
GmbH & Co. KG and DBG Advising GmbH & Co. KG”.

5.6 Unconsolidated structured companies

Within the scope of the business activity of DBAG and its 
subsidiaries as external capital management companies or 
investment service providers to private equity funds, contrac-
tual arrangements exist between DBAG and structured enti-
ties of managed or advised DBAG funds that DBAG initiated 
within the scope of its business activity. In particular, in the 

founding phase of a DBAG fund, the managed subsidiaries of 
DBAG prepay certain charges. These costs are reimbursed to 
the companies by the investors in the relevant funds upon the 
commencement of the respective investment period. As in the 
previous year, no costs were prepaid or reimbursed.

The following companies that DBAG initiated within the scope 
of its business activity described above are structured entities 
that were neither consolidated nor recognised at fair value 
through profit or loss as at 30 September 2019:

Name Registered office

Equity/voting
interest

%

DBAG Fund IV International  
GmbH & Co. KG i. L.

Frankfurt/Main, 
Germany 0.00

DBAG Fund IV GmbH & Co. KG i. L.
Frankfurt/Main, 

Germany 0.00

DBAG Fund V GmbH & Co. KG
Frankfurt/Main, 

Germany 0.00

DBAG Fund V International  
GmbH & Co. KG

Frankfurt/Main, 
Germany 0.00

DBAG Fund V Co-Investor  
GmbH & Co. KG

Frankfurt/Main, 
Germany 0.00

DBAG Expansion Capital Fund 
GmbH & Co. KG

Frankfurt/Main, 
Germany 0.00

DBAG Expansion Capital Fund 
International GmbH & Co. KG

Frankfurt/Main, 
Germany 0.00

DBAG Fund VI (Guernsey) L.P.
St. Peter Port, 

Guernsey 0.00

DBG Fund HoldCo GmbH & Co. KG
Frankfurt/Main, 

Germany 0.00

DBAG Fund VI Feeder  
GmbH & Co. KG

Frankfurt/Main, 
Germany 0.00

DBAG Fund VII SCSp

Luxembourg-
Findel, 

Luxembourg 0.00

DBAG Fund VII B SCSp

Luxembourg-
Findel, 

Luxembourg 0.00

DBAG Fund VII B Feeder  
GmbH & Co. KG

Frankfurt/Main, 
Germany 0.00

DBAG Fund VII Feeder  
GmbH & Co. KG

Frankfurt/Main, 
Germany 0.00

European Private Equity  
Opportunities I LP

St. Peter Port, 
Guernsey 0.00

The companies listed are the investment vehicles for the 
German and international investors in the DBAG funds.

The DBAG Group does not have contractual or economic 
commitments to these unconsolidated structured entities 
to provide financing or assets. Exposure to economic risk 
relates exclusively to the advisory and management activity 
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for the DBAG funds. Group companies receive fees based on 
contractual agreements for the services provided to DBAG 
funds (see Note 5.2 and Note 39).

Exposure to losses from these structured entities result only for 
receivables arising from income from fund services.

€’000 30 Sep 2019 30 Sep 2018

Name
Maximum 

loss exposure
Maximum 

loss exposure

Restated1

DBAG Fund IV GmbH & Co. KG i. L. 0 0

DBAG Fund IV International  
GmbH & Co. KG i. L. 0 0

DBAG Fund V GmbH & Co. KG 0 45

DBAG Fund V International  
GmbH & Co. KG 0 104

DBAG Fund V Co-Investor  
GmbH & Co. KG 0 0

DBAG Expansion Capital Fund 
GmbH & Co. KG Original Investment 
Period (DBAG ECF) 295 148

DBAG Expansion Capital Fund 
GmbH & Co. KG First New Invest-
ment Period  (DBAG ECF I) 124 39

DBAG Expansion Capital Fund 
International GmbH & Co. KG  
Original Investment Period 
(DBAG ECF) 182 90

DBAG Expansion Capital Fund  
International GmbH & Co. KG  
First New Investment Period 
(DBAG ECF I) 399 151

DBAG Expansion Capital Fund  
International GmbH & Co. KG  
Second New Investment Period 
(DBAG ECF II) 397 137

DBAG Fund VI (Guernsey) L.P. 1,690 1,964

DBAG Fund VII SCSp 3,415 701

DBAG Fund VII B SCSp 143 434

6,645 3,814

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 (see Note 4)

All other unconsolidated structured entities in which DBAG 
acted as an initiator did not result in any contractual or 
economic commitments as at the reporting date (previous year: 
none) that could result in an inflow or out-flow of funding, or 
involve an exposure to losses for the DBAG Group.

Disclosures on list of shareholdings pursuant to  
§ 313 (2) HGB

The disclosures on the list of shareholdings pursuant to § 313 (2) 
of the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch – HGB) 
can be found in Note 44 of these notes to the consolidated 
financial statements.

6. Consolidation methods

Capital consolidation is performed using the purchase method 
based on the date on which DBAG obtained a controlling influ-
ence over the relevant subsidiary (acquisition date). Acquisition 
costs are offset against the fair value of the acquired identifiable 
assets and assumed liabilities as well as contingent liabilities. 
The carrying amounts are amortised in subsequent periods. No 
goodwill required to be capitalised has arisen.

Intra-Group balances and transactions, as well as any unrealised 
income and expenses from intra-Group transactions, are elim-
inated in the preparation of the consolidated financial state-
ments. Deferred income taxes are taken into account in the 
consolidation procedures.

7. �Accounting policies

Recognition of assets and liabilities

Non-financial assets are recognised in the consolidated state-
ment of financial position if it is probable that the future 
economic benefit will flow to DBAG and their cost can be 
reliably measured.

Non-financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated state-
ment of financial position if it is probable that an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation and the amount of the settlement can be 
reliably measured. 

Regular-way purchases or sales of financial assets are recog-
nised for all financial instruments as at the settlement date.

Classes of financial instruments  

In the DBAG Group, the measurement categories pursuant to 
IFRS 9 are defined as the classes of financial instruments in 
accordance with IFRS 7 (see Note 3). For the purpose of IFRS 13, 
level 3 financial instruments are further subdivided into
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>	interests in investment entity subsidiaries, 

>	interests in portfolio companies, 

>	international fund investments; as well as 

>	Other. 

Fair value measurement of financial assets  
through profit or loss

Due to the operating activities of DBAG Group as a financial 
investor, the consolidated financial statements are largely 
characterised by the measurement of financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss. Financial assets chiefly comprise:

>	�interests in investment entity subsidiaries (see Note 5.3),

>	�interests in one portfolio company (interests in portfolio 
companies with a share in the voting rights of less than  
20 per cent, see Note 5.4),

>	one international fund investment (see Note 5.4).

Regardless of whether they are held directly or via investment 
entity subsidiaries, all interests in portfolio companies are mea
sured at fair value initially and at all subsequent quarterly and 
annual reporting dates by DBAG’s internal Valuation Commit-
tee. The Valuation Committee includes the members of the 
Board of Management, two employees of the finance unit and 
two investment controllers.

DBAG has developed valuation guidelines for fair value mea
surement in accordance with IFRS 13. These guidelines are 
based on the recommendations set out in the International 
Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines (IPEVG), 
as amended in December 2018, insofar as these are consistent 
with IFRS. DBAG’s valuation guidelines specify the application 
of IPEVG provisions, insofar as the latter are vague or com
pliance with IFRS so requires, in order to allow them to be 
applied in intersubjectively clear terms to DBAG. The IPEVG 
do not have to be applied mandatorily; rather, they summarise 
standard valuation practices in the private equity industry.  

General principles of fair value measurement

The fair values of the various classes of financial instruments 
are determined in accordance with consistent measurement 
methods and on the basis of uniform input factors. All assump-
tions and parameters which are relevant to valuation are taken 
into account in accordance with the IPEVG.

The valuation is performed at the relevant quarterly and annual 
reporting dates (valuation date), taking all the information 
that has an impact on value into account, i.e. all of the events 
between the valuation date and the date on which the consoli-
dated financial statements are prepared, insofar as these events 
provide information that is relevant for valuation purposes that 
market participants were already aware of, or ought to have 
been aware of, on the valuation date.

In determining the fair value, critical judgements on the part 
of the Valuation Committee will become necessary to a certain 
extent, i.e. assumptions and estimates must be made. These 
are constructively substantiated by the Valuation Committee 
and documented in the valuation records. The assumptions and 
estimates are based on current knowledge developments, and 
the experience of the Valuation Committee, and are consistently 
applied without arbitrariness.

Upon the disposal of a portfolio company, the Valuation Com-
mittee analyses whether and, if so, to what extent the realised 
value differs from the most recently calculated fair value (a pro-
cess known as “backtesting”). Backtesting provides information 
on the causes of the changes in value in order to make ongoing 
improvements to the valuation process.

Fair value upon initial recognition

Upon initial recognition, the fair value corresponds to the ac-
quisition price. Ancillary transaction costs are not capitalised, 
but are immediately expensed. Ancillary transaction costs 
include fees paid to intermediaries, advisers (such as legal 
advisers or consultants), brokers and dealers, charges levied 
by regulatory authorities and securities exchanges, as well as 
taxes and other charges incurred for the transaction.  
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Fair value hierarchy for subsequent measurement

On subsequent reporting dates, the fair value is measured on 
a going concern basis.

As far as possible, the fair value of a portfolio company as at the 
subsequent reporting dates is measured based on prices from 
transactions in the market that were observed on the valuation 
date or immediately prior to that date. This is normally possible 
for companies whose shares are quoted on the stock exchange. 
These portfolio companies are measured at the closing rate on 
the valuation date, or the closing rate on the last day of trading 
prior to this date. In determining prices, the principal market 
or the most advantageous market is used as the relevant stock 
exchange. The fair value thus determined is neither reduced by 
premiums attaching to the sale of larger blocks of shares nor 
by deductions for disposal costs.

For unlisted companies, a valuation methodology may be con-
sidered that is based on a signed purchase agreement or a 
binding purchase bid – if the completion of the purchase agree-
ment is sufficiently assured or if the purchase bid seems realisa-
ble with reasonable assurance. If appropriate, valuations can be 
based on relevant comparative amounts of recent transactions 
in the capital of the portfolio company (financing rounds) or 
based on relevant comparative prices of recent transactions 
that have taken place in the market. 

If the transaction price observable in the market as at the valua-
tion date or the price of the most recent transaction made prior 
to the valuation date does not constitute a sufficiently reliable 
measurement – for example due to insufficient liquidity in the 
market or in the event of a forced transaction or distressed 
sale – valuation procedures are used that measure fair value 
on the basis of assumptions.

Fair value measurement methods on  
hierarchy level 3

The net asset value of unconsolidated subsidiaries – in par-
ticular, investment entity subsidiaries (co-investment vehicles 
and DBG), is determined using the sum of-the-parts procedure.

With this method, individual asset and liability items are mea
sured separately at fair value and then aggregated to the net 
asset value of the unconsolidated subsidiaries. 

Selected members of the investment team as well as selected 
members of senior management who are not members of the 
investment team have committed to take an interest in DBAG 
funds. Under certain conditions (see Note 39), this can result 
in a profit share for the members that is disproportionate to 
the capital invested (“carried interest”). For the purposes of fair 
value measurement, the total liquidation of a fund’s portfolio 
as at the reporting date is assumed when assessing whether 
these conditions are met. If the total sales proceeds already 
realised as at a reporting date plus the fair values of the invest
ments still held in the portfolio are equivalent to the full repay-
ment of capital, then the co-investment vehicle’s share in the 
net asset value is reduced by the computed carried interest.

Portfolio companies are measured either using the multiples 
or the DCF method (see below). Whilst the multiples method 
is applied to established portfolio companies, high-growth 
portfolio companies and international fund investments are 
measured using the DCF method.

In case of the multiples method, the total enterprise value is 
determined by applying a multiple for one key financial indi-
cator of the company to be valued. Valuations are generally 
performed on the basis of earnings before interest, tax, depre-
ciation and amortisation (EBITDA) and earnings before interest, 
tax and amortisation (EBITA). The total enterprise value is gen-
erally measured as a mean on the basis of EBITDA and EBITA, in 
exceptional cases solely on the basis of EBITDA. Median EBITDA 
is defined as the leading multiple when deriving multiples from 
peer group companies.

The indicator derives from a portfolio company’s current 
financial metrics. To obtain a sustainably achievable reference 
value, these metrics are adjusted for special effects such as 
non-recurring expenses or discounts for risk projects. In addi-
tion, discounts or premiums are made on the applied indicators 
if there is current information that is not yet reflected in these 
financial metrics. 
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The multiple is derived from comparable recent transactions 
if representative recent transactions for the portfolio com
pany were observed on the market and relevant comparative 
amounts for these transactions are available in sufficiently 
reliable and detailed form.

If such comparative figures are not available, the multiple is 
determined based on the market capitalisation of a peer group 
consisting of listed companies. Companies are selected for 
the peer group that are largely comparable with the investee 
business to be valued as regards their business model, the 
geographical focus of their operations as well as their size. If  
the portfolio company to be valued differs in certain aspects 
from the respective features of peer group companies, dis-
counts or premiums are applied to the relevant multiple of the 
peer group company. As long as these differences between  
the portfolio company to be valued and the peer group 
companies exist, these discounts or premiums are applied 
consistently.

If no listed peers that are comparable with the company to be 
valued (especially in terms of size, growth rates and margins) 
are known, the multiple is derived from the starting multiple. 
These starting multiples are extrapolated in line with the devel-
opment of the reference multiple which is in turn determined 
using the median for a peer group of similar companies that 
are as comparable as possible (so-called calibration). This cali-
bration is applied consistently.

In the DCF method, the fair value is determined by discounting 
expected future cash flows. The portfolio company’s mid-term 
planning is used as the basis for projecting future cash flows. 
This is adjusted, if appropriate, in order to better reflect the 
assessment of the future company development. The perpet-
ual annuity is calculated on the basis of the earnings situation 
of the last planning year, which is adjusted by an appropriate 
growth rate to be determined by the Valuation Committee. 
We derive the discount rate using the WACC model (WACC = 
weighted average cost of capital) from the weighted cost of 
equity and debt. In discounting equity, we derive the rate from 
a risk-free base rate and a risk premium to capture the business 

risk involved. The discount rate for debt corresponds to the 
refinancing rate for the portfolio company to be valued. 

For the valuations of international fund investments using the 
DCF method, expected proceeds from the sale of portfolio 
companies are discounted to the valuation date by applying 
a discount rate. 

Fair values determined on the basis of the DCF method are 
reviewed as to their marketability every two years using a 
multiple valuation.

Revenue recognition

Due to the particularities arising from the operating activities of 
the DBAG Group as a financial investor, “Net gains or losses from 
investment activities” as well as “Income from Fund Services” 
are presented instead of revenues. Net gain or loss from invest-
ment activities comprises the net result of valuation and disposal 
as well as current income from financial assets net of carried 
interest. 

The net result of valuation comprises the changes in the fair 
values of financial assets that are determined as at each report-
ing date based on the principles set out above. 

The net result of disposal contains gains realised upon the 
derecognition of financial assets. For regular-way sales, disposals 
are recognised at the settlement date. The gains achieved on the 
sale are therefore recorded at that date as net result of disposal. 
The settlement date is the day on which the contractually agreed 
obligations between the selling and purchasing parties are ful-
filled. In the DBAG Group, this is usually the day on which the 
interests in the divested portfolio company are transferred in 
exchange for the receipt of cash, a purchaser’s loan or other 
financial assets. In the event of contractually-agreed purchase 
price retentions for representations and warranties or other 
risks, these are recognised only at the date at which claims to 
warranty obligations or other risks are no longer probable. This 
may also be done on a contractually-agreed pro rata basis in 
partial amounts per period. 
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Current income consists of distributions from the investment 
entity subsidiaries, dividends and interest payments from 
directly held portfolio companies and distributions from inter-
national investment funds:

>	�Distributions from co-investment vehicles primarily consist 
of disposals of portfolio companies, distributions from port-
folio companies, interest on shareholder loans and repay-
ments of shareholder loans. The distributions are triggered 
by the manager of the relevant DBAG fund, based on con-
tractual terms. They are recognised as incurred.

>	�Distributions from DBG are recognised on the day the dis-
tribution is resolved.

>	�Dividends of directly held portfolio companies are recog-
nised on the day the distribution or dividend is resolved, 
while interest is recognised pro rata temporis.

>	�Distributions from international fund investments are trig-
gered by the manager of the relevant international fund 
investment, and are also recognised as incurred.

Income from fund services are recognised when the service 
has been provided.

Loss allowance for financial assets not measured  
at fair value through profit or loss

A loss allowance is recorded for financial assets not measured 
at fair value through profit or loss upon its initial recognition 
and on every subsequent reporting date to reflect any potential 
future impairment. The amount of the loss allowance is deter-
mined on the basis of a three-stage impairment model:

> Stage 1: 
Upon initial recognition, all instruments are generally allo-
cated to Stage 1. The loss allowance for such instruments 
has to reflect the present value of the expected credit 
losses that result from potential events of default occurring 
within the next twelve months after the reporting date. 
Interest is recognised based on the gross carrying amount.

> Stage 2: 
Stage 2 includes all instruments exhibiting a significant  
increase in credit risk as at the reporting date in compari-
son to the date of initial recognition. In addition, Stage 2 

comprises receivables from co-investment vehicles, receiv-
ables from DBAG funds and trade receivables that are allo-
cated to Stage 2 upon initial recognition regardless of their 
credit quality (simplified impairment model). The loss allow-
ance has to reflect the present value of all losses expected 
to occur over the remaining term of the financial instrument 
(lifetime expected credit losses). Interest is recognised as in 
Stage 1.

The determination whether a financial asset is subject to a 
significant increase in credit risk is based on an assessment 
of the default probabilities that take into account both exter-
nal rating information and internal information on the credit 
quality of the financial asset (e.g. past due payment claims). 
An assessment as to whether the credit risk has increased 
significantly is not made for instruments accounted for using 
the simplified approach.

> Stage 3:  
If, apart from a significant increase in credit risk as at the 
reporting date, there is objective evidence of impairment, 
the loss allowance continues to be measured on the basis 
of the present value of the lifetime expected credit losses. 
However, interest is recognised based on the net carrying 
amount (gross carrying amount less any loss allowance 
recognised).

Objective evidence of impairment includes, amongst others:

	 –	 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor,

	 –	� a breach of contract (such as a default or delinquency in 
interest or principal payments),

	 –	� the lender, for economic or legal reasons relating to the 
borrower’s financial difficulty, granting to the borrower a 
concession that the lender would not otherwise consider,

	 –	� an increased probability that the borrower will enter 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation,

	 –	� the disappearance of an active market for the financial 
asset due to financial difficulties.

If, as at the reporting date, there is no longer a significant 
increase in credit risk, the instrument is transferred from Stage 
2 to Stage 1; if there is no longer objective evidence of im-
pairment, the instrument is transferred from Stage 3 to Stage 
2 or 1.
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DBAG determines the loss allowance using an approach that is 
based on parameters. If there is insufficient parameter-based 
information, the loss allowance is determined individually 
based on cash flows. Due to the relatively minor significance of 
impairment in DBAG’s current portfolio, simplified approaches 
are used where appropriate.

Intangible assets and property, plant and 
equipment

Intangible assets and property plant and equipment are mea
sured at amortised cost.

Intangible assets are acquired for a consideration. Their useful 
lives are determinable and range from two to five years. The 
useful life for property, plant and equipment ranges from three 
to 13 years. Intangible assets and property, plant and equip-
ment are amortised or depreciated on a straight-line basis over 
their useful lives. Additions are amortised or depreciated pro 
rata temporis, starting in the month of acquisition.

In addition, intangible assets and property, plant and equip-
ment are tested for impairment if certain events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount is no longer 
recoverable. An impairment loss is recorded in the amount by 
which the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value (less costs 
to sell) and its value in use.

Securities

The item “Securities” includes mutual funds. They are mea
sured at fair value based on the fact that the instruments do not 
meet the cash flow criterion (see Note 3). Upon initial recog
nition, they are measured at fair value as at the transaction 
date, which corresponds to the cost of acquisition. On sub
sequent reporting dates, the fair values are derived from secu-
rities account statements based on price information systems.

Changes in the fair value as well as gains and losses from 
derecognition are reported in the statements of comprehen-
sive income in the line items “Interest income” and “Interest 
expenses”. 

Other assets

Other assets comprise receivables from DBAG funds, other 
receivables and prepaid expenses. Where applicable, this item 
also contains the excess of plan assets over pension obligations. 
With the exception of prepaid expenses, value-added tax and 
the excess of plan assets over pension obligations, these relate 
to financial assets as defined in IAS 32.

The financial assets included in this line item are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method and less a 
loss allowance for expected credit losses (see “Loss allowance 
for financial assets not measured at fair value through profit 
or loss”). The loss allowance is recognised in the item “Other 
operating expenses” in the consolidated statement of compre-
hensive income.

Receivables

The line item “Receivables” contains receivables from co-invest
ment vehicles. They are measured at amortised cost. They are 
presented by analogy with other assets.

Other financial instruments

The item “Other financial instruments” includes short-term 
loans to our co-investment vehicles. They are measured at fair 
value through profit or loss as they are allocated to our in-
vestment business. Upon initial recognition, they are measured 
at fair value as at the transaction date, which corresponds to 
the cost of acquisition. Since their term is less than one year, 
their fair value corresponds to the acquisition price as at the 
subsequent reporting dates. Interest is recognised in the item 
“Interest income” using the effective interest method..

Income tax assets

The item “Income tax assets” contains receivables from corpo-
ration and withholding tax. These relate to current taxes that 
are withheld upon distributions and interest payments and are 
recoverable for corporation tax purposes. Income tax assets are 
recognised in the relevant amount for tax purposes.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents relate to cash in hand, bank bal
ances, term deposits or overnight deposits. They are allocated 
to the measurement category “amortised cost”. They are pre-
sented by analogy with other assets.

Deferred taxes

Deferred taxes are determined on temporary differences arising 
between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their IFRS 
carrying amounts, as well as on tax loss carryforwards. They are 
calculated on the basis of a combined income tax rate of DBAG 
of currently 31.925 per cent. The combined income tax rate 
comprises corporation tax, trade tax and solidarity surcharge. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset. Deferred tax liabili-
ties are recognised in the statement of financial position if there 
is an overall tax charge. A tax benefit is recognised as deferred 
tax assets to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available for offsetting.

Liabilities to non-controlling interests

The item “liabilities to non-controlling interests” comprises 
interest held by non-controlling shareholders in the fully con-
solidated companies included in the consolidated financial 
statements. They are recognised under liabilities since they are 
interests held in partnerships or callable shares in corporations. 
They are carried as financial liabilities within the meaning of  
IAS 32, and are recognised in line with the pro-rata share in  
the company’s share capital.

Pension obligations and plan assets

Pension obligations arising from defined benefit plans exist at 
two Group companies. Application of the plans is subject to the 
date at which the respective employees joined the company. 
The amount of the pensions is measured on the basis of the 
underlying plan, the amount of the salary and the employees’ 
length of service.

The pension obligations are offset by assets of a legally inde-
pendent entity (“contractual trust agreement” in the form of 
a bilateral trust) that may only be used to cover the pension 
commitments granted and are not accessible to any creditors 
(qualified plan assets). 

The pension obligations under the defined benefit obligations 
are measured using the actuarial projected unit credit method. 
This method involves measuring the future obligations based 
on the pro rata benefit entitlements acquired by the report-
ing date. They show the part of the benefit obligations that 
has been recognised in profit or loss by the reporting date. 
The measurement includes assumptions regarding the future 
development of certain actuarial parameters, such as the life 
expectancy of current and future pensioners, increases in 
salaries and pensions as well as the interest rate used to dis-
count the obligations. The discount rate is calculated based on 
the returns that are applicable at the reporting date for long-
term corporate bonds of issuers with highest credit ratings with 
a comparable maturity.

Plan assets are measured at fair value.

For presentation in the financial statements, the present value 
of pension obligations is netted against the fair value of the 
plan assets. Any net defined benefit assets or liabilities are 
neither aggregated nor offset. Should the fair value of any 
plan assets exceed the present value of the related pension 
obligations, such net defined benefit asset will be recognised 
in “Other non-current receivables”. Any net defined benefit 
liability is reported under “Provisions for pension obligations”.

Service cost is recognised in personnel expenses and net 
interest on the net defined benefit liability in interest expenses. 
Net interest comprises interest expenses on pension obligations 
and interest income on plan assets. It is calculated using the 
actuarial rate that applies to pension obligations.

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability are recog-
nised in other comprehensive income They comprise actuarial 
gains and losses from changes in financial and demographic 
assumptions as well as from experience adjustments.
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Other provisions

Other provisions are recognised as liabilities if there is a third- 
party obligation and it is probable that there will be an outflow 
of resources to settle the obligation. Non-current provisions are 
subject to discounting.

Other liabilities

Liabilities of the Group are shown under “Other liabilities”. 
They are initially recognised at cost. Discounted loans are 
measured subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method. 

Other financial commitments, contingent liabilities 
and trusteeships

Other financial commitments are disclosed outside the state-
ment of financial position: They arise to the extent that there 
is a legal or constructive third-party obligation for DBAG as at 
the reporting date. 

Existing obligations arising from rental and lease agreements 
are disclosed as permanent debt obligations outside the state-
ment of financial position. Contingent liabilities are disclosed 
at the settlement amount and trusteeships at their fair values 
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Other comprehensive income

In addition to net income, other comprehensive income is the 
second component of total comprehensive income. Transac-
tions that do not affect net income are recognised through 
other comprehensive income. Non-controlling interests are not 
allocated a share in other comprehensive income.

Leasing

Only operating lease commitments exist. The lease instalments 
are recognised as an expense.

Currency translation

Foreign currency receivables and liabilities are measured at the 
closing exchange rate through profit or loss. Since the func-
tional currency of the foreign subsidiaries is the euro, there is 
no currency translation within the context of consolidation. 

8. �Use of judgement in applying  
the accounting methods

Application of the accounting methods requires making judge-
ments that can materially influence the reported amounts in 
the financial statements. 

The judgement that has the largest effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements is the assessment 
whether, as the parent company, DBAG is deemed to have the 
status of an investment entity pursuant to IFRS 10.

Please refer to Note 5 above. Due to the status of DBAG as an 
investment entity, the investment entity subsidiaries continue 
to be not included in the consolidated financial statements as 
fully consolidated companies, but are instead recognised at 
fair value. 

The consolidation methods and accounting policies applied 
that were based on the other judgements are detailed in Notes 
5 to 7.

9. �Future-oriented assumptions and other major 
sources of estimation uncertainty

Preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires 
the use of future-oriented assumptions and estimations. These 
can have a material impact on the carrying amounts of con-
solidated statement of financial position items as well as the 
level of income and expenses. What future-oriented assump-
tions and estimations have in common is the uncertainty about 
the outcomes. The Board of Management makes decisions on 
assumptions and estimations after careful consideration of 
the most recently available reliable information as well as past 
experience. Assumptions and estimations also relate to issues 
over which the Board of Management has no influence, for 
instance, economic or financial market conditions. The actual 
outcomes can differ from the assumptions and estimations un-
derlying these consolidated financial statements. In the event 
that new information or changed empirical values become 
available, the assumptions and estimations are adjusted accord
ingly. The effect of a change in an assumption or estimation 
is recognised in the financial year in which the change takes 
place and, if appropriate, in later financial years in the carrying 
amount of that item in the consolidated statement of financial 
position as well as in the consolidated statement of compre-
hensive income.
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Due to assumptions about the future and other sources of 
estimation uncertainty, there is a risk of having to make mate
rial adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets or liabilities 
within the next financial year. We judge the materiality, inter 
alia, by means of the effects on Group equity. We deem as 
material an adjustment of the carrying amount by three per 
cent of Group equity. Moreover, we consider the effects on the 
overall presentation of the asset, financial and earnings position 
as well as qualitative aspects. 

In particular, our financial assets are subject to estimation 
uncertainties and the corresponding risk, to the extent that 
their fair values were determined using inputs that were not 
mainly based on observable market data (fair value hierarchy 
level 3, see Note 7).

Fair values of level 3 are contained in “Financial assets” in 
the amount of 385,693,000 euros (previous year restated: 
318,931,000 euros) (see Note 34.1). They largely concern those 
financial assets that are valued using the sum-of-the-parts pro-
cedure. The investments included therein are largely valued 
using the multiples method. The extent of possible effects in 
the event of an adjustment of assumptions and estimations 
cannot be quantified. However, should the underlying mul-
tiples change by +/-1, this would result ceteris paribus in an 
adjustment in the fair values recognised in the consolidated 
financial statements of +/-24,976,000 euros (previous year 
restated: 20,842,000 euros). This equates to five per cent of 
Group equity (previous year: five per cent).

N O T E S  T O  T H E  C O N S O L I DAT E D  

S TAT E M E N T  O F  C O M P R E H E N S I V E  I N C O M E

10. Net gain or loss from investment activities

€’000 2018/2019 2017/2018

Restated1

Interests in investment entity subsidiaries 47,894 28,204

Interests in portfolio companies 1,632 609

International fund investments 104 2,386

Other financial assets (1) (100)

49,629 31,098

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 (see Note 4)

The investment entity subsidiaries comprise the subsidiaries 
of DBAG through which DBAG co-invests in DBAG funds 
(see Note 5.3) as well as DBG. These subsidiaries may not 
be consolidated based on IFRS 10; instead, they have to be 
recognised at fair value through profit or loss. The significant 
assets of these investment entity subsidiaries are interests in 
and receivables from portfolio companies.

The net gain or loss from interests in investment entity sub-
sidiaries includes the change in the fair values of interests in 
portfolio companies held via these vehicles, after deduction 
of carried interest in the case of the co-investment vehicles of 
DBAG Fund V, DBAG ECF, DBAG ECF and DBAG Fund VI. In 
addition, this item includes the net returns from the disposal 
or partial disposal and the recapitalisation of portfolio com-
panies, as well as interest income and dividend income from 
investments.

Directly held interests in portfolio companies encompass 
DBAG investments entered into prior to the launch of DBAG 
Fund V. The net gain or loss is based on the net result of valu-
ation and disposal and the current income from distributions 
and interest on loans and variable capital accounts. 

The international fund investment was entered into in April 
2001 to achieve a stronger geographical diversification of  
financial assets. The related fund is not managed by DBAG. 
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Other financial assets include subsidiaries that do not provide 
investment-related services (see Note 5.5).

Further information on net income from Investment Activity 
can be found in the combined management report under 
the heading “Income from Investment Activity burdened by 
capital market developments”.

11. �Income from Fund Services

€’000 2018/2019 2017/2018

Restated1

DBAG Fund V 189 662

DBAG ECF 1,640 1,914

DBAG Fund VI 8,556 9,669

DBAG Fund VII 16,535 16,557

Other 51 53

26,970 28,855

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 (see Note 4)

Income from Fund Services results from management and 
advisory services for the DBAG funds (see Note 1 and Note 39).

Income from DBAG Fund V declined after the end of the fund 
term. Remuneration has no longer been earned since 15 Feb-
ruary 2019.

Income from DBAG ECF includes less transaction-related remu-
neration for investments carried out than in the previous year.

Income from DBAG Fund VI fell compared to the previous year, 
following divestments of portfolio companies.

12. Personnel expenses

€’000 2018/2019 2017/2018

Restated1

Wages and salaries

Fixed salary and fringe benefits 12,262 10,314

Variable remuneration, performance-related 6,836 5,605

Variable remuneration, transaction-related 346 618

 19,444 16,537

Social contributions and expenses  
for pension plans 1,598 1,468

thereof for state pension plan 456 624

21,042 18,005

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 (see Note 4)

The performance-related variable remuneration refers to mem-
bers of the Board of Management and DBAG employees. For 
more information on the remuneration of the Board of Man-
agement, please refer to the remuneration report, which is an 
integral part of the management report.

Since the financial year 2014/2015, the performance-related 
variable remuneration scheme for managing members of the 
investment team has been based on new investments entered 
into, portfolio performance and profitable divestments. For 
the other members of the investment team and employees in  
corporate functions, the system is based on company and 
personal performance. In addition, a bonus for the successful 
raising of successor funds was taken into account.

Transaction-related variable remuneration refers to current and 
former members of the Board of Management and members of 
the investment team based on older systems no longer in use. 
More information regarding these systems is also included in 
the remuneration report.

The number of employees (excluding members of the Board of 
Management) was as follows:

 30 Sep 2019 30 Sep 2018

Employees (full-time) 57 56

Employees (part-time) 13 9

Trainees 5 6

As at the end of the financial year 2018/2019, the Board 
of Management consisted of three (previous year: three) 
members.

In the financial year 2018/2019, an average of 70 (previous 
year: 63) employees and five (previous year: five) trainees 
were employed at DBAG.

13. Other operating income

€’000 2018/2019 2017/2018

Income from consultancy expenses that can 
be passed through 4,862 2,914

Income from the disposal of securities 272 17

Income from exchange rate differences 93 133

Income from the reversal of provisions 109 123

Other 432 511

5,767 3,697
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Consultancy expenses that can be passed through refer to 
advances on behalf of DBAG funds and/or portfolio companies. 
The increase of income from consultancy expenses that can be 
passed through corresponds to the increase of the consultancy 
expenses that can be passed through (see Note 14).

Income from exchange rate differences result from a purchase 
price receivable held in US dollars. The receivables relate to an 
investment disposed in the financial year 2015/2016.

Income from positions held on supervisory boards and advisory 
councils relates to income from activities of DBAG employees 
on the supervisory boards of DBAG portfolio companies or 
external companies. Remuneration for work on the boards of 
portfolio companies held via the DBAG funds has been pre-
sented under income from Fund Services since financial year 
2017/2018. 

14. �Other operating expenses

€’000 2018/2019 2017/2018

Consultancy expenses that can be passed 
through 4,822 2,949

Other consultancy expenses 937 1,154

Consultancy expenses for deal sourcing 1,074 1,032

Audit and tax consultancy expenses 663 1,070

Total consultancy expenses 7,496 6,206

Value-added tax 923 967

Travel and hospitality expenses 1,035 1,028

Premises expenses 1,131 1,166

Maintenance and license costs for hardware 
and software 539 530

External employees and other personnel 
expenses 893 849

Corporate communications, investor relations, 
media relations 529 507

Depreciation and amortisation of property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets 582 683

Annual report and general meeting 567 653

Supervisory Board remuneration 397 400

Expenses resulting from the repayment of 
Advisory Board remuneration to funds 0 932

Other 2,321 1,638

16,413 15,557

The increase of the consultancy expenses that can be passed 
through corresponds to the increase in income from consultancy 
expenses that can be passed through (see Note 13).

The item “Value-added tax” refers to non-deductible input 
taxes as a result of revenues that are not taxable.

The expenses for external employees and other personnel 
expenses comprise costs for temporary staff to cover employees 
on sick leave or parental leave, recruiting expenses and staff 
training.

The item “Other” consists of miscellaneous operating expenses, 
mainly motor vehicles, insurance and office material.

15. �Interest income

€’000 2018/2019 2017/2018

Other financial instruments 535 313

Securities 319 0

Tax authorities 0 29

Other 101 3

955 344

Interest income from other financial Instruments relates to 
bridge financings granted to co-investment vehicles (see  
Note 23).

Interest income from securities primarily refers to the retail 
funds. 

The item “Other” mainly comprises income from the interest 
cost on jubilee payment obligations.

16. Interest expense

€’000 2018/2019 2017/2018

Interest expenses for pension provisions 541 540

Expected interest income from plan assets (369) (380)

Net interest on net defined benefit liability 172 160

Securities 122 18

Credit facility 406 513

Others 84 11

783 702
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The expected interest income from plan assets is calculated 
based on the same interest rate used for the determination of 
present value of the pension obligations. We refer to Note 29 
for information on the parameters for the two components of 
the net interest on net defined benefit liability.

Interest expenses for the credit line in the amount of 
406,000 euros (previous year: 513 ,000 euros) relate to the 
annual commitment fee for the credit line in the amount of 
50 million euros.

17. �Income taxes

€’000 2018/2019 2017/2018

Current taxes (1) 18

Deferred taxes (658) 0

(659) 18

Current taxes result from an income tax refund paid to a  
fully-consolidated subsidiary for the previous year.

Deferred tax assets relate to a subsidiary. As at 30 September 
2019, the subsidiary accumulated trade tax loss carryforwards 
in the amount of 4,087,000 euros that are expected to be 
utilised in the coming years since a positive taxable income is 
expected due to increasing income from Fund Services. There 
are no taxable tempo-rary differences for the subsidiary.

During the observation period of the last three years, DBAG was 
subject to accumulated tax losses so that the Company had cor-
poration tax loss carryforwards as at the reporting date in the 
amount of 94,728,000 euros (previous year: 89,663,000 euros) 
for which no deferred tax assets are recognised. Deferred tax 
liabilities on temporary differences exist in the amount of 
749,000 euros (previous year: 614,000 euros) for financial 

assets and securities which were offset against deferred tax 
assets on temporary differences in the same amount. These 
deferred tax assets on temporary differences are mainly due to 
pension obligations, provisions for jubilee pay obligations and 
partial retirement as well as a provision for expenses. Based on 
the available Group medi-um-term planning, DBAG expects to 
generate moderate taxable profits in future. Since achieving the 
goals of the planning also depends on external factors, largely 
market influences that affect the performance or the disposal 
of investments, we did not recognise deferred tax assets. 

None of the other fully-consolidated Group companies had 
temporary differences between IFRS measurement and the 
tax base in the financial year under review. In the case of 
one of these subsidiaries, there is an excess of deferred tax 
assets which was caused by trade tax loss carryforwards in the 
amount of 14,037,000 euros (previous year: 13,674,000 euros) 
Based on the conducted business activities and the tax treat-
ment, it is not probable that, in future, there will be sufficient 
taxable profits to utilise the tax benefit. Therefore, we did not 
recognise deferred tax assets at this Group company. 

As at 30 September 2019 – as in the previous year – there were 
neither deferred income tax assets nor deferred income tax 
liabilities that were directly offset against equity. By analogy, 
no income taxes are allocated to components of other com-
prehensive income.

The reconciliation of a corporation’s tax charge that can be 
expected in theoretical terms to the amount actually recog-
nised in DBAG’s consolidated financial statements is as follows:
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The reconciliation of a corporation’s tax charge that can be 
expected in theoretical terms to the amount actually recog-
nised in DBAG’s consolidated financial statements is as follows:

€’000 2018/2019 2017/2018

Restated1

Earnings before taxes 45,083 29,731

Applicable tax rate for 
corporations % 31.925 31.925

Theoretical tax income/expenses 14,393 9,492

   
Change in theoretical tax income/expenses:   

Tax-exempt gain on valuation and disposal (4,929) (7,630)

Tax-exempt loss on valuation and disposal 5,246 3,432

Current income from financial assets (9,974) (3,629)

Non-deductible operating expenses 33 29

Effect from trade tax exemption (7,652) (2,513)

Effect from the utilisation of loss carry
forwards not recognised 0 (294)

Effect from unrecognised losses in  
the reporting year 860 0

Unrecognised deferred tax assets on tax 
loss carryforwards 935 914

Other effects 214 217

Income taxes (659) 18

Tax rate % (1.46) 0.06

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 (see Note 4)

The expected tax rate for corporations is composed of corpo-
ration tax and a solidarity surcharge (15.825 per cent) as well 
as municipal trade tax (16.10 per cent) (also see explanations  
in Note 7 under the heading “Deferred taxes”). DBAG’s tax rate 
remains unchanged at 15.825 per cent. As a special investment 
company, DBAG is exempt from municipal trade tax.

A main pillar of DBAG’s business is the acquisition and disposal 
of investments alongside the DBAG funds. The investments 
largely are corporations. The tax effect in accordance with 
§ 8b German Corporation Tax Act (Körperschaftsteuergesetz – 
KStG) amounts to 4.714,000 euros (previous year, restated: 
7.630,000 euros).

Other effects comprise effects from tax rate differences of 
36,000 euros (previous year: 217,000 euros).
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N O T E S  T O  T H E  C O N S O L I DAT E D  S TAT E M E N T 

O F  F I N A N C I A L  P O S I T I O N

18.� Intangible assets/property, plant and 
equipment

Acquisition cost

€’000 1 Oct 2018 Additions Disposals 30 Sep 2019

Intangible assets 1,636 158 0 1,794

Property, plant and 
equipment 2,789 94 260 2,623

4,425 252 260 4,417

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment Carrying amounts

€’000 1 Oct 2018 Additions Disposals 30 Sep 2019 30 Sep 2019 30 Sep 2018

Intangible assets 1,198 296 0 1,494 301 438

Property, plant and equipment 1,950 286 195 2,041 582 839

3,148 582 195 3,535 883 1,277

Acquisition cost

€’000 1 Oct 2017 Additions Disposals 30 Sep 2018

Intangible assets 1,601 35 0 1,636

Property, plant and 
equipment 3,194 268 673 2,789

4,795 303 673 4,425

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment Carrying amounts

€’000 1 Oct 2017 Zugänge Abgänge 30 Sep 2018 30 Sep 2018 30 Sep 2017

Intangible assets 909 289 0 1,198 438 693

Property, plant and equipment 2,065 394 508 1,950 839 1,129

2,974 683 508 3,148 1,277 1,822

Intangible assets were exclusively acquired against payment.

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment for the financial 
year exclusively comprised scheduled depreciation/amortisation. 
These were reported in the item “Other operating expenses” 
(see Note 14).

19. Financial assets

€’000 30 Sep 2019 30 Sept. 2018

Restated1

Interests in investment entity subsidiaries 380,275 313,726

Interests in portfolio companies 4,937 4,828

International fund investments 406 303

Other financial assets 74 75

385,693 318,931

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 (see Note 4)

Financial assets are measured at fair value through profit or 
loss (see Note 7).  
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This item exhibited the following movements in the reporting 
period:

€’000 
1 Oct 
2018 Additions Disposals

Changes  
in value

30 Sep 
2019

Interests in 
investment 
entity  
subsidiaries 313,726 84,862 28,588 10,275 380,275

Interests in 
portfolio 
companies 4,828 0 272 382 4,937

International 
fund  
investments 303 0 0 104 406

Other  
financial 
assets 75 0 0 0 74

318,931 84,862 28,860 10,760 385,693

€’000 
1 Oct 
2017 Additions Disposals

Changes  
in value

30 Sep 
2018

Restated1 Restated1 Restated1

Interests in 
investment 
entity  
subsidiaries 245,142 73,502 23,230 18,313 313,726

Interests in 
portfolio 
companies 5,301 21 352 (141) 4,828

International 
fund  
investments 974 0 895 225 303

Other  
financial 
assets 77 0 0 (2) 75

251,492 73,523 24,478 18,394 318,931

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 (see Note 4)

Additions of interests in investment entity subsidiaries refer to 
capital calls for investments in equity interests and for man-
agement fees.

Disposals of interests in investment entity subsidiaries result 
from distributions due to the divestment of portfolio com
panies as well as the repayment of shareholder loans or short-
term bridge financings granted to portfolio companies.

The disposals of interests in portfolio companies refer to an 
investment that was liquidated.

The changes in fair value are recorded under the item “Net gain 
or loss from investment activities” in the consolidated state-
ment of comprehensive income (see Note 10).

For further information on financial assets, we refer to the 
management report under the heading “Business and port-
folio review”.

20. Loans and receivables

€’000 2018/2019 2017/2018

At start of financial year 0 1,338

Additions 0 0

Derecognition 0 0

Reclassification 0 (1,443)

Change in value 0 105

At end of financial year 0 0

The receivables were reclassified because the residual term of 
the remaining balance of the purchase price receivable in con-
nection with the sale of the investment in Clyde Bergemann 
GmbH fell below one year.  

21. Loans and advances

€’000 30 Sep 2019  30 Sept. 2018

Restated 1

Receivables from co-investment vehicles 1,565 1,130

1,565 1,130

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 (see Note 4)

Receivables from co-investment vehicles mainly consist of 
receivables from management fees (DBAG Fund VI and DBAG 
Fund VII) and from costs passed through (DBAG Fund VII).

22. Securities

Securities held as at 30 September 2019 had been exclusively 
acquired as investments of cash and cash equivalents not 
immediately required.

Classification of securities by term:

€’000 30 Sep 2019 30 Sep 2018

Long-term securities 0 55,458

Short-term securities 25,498 40,000

25,498 95,458

Classification of securities by type:
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€’000 30 Sep 2019 30 Sep 2018

Money-market funds 13,947 34,234

Fixed-income funds 11,551 28,102

Fixed-rate securities 0 33,122

 25,498 95,458

Money-market and fixed-income funds (collectively referred to 
as “retail funds”) have been allocated to the category “Mea
sured at fair value through profit or loss” since the beginning 
of the financial year (see Note 3 and Note 7).

Fixed-rate securities have been allocated to the category “Mea
sured at fair value through other comprehensive income” since 
the beginning of the financial year (see Note 3 and Note 7).

The change compared to 30 September 2018 is largely due to 
the disposal of fixed-rate securities to finance capital calls. 

The fixed-income funds include corporate bonds with issuer 
ratings that are predominantly investment grade. Due to the 
considerable diversification of the bonds and the credit rating of 
the issuers, the credit risk associated with the fund units is low.

The change in the fair value of the retail funds in the amount of 
197,000 euros as at 30 September 2019 (previous year: in other 
comprehensive income: -36,000 euros) has been recognised in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in net 
interest income since the beginning of the financial year.

23. Other financial instruments

€’000 30 Sep 2019 30 Sep 2018

Loans to co-investment vehicles 17,002 32,766

17,002 32,766

Loans granted to co-investment vehicles refer to short-term loans 
to the DBAG Fund VII Group companies that were granted by 
DBAG as part of the structuring of the investment in new portfolio 
companies.

24. �Tax assets and income tax liabilities

€’000 30 Sep 2019 30 Sep 2018

Tax assets

  Deferred tax assets 658 0

  Claims on income tax refunds 5,833 345

Income tax liabilities 17 17

Income tax assets contain applicable taxes for the financial year 
2018/2019 and the previous year. 

Income tax liabilities relate to corporation tax and solidarity sur-
charge for the previous year since a positive taxable profit was 
determined which led to a tax burden after application of the 
minimum tax rule, despite the existing tax loss carryforwards.

Tax loss carryforwards were recognised in deferred taxes as 
follows:

€’000 30 Sep 2019 30 Sep 2018

Tax loss carryforwards for corporation tax 94,728 89,663

thereof usable 0 0

Tax loss carryforwards for trade tax 18,124 13,674

thereof usable 4,087 0

The usable trade tax loss carryforwards relate to a subsidiary for 
which deferred tax assets of 658,000 euros were recognised in 
the financial year 2018/2019. 

No deferred taxes were recognised in relation to the remaining 
loss carryforwards; the same applies to deductible temporary 
differences in the amount of 20,791,000 euros (previous year: 
14,884,000 euros). 

25. Other current assets

€’000 30 Sep 2019 30 Sep 2018

Restated1

Receivables from Fund Services 6,368 3,817

Receivables from expenses that can  
be passed through 831 1,253

Receivables from DBAG funds 7,199 5,070

 

Purchase price receivable 1,666 1,534

Deposit on leaseholds 405 405

Interest receivables on securities 0 278

Value-added tax 1,161 346

Other loans and advances 119 208

10,550 7,840

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 (see Note 4)

The receivables from Fund Services are mainly due from DBAG 
Fund VI and DBAG Fund VII.

The receivables from expenses that can be passed through are 
mainly due from DBAG ECF and DBAG Fund VII.
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The purchase price receivable refers to the residual purchase 
price receivable from the sale of the investment in Clyde 
Bergemann GmbH.

Value-added tax pertains to outstanding refunds of input tax 
credits.

Other receivables mainly contain prepaid expenses.

26. Equity

Share capital/number of shares

€’000 2018/2019 2017/2018

At start of financial year 53,387 53,387

Additions 0 0

Stand zum Geschäftsjahresende 53,387 53,387

All DBAG shares in the financial year 2018/2019 are no-par 
value registered shares. Each share is entitled to one vote.

The shares are admitted to trading on the Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange (Prime Standard) and the Dusseldorf Stock Exchange 
(Regulated Market). Shares in the Company are also traded on 
the over-the-counter markets of the stock exchanges in Berlin, 
Hamburg-Hanover, Munich and Stuttgart.

The subscribed capital (share capital) is divided into 15,043,994  
no-par-value shares. The notional interest in the share capital 
amounts to approximately 3.55 euros per share.

Authorised capital

On 22 February 2017, the Annual General Meeting authorised 
the Board of Management to increase the share capital of the 
Company, with the consent of the Supervisory Board, until 
21 February 2022 by up to a total of 13,346,664.33 euros 
through one or more issues of new no-par value registered 
shares in exchange for cash or non-cash contributions 
(Authorised Capital 2017). As a prerequisite, the number of 
shares has to increase by the same ratio as the share capital. 
In the financial year 2018/2019, the Board of Management 
did not make use of this authorisation.  

Purchase of treasury shares

By way of a resolution passed by the Annual General Meeting 
held on 21 February 2018, the Board of Management is 

authorised up to 20 February 2023, subject to the consent of 
the Supervisory Board, to acquire treasury shares for purposes 
other than trading in treasury shares up to a maximum 
volume of 10% of the existing share capital in the amount of 
53,386,664.43 euros at the time when the Annual General 
Meeting is held or – if this value is lower – of the share capital 
existing at the time of exercising this authorisation. In the 
financial year 2018/2019, the Board of Management did not 
make use of this authorisation.

Conditional capital

The Board of Management is authorised, subject to the consent 
of the Supervisory Board, to issue on one or more occasions in 
the period up to 21 February 2022 warrant-linked bonds and/
or convertible bonds in bearer or registered form (together 
referred to as “bonds”) with a limited or an unlimited term in a 
total nominal amount of up to 140,000,000.00 euros. It is also 
authorised to grant holders of warrant-linked bonds warrants, 
and the holders or creditors of convertible bonds conversion 
rights (or to impose conversion obligations, if applicable), to 
acquire registered shares in the Company with a proportionate 
interest in the share capital of up to 13,346,664.33 euros under 
the terms and conditions specified for the warrant-linked bonds 
or convertible bonds (jointly referred to as “bond conditions”).

As an alternative to the issuance in euro, the bonds may also 
be issued in any currency which is the legal tender of an OECD 
member state (limited, however, by the equivalent value in 
euro).

The bonds may also be issued by companies in which the Com-
pany directly or indirectly holds a majority stake. In such an 
event, the Board of Management shall be authorised, subject 
to the consent of the Supervisory Board, to assume the guar-
antee for the bonds on behalf of the Company and to grant 
the holders and/or creditors of such bonds option or conversion 
rights (or to impose conversion obligations) to acquire no-par 
value registered shares in the Company. In the financial year 
2018/2019, the Board of Management did not make use of 
this authorisation.

Capital reserves

€’000 2018/2019 2017/2018

At start of financial year 173,762 173,762

Additions 0 0

At end of financial year 173.762 173,762
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As before, the capital reserve comprises amounts received in 
the issuance of shares in excess of nominal value

Retained earnings and other reserves

Retained earnings and other reserves comprise

>	�the legal reserve as stipulated by German stock corpora-
tion law,

>	�first-time adopter effects from the IFRS opening statement 
of financial position as at 1 November 2003,

>	�the reserve for actuarial gains/losses from defined benefit 
pension plans/plan assets (see Note 29) as well as

>	�effects from the first-time application of IFRS 9  
(see Note 3).

Consolidated retained profit

The Annual General Meeting on 21 February 2019 resolved 
to use the net retained profit (Bilanzgewinn) for the financial 
year 2017/2018 of 170,766,135.32 euros to pay a dividend of 
1.45 euro per no-par value share on the 15,043,994 shares 
with dividend entitlement. The remainder of the retained profit 
(148,952,344.02 euros) was carried forward to new account.

€’000 2018/2019 2017/2018

Total distribution 21,813,791.30 21,061,591.60

The net retained profit of DBAG as reported in the separate 
financial statements as at 30 September 2019 in accordance 
with HGB amounts to 178,080,010.68 euros (previous year: 
170,766,135.32 euros). 

At the Annual General Meeting, the Board of Management 
and the Supervisory Board will propose to pay a dividend of 
1.50 euros per share for the financial year 2018/2019.

In Germany, dividends paid to shareholding corporations are 
subject to a corporation tax rate of five per cent plus a solidarity 
surcharge and, to the same extent, municipal trade tax, insofar 
as these shares are not part of the free float (i.e. interests of 
less than 15 per cent). Dividends earned by natural persons 
are subject to a flat rate withholding tax (Abgeltungssteuer) of 
25 per cent plus solidarity surcharge and, if applicable, church 
tax, which the dividend-paying company pays directly to the 
taxation authority.

27. �Liabilities to non-controlling interests

€’000 2018/2019 2017/2018

At start of financial year 180 148

Additions 0 22

Derecognition 11 16

Share of earnings (114) 26

At end of financial year 55 180

Liabilities to non-controlling interests include interests in 
capital and earnings attributable to non-controlling interests. 
DBAG does not hold the majority of the voting rights in the 
case of AIFM-DBG Fund VII Management (Guernsey) LP, DBG 
Advising GmbH & Co. KG, DBG Fund VI GP (Guernsey) LP, 
DBG Management GP (Guernsey) Ltd., DBG Managing Partner 
GmbH & Co. KG and European PE Opportunity Manager LP 
(see Note 5.2).

28. Other provisions

€’000 
1 Oct 
2018 Utilisation Reversals Additions

30 Sep 
2019

Personnel-related 
obligations 8,010 7,078 56 8,353 9,230

Expert opinions  
and other  
advisory services 114 61 53 212 212

Auditing fees 358 315 23 155 175

Costs for annual 
report and  
general meeting 390 365 25 399 399

Tax advisory 
expenses 100 64 3 136 168

Other 237 246 4 366 354

 9,209 8,129 164 9,621 10,538

The provisions for personnel-related obligations mainly con-
tain variable remuneration in the amount of 7,232,000 euros 
(previous year, restated: 6,521,000 euros). Of that amount, 
6,591,000 euros (previous year, restated: 5,608,000 euros) are 
attributable to performance-related remuneration for the past 
financial year; an additional amount of 641,000 euros (previous 
year: 912,000 euros) refers to transaction-related remuneration 
(see Note 12). Corresponding provisions have been recognised 
for transaction-related remuneration since the financial year 
2005/2006. In the reporting year, 618,000 euros were paid 
out of that amount.  
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The provisions for expert opinions and other advisory services 
result from advisory expenses due to regulatory requirements.

The item “Other” mainly includes provisions for external staff, 
process optimisation, IT projects and events.

As at 30 September 2019, there was a non-current provision 
for personnel-related obligations in the amount of 28,000 eu-
ros (previous year: nil euros) in connection with a partial retire-
ment agreement. There were no other non-current provisions.

29. �Pension obligations and plan assets

The measurement in the statement of financial position has 
been derived as follows:

€’000 30 Sep 2019 30 Sept. 2018

Present value of pension obligations 44,210 36,171

Fair value of plan assets (24,617) (23,962)

Provisions for pension obligations 19,593 12,209

The present value of the pension obligations changed as 
follows:

€’000 2018/2019 2017/2018

Present value of pension obligations at start 
of financial year 36,171 35,831

Interest expense 541 540

Service cost 420 439

Benefits paid (898) (868)

Actuarial gains (-) / losses (+) 7,976 229

Present value of pension obligations at 
end of financial year 44,210 36,171

An amount of 6,508,000 euros (previous year: 51,000 euros) of 
the loss of 7,976,000 euros (previous year: loss of 229,000 euros) 
is attributable to the significant decline of the discount rate. 
The discount rate amounted to 0.47 per cent as at the reporting 
date, compared to 1.54 per cent in the previous year. Further 
effects resulted from experience adjustment in the amount 
of 1,126,000 euros (previous year: 178,000 euros) as well as 
from changes in demographic assumptions in the amount of 
342,000 euros (previous year: nil euros).

The present value of the pension obligations as at the report-
ing date is calculated based on an actuarial expert opinion. The 
expert opinion is based on the following actuarial assumptions:

30 Sep 2019 30 Sept. 2018

Discount rate (%)  % 0.47 1.54

Salary trend (incl. career trend)      % 2.50 2.50

Pension trend (%) % 2.00 2.00

Life expectancy based on modified mortality 
tables by Prof. Dr Klaus Heubeck 2018G 2005G

Increase in income threshold  
for state pension plan  % 2.00 2.00

The discount rate is calculated using the i-boxx corporate AA10+ 
interest rate index, which is calculated based on interest rates 
for long-term bonds of issuers with the highest credit ratings.

As of 30 September 2019, DBAG applied the new mortality tables 
issued by Prof Dr Heubeck (RT 2018G) for the first time. The 
company-specific modification of the mortality tables introduced 
in October 2013 continues to be used in order to account for 
the particularities of the beneficiaries of DBAG Group’s defined 
benefit plans and individual commitments. A comparison with 
similar groups of individuals revealed an average longer life 
expectancy of three years for the DBAG scheme members and 
beneficiaries. The effect resulting from the application of the 
new mortality tables amounts to 342,000 euros.

As at 30 September 2019, the weighted average term of defined 
benefit obligations was 15.6 years (previous year: 14.4 years).

Plan assets developed as follows during the past financial year:

€’000 2018/2019 2017/2018

Fair value of plan assets at start  
of financial year 23,962 24,508

Expected interest income 369 380

Gains (+)/losses (-) from the difference  
between actual and expected return  
on plan assets 286 -927

Fair value of plan assets at end  
of financial year 24,617 23,962
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The gain of 286,000 euros in the financial year 2018/2019 
(previous year: loss of 927,000 euros) results from the increase 
in the fair value of plan assets as well as the application of the 
same interest rate that is also used to determine the present 
value of pension obligations. 

The following amounts were recognised in net income:

€’000 2018/2019 2017/2018

Service cost 420 439

Interest expense 541 540

Expected interest income from plan assets (369) (380)

591 599

The service cost is shown under personnel expenses.

The net amount from interest expense and expected interest 
income from plan assets is reported in the item “interest cost”.

Gains (+)/losses (-) on remeasurements of the net defined ben-
efit liability (asset) – reported in other comprehensive income – 
developed as follows in the financial year 2018/2019:

€’000 2018/2019 2017/2018

Actuarial gains (+)/losses (-) at start  
of financial year (22.760) (21.605)

Gains (+)/losses (-) from the difference 
between actual and expected return on plan 
assets 286 (927)

Actuarial gains (+)/losses (-) from changes in 
the present value of pension obligations (7.976) (229)

Actuarial gains (+)/losses (-) at end  
of financial year (30.450) (22.760)

Amount, timing and uncertainty of future  
cash flows

DBAG is exposed to risks arising from pension obligations for 
defined benefit plans and individual commitments. These risks 
are mainly associated with changes in the present value of pen-
sion obligations as well as the development of the fair value 
of plan assets.

Changes in the present value of pension obligations result in 
particular from changes in actuarial assumptions. The discount 
rate and life expectancy have a significant influence on the 
present value. The discount rate is subject to interest rate risk. 
A change in average life expectancy impacts the length of pen-
sion payments and, consequently, the liquidity risk. Based on 
our estimates, possible changes in these two actuarial param-
eters would have the following impact on the present value of 
pension obligations:

€’000 30 Sep 2019

 

30 Sep 2018

Discount rate

   Increase by 50 bps (3,250) 2,710

   Decrease by 50 bps 3,682 (2,417)

Average life expectancy 

   Increase by 1 year (1,668) (1,210)

   Decrease by 1 year 1,714 1,234

The sensitivity analysis shown above is based on a change in 
one parameter, while all others remain constant.

Since February 2015, the plan assets have been invested in a 
special fund. This special fund has an unlimited term and is 
managed based on a capital investment strategy with a long-
term horizon aiming at capital preservation. The objective of 
the investment strategy is to generate returns that at least 
correspond to the discount rate. 

Depending on the asset class, the performance of the special 
fund is exposed to interest rate risk (interest-bearing securi-
ties) or market price risk (equities). If the interest rate for inter-
est-bearing securities rises (falls), the return on plan assets will 
rise (fall). If the market price of equities rises (falls), the return 
on plan assets will rise (fall). 

As is the case for interest-bearing securities, the present value 
of the pension obligations depends on the interest rate risk. 
If the market interest rate for interest-bearing securities rises 
(falls), the present value of pension obligations will fall (rise).

As for the past three previous years, current budget planning 
for the financial year 2018/2019 does not provide for allo
cations to plan assets. 
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30. �Other current liabilities

€’000 30 Sep 2019 30 Sep 2018

Restated1

Liabilities to co-investment vehicles 46 9,712

Advance management fees 0 4.099

Trade payables 358 1.003

Liabilities to investments 0 93

Other liabilities 857 1.008

1,260 15,913

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 (see Note 4)

In the previous year, the liabilities to co-investment vehicles 
related to a capital call of DBAG ECF II for a new investment 
paid at the beginning of the financial year 2018/2019. 

Other current liabilities largely relate to liabilities for wage 
taxes.

31. �Other financial commitments, contingent  
liabilities and trusteeships

Other financial commitments consist of call commitments and 
permanent debt obligations in the following nominal amounts:

€’000 30 Sep 2019 30 Sep 2018

Call commitments 965 1,169

Permanent debt obligations 2,065 2,974

3,030 4,143

Possible call commitments relate to the international fund that 
may draw down additional funding for investments and costs.

The maturities of the permanent debt obligations as at 30 Sep-
tember 2019 are shown in the following table:

€’000 < 1 year 1 – 5 years > 5 years Total

Permanent debt  
obligations 1,251 814 0 2,065

thereof rental  
contracts 803 602 0 1,406

There were no contingent liabilities as at 30 September 2019.

Trust assets amounted to 4,916,000 euros as at the report-
ing date (previous year: 12,340,000 euros). Of that amount, 
4,912,000 euros (previous year: 6,096,000 euros) were attrib-
utable to the management of trust accounts for purchase price 
settlements. Trust liabilities existed in the same amount. DBAG 
does not generate any income from trustee activities.

32. �Notes to the consolidated statement  
of cash flows

In accordance with IAS 7, cash flows are recorded in the 
consolidated statement of cash flows in order to present 
information about the changes in the Group’s cash funds. 
Cash flows are broken down into cash flows from operating 
activities, cash flows from investing activities and cash flows 
from financing activities. The indirect presentation method 
was applied for cash flows from operating activities. Cash 
flows from investing activities are determined using the direct 
method.

Proceeds and payments relating to financial assets and to 
loans and receivables are recorded in cash flows from invest-
ing activities instead of in cash flows from operating activities, 
since this classification gives a more faithful representation 
of DBAG’s business model. For this purpose, the line item 
“Cash flow from Investment Activity” has been presented as 
a subtotal since the financial year 2018/2019.

Proceeds and payments arising on interest are presented in 
the cash flow from operating activities.

There were no cash flows to be reported based on changes 
in the group of consolidated companies.

Cash and cash equivalents at the start and end of the period 
existed in the form of bank balances.

Since the financial year 2007/2008, a part of the financial 
resources not needed in the near term has been invested 
in securities (bonds and retail funds). The objective of these 
securities, like cash and cash equivalents, is to meet the 
Group’s payment obligations. In accordance with IAS 7, these 
securities do not constitute cash and cash equivalents since 
the maturity of the bonds so far has always been longer than 
three months from the date of acquisition and the retail funds 
had an indefinite life. Pursuant to IAS 7, the purchase and the 
sale of these securities have to be presented as cash flows 
from investing activities.
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O T H E R  D I S C L O S U R E S

33. Financial risks

The DBAG Group is exposed to financial risks that arise from 
its investment activities in portfolio companies and from other 
financial instruments. As a result of these financial risks, the 
value of assets and/or profits may decline and/or profits may be 
reduced. These risks are not hedged by DBAG. Consequently, 
the provisions for hedge accounting are not applied.

The following section describes the financial risks, as well as 
objectives and methods of DBAG’s risk management. There 
have been no changes compared to the previous year.

33.1 Market risk

The fair value of financial instruments or future cash flows of fi-
nancial instruments may fluctuate due to rising or falling market 
prices. Market risk can be further differentiated into currency 
risk, interest rate risk and other price risks. Exposure to market 
risks is regularly monitored as a whole.

33.1.1 Currency risk

The exposure to currency risk results from investments denom-
inated in British pounds sterling, Danish krone, Swiss francs or 
US dollars, where future returns will be received in a foreign 
currency. The fact that future returns are impacted by currency 
risks may also lead to a change in fair values of these portfolio 
companies. Moreover, the changes in exchange rates have an 
influence on the operations and competitiveness of these port-
folio companies. The extent of that impact depends in particu-
lar on individual portfolio companies’ individual value-creation 
structure and degree of internationalisation.

Extent of currency risk and exchange rate sensitivity

Financial assets are exposed to US dollar exchange rate risk in the 
amount of 21,850,000 euros (previous year: 22,067,000 euros), 
to Swiss franc exchange rate risk of 33,633,000 euros (pre
vious year: 35,564,000 euros), to an exchange rate risk against 
British pound sterling of 6,945,000 euros (previous year: 
5,997,000 euros) and to Danish krone exchange rate risk of 

1,655,000 euros (previous year: 3,860,000 euros). The effect 
on profit or loss resulting from taking into account changes in 
the fair value of financial assets amounts to 1,294,000 euros 
(previous year: 814,000 euros).

An increase or decrease of the exchange rates by ten per cent 
would result in a decrease or increase of net income and Group 
equity by 6,408,000 euros (previous year: 6,749,000 euros) 
exclusively due to currency translation.

Currency risk management

Individual transactions denominated in foreign currency are not 
hedged, since both the holding period of the investments and 
the amount of returns from them are uncertain. The currency 
risk is reduced as a result of returns from investments denom-
inated in foreign currency.

33.1.2 Interest rate risk

Changes in the interest rate level primarily affect income gen-
erated from investing financial resources (sum total of cash 
and cash and cash equivalents and securities) as well as the 
fair values of the portfolio companies and international fund 
investments measured using the DCF method. The changes in 
the interest rate level also influence the profitability of portfolio 
companies.

Extent of interest rate risk and interest rate sensitivity

Financial resources (cash and cash equivalents including 
securities) amount to 69,432,000 euros (previous year: 
119,029,000 euros). There was no (previous year: no) interest 
income from investment. This credit line was not drawn upon 
during the year under review. An amount of 17,434,000 euros 
(previous year: 30,240,000 euros) of the financial assets was 
attributable to investments measured using the DCF method. 

In relation to the portfolio companies and international fund 
investments measured using the DCF method, an increase or 
decrease of the reference interest rate by 100 basis points over-
all would result in a decrease or increase of net income and 
Group equity in the amount of 579,000 euros (previous year: 
853,000 euros).
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Interest rate risk management

Financial resources are generally invested with a short-term 
horizon. Interest rate derivatives to hedge a certain interest rate 
level are not used since the amount of the financial resources 
may be subject to strong fluctuations and cannot be reasonably 
forecast. The interest rate for the agreed credit line is EURIBOR 
plus a margin. The EURIBOR level applied when the credit line 
is utilised is based on the selected interest period, which can 
be up to six months.

33.1.3 Other price risks

Exposure to other price risks are primarily related to the future 
fair value measurement of the interests in investment entity 
subsidiaries and portfolio companies. The measurement of 
portfolio companies is influenced by a number of factors that 
are related to financial markets, or to the markets the portfolio 
companies are active on. The influencing factors include, for 
example, valuation multiples, performance measures and the 
indebtedness of the portfolio companies. 

Extent of other price risks and sensitivity

Financial assets are measured at fair value through profit or 
loss. The net result of valuation amounts to 9,662,000 euros 
(previous year, restated: 20,677,000 euros).

The sensitivity of measurement is largely determined by multiples 
used to determine the fair value of Level 3 financial instruments. 
In case of a change in the multiples by +/- 0.1, the fair value of 
the Level 3 financial instruments, ceteris paribus, would have  
to be adjusted by 2,498,000 euros (previous year, restated: 
2,084,000 euros) (see Note 34.2 and Note 9, based on a  
change by +/- 1).

Management of other price risks

The Board of Management constantly monitors the market risk 
inherent in the portfolio companies held directly or through 
investment entity subsidiaries. For this purpose, DBAG receives 
information about the portfolio companies’ business devel
opment on a timely basis. Board of Management members  
or other members of the investment team hold offices on 

supervisory or advisory boards of the portfolio companies. In 
addition, the responsible investment team members monitor 
the business development of the portfolio companies through 
formally implemented processes.

For information on risk management, we refer to the discussions 
in the combined management report in the “Opportunities and 
risks” section.

33.2 Liquidity risk

There is currently no liquidity risk identifiable for DBAG. Freely 
available cash and cash equivalents amount to 43,934,000 euros 
(previous year: 23,571,000 euros). Including securities in the 
amount of 25,498,000 euros (previous year: 95,458,000 euros) 
and an existing credit line of 50,000,000 euros (previous 
year: 50,000,000 euros), DBAG has financial resources of 
119,432,000 euros (previous year: 169,029,000 euros). As a 
result of the very strong credit rating of the issuers and the 
short duration, it is assumed for the securities that they can be 
sold at short notice if required.

Other current liabilities in the amount of 1,260,000 euros 
(previous year, restated: 15,913,000 euros) are due with-
in one year. The co-investment agreements alongside the 
DBAG funds amount to 129,733,000 euros (previous year:  
198,477,000 euros).  

DBAG expects that it will be able to cover the shortfall of 
9,040,000 euros (previous year: 13,534,000 euros) by cash 
inflows from the disposal of portfolio companies.

33.3 Default risk

DBAG may also be exposed to risks when a contracting party 
fails to meet its obligations, causing financial losses to be 
incurred by DBAG.

Extent of default risk

The carrying amount represents the maximum exposure to 
default risk for the following items of the statement of financial 
position:

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8 / 2 0 1 9 C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  A S  A T  3 0  S E P T E M B E R  2 0 1 9 1 6 6



€’000 30 Sep 2019 30 Sep 2018

Restated1

Financial assets 385,693 318,931

thereof primary financial instruments 385,693 318,931

Loans and advances 1,565 1,130

Securities 25,498 95,458

Cash and cash equivalents 43,934 23,571

Other financial instruments 17,002 32,766

Other current assets2 9,410 7,427

483,101 479,284

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 (see Note 4) 
2 �Excluding deferred items, value-added tax and other items in the amount of 

1,141,000 euros (previous year, restated: 413,000 euros).

Management of default risk

Financial assets and other financial instruments: the manage-
ment of default risk is described in the combined management 
report under “External risks”.

Receivables: debtors are current or former portfolio companies; 
DBAG seeks to obtain regular and timely information about 
such companies’ business development. If there are indications 
that debtors may fail to meet their obligations, the relevant 
debtor is requested to propose and implement measures on a 
timely basis that enable him to meet his obligations.

Securities: this item includes shares in mutual funds (money 
market and fixed income funds) with the highest credit ratings. 
It is assumed that these securities are subject to only a very 
low credit risk.

Cash and cash equivalents: cash and cash equivalents of DBAG 
are deposits held at German credit institutions and are part of 
the respective institutions’ protection systems.

Other current assets: debtors mainly are the DBAG funds. Their 
payment obligations may be fulfilled by capital calls from their 
investors.

34. Financial instruments

C A R RY I N G  A M O U N T  A N D  FA I R  VA L U E  O F  F I N A N C I A L  I N S T R U M E N T S  ( I F R S  9 )

€’000 
Carrying amont 

30 Sep 2019
Fair value 

30 Sep 2019

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets 385,693 385,693

  thereof primary financial instruments 385,693 385,693

Other financial instruments 17,002 17,002

Securities   

  Money-market funds 13,947 13,947

  Fixed-income funds 11,551 11,551

428,192 428,192

  

Financial assets at amortised cost

Receivables 1,565 1,565

Cash and cash equivalents 43,934 43,934

Other current assets1 9,410 9,410

54,909 54,909

  

Other financial liabilities   

Liabilities to non-controlling interests 55 55

1 Excluding deferred items, value-added tax and other items in the amount of 1,141,000 euros.
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C A R RY I N G  A M O U N T  A N D  FA I R  VA L U E  O F  F I N A N C I A L  I N S T R U M E N T S  ( I F R S  9 )

€’000 
Carrying amont  

30 Sep 2019
Fair value 

30 Sep 2019

Restated1 Restated1

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets 318,931 318,931

  thereof primary financial instruments 318,931 318,931

 318,931 318,931

   

Available-for-sale financial assets   

Long-term securities 55,458 55,458

Short-term securities 40,000 40,000

 95,458 95,458

   

Loans and receivables   

Receivables 1,130 1,130

Other financial instruments 32,766 32,766

Cash and cash equivalents 23,571 23,571

Other current assets2 7,427 7,427

 64,895 64,895
   

Other financial liabilities   

Liabilities to non-controlling interests 180 180

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 (see Note 4)
2 Excluding deferred items, value-added tax and other items in the amount of 413,000 euros.

Financial assets that are measured at fair value through profit 
or loss comprise financial instruments that were allocated to 
the investment business upon the transition to IFRS 9, as well 
as those whose cash flows do not solely consist of payment of 
principal and interest. 

There were no financial assets measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income.

The financial assets measured at amortised cost mainly include 
receivables from the DBAG funds as well as a purchase price 
receivable. Save for one receivable, they are all of good credit 
quality and are largely unsecured.

Until 30 September 2018, impairments were only recognised 
when there was objective evidence that the obligors would not 
be able to meet their future payment obligations. Accordingly, 
only one receivable in the amount of 41,000 euros was fully 
impaired in the financial year 2017/2018. 

Since 1 October 2018, loss allowance for potential future 
impairments is already recorded upon the addition of an 
asset. As at the reporting date, the loss allowance for financial 
assets measured at amortised cost amounted to 58,000 euros  
(1 October 2018: 63,000 euros, see Note 3).

34.1 �Disclosures on the hierarchy of financial 
instruments

Financial instruments measured at fair value are allocated to 
the following three levels in accordance with IFRS 13:

LEVEL 1: Use of prices in active markets for identical assets and 
liabilities.
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LEVEL 2: Use of inputs that are observable, either directly (as 
prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).

LEVEL 3: Use of inputs that are not materially based on observ
able market data (unobservable inputs). The materiality of these 

The valuation categories in accordance with IFRS 9 have been 
defined as classes in accordance with IFRS 13 for Level 1 and 2 
financial instruments. Level 3 financial instruments are allocated 
to the following classes: 

inputs is judged on the basis of their influence on fair value 
measurement.

The financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis can be classified as follows:

M E A S U R E M E N T  H I E R A R C H Y  F O R  F I N A N C I A L  A S S E T S  M E A S U R E D  AT  FA I R  VA L U E  ( I F R S  9 )

€’000 
Fair value 

30 Sep 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets 385,693 0 0 385,693

Other financial instruments 17,002 0 0 17,002

Securities     

Money-market funds 13,947 0 13,947 0

Fixed-income funds 11,551 0 11,551 0

428,192 0 25,498 402,694

M E A S U R E M E N T  H I E R A R C H Y  F O R  F I N A N C I A L  A S S E T S  M E A S U R E D  AT  FA I R  VA L U E  ( I A S  3 9 )

€’000 
Fair value

30 Sep 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Restated1

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets 318,931 0 0 318,931

Available-for-sale financial assets

Long-term securities 55,458 0 55,458 0

Short-term securities 40,000 0 40,000 0

95,458 0 95,458 0

414,389 0 95,458 318,931

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 (see Note 4)

Level 2 securities relate to fund assets with the highest credit 
ratings, the liquidity of which is limited due to their trading in 
the secondary market. Bonds of domestic issuers still held as at 
30 September 2018 were sold in the year under review.

There are no assets or liabilities that were not measured at fair 
value on a recurring basis.
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C L A S S I F I C AT I O N  O F  L E V E L  3  F I N A N C I A L  I N S T R U M E N T S

€’000 

Interests in 
investment 

entity 
subsidiaries

Interests in 
portfolio

companies

International
fund

investments Other Total

30 Sep 2019

Financial assets 380,275 4,937 406 74 385,693

Other financial instruments 17,002 0 0 0 17,002

397,276 4,937 406 74 402,694

30 Sep 2018 Restated1

Financial assets 313,726 4,828 303 75 318,931

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 (see Note 4)

The following tables show the changes in Level 3 financial 
instruments in the year under review and in the previous year, 
respectively:

C H A N G E S  I N  L E V E L  3  F I N A N C I A L  I N S T R U M E N T S

€’000 1 Oct 2018 Additions Disposals Changes in value 30 Sep 2019

Financial assets

Interests in investment entity subsidiaries 313,726 84,862 18,110 (202) 380,275

Interests in portfolio companies 4,828 0 272 382 4,937

International fund investments 303 0 0 104 406

Others 75 0 0 1 74

318,931 84,862 18,384 284 385,693

C H A N G E S  I N  L E V E L  3  F I N A N C I A L  I N S T R U M E N T S

€’000 1 Oct 2017 Additions Disposals Changes in value 30 Sep 2018

Restated1 Restated1 Restated1

Financial assets

Interests in investment entity subsidiaries 245,142 73,502 23,230 18,313 313,726

Interests in portfolio companies 4,948 21 0 (141) 4,828

International fund investments 974 0 895 225 303

Others 77 0 0 (2) 75

251,140 73,523 24,126 18,394 318,931

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 (see Note 4)

The profit in the amount of 10,760,000 euros (previous year 
restated: 18,394,000 euros) is recognised in the net gain or loss 
from investment activities. 

In both the year under review and the previous year, there were 
no transfers between levels.
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The possible ranges for unobservable inputs regarding Level 3 
financial instruments are as follows: 

R A N G E S  F O R  U N O B S E RVA B L E  I N P U T S

€’000 
Fair value  

30 Sep 2019 Valuation method Unobservable input Range

Financial assets

Interests in investment entity subsidiaries 380,275 Net asset value1

Average EBITDA/EBITA 
margin 2% to 43%

   Net debt2 to EBITDA (1,3) to 6,6

   Multiples discount 0% to 20%

Interests in portfolio companies 4,937 Multiples method
Average EBITDA/EBITA 
margin 7%

   Net debt2 to EBITDA 1.6

   Multiples discount 0%

International fund investments 406 DCF n/a n/a

Other 74 Net asset value n/a n/a

385,693

1 �The net asset value is determined using the sum-of-the-parts method. If the multiples method is used for the investments included therein,  
the same unobservable inputs are used as those for calculating the fair value of interests in portfolio companies (see Note 7). 

2 Net debt of portfolio company

R A N G E S  F O R  U N O B S E RVA B L E  I N P U T S

€’000 
Fair value  

30 Sep 2018 Valuation method Unobservable input Range

Restated3

Financial assets

Interests in investment entity subsidiaries 313,726 Net asset value1

Average  
EBITDA/EBITA margin 2% to 35%

   Net debt2 to EBITDA  (3,4) to 6

   Multiples discount 0% to 20%

Interests in portfolio companies 4,828 Multiples method
Average  
EBITDA/EBITA margin 7%

   Net debt2 to EBITDA 2.5

   Multiples discount 0%

International fund investments 303 DCF n/a n/a

Other 75 Net asset value n/a n/a

318,931

1 See footnote 1 in the preceding table
2 See footnote 2 in the preceding table
3 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 (see Note 4)

In our view, the change in unobservable inputs used for calcu
lating the fair value of Level 3 financial instruments has the 
following effects on measurement amounts:    

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8 / 2 0 1 9 C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  A S  A T  3 0  S E P T E M B E R  2 0 1 9 1 7 1

F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 S

T
A

T
E

M
E

N
T

S



R A N G E S  O F  U N O B S E RVA B L E  I N P U T S

€’000 
Fair value  

30 Sep 2019 Change in unobservable inputs
Change in  
fair value

Financial assets1

Interests in investment entity subsidiaries 380,275 EBITDA and EBITA  +/- 10% 32,742

  Net debt  +/- 10% 11,334

  Multiples discount  +/- 5 percentage points 3,175

Interests in portfolio companies 4,937 EBITDA and EBITA  +/- 10% 1,811

  Net debt  +/- 10% 482

  Multiples discount  +/- 5 percentage points 0

International fund investments 406 n/a n/a

Other 74 n/a n/a

385,693

1 In the case of recent newly-acquired investments, a change in the unobservable inputs has no effect on the fair value.

R A N G E S  F O R  U N O B S E RVA B L E  I N P U T S

€’000 
Fair value  

30 Sep 2018 Change in unobservable inputs
Change in  
fair value

Restated1

Financial assets2

Interests in investment entity subsidiaries 313,726 EBITDA and EBITA  +/- 10% 22,450

  Net debt  +/- 10% 5,566

  Multiples discount  +/- 5 percentage points 1,145

Interests in portfolio companies 4,828 EBITDA and EBITA  +/- 10% 1,978

  Net debt  +/- 10% 777

  Multiples discount  +/- 5 percentage points 0

International fund investments 303 n/a n/a

Other 75 n/a n/a

318,931

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 (see Note 4) 
2 See footnote 1 in the preceding table

The key factors influencing income have an effect on both un-
observable inputs; consequently, there is a correlation between 
EBITDA and EBITA. For that reason, the change in fair value is 
shown together in the sensitivity analysis for the two unobserv-
able inputs, with all other inputs remaining constant.

34.2 �Net gain or loss on financial instruments  
measured at fair value

The net gain or loss on financial instruments measured at fair 
value comprise fair value changes recognised through profit 
or loss, realised gains or losses from the disposal of financial 
instruments, as well as exchange rate changes. 

The following net gains or losses on financial assets recognised 
at fair value are included in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income:  
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N E T  G A I N  O R  L O S S  F R O M  F I N A N C I A L  A S S E T S  M E A S U R E D  AT  FA I R  VA L U E  T H R O U G H  P R O F I T  O R  L O S S

€’000 2018/2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2017/2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Restated1

Net gain or loss from investment activities 49,629 0 0 49,629 31,098 0 0 31,098

Other operating income 319 0 0 319 0 0 0 0

Other operating expenses 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Interest income 535 0 0 535 313 0 0 313

50,482 0 0 50,482 31,411 0 0 31,411

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 (see Note 4)

N E T  G A I N  O R  L O S S  F R O M  F I N A N C I A L  A S S E T S  M E A S U R E D  AT  FA I R  VA L U E  T H R O U G H  O T H E R  C O M P R E H E N S I V E  I N C O M E 1

€’000 2018/2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2017/2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Other operating income 272 0 272 0 17 0 17 0

Other operating expenses (193) 0 (193) 0 (79) 0 (79) 0

Other income/expense items 79 0 79 0 (62) 0 (62) 0

Unrealised gains (+)/losses (-) on available-for-sale securities 0 0 0 0 (47) 0 (47) 0

Net result of valuation and disposal 0 0 0 0 (47) 0 (47) 0

Interest income 197 0 197 0 (18) 0 (18) 0

1 Previous year: Net gain or loss from available-for-sale financial assets

All securities measured at fair value through other compre-
hensive income were sold in the year under review. Overall, 
this resulted in a realised net loss of 19,000 euros. 

34.3 �Net gain or loss on financial instruments  
measured at amortised cost

The net gain or loss on financial instruments measured at  
amortised cost largely comprises income from Fund Services, 
consultancy expenses and reimbursable costs as well as interest.

N E T  G A I N  O R  L O S S  O N  F I N A N C I A L  I N S T R U M E N T S  C A R R I E D  AT  A M O RT I S E D  C O S T

€’000 2018/2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2017/2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Restated1

Net gain or loss from investment activities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Income from Fund Services 26,970 0 0 26,970 28,855 0 0 28,855

Income from Fund Services and investment activities 26,970 0 0 26,970 28,855 0 0 28,855

Other operating income 4,862 0 0 4,862 2,914 0 0 2,914

Other operating expenses (6,102) 0 0 (6,102) (4,215) 0 0 (4,215)

Net interest income 552 0 0 552 305 0 0 305

Total other income/expense items (688) 0 0 (688) (997) 0 0 (997)

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 (see Note 4)
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35. Capital management

The objective of DBAG’s capital management is to ensure the 
availability of the Group’s long-term capital requirement, and 
to increase the equity per share by a rate that at least exceeds 
the cost of equity on a long-term average.

The amount of equity is managed on a long-term basis by dis-
tributions and share repurchases and, if appropriate, by capital 
increases.

Overall, the capital of DBAG consists of the following compo-
nents:	

€’000 30 Sep 2019  30 Sep 2018

Restated1

Liabilities

Liabilities to non-controlling interests 55 180

Provisions 30,131 21,419

Other liabilities 1,277 15,930

 31,463 37,529

Equity

Subscribed capital 53,387 53,387

Reserves 159,734 167,431

Consolidated retained profit 247,031 222,973

 460,152 443,790

Equity as a proportion of  
total capital   % 93.60 92.20

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 (see Note 4)

Above and beyond the capital requirements as stipulated in 
the German Stock Corporation Act, DBAG is subject to capital 
restrictions pursuant to the German statutory legislation on 
special investment companies (Gesetz über Unternehmens-
beteiligungsgesellschaften – UBGG). In order to maintain the 
status of a special investment company, a capital contribution 
of 1,000,000 euros on its share capital must have been paid 
in. This amount was fully paid in, both in the reporting year 
and the previous year.

36. Earnings per share based on IAS 33

2018/2019 2017/2018

Restated1

Net income €’000 45,856 29,688

Number of shares at the reporting  
date 30 September 15,043,994 15,043,994

Number of shares outstanding at 
the reporting date 30 September 15,043,994 15,043,994

Average number of shares outstanding 15,043,994 15,043,994

Basic and diluted earnings  
per share € 3.05 1.97

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 (see Note 4)

Basic earnings per share are computed by dividing the net 
income for the year attributable to DBAG by the weighted 
average number of shares outstanding during the financial 
year.

Earnings per share may be diluted due to so-called poten-
tial shares arising under stock option programmes. DBAG 
has not launched such a stock option programme for years. 
Accordingly, there are no stock options outstanding as at the 
reporting date. Therefore, diluted earnings per share corre-
spond to basic earnings per share.

37. Disclosures on segment reporting

DBAG’s business policy is geared towards augmenting the Com-
pany’s value over the long term through successful investments 
in portfolio companies, in conjunction with sustainable income 
from Fund Services. The investments are mainly entered into 
as co-investor alongside DBAG funds, either as majority invest-
ments by way of management buyouts (MBOs) or minority 
investments aimed at financing growth.

In order to be able to separately manage the two described 
business lines of DBAG, the internal reporting system calculates 
a separate operating result (segment result). For that reason, the 
business lines “Private Equity lnvestments” and “Fund Invest-
ment Services” are presented as reportable segments.
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S E G M E N T  R E P O R T I N G  F R O M  1  O C T O B E R  2 0 1 8  T O  3 0  S E P T E M B E R  2 0 19

€’000 
Private Equity 

Investments
Fund Investment 

Services
Group 

reconciliation11

Group 
2018/2019

Net gain or loss from investment activities 49,629 0 0 49,629

Income from Fund Services 0 28,181 (1,211) 26,970

Income from Fund Services and investment activities 49,629 28,181 (1,211) 76,599

Other income/expense items (7,578) (25,148) 1,211 (31,515)

Earnings before tax (segment result) 42,050 3,033 0 45,083

Income taxes   659

Earnings after taxes   45,742

Net gain or loss attributable to non-controlling interests   114

Net income   45,856

Financial assets and loans and receivables 385,693  

Other financial instruments 17,002  

Financial resources2 69,432  

Net asset value 472,126  

Assets under management or advisory3 1,704,434

1 �A synthetic internal administration fee is calculated for the Investment segment and taken into account when determining segment result. The fee is based on DBAG’s 
co-investment interest.

2 �The financial resources are used by DBAG for investments in financial assets. They contain the line items “Cash and cash equivalents”, “Long-term securities” and 
“Short-term securities”.

3 �Assets under management or advisory comprise financial assets, loans and receivables, the financial resources of DBAG, as well as the investments and callable capital 
commitments to DBAG-managed private equity funds. The investments and loans and receivables are recognised at cost.

 �

S E G M E N T  R E P O R T I N G  F R O M  1  O C T O B E R  2 0 17  T O  3 0  S E P T E M B E R  2 0 1 8 

€’000 
Private Equity  

Investments
Fund Investment 

Services
Group 

reconciliation11

Group 
2017/2018

Restated4

Net gain or loss from investment activities 31,098 0 0 31,098

Income from Fund Services 0 29,707 (852) 28,855

Income from Fund Services and investment activities 31,098 29,707 (852) 59,953

Other income/expense items (6,936) (24,138) 852 (30,222)

Earnings before tax (segment result) 24,163 5,568 0 29,731

Income taxes   (18)

Earnings after tax   29,714

Net gain or loss attributable to non-controlling interests   (25)

Net income   29,688

Financial assets and loans and receivables 318,931  

Other financial instruments 32,766  

Financial resources2 119,029  

Net asset value 470,727  

Assets under management or advisory3 1,831,378

1 See footnote 1 in the preceding table
2 See footnote 2 in the preceding table 
3 See footnote 3 in the preceding table
4 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 (see Note 4)
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Products and services

DBAG invests in companies as a co-investor alongside DBAG 
funds by way of majority or minority investments. We basi-
cally structure majority investments as so-called management 
buyouts (MBO). Growth financing is made by way of a minor-
ity investment, for example via a capital increase. Within the 
scope of its investment activities, DBAG achieved a net result of 
valuation and disposal as well as current income from financial 
assets and loans and receivables totalling 49,629,000 euros 
(previous year, restated: 31,098,000 euros). Income from Fund 
Services amounted to 26,970,000 euros in the reporting year 
(previous year, restated: 28,855,000 euros).

Geographical activities and sector focus

Geographically, we concentrate our co-investments primarily 
on companies domiciled in German-speaking regions. Of 
the net income from investment activities, 53,293,000 euros 

(previous year, restated: 28,608,000 euros) are attributable 
to companies domiciled in German-speaking countries, and 
-3,664,000 euros (previous year, restated: 2,490,000 euros) 
to companies located in the rest of the world.

DBAG co-invests alongside the DBAG funds primarily in com-
panies operating in the sectors of automotive sup-pliers, indus
trial services, industrial components as well as machine and 
plant engineering (DBAG’s core sec-tors). It also co-invests in 
the sectors of broadband telecommunications, software and IT 
services, and healthcare (focus sectors) as well as in other sec-
tors such as services and consumer goods. Further information 
on the focus sectors can be found in the management report 
under the heading “Investments in mid-market German com-
panies with potential for development”. Net result of valuation 
and disposal as well as current income from financial assets are 
presented separately by industries of the core sectors; focus 
sectors and other industries are combined in the following 
table:

€’000 
Automotive 

suppliers
Industrial 

services
Industrial 

components
Machine and 

plant engineering Other Total

30 Sep 2019

Interests in investment entity 
subsidiaries 111 (7,263) (3,866) (8,984) 67,896 47,894

Interests in portfolio companies 0 0 0 0 1,632 1,632

International fund investments 0 0 0 0 104 104

Other 0 0 0 0 (1) (1)

111 (7,263) (3,866) (8,984) 69,631 49,629

30 Sep 2018 Restated1

Interests in investment entity 
subsidiaries (2,989) 5,305 12,429 4,710 8,748 28,204

Interests in portfolio companies 0 0 0 0 609 609

International fund investments 0 0 0 0 2,386 2,386

Other 0 0 0 0 (100) (100)

(2,989) 5,305 12,429 4,710 11,643 31,098

1 Restated in accordance with IAS 8 (see Note 4)

For more information on the composition of the portfolio and 
its development, we refer to the management report, chapters 
“Business and portfolio review” and “Portfolio and portfolio 
value”.

Significant customers

DBAG’s customers are the investors in DBAG funds. The funds 
raised by DBAG bundle the assets committed by German and 
international institutional investors, especially by pension 
funds, funds of funds, banks, foundations, insurance com-
panies or family offices.
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DBAG generates its Fund Services income from investors, 
none of whom account for more than ten per cent of DBAG’s 
total income.

38. �Declaration of Compliance with the German 
Corporate Governance Code  

A “Declaration of Compliance” pursuant to § 161 of the 
German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz – AktG) was 
submitted by the Board of Management and the Supervisory 
Board of Deutsche Beteiligungs AG and is permanently 
accessible to shareholders at DBAG’s website1.

39. Disclosures on related parties 

Related companies within the meaning of IAS 24 are: (i) invest
ment entity subsidiaries (see Note 5.3) and the indirectly held 
investments according to the list of subsidiaries and associates 
in Note 44, (ii) other unconsolidated subsidiaries of DBAG (see 
Note 5.5) and (iii) unconsolidated structured entities of DBAG 
(see Note 5.6).

Related persons, within the meaning of IAS 24, are key 
management personnel. At DBAG, these include all current 
members of the Board of Management, senior executives and 
the members of DBAG‘s Supervisory Board.  

Income and expenses, receivables and liabilities 
from Fund Services

DBAG provides asset management services to the DBAG 
funds and the co-investment vehicles via its fully-consolidated 
subsidiaries. 

The following fully-consolidated companies are reponsible 
for asset management: AIFM-DBG Fund VII (Guernsey) L.P., 
DBG Fund VI GP (Guernsey) LP, DBG Fund VII GP S.à r.l., DBG 
Management GmbH & Co. KG, DBG Managing Partner GmbH 
& Co. KG and DBG New Fund Management GmbH & Co. KG. 
DBAG pays no fees for the management of the co-invest-
ment vehicles of DBAG Fund IV, DBAG ECF and DBAG Fund V. 
Since the launch of DBAG Fund VI, DBAG has paid a volume-
based fee for the management of its co-investments, to DBG 
Fund VI GP (Guernsey) LP, DBG Fund VII GP S.à r.l, and to AIFM 
DBG Fund VII (Guernsey) L.P. Based on the same principles and 
terms and conditions as for the investors in DBAG funds, this 
fee is determined by reference to a fixed percentage of the 
committed capital (during a fund‘s investment period), or of the 
invested capital (during the disinvestment phase), respectively.

The management companies receive advisory services from 
DBG Advising GmbH & Co. KG, and pay an advisory fee for 
these services. 

The fees received from these activities – including amounts 
received from DBAG fund investors – are recognised in the 
item “Income from Fund Services” (see Note 11). In the year 
under review, income from Fund Services consisted of income 
from co-investment vehicles in the amount of 5,306,000 euros 
(previous year: 5,513,000 euros) and income from the DBAG 
funds in the amount of 21,434,000 euros (previous year: 
23,155,000 euros). Fees paid by DBAG are also recognised in 
the „Net gain or loss from investment activities“ items, redu-
cing value (see Note 10).

As at the reporting date, receivables from management fees 
against DBAG funds amounted to 6,368,000 euros (previ-
ous year: 3,817,000 euros, see Note 21), while receivables 
from management fees against investment entity subsidiaries 
amounted to 1,565,000 euros (previous year: 1,091,000 euros, 
see Note 21). As at the reporting date, no advance manage-
ment fees were paid by DBAG funds or co-investment vehicles 
(previous year: 3,176,000 euros or 923,000 euros, respectively; 
see Note 30).

Relationships to DBG Managing Partner GmbH & 
Co. KG and DBG Advising GmbH & Co. KG  

DBAG itself holds a capital interest of 20 per cent in the fully- 
consolidated DBG Managing Partner GmbH & Co. KG. The 
remaining 80 per cent (previous year: 80 per cent) is held by 
the two Board of Management members who are part of the 
investment team, and by two senior executives. Income from 
the interest on their capital accounts amounts to 236 euros 
per year. The interests in the general partner of DBG Managing 
Partner GmbH & Co. KG are held by DBG Managing Partner 
GmbH & Co. KG itself. The general partner receives an annual 
liability fee in the amount of 3,125 euros.

DBAG itself holds a capital interest of 20 per cent in the fully- 
consolidated DBG Advising GmbH & Co. KG. The remaining 
80 per cent (previous year: 80 per cent) is held by the two Board 
of Management members who are part of the investment 
team, and by two senior executives. Income from the interest 
on their capital accounts amounts to 113 euros (previous year: 
101 euros). The interests in the general partner of DBG Advising 
GmbH & Co. KG are held by DBG Advising GmbH & Co. KG 
itself. The general partner receives an annual liability fee in the 
amount of 3,125 euros. 

1 https://www.dbag.de/investor-relations/corporate-governance/declarations-of-conformity
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For more information on the interests held by the two members 
of the Board of Management and the two senior executives, we 
refer to Note 27.

Relationships to co-investment vehicles

Within the scope of structuring the investments in new portfolio 
companies, short-term loans are granted to the co-investment 
vehicles. These are reported in the item “Other financial instru-
ments” (see Note 23); any resulting interest income is recogni-
sed in net interest income (see Note 15). There were no liabili-
ties to co-investment vehicles as at the reporting date (previous 
year: 9,680,000 euros from a capital call).

Co-investments and carried interest

Selected members of the investment team as well as selected 
members of senior management who are not members of the 
investment team have committed to take an interest in DBAG 
funds. For those participating – in addition to the returns from 
the partnership – this can result in a profit share that is dispro-
portionate to their capital commitment (“carried interest”) after 

the fund has fulfilled certain conditions overall. This is the case 
if the DBAG Group or the investors in the respective DBAG fund 
have realised their invested capital, plus a preferred return of 
eight per cent per annum (“full repayment”). Carried interest 
of not more than 20 per cent2  is paid out once proceeds on 
disposal are generated and full repayment has been achieved; 
the remaining 80 per cent3  (net sales proceeds) is paid to the 
investors in the relevant DBAG fund and to DBAG. The struc-
ture of the carried interest schemes, their implementation 
and performance conditions, are in conformity with common 
practice in the private equity industry and constitute a pre
requisite for the placement of DBAG funds. For the individuals 
participating, their partnership status constitutes a privately 
assumed investment risk which serves the purpose of aligning 
their interests with those of DBAG fund investors; the purpose 
of carried interest is to promote staff initiative and dedication 
to the success of the investment.

Since the launch of DBAG Fund VI, the investment structure of 
DBAG funds is as follows (significantly simplified):

OVERVIEW INVESTMENTS STRUCTURE

The percentages relate to the equity share. 

German and international  
investors as limited partners

Selected members of the invest-
ment team plus selected members 

of senior management (not  
members of the investment team)

DBAG

Investments/portfolio companies

DBAG Fonds Co-investment vehicle

99.99% 99.99%

0.01% 0.01%

Company included in DBAG’s consolidated financial statements Fixed shareholding, usually between 0.5% and 1.5%

  2 The maximum disproportionate profit share for the DBAG Fund VII B [Konzern] SCSp amounts to 10 per cent.
  3 The share of investors and DBAG for the DBAG Fund VII B [Konzern] SCSp totals 90 per cent.
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The two Board of Management members who are part of the 
investment team as well as the senior executives entitled to 
carried interest made the following investments in the financial 

year 2018/2019 and received the following repayments from 
the DBAG funds and the co-investment vehicles:

Investments during 
the financial year

Cumulative investments
as at the reporting date

Repayments during 
the financial year

€’000

Key
manage- 

ment
personnel

of which: 
Board of 
Manage- 

ment

Key
manage-

ment
personnel

of which: 
Board of 
Manage- 

ment

Key
manage-

ment
personnel

of which: 
Board of 
Manage- 

ment

1 Oct 2018– 30 Sep 2019

DBAG Fund IV 0 0 1,032 420 899 423

DBAG Fund V 0 0 4,381 1,732 0 0

DBAG ECF 117 13 1,604 182 371 42

DBAG ECF I 95 51 674 400 0 0

DBAG ECF II 324 54 447 177 0 0

DBAG Fund VI 182 53 7,071 2,646 0 0

DBAG Fund VII 2,084 1,145 5,006 2,670 0 0

Total 2018/2019 2,802 1,316 20,216 8,226 1,271 465

Investments during 
the financial year

Cumulative investments
as at the reporting date

Repayments during 
the financial year

€’000

Key
manage- 

ment
personnel

of which: 
Board of 
Manage- 

ment

Key
manage- 

ment
personnel

of which: 
Board of 
Manage- 

ment

Key
manage- 

sment
personnel

of which: 
Board of 
Manage- 

ment

1 Oct 2017 – 30 Sep 2018

DBAG Fund IV 0 0 1,032 420 274 108

DBAG Fund V 25 9 4,381 1,732 2,388 926

DBAG ECF 62 7 1,487 168 207 23

DBAG ECF I 579 350 579 350 0 0

DBAG ECF II 123 123 123 123 0 0

DBAG Fund VI 276 89 6,889 2,593 811 291

DBAG Fund VII 980 513 2,922 1,524 0 0

Total 2017/2018 2,045 1,090 17,414 6,909 3,681 1,348

The following table outlines carried interest claims from the 
co-investment vehicles and DBAG funds for the two Board of 
Management members and the members of senior manage-
ment entitled to carried interest. For information on the portion 

of the co-investment vehicles, we refer to the management 
report under the heading “Integrated business model: two 
business segments that are closely tied to DBAG funds”.
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1 Oct 2018
Reduction due to  

disbursement
Addition (+)/  

reversal (-) 30 Sep 2019

€’000 

Key
manage- 

ment
personnel

of which: 
Board of 
Manage- 

ment

Key
manage- 

ment
personnel

of which: 
Board of 
Manage- 

ment

Key
manage- 

ment
personnel

of which: 
Board of 
Manage- 

ment

Key
manage- 

ment
personnel

of which: 
Board of 
Manage- 

ment

DBAG Fund V 12,571 4,880 0 0 515 200 13,086 5,080

DBAG ECF 22,485 2,546 0 0 16,546 1,873 39,032 4,419

DBAG ECF I 0 0 0 0 4,439 1,267 4,439 1,267

DBAG Fund VI 50,013 17,952 0 0 6,135 2,202 56,147 20,154

85,069 25,378 0 0 27,634 5,542 112,703 30,920

1 Oct 2017
Reduction due to  

disbursement
Addition (+)/  

reversal (-) 30 Sep 2018

€’000 

Key
manage- 

ment
personnel

of which: 
Board of 
Manage- 

ment

Key
manage- 

ment
personnel

of which: 
Board of 
Manage- 

ment

Key
manage- 

ment
personnel

of which: 
Board of 
Manage- 

ment

Key
manage- 

ment
personnel

of which: 
Board of 
Manage- 

ment

DBAG Fund V 17,993 6,985 (2,674) (1,038) (2,748) (1,067) 12,571 4,880

DBAG ECF 14,756 1,671 0 0 7,729 875 22,485 2,546

DBAG Fund VI 36,278 13,022 0 0 13,734 4,930 50,013 17,952

69,027 21,677 (2,674) (1,038) 18,715 4,738 85,069 25,378

In the consolidated financial statements, carried interest is 
taken into account in the fair value measurement of the shares 
of DBAG in the co-investment vehicles of the respective fund 
(“net asset value”). For the purpose of fair value measurement, 
the total liquidation of a fund’s portfolio as at the reporting 
date is assumed (see Note 7, paragraph “Fair value measure-
ment methods on hierarchy level 3”). In the year under review, 
the net asset values of the co-investment vehicles DBAG 
Fund V, DBAG ECF, DBAG ECF I and DBAG Fund VI are reduced 
by carried interest claims of key management personnel, by 
a total amount of 37,540,000 euros (previous year, restated: 
25,251,000 euros). Net gain or loss from investment activi-
ties, and hence net income, are reduced by 12,289,000 euros 
(previous year, restated: 7,573,000 euros). The carried interest 
for DBAG ECF II and DBAG Fund VII remains unchanged at nil 
euros. 

This carried interest, which is taken into account upon measure-
ment, may increase or decrease in value in the future, and is not 
disbursed until the requirements under company law are met.

Remuneration based on employment  
or service contracts  

Total remuneration for members of the Board of Management 
amount to 3,682,000 euros (previous year, restated: 3,274,000 
euros). This includes long-term benefits of 45,000  euros 
(previous year: 185,000 euros) and current service cost of 
199,000 euros (previous year: 118,000 euros). An amount of 
4,545,000 euros (previous year: 3,468,000 euros) of the pro-
visions for pension obligations was attributable to Board of 
Management members. There are neither termination benefits 
nor share-based payments.
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The total remuneration for senior executives amounts to 
7,591,000 euros (previous year: 6,497,000 euros). This 
includes long-term benefits of 31,000 euros (previous year: 
164,000 euros), current service cost of 300,000 euros (previous 
year: 229,000 euros) and termination benefits of 620,000 euros 
(previous year: 450,000 euros). An amount of 8,578,000 euros 
(previous year: 5,706,000 euros) of the provisions for pension 
obligations was attributable to senior executives. There was no 
share-based payment. 

The total remuneration for Supervisory Board members 
amounts to 398,000 euros (previous year: 503,000 euros). Of 
this amount, 370,000 euros (previous year: 388,000 euros) 
referred to Supervisory Board activities and 28,000 euros (pre-
vious year: 115,000 euros) to one long-term benefit for one 
member of the Supervisory Board. In addition to his remu-
neration for Supervisory Board membership, this Supervisory 
Board member also receives a pension payment from his pre-
vious membership in DBAG’s Board of Management, in the 
amount of 186,000 euros (previous year: 185,000 euros). An 
amount of 6,417,000 euros (previous year: 5,549,000 euros) of 
the provisions for pension obligations was attributable to this 
Supervisory Board member.

For information on the basic principles of the remuneration 
system and the amount of total remuneration for members 
of the Board of Management and the Supervisory Board, we 
refer to the remuneration report. The remuneration report is 
an integral constituent of the combined management report. 
It also discloses individual information as required pursuant to 
§ 314 (1) no. 6 HGB. 

Other transactions with key management 
personnel

Senior executives acquired 1,260 (previous year: 988) shares of 
DBAG at preferential terms. The resulting pecuniary advantage 
amounted to 11,000 euros (previous year: 11,000 euros), and 
is recognised under personnel expenses. 

DBAG granted loans to senior executives in the amount of 
95,000 euros at standard market conditions (previous year: 
95,000 euros). Interest income amounts to 2,000 euros (pre
vious year: 2,000 euros).

There are no contingent liabilities for key management 
personnel.

40. Risk management

For information on risk management objectives and methods, 
please refer to Note 33 and to the discussion in the combined 
management report.

41. Events after the reporting date

DBAG alongside DBAG Fund VII agreed the investment in 
Cartonplast Holdings GmbH in the fourth quarter of the year 
under review. The transaction was completed at the start of the 
new financial year. DGAB Fund VII has acquired the majority of 
the company’s shares as part of an MBO. DBAG has invested 
26,047,000 euros and will hold around 17 per cent of the 
shares in Cartonplast in the future.

The acquisition of STG Group was also signed in the fourth 
quarter of 2018/2019. The MBO of STG Group is DBAG’s 
sixth broadband communication investment since 2013. The 
transaction was completed in October 2019. DBAG invested 
9,564,000 euros alongside DBAG ECF, which means that 36 per 
cent of the shares in the group are now attributable to DBAG.

At the end of November 2019, the sale of the investment in 
inexio Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. KGaA was com-pleted; the 
deal was agreed at the end of September 2019, shortly before 
the reporting date. DBAG had held 6.9 per cent of the shares 
in the company from the portfolio of DBAG.

At the beginning of the new financial year, DBAG Fund VIII 
was initiated successfully as a successor fund for DBAG 
Fund VII. In the first round of subscriptions in November 2019, 
investors made investment commitments in the amount of 
almost 800 million euros; DBAG entered into a co-investment 
agreement for DBAG Fund VIII in the amount of more than  
255 million euros.

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8 / 2 0 1 9 C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  A S  A T  3 0  S E P T E M B E R  2 0 1 9 1 8 1

F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 S

T
A

T
E

M
E

N
T

S



42. �Fees for the auditor

Total fees paid to the auditor BDO (previous year: KPMG) are 
composed of as follows:

2018/2019 2017/2018

€’000 
Parent

company Subsidiary Total
Parent

company Subsidiary Total

Audit of consolidated/separate financial statements 362 0 362 455 37 492

Tax advisory services 0 0 0 39 27 66

Other consultancy services (not reimbursable) 0 0 0 7 13 20

 362 0 362 501 77 578

Other consultancy services (reimbursable) 0 0 0 0 0 0

362 0 362 501 77 578

The services associated with auditing the consolidated and 
annual financial statements also include activities concerning 
the review of the half-yearly financial statements as at 31 March 
2019, as well as audit activities relating to the audit of the 
annual financial statements as at 30 September 2018 that were 
conducted early. 

The reduction in fees paid to auditors is related to lower 
expenses in connection with the enforcement procedures 
concerning the consolidated financial statements as at 30 Sep-
tember 2015, which were concluded in July 2018.
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43. �Members of the Supervisory Board  
and the Board of Management

Supervisory Board*

ANDREW RICHARDS

Bad Homburg v. d. Höhe, Germany  
(Chairman until his departure on 13 October 2018)

Consultant

No statutory offices or comparable offices  

in Germany and abroad

GERHARD ROGGEMANN 

Hanover, Germany  
(Deputy Chairman until 13 October 2018 –  
Chairman) since 14 October 2018

Consultant

Statutory offices 

>	�Bremer AG, Paderborn, Germany   

(Vice-Chairman)

>	�GP Günter Papenburg AG, Schwarmstedt, Germany  

(Chairman)

>	�WAVE Management AG, Hanover, Germany  

(Vice-Chairman) 

DR HENDRIK OTTO

Dusseldorf , Germany  
(Deputy Chairman since 14 October 2018)

Member of the Board of Management  

of WEPA Industrieholding SE, Arnsberg, Germany 

No statutory offices or comparable offices  

in Germany and abroad

SONJA EDELER 

Hanover, Germany 

Managing Director, Finance & Accounting  

and Internal Audit, Dirk Rossmann GmbH,  

Burgwedel, Germany 

No statutory offices or comparable offices  

in Germany and abroad

WILKEN FREIHERR VON HODENBERG 

Hamburg, Germany 

Lawyer

Statutory offices 

>	��Schloss Vaux AG, Eltville, Germany 

>	��SLOMAN NEPTUN Schiffahrts-AG, Bremen, Germany 

>	��WEPA Instrustrieholding SE, Arnsberg, Germany  

Comparable offices in Germany and abroad 

>	���NB Private Equity Partners Ltd., St. Peter Port,  

Guernsey (since 21 March 2019)

PHILIPP MÖLLER 

Hamburg, Germany  

Managing Partner of Möller & Förster GmbH & Co. KG,  

Hamburg, Germany 

No statutory offices or comparable offices  

in Germany and abroad

DR MAXIMILIAN ZIMMERER

Munich, Germany (since 21 February 2019)

Supervisory Board Member

Statutory offices 

>	�Investmentaktiengesellschaft für langfristige Investoren 

TGV, Bonn, Germany (Chairman)

>	�Münchener Rückversicherungs-Gesellschaft  

Aktiengesellschaft, Munich, Germany 

Comparable offices in Germany and abroad

>	�Möller & Förster GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg, Germany  

(Chairman) 

 

* �Statutory offices: offices held on other statutory supervisory boards;  
comparable offices in Germany and abroad: offices held on comparable  
domestic and international supervisory bodies of commercial enterprises,  
as at 30 September 2019
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Board of Management*

TORSTEN GREDE 

Frankfurt/Main, Germany (Spokesman)

Comparable offices in Germany and abroad 

>	��Treuburg Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH,  

Ingolstadt, Germany 

>	���Treuburg GmbH & Co. Familien KG,  

Ingolstadt, Germany 

DR ROLF SCHEFFELS 

Frankfurt/Main, Germany

Comparable offices in Germany and abroad 

>	JCK Holding GmbH Textil KG, Quakenbrück, Germany 

>	Preh GmbH, Bad Neustadt a. d. Saale, Germany 

SUSANNE ZEIDLER

Frankfurt/Main, Germany

Comparable offices in Germany and abroad 

>	�DBG Fifth Equity Team GmbH & Co. KGaA i.L.,  
Frankfurt/Main, Germany  (Vice-Chairwoman)

>	�DWS Investment GmbH (since 10 September 2019)

 

* � �Statutory offices: offices held on other statutory supervisory boards;  
comparable offices in Germany and abroad: offices held on comparable  
domestic and international supervisory bodies of commercial enterprises,  
as at 30 September 2019
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44. List of subsidiaries and associates pursuant to § 313 (2) HGB

Name Registered office

 
Equity interest  

%

F U L LY- C O N S O L I D AT E D  A N D  U N C O N S O L I D AT E D  S U B S I D I A R I E S

AIFM-DBG Fund VII Management (Guernsey) LP St. Peter Port, Guernsey 0.00

Bowa Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH i. L.1 Frankfurt/Main, Germany 100.00

DBG Advising GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt/Main, Germany 20.00

DBG Advising Verwaltungs GmbH 1 Frankfurt/Main, Germany 20.00

DBG Fund VI GP (Guernsey) LP St. Peter Port, Guernsey 0.00

DBG Fund VII GP S.à r.l. Luxembourg-Findel, Luxemburg 100.00

DBG Fund VIII GP (Guernsey) L.P. 1 St. Peter Port, Guernsey 0.00

DBG Fund VIII GP (Guernsey) Limited 1 St. Peter Port, Guernsey 0.00

DBG Management GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt/Main, Germany 100.00

DBG Managing Partner GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt/Main, Germany 20.00

DBG Managing Partner Verwaltungs GmbH 1 Frankfurt/Main, Germany 20.00

DBG Management GP (Guernsey) Ltd. St. Peter Port, Guernsey 3.00

DBG New Fund Management GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt/Main, Germany 100.00

European PE Opportunity Manager LP St. Peter Port, Guernsey 0.00

RQPO Beteiligungs GmbH 1, 3 Frankfurt/Main, Germany 77.54

RQPO Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. Papier KG1 Frankfurt/Main, Germany 90.00

U N C O N S O L I D AT E D  I N V E S T M E N T  E N T I T Y  S U B S I D I A R I E S

DBAG Expansion Capital Fund Konzern GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt/Main, Germany 99.00

BTV Multimedia GmbH Hannover, Germany 32.20

DBAG ECF Fonds I Beteiligungs GmbH Frankfurt/Main, Germany 47.54

    Rana Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH Frankfurt/Main, Germany 47.54

    Tridecima Grundstücksverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH 2 Neubiberg, Germany 30.08

DBAG ECF Pontis GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt/Main, Germany 25.00

DBAG ECF Pontis Verwaltungs GmbH Frankfurt/Main, Germany 47.54

DBAG ECF Präzisionstechnik Beteiligungs GmbH Frankfurt/Main, Germany 41.78

ECF Breitbandholding GmbH Frankfurt/Main, Germany 41.78

ECF Broadband Holding GmbH Frankfurt/Main, Germany 41.78

Netzkontor Gruppe GmbH Flensburg, Germany 34.00

Vitronet GmbH Essen, Germany 41.25

von Poll Immobilien GmbH Frankfurt/Main, Germany 30.05

Rheinhold & Mahla GmbH Wismar, Germany 45.63
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Name Registered office

 
Equity interest  

%

DBAG Fund V Konzern GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt/Main, Germany 99.00

DBAG Fund VI Konzern (Guernsey) L.P. St. Peter Port, Guernsey 99.99

DBAG Fund VII B Konzern SCSp Luxembourg-Findel, Luxemburg 99.99

DBAG Fund VII Konzern SCSp Luxembourg-Findel, Luxemburg 99.99

DBG Fourth Equity Team GmbH & Co. KGaA i. L. Frankfurt/Main, Germany 100.00

Deutsche Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH Königstein/Taunus, Germany 100.00

DBG Advisors Kommanditaktionär GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt/Main, Germany 33.33

    DBG Fifth Equity Team GmbH & Co. KGaA i. L. Frankfurt/Main, Germany 33.33

DBG Alpha 5 GmbH Frankfurt/Main, Germany 100.00

DBG Asset Management, Ltd. Jersey 50.00

DBG Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH Frankfurt/Main, Germany 100.00

DBG Epsilon GmbH Frankfurt/Main, Germany 100.00

DBG Fourth Equity International GmbH Frankfurt/Main, Germany 100.00

DBV Drehbogen GmbH Frankfurt/Main, Germany 100.00

1 Unconsolidated subsidiaries – see Note 5.5
2 Share in the capital, including a direct stake of 10.40%
3 Share in the capital, including an indirect stake of 28.54% held via Deutsche Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH

O T H E R  C O M PA N I E S

Based on its investments, DBAG holds more than five per cent of the voting rights in the following companies:

Heytex Bramsche GmbH Bramsche, Germany

Mageba Holding AG Bülach, Germany

Oechsler AG Ansbach, Germany

SERO GmbH Rohrbach, Germany

Frankfurt/Main, 3 December 2019

The Board of Management

Torsten Grede          Dr Rolf Scheffels          Susanne Zeidler
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Report on the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements and of the combined management 
report 

Opinions

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of 
Deutsche Beteiligungs AG and its subsidiaries (the Group), 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial posi
tion as at 30 September 2019, and comprehensive income, 
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the con-
solidated statement of cash flows for the financial year from 
1 October 2018 to 30 September 2019, and the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. In addition, we have audited the 
combined management report of Deutsche Beteiligungs AG 
for the financial year from 1 October 2018 to 30 September 
2019. In accordance with the German legal requirements, we 
have not audited the content of those parts of the combined 
management report listed in the chapter “other information”. 

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the 
audit, 

>	�the accompanying consolidated financial statements com-
ply, in all material respects, with the IFRSs as adopted by 
the EU, and the additional requirements of German com-
mercial law pursuant to § [Article] 315e Abs. [paragraph] 
1 HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch: German Commercial Code] 
and, in compliance with these requirements, give a true 
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, and financial position 
of the Group as at 30 September 2019, and of its financial 
performance for the financial year from 1 October 2018 to  
30 September 2019, and

>	�the accompanying combined management report as a 
whole provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position. 
In all material respects, this combined management report 
is consistent with the consolidated financial statements, 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S  REPORT 

complies with German legal requirements and appropriately 
presents the opportunities and risks of future development. 
Our opinion on the combined management report does not 
cover the content of those parts of the combined manage-
ment report listed in the 

Pursuant to § 322 Abs. 3 Satz [sentence] 1 HGB, we declare 
that our audit has not led to any reservations relating to the 
legal compliance of the consolidated financial statements and 
of the combined management report.  

Basis for the opinions

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial state-
ments and of the combined management report in accordance 
with § 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation (No. 537/2014, 
referred to subsequently as “EU Audit Regulation”) and in 
compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for 
Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der 
Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] 
(IDW). Our responsibilities under those requirements and prin-
ciples are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and of 
the Combined Management Report” section of our auditor’s 
report. We are independent of the group entities in accord-
ance with the requirements of European law and German com-
mercial and professional law, and we have fulfilled our other 
German professional responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements.

In addition, in accordance with Article 10 (2) point (f) of the 
EU Audit Regulation, we declare that we have not provided 
non-audit services prohibited under Article 5 (1) of the EU 
Audit Regulation. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the 
combined management report. 
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Key audit matters in the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consoli-
dated financial statements for the financial year from 1 October 
2018 to 30 September 2019. These matters were addressed 
in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial state-
ments as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

We identified the following matters as key audit matters:

Valuation of financial assets 

The financial statement position “Financial assets” amounts 
to 385.7 million euro and mainly consists of DBAG’s share in 
investment entity subsidiaries that are not consolidated in the 
Company’s consolidated financial statement according to IFRS 
10.31 sentence 1. Per IFRS 10.31 sentence 2 in connection with 
IFRS 9, investments are valued at their fair value through profit 
and loss. The fair value is determined according to IFRS 13 
considering the International Private Equity and Venture Capital 
Valuation Guidelines (IPEVG) effective 2018.

The fair value of the investment entity subsidiaries corresponds 
to the Company’s share of the sum of the fair values of each 
portfolio company (sum-of-the-parts-methodology). The valu-
ation at the fair value assumes the sale of all shares of portfolio 
Company’s at the balance sheet date. Individual contractual 
agreements are included in the valuation, in particular agree-
ments with members of the investment team regarding their 
profit participation of DBAG Funds, so-called Carried Interest. 

The Company has implemented a process to determine the 
fair values of the portfolio companies that considers the fact 
that market prices cannot be observed. The Company primar-
ily uses the multiples method to determine the fair values of 
the portfolio companies based on financial results (market 
approach). In some cases, an income approach is applied. The 
main non-observable assumptions used in the valuation are 
the sustainable earnings derived from the projections of each 

portfolio Company and the expected cashflows, respectively, 
as well as the net debt. Regardless of the valuation approach, 
the fair values determined are considered level 3 according 
to the fair value hierarchy due to unobservable input factors 
used in the calculation. The necessary valuation assumptions 
are discretionary, as they cannot be observed on the market. 
In addition, there are complex contractual provisions in place 
regarding the calculation of carried interest for the investment 
entity subsidiaries. These need to be given appropriate consid-
eration when measuring the fair values of the interest in the 
investment entity subsidiaries. 

With respect to the consolidated financial statements, there is 
a risk that the fair values of the portfolio companies used in 
the valuation of financial assets do not meet the requirements 
of IFRS 13, resulting in an inappropriate valuation. There is an 
additional risk attached to the consideration of contractual 
agreements of carried interest. Finally, there is a risk that the 
disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments according to IFRS 7 and IFRS 13 in particular are not 
appropriate.

We refer to the notes to the consolidated financial statements 
regarding the Company’s accounting and valuation methods 
(note 7). We refer to future-oriented assumptions and other 
significant sources of estimation uncertainties (note 9), disclo-
sures on the financial assets (note 19), on the net result of 
investment activity (note 10), notes on financial instruments 
(note 33), disclosures regarding related party transactions (note 
39), as well as to the statements in the combined management 
report regarding the Company’s operations.

Our audit approach

First, we obtained an understanding of the Company’s process 
to determine the fair values as part of the valuation of the 
shares in investment entity subsidiaries and assessed whether 
the valuation guidelines implemented by the Company are 
deemed appropriate to meet the requirements of IFRS 13. In 
order to gain an understanding of the organizational struc-
ture of the valuation process, we inquired with responsible 
employees, and obtained process descriptions, status reports, 
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valuation documentation as well as minutes of board meetings. 
Based on the evidence obtained, we assessed the appropriate-
ness of the controls implemented, particularly regarding the 
valuation proposals made by the Valuation Committee.

Our substantive audit procedures included reviewing the doc-
umentation of the calculations of the fair values of the port
folio companies and the assessment whether these calculations 
were consistent with the valuation process implemented and 
whether the valuation methodologies applied were deemed 
appropriate. In case of five Companies that were initially valued 
using the multiples approach, we assessed the appropriateness 
of with the valuation approach used considering observable 
input factors. We further assessed the calculation of the fair 
values and the observable inputs. For all portfolio companies, 
we reassessed the calculations of the fair values and the observ-
able inputs. We audited unobservable assumptions based on a 
sample selected using a risk-oriented approach. 

For selected estimates of sustainable earnings and the net debt 
of portfolio companies, we reassessed the deviation from the 
budgets prepared by their management, and we obtained 
the approval of the respective supervisory board. For adjust-
ments of assumptions made by the valuation committee of the 
Deutsche Beteiligungs AG, we discussed the respective docu-
mentation with members of the valuation committee, to con-
clude on the reasonableness of such adjustments. We further 
assessed the appropriateness of selected assumptions used 
in the portfolio managements’ projections (EBITDA margins 
in particular) through comparison with ranges derived from 
external market data for the respective performance indicators.

Regarding the earnings multiples used in the multiple’s meth-
od, we involved our valuation specialists to assess the proper 
deviation of peer group companies and the resulting multiples 
based on the companies and capital market data. With respect 
to the income-based approach, we involved our valuation 
experts to evaluate the appropriateness of the capitalization 
interest rate used, by comparing the underlying assumptions 
(the risk-free rate and the market risk premium in particular) to 
publicly available data.

We also performed substantive audit procedures regarding the 
consideration of carried interest in the calculation of the fair 
value of the shares attributable to DBAG. We evaluated the 
identification of carried interest entitlement and the respective 
valuation. Finally, we assessed whether the disclosures on the 
valuation of financial assets according to IFRS 7 and IFRS 13, in 
particular, were appropriate. 

Other information

The executive directors are responsible for the other informa-
tion. The other information comprises:  

>	�the statement on corporate governance included in section 
“other statutory disclosures and explanatory information” 
of the combined management report and

>	�the remaining parts of the annual report, with the excep-
tion of the audited consolidated financial statements and 
combined management report and our auditor’s report.

Our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and 
on the combined management report do not cover the other 
information, and consequently we do not express an opinion 
or any other form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in so doing, to consider whether the 
other information 

>	�is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements, with the combined management report or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or

>	otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report 
in this regard.
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Responsibilities of the executive directors and the  
supervisory board for the consolidated financial 
statements and the combined management report

The executive directors are responsible for the preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements that comply, in all material 
respects, with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional 
requirements of German commercial law pursuant to § 315e 
Abs. 1 HGB and that the consolidated financial statements, in 
compliance with these requirements, give a true and fair view 
of the assets, liabilities, financial position, and financial perfor-
mance of the Group. In addition, the executive directors are 
responsible for such internal controls as they have determined 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the execu-
tive directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. They also have the responsibility 
for disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern. 
In addition, they are responsible for financial reporting based 
on the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an 
intention to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or there 
is no realistic alternative but to do so.

Furthermore, the executive directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the combined management report that, as a 
whole, provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position 
and is, in all material respects, consistent with the consolidated 
financial statements, complies with German legal require-
ments, and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks 
of future development. In addition, the executive directors are 
responsible for such arrangements and measures (systems) as 
they have considered necessary to enable the preparation of 
a combined management report that is in accordance with 
the applicable German legal requirements, and to be able to 
provide sufficient appropriate evidence for the assertions in the 
combined management report. 

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s 
financial reporting process for the preparation of the consoli-
dated financial statements and of the combined management 
report.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of  
the consolidated financial statements and  
of the combined management report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and whether the combined management report as a whole 
provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position and, in all 
material respects, is consistent with the consolidated financial 
statements and the knowledge obtained in the audit, com-
plies with the German legal requirements and appropriately 
presents the opportunities and risks of future development, as 
well as to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions 
on the consolidated financial statements and on the combined 
management report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with § 317 
HGB and the EU Audit Regulation and in compliance with 
German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement 
Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) 
will always detect a material misstatement. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individ-
ually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these consolidated financial statements and this combined 
management report. 

We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

>	�Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 
the consolidated financial statements and of the combined 
management report, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
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obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinions. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal controls.

>	�Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to 
the audit of the consolidated financial statements and of 
arrangements and measures (systems) relevant to the audit 
of the combined management report in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effec-
tiveness of these systems. 

>	�Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by 
the executive directors and the reasonableness of estimates 
made by the executive directors and related disclosures.

>	�Conclude on the appropriateness of the executive directors’ 
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going con-
cern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in the auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements 
and in the combined management report or, if such dis
closures are inadequate, to modify our respective opinions. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events 
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to be able to 
continue as a going concern. 

>	�Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of 
the consolidated financial statements, including the dis
closures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
present the underlying transactions and events in a man-
ner that the consolidated financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position, and 
financial performance of the Group in compliance with IFRSs 

as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of 
German commercial law pursuant to § 315e Abs. 1 HGB. 

>	�Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express opinions on the consolidated 
financial statements and on the combined management 
report. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely respon
sible for our opinions. 

>	�Evaluate the consistency of the combined management 
report with the consolidated financial statements, its con-
formity with [German] law, and the view of the Group’s 
position it provides.

>	�Perform audit procedures on the prospective informa-
tion presented by the executive directors in the combined 
management report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate 
audit evidence we evaluate, in particular, the significant 
assumptions used by the executive directors as a basis for 
the prospective information, and evaluate the proper deriva-
tion of the prospective information from these assumptions. 
We do not express a separate opinion on the prospective 
information and on the assumptions used as a basis. There 
is a substantial unavoidable risk that future events will differ 
materially from the prospective information. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regard-
ing, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any signif-
icant deficiencies in internal controls that we identify during 
our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a state-
ment that we have complied with the relevant independence 
requirements, and communicate with them all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, the related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial state-
ments of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report 
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter.

Other legal and regulatory requirements

Further information pursuant to article 10 of the 
audit regulation

We were elected as group auditor by the annual general meeting 
on February 21, 2019. We were engaged by the audit committee 
on February 21, 2019. 

We have been the group auditor of the Deutsche Beteiligungs 
AG since the financial year 2018/2019.

We declare that the opinions expressed in this auditor’s report 
are consistent with the additional report to the audit committee 
pursuant to Article 11 of the EU Audit Regulation (long-form 
audit report).

German public auditor responsible for the 
engagement

The German Public Auditor responsible for the engagement is 
Dr Jens Freiberg. 

Frankfurt/Main, 4 December 2019

BDO AG 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Dr Freiberg	 Gebhardt
German Public Auditor	 German Public Auditor
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We confirm to the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable accounting 
principles, that the consolidated half-yearly financial statements give a true and fair view of 
the asset, financial and earnings position of the Group, and that the condensed management 
report presents a true and fair view of the business development (including business results) and 
the position of the Group, together with a description of the material risks and opportunities 
associated with the expected development of the Group.

Frankfurt/Main, 3  December 2019

The Board of Management

Torsten Grede Dr Rolf Scheffels Susanne Zeidler

RESPONSIB I L I T Y  STATEMENT
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In the 2018/2019 financial year (1 October 2018 to 30 September 
2019), we carefully considered the state of the Company and its 
performance. We consistently and conscientiously performed 
the supervisory and advisory duties incumbent upon us 
by law, the Articles of Association and internal regulations. 
The Supervisory Board was updated regularly, in detail and 
without delay by the Board of Management about business 
development, the asset, financial and earnings position, the 
outlook, risk management and compliance at DBAG, both in 
writing and orally. We deliberated on these issues extensively. 
The Board of Management commented on and explained 
any deviations from planned business development. It also 
informed us of all strategic and major operational decisions, as 
well as its future business policy.

Supervisory Board meetings  
during the year under review

In the 2018/2019 financial year, eight Supervisory Board 
meetings were convened, one of which was a conference 
call. The sole subject of this conference call was the resolution 
regarding the amount of variable remuneration for the Board 
of Management and the follow-on remuneration for its former 
members. The Supervisory Board also met in the absence of 
the Board of Management.

In-depth reporting on the situation of individual portfolio 
companies was a regular component of meetings attended 
in-person. We received detailed written quarterly reports for 
this purpose from the Board of Management. The Board of 
Management informed us comprehensively and without delay 
of investments that were not performing according to plan.

REPORT OF  THE  

SUPERV ISORY BOARD

For many years, Deutsche Beteiligungs AG has made  
a name for itself as an investor that enjoys a high degree  

of confidence amongst mid-sized companies in a highly  
competitive market. The expanded sector focus in prior 

financial years has made an important contribution to  
the positive development seen in 2018/2019. Gerhard Roggemann  

Chairman of  
the Supervisory Board

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8 / 2 0 1 9 R E P O R T  O F  T H E  S U P E R V I S O R Y  B O A R D 1 9 5

C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 G

O
V

E
R

N
A

N
C

E



Discussing the strategic development of Deutsche Beteiligungs 
AG was the focus of the meeting held on 19 OCTOBER 2018. 
We agreed to the proposal that DBAG in future be able to 
enter into investments without drawing on DBAG Funds, i.e. 
by exclusively using DBAG's own financial resources (Principal 
Investments). On this issue, we decided that the Supervisory 
Board's approval will be required for any individual investment 
above 35 million euros.

At our first scheduled meeting on 14 NOVEMBER 2018, we 
examined the preliminary results of DBAG and the DBAG 
Group for the 2017/2018 financial year. We decided to amend 
provisions of the Board of Management members' service 
agreements governing the maximum level of fringe benefits. 
In addition, we examined the Supervisory Board’s report of the 
previous financial year's activities.

After the auditors first reported on the outcome of the audit 
of the financial statements and the consolidated financial 
statements for the year ending 30 September 2018 at the meeting 
of the Audit Committee – at which members of the Supervisory 
Board who were not members of the committee regularly 
attended as guests – we confirmed the financial statements 
and approved the consolidated financial statements for the 
2017/2018 financial year at the regular scheduled meeting on  
29 NOVEMBER 2018. We then approved the agenda for the  
2019 Annual Meeting and discussed the Nomination Com
mittee's proposed resolution for the election of a Supervisory 
Board member; we passed the resolution. We received detailed 
information about the market and the competitive environment 
for DBAG. In addition, we deliberated on various models for 
structuring performance-related remuneration for potential 
future investments acquired exclusively using DBAG's financial 
resources. 

The focus of our meeting following the Annual Meeting on 
21 FEBRUARY 2019 was information about the state of 
preparations for the successor fund to DBAG Fund VII.

In a meeting on 5 MARCH 2019, we analysed the structure and 
details of different incentive systems for listed private equity 
companies at length. The background includes current initiatives 
governing management board remuneration, including the 
Act Implementing the Shareholders' Rights Directive and the 
revision of the German Corporate Governance Code. We also 

discussed issues relating to the acceptability of the planned 
legal structure of the successor fund to DBAG Fund VII under 
German company law. We decided to provide for additional 
contractual provisions, to further protect DBAG’s interests in the 
event of a disagreement between fund investors and the fund's 
management company. Finally, we continued the discussion 
on the structure of performance-related remuneration related 
to Principal Investments for the members of the Board of 
Management responsible for the Private Equity Investments 
business.

On 13 MAY 2019, we issued approvals in connection with 
the commencement of fundraising for DBAG Fund VIII, the 
successor fund to DBAG Fund VII. This also concerned DBAG’s 
co-investment in the DBAG Fund VII for both sub-funds, in 
line with the structure of DBAG Fund VII; we approved the 
provisions relating to carried interest for DBAG’s co-investment. 
We amended the requirements governing the consent of the 
Supervisory Board for entering into investments. The Board 
of Management informed us of the progress of the request 
for information from the German Federal Financial Supervisory 
Authority (Bundesanstalt für Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht – 
BaFin) relating to compliance with reporting and disclosure 
requirements. We also addressed Board of Management 
matters.

At the meeting on 12 SEPTEMBER 2019, the Board of 
Management informed us about the earnings forecast for the 
current 2018/2019 financial year. We discussed the dividend 
proposal for the 2018/2019 financial year extensively. We 
approved the Board of Management's conclusions regarding 
the amount of the dividend proposal, which were based on 
the dividend policy that had been in place for three years. In 
this meeting, as in nearly all meetings, we also were informed 
of current investment plans and the performance of individu-
al portfolio companies. In addition, we discussed the budget 
for the 2019/2020 financial year. We were presented with 
preliminary medium-term planning related to that year and 
the two following financial years. The Board of Management 
commented on the state of preparations for a successor fund 
to DBAG Fund VII. We also contributed to the Corporate Gover
nance Statement and issued the Declaration of Compliance 
and the joint report of the Board of Management and Super
visory Board on DBAG’s Corporate Governance. We approved 
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provisions governing performance-related remuneration for the 
Board of Management members responsible for the investment 
business for potential future investments acquired exclusively 
using DBAG's financial resources.

The Spokesman of the Board of Management informed 
the Chairman of the Supervisory Board immediately about 
important business transactions outside of meetings as well; 
the information was then shared with the entire Supervisory 
Board thereafter. We were involved in all major decisions. 

We followed the proposed resolutions of the Board of 
Management mentioned regarding the structure of DBAG 
Fund VIII, including the top-up fund, and the co-investment 
agreements with the fund. We further agreed to the addition 
of a new business segment (Principal Investments), comprising 
investments made exclusively using DBAG's financial resources. 
There was no other business requiring approval in the 
2018/2019 financial year.

The Supervisory Board convened five meetings during the 
financial year under review. All committee members attended 
the meetings of the Audit Committee, the Executive Committee 
and the Nomination Committee during the period under 
review.

Corporate Governance

We subject our work on the Supervisory Board to regular effi-
ciency testing. We also monitor the development of Corporate 
Governance practices in Germany on an ongoing basis and take 
advantage of opportunities to help shape opinions in institu-
tions and organisations concerned with Corporate Governance 
matters. Together with the Supervisory Board, the Board of 
Management reports on the Company's Corporate Gover
nance; we publish the report in the annual report (pages 202 
to 205) and make it available to the public along with the Cor-
porate Governance Statement on the Company’s website. The 
Board of Management and the Supervisory Board issued their 
annual Declaration of Compliance in September 2019 on the 
basis of the German Corporate Governance Code as amended 
on 7 February 2017 (section 161 of the German Stock Corpo-
ration Act (Aktiengesetz – AktG)) and made this Declaration 
permanently available to the public on the Company’s website.

Every member of the Supervisory Board discloses any potential 
conflicts of interest that may arise to the Supervisory Board as 
recommended in the Code. In the previous financial year, no 
conflicts of interests were disclosed. 

To enhance the efficiency of its work and distribute respon-
sibilities, the Supervisory Board has established an Executive 
Committee, which also performs the functions of a Nomination 
Committee, and an Audit Committee. The Chairmen of the 
committees regularly reported on the work of their committees 
to the Supervisory Board during the financial year under review.

Work of the Executive Committee  
(also Nomination Committee)

The Executive Committee met twice in its named capacity dur-
ing the financial year under review: in a conference call on 
17 October 2018, it determined the short-term performance-
related and long-term components of the remuneration of 
the members of the Board of Management for the 2017/2018 
financial year. The Supervisory Board approved this recommen-
dation in a conference call on 18 October 2018, after careful 
deliberation. In a further conference call on 28 November, 
the Executive Committee – in its capacity as the Nomination 
Committee – discussed various proposals for the nomination 
of a member of the Supervisory Board for election at the 2019 
Annual Meeting. This election was necessary because the 
previous Supervisory Board member, Andrew Richards, resigned 
his post with effect from 13 October 2018. We nominated  
Dr Maximilian Zimmerer, who was elected by the Annual  
Meeting on 21 February 2019.

Work of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee convened six meetings during the finan-
cial year under review. The focus was nearly entirely on the 
financial statements and consolidated financial statements,  
the half-yearly financial report and the quarterly reports, which 
we discussed with the Board of Management prior to each 
publication. In four meetings, we approved the external audi-
tors' non-audit services as presented.

In the meeting on 14 NOVEMBER 2018, we were presented 
with the preliminary results of the 2017/2018 financial year. The 
external auditors reported on the status and initial results of 
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the audit of the financial statements. In this meeting, we also 
discussed drafts of the financial statements and the consoli
dated financial statements for the year ending 30 September 
2018 and the audit reports for both before we recommended 
that the Supervisory Board sign off on the financial state
ments and confirm the consolidated financial statements 
on 29 NOVEMBER 2018. In its report on the financial year 
under review, the Board of Management explained the current 
portfolio valuation process. It also addressed a methodological 
change to account for the anticipated performance of individual 
portfolio companies in medium-term planning. Lastly, two 
auditors from KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 
(KPMG) reported on the results of the audit of the financial 
statements and consolidated financial statements as at the 
conclusion of the previous financial year.

On 6 FEBRUARY 2019, we considered the interim financial 
statements dated 31 December 2018 and discussed the 
quarterly statement.

On 13 MAY 2019, BDO, the external auditors elected by the 
Annual Meeting on 21 February 2019, reported the results 
of the audit review of the interim financial statements dated 
31 March 2019, which we also discussed with the Board of 
Management during the same meeting.

The interim financial statements dated 30 June 2019 were the 
focus of the meeting on 7 AUGUST 2019. We discussed the 
Board of Management's report and reviewed the quarterly 
report for that reporting date. We also took note of the Board 
of Management's risk report. In this meeting, we reviewed and 
discussed the report and internal audit of DBAG that addressed 
the treatment of remuneration for advisory committee activities 
for members of the investment team.

On 12 SEPTEMBER 2019, the external auditors explained 
their plans for their 30 September 2019 audit and the focal 
points of the audit, which was to be conducted by BDO AG 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Hamburg, for the first time.

Over the course of the year under review, we monitored the 
accounting process and the effectiveness of the internal control 
and auditing system, as well as the risk management system. 
We had no objections relating to the Company’s practices. 

We looked into the necessary independence of the external 
auditors and the additional (non-audit) services performed 
by the external auditors. We also advised on setting the focal 
points of the audit, as well as on the auditors' fees.

We meet the requirements of sections 100 (5) and 107 (4) of 
the AktG, pursuant to which one member of the Supervisory 
Board and the Executive Committee must have sufficient 
expertise in the area of accounting or auditing, in multiple 
respects: Mr Roggemann, who was the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee and the deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board, 
and an independent Supervisory Board member pursuant to 
the German Corporate Governance Code until 13 October 
2018, has particular expertise and experience in the application 
of accounting principles and internal auditing procedures; the 
same applies for Dr Otto, who assumed the Chair of the Audit 
Committee with effect from 14 October 2018.

Financial statements and consolidated financial 
statements without objections

Before the Supervisory Board put forward BDO AG 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft (BDO), Hamburg, to be the 
external auditors for the 2018/2019 financial year at the Annual 
Meeting, it received a Statement of Independence from BDO. 
Following the 2019 Annual Meeting, where our proposal was 
accepted, the Chairman of the Supervisory Board instructed 
BDO to carry out the audit. The instructions included that we 
be informed immediately of any major findings and issues 
arising in the course of the audit that related to our work. The 
external auditors laid out their audit plans in the meeting of 
the Audit Committee on 12 September 2019.

BDO audited the financial statements of Deutsche 
Beteiligungs  AG for the 2018/2019 financial year and the 
condensed Management Report of Deutsche Beteiligungs 
AG and the Group, including the underlying accounts and 
returned an unqualified auditor's opinion. The same applies 
for the 2018/2019 consolidated financial statements. The 
consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS). The auditors confirmed that the consolidated financial 
statements complied with IFRS, as applicable in the European 
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Union, and the applicable supplementary regulations 
pursuant to section 315a (1) of the German Commercial Code 
(Handelsgesetzbuch – HGB) that the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole accurately presented the position of 
the Group, as well as the opportunities and risks associated 
with its future performance.

The Supervisory Board received the audited and verified 
financial statements of Deutsche Beteiligungs AG for the 
financial year ending 30 September 2019 and the condensed 
Management Report of Deutsche Beteiligungs AG, taking into 
account the report of the Chairman of the Audit Committee and 
the external auditors, examined them itself and discussed the 
documents individually with the Board of Management in the 
presence of the auditors. This also applies for the consolidated 
financial statements and the profit appropriation proposal.

At our meeting on 19 November 2019, the external auditors set 
out the information they had gathered during the preliminary 
review. At the meeting on 9 December 2019, and at the Audit 
Committee meeting held on the same day, they presented 
the results of their audit. There were no objections. They 
also reported on the services they performed in addition to 
the audit services. The external auditors provided detailed 
answers to our questions. There were also no objections 
raised after the Supervisory Board conducted its own detailed 
examination of all the documentation. We concurred with the 
results of the audit put forward by the external auditors. On 
9 December 2019, we confirmed the consolidated financial 
statements and financial statements of Deutsche Beteiligungs 
AG as recommended by the Audit Committee. The financial 
statements are thus confirmed.

The Supervisory Board examined the Board of Management's 
proposal for the appropriation of net retained profit 
(Bilanzgewinn). Following this examination, the Supervisory 
Board approved the proposal of the Board of Management 
to distribute 22.6 million euros, and to carry forward the 
remaining net retained profit of 155.5 million euros.

DBAG entered into five new investments during the financial 
year under review. This demonstrates the Company's good 
market position and its ability to find and evaluate attractive 

opportunities and realise investments in a highly competitive 
environment. Four in many respects extremely successful 
disposals document DBAG's success in developing mid-sized 
companies. The Supervisory Board wishes to recognise and 
extend special thanks to the Board of Management, and the 
employees that have contributed to this success with their high 
degree of dedication over the past year.

Frankfurt/Main, 9 December 2019

Gerhard Roggemann 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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CORPOR ATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Corporate governance refers to the way a company is 
responsibly managed and overseen. The Board of Management 
and the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Beteiligungs AG 
acknowledge and endorse these principles. Therefore we have 
created a Code of Conduct that contains our Company’s key 
values and principles of conduct. Our aim is to provide a set of 
guidelines for employees, and to communicate to our business 
partners and investors that our actions are firmly rooted in 
ethical principles – and that we will always interact fairly in 
good partnership. Furthermore, our principles of conduct 
encompass avoiding conflicts of interest and acknowledging 
our social responsibility. We act politically neutral, but support 
social projects and commit to fair competition. We are also 
committed to sustainable corporate governance and comply 
with high ESG standards.

Our Corporate Governance Statement sets out the basic 
principles behind our business conduct; it is published online 
and accessible on our website, together with this report. We 
discuss the topic of sustainability in our Annual Report; we are 
not required to publish a comprehensive sustainability report 
(“Non-financial statement”) pursuant to section 289b of the 
German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch – HGB).

Consistent with the recommendation of the German Corporate 
Governance Code, as amended on 7 February 2017 (the “German 
Corporate Governance Code”), the following is a combined 
report by the Board of Management and the Supervisory 
Board on the corporate governance practised at Deutsche 
Beteiligungs AG. The Corporate Governance Statement and 
the Report of the Supervisory Board contain more information 

on the subject; the information therein is part of our corporate 
governance reporting. We will refer to other sections of this 
Annual Report for the individual aspects.

Compliance: employees, transaction  
process, portfolio companies

Compliance with all legal provisions applicable to Deutsche 
Beteiligungs AG and its subsidiaries, as well as adherence to 
all internal rules by management and employees have been 
Company goals and core elements of our corporate culture 
for a long time now. However, as a private equity company, 
this commitment does not only refer to our Company: it also 
includes current and future portfolio companies, where we 
endorse the establishment and development of compliance 
systems. DBAG’s compliance system therefore consists of three 
components:

>	compliance by DBAG staff,

>	compliance in the transaction process and

>	compliance at portfolio companies.

A Compliance Officer oversees adherence by EMPLOYEES to 
the rules established in the Code of Conduct and in the Com-
pliance Policy. Within this function, the Compliance Officer is 
independent, reporting directly to the Spokesman of the Board 
of Management. Four times a year, the Compliance Manager 
submits a report to the entire Board of Management. The Com-
pliance Policy establishes, for example, the rules for accepting 
and offering gifts, for entertainment and invitations to events.
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As requested by the German Corporate Governance Code, 
we have appointed an ombudsman, commissioning a lawyer 
from a specialised law firm for this task. DBAG employees 
may approach the ombudsman with confidential information 
on actual or suspected unlawful activity, especially regarding 
insider trading and money laundering legislation, but also 
with evidence of compliance violations, criminal offences or 
irregularities regarding DBAG. In the past financial year, no such 
reports were made to the ombudsman.

DBAG acts as a responsible investor, and thus we also consider 
compliance aspects within TR ANSAC TION PROCESSES , 
specifically in the due diligence process and in purchase 
agreements. Investigating compliance issues is an integral part 
of every due diligence process, typically carried out with a team 
of specialised compliance lawyers. To minimise the liability risk 
for DBAG in connection with compliance violations, warranty 
clauses to that effect are set to be included in every purchase 
agreement for a portfolio company.

DBAG employees holding office in a PORTFOLIO COMPANY’S 

supervisory board or advisory board, or acting as representatives 
for a portfolio company shareholder, are asked to endorse the 
introduction and development of a compliance system within 
the portfolio company. The DBAG Compliance Standard 
for Portfolio Companies serves as a guideline. All portfolio 
companies have introduced a compliance system, or are 
currently in the process of developing and launching such  
a system.

Composition of the Supervisory Board:  
operability is key

The German Corporate Governance Code recommends that 
the Supervisory Board has specific targets for its composition, 
develops a skills profile for the entire corporate body and 
reports on the status quo of target achievement.

The skills profile summarises the skills and requirements regarded 
as necessary by the Supervisory Board for the composition of the 
entire corporate body. Specifically, this includes the following 
areas of expertise and knowledge: industry knowledge, 
M&A processes, business strategy and planning, capital and 
financial markets, corporate governance, accounting/financial 
reporting and auditing financial statements, (regulatory) 
legislation, compliance and risk management, as well as IT 
and digitalisation. On top of these professional requirements, 
the following personal requirements apply: independence, 
availability, age, job tenure, and management experience. In 
addition, members may not be exposed to any conflicts of 
interest and should speak the Company language (German) 
as well as English.

DBAG’s Supervisory Board consists of six members, elected by 
shareholders at the Annual Meeting. The key objective for its 
composition and guiding principle for the skills profile is the 
Supervisory Board’s operability, which is best addressed when 
members are independent to a great extent and not exposed to 
conflicts of interest, when they are broadly experienced in the 
multifaceted operations of DBAG and have expert knowledge 
of applicable accounting principles. The Supervisory Board is of 
the opinion that the majority – i.e. at least four – of its members 
should be independent, the Chairperson of the Supervisory 
Board being one of them.

The current structure of the Supervisory Board fulfils this objec
tive. None of the Supervisory Board members has a business 
or personal relationship with the Company or its bodies, or 
with a controlling shareholder or an entity affiliated with the 
controlling shareholder, which may cause a substantial and not 
merely temporary conflict of interest. Therefore, the Super
visory Board deems all current members to be independent in 
terms of section 5.4.2 of the German Corporate Governance 
Code: Gerhard Roggemann (Chairman), Sonja Edeler, Wilken 
Freiherr von Hodenberg, Philipp Möller, Dr Hendrik Otto and  
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Dr Maximilian Zimmerer. With Mr von Hodenberg, a former 
member of the Board of Management joined the Supervisory 
Board. Should, contrary to expectations, conflicts of interest 
arise in individual instances, they will be disclosed and the  
Supervisory Board will deal with them. The Supervisory Board 
members have a great variety of professional and personal 
experience, including management positions abroad or with 
international companies in Germany. The Supervisory Board 
members fulfil the skills profile requirements and are, in their 
entirety, familiar with the sector DBAG operates in.

The specified age limit of 72 means that, on the one hand, 
the Company can benefit from their knowledge as long as 
possible, whilst the age limit is conducive to introducing the 
desired changes in the Board’s composition on the other. The 
limited job tenure for Supervisory Board members of three 
full terms maximum, plus a potential partial term of office, 
insofar as that a Supervisory Board member was not elected 
at a regular election, also induces change. We have achieved 
the target specified in the Corporate Governance Statement 
of “at least one woman” on the Supervisory Board. Within the 
context of preparing for the most recent by-election of one 
Supervisory Board member at the Annual Meeting (February 
2019), the Supervisory Board ensured that the candidate was 
in a position to devote the required amount of time to his  
prospective office.

Independence of bodies:  
no conflicts of interest

No conflicts of interest on the part of Board of Manage-
ment and Supervisory Board members requiring immediate 
disclosure to the Supervisory Board came to our attention in 
the year under review.

Principle of equal treatment: provision  
of timely information to all interested parties

We attach great importance to the principle of informing all 
interested parties about an event promptly and simultane-
ously, publishing all material reports, announcements and 
presentations online as soon as an event takes place. The key 

presentations we prepare for meetings with investors are also 
available on our website, as are the dates and locations of road 
shows and investors’ conferences. We also make recordings of 
our oral presentations during analysts’ conference calls available 
on our website.

Our Annual Meeting is usually webcast on the internet. Share-
holders can also exercise their voting rights via a proxy of their 
own choice, or via a proxy appointed by the Company and 
bound to vote in accordance with their instructions. Casting a 
vote per post is also possible. All documents and information 
on the Annual Meeting are accessible on our website in German 
and in English.

Board of Management remuneration:  
based on corporate performance

The remuneration paid to the Board of Management is com
posed of fixed and performance-related components, the lat-
ter of which take effect mainly in the long term. We disclose 
Board of Management remuneration individually. At the 2011 
Annual Meeting, the remuneration scheme was approved with 
an affirmative vote of approximately 92 per cent. 

Supervisory Board remuneration is exclusively fixed. 

For details on the Board of Management and Supervisory Board 
remuneration, please refer to the Remuneration Report (see 
pages 206 to 210).

Strict rules on share ownership

Apart from participating in the annual employee share owner
ship plan, employees and members of the bodies may only 
purchase DBAG shares within a limited timeframe. Shares may 
only be purchased or sold during specific periods of time and 
exclusively after receiving approval for each transaction. Trading 
periods begin on the day after publication of (if applicable, also 
preliminary) quarterly or annual financial reports, and end at 
the following quarterly reporting date. In the event that these 
trading periods overlap with the statutory trading prohibition 
of managers' transactions, the trading period for DBAG 
employees is also curtailed.
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Based on the nature of our business operations, further rules 
apply to stock trading by DBAG staff. Irrespective of the trading 
restrictions for DBAG shares, employees are not permitted to 
trade shares of companies in which the DBAG-advised funds are 
invested, are reviewing an investment, or shares of companies 
whose portfolios contain companies in which an investment is 
being considered.

Reportable securities transactions  
(managers' transactions)	

Pursuant to Article 19 of the EU Market Abuse Regulation, 
DBAG’s Board of Management and Supervisory Board mem-
bers as well as related parties are required to report managers’ 
transactions in DBAG shares, debt instruments and derivatives 
or other financial instruments linked thereto. 

Individual  
subject to  
the reporting 
requirement Body

Trans- 
action  
date

Trans-
action

No. of
shares

Share 
price  
(€)

Susanne Zeidler

Board of 
Manage-
ment

12 August 
2019 Purchase 1,000

30.59
(aggre-
gated)

As at 30 September 2019, the members of the Board of 
Management held a total of 40,613 no-par value shares, and 
the Supervisory Board members a total of 2,000 no-par value 
shares, and thus less than one per cent of Deutsche Beteiligungs 
AG’s share capital.

Declaration of Compliance  
pursuant to section 161 of the AktG

The Board of Management and the Supervisory Board decla-
re that Deutsche Beteiligungs AG (DBAG) has complied with 
the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance 
Code (the “Code”), as amended on 7 February 2017, with one 
exception: in the contracts with the Board of Management 
members, variable remuneration components with a multi-year 
assessment basis are not essentially forward-looking in their 
characteristics (section 4.2.3 of the Code). 

The remuneration system meets the currently applicable 
statutory criteria for participation in sustainable corporate 
success. The financial performance of a single DBAG finan
cial year depends to a large extent on a small number of 
transactions executed by DBAG funds. Within this context, 
postponing transactions to a subsequent period can make 
sense if better conditions are anticipated for the future. If 
the Board of Management’s variable remuneration were 
to be based on the planned measures, its members could 
be incentivised to make decisions that would ultimately 
prove less than ideal. The Supervisory Board is convinced 
that the existing variable remuneration concept is best 
suited to provide incentives for the Company's long-term 
positive development. Apart from this one exception, we will 
continue to comply with all of the Code’s recommendations.

Moreover, we have followed all of the Code’s suggestions 
since issuance of the last Declaration of Compliance, and will 
continue to do so.

 
Frankfurt / Main, September 2019

 
Deutsche Beteiligungs AG	  

The Board of Management	 The Supervisory Board
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OTHER STATUTORY D ISCLOSURES  AND  

EXPL ANATORY INFORMAT ION

R E M U N E R AT I O N  R E P O R T

The remuneration report summarises the principles applied in 
fixing the remuneration for the members of the Board of Man-
agement and the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Beteiligungs 
AG. It presents the structure and amount of remuneration paid 
to the members of the Board of Management and the Super
visory Board. The remuneration report is an integral constituent 
of the combined management report.

Management remuneration: geared to assignment, 
personal and company performance

The remuneration framework for the members of the Board 
of Management depicted in the following was approved by 
shareholders at the 2011 Annual Meeting. Since then it has 
fundamentally remained the same. However, at the start of 
the 2018/2019 financial year, adjustments took effect relating 
to the amount of fixed remuneration, the maximum amount 
of variable remuneration and its distribution between the one-
year and multi-year components; a further adjustment will take 
effect at the start of the 2019/2020 financial year.  

Remuneration system for financial year 2018/2019  

Total remuneration for the members of the Board of 
Management consists of

>	a fixed base salary, 

>	one-year variable remuneration,

>	multi-year variable remuneration,

>	�follow-on remuneration from completed  
remuneration models

>	fringe benefits, and

>	where applicable, pension benefits.

Criteria for the appropriateness of remuneration levels are, 
in particular, the responsibilities of the respective Board of 
Management member, their personal performance, and the 
economic position, performance and prospects of DBAG. To 
that end, the structure and level of remuneration schemes com-
mon to the private equity industry, which are required to attract 
and retain qualified key personnel, are considered.

Insofar as the members of the Board of Management receive 
remuneration for offices held in other portfolio companies, this 
is transferred to DBAG. Remuneration for executive functions 
in other companies or institutions subject to approval by the  
Supervisory Board remains with the respective member of  
the Board of Management. A severance pay cap is provided for 
in the service contracts of all Board of Management members. 
The D&O (directors’ and officers’) liability insurance that the 
Company has taken out contains a deductible for the Board 
of Management members. No advances or loans have been 
granted to them.

NON-PERFORMANCE-LINKED REMUNERATION consists of a 
fixed monthly salary and fringe benefits. Fringe benefits mainly 
consist of the taxable amounts for the use of a company car; 
these are limited to 50 per cent (previously: 100 per cent) of 
the fixed salary. 

THE ONE-YEAR VARIABLE REMUNERATION depends on 
individual performance during the past financial year and may 
now be as high as 40 per cent (previously: 50 per cent) of the 
fixed salary. Personal performance is determined by the Super-
visory Board at its equitable discretion.

MULTI -YEAR VARIABLE REMUNERATION is based on the 
Group’s performance over the reference period. It comprises 
the reporting year and the two prior financial years. The Super-
visory Board determines the Company’s performance based on 
the return on equity. The remuneration is granted if the return 
on equity is at least equal to the three-year average cost of 
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equity; the maximum amount of remuneration – 80 per cent 
(previously 50 per cent) of the fixed salary – is achieved with a 
return on equity of 20 per cent.

The amount of the two variable remuneration components for 
the 2018/2019 financial year was discussed by the Executive 
Committee of the Supervisory Board on 28 October 2019 and 
proposed to the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board 
approved the proposal and set the variable remuneration for 
the Board of Management at a total of 1,569,000 euros. Of that 
amount, 732,000 euros are attributable to one-year variable 
remuneration and this represents the maximum amount possible 
for each Board of Management member. The multi-year vari
able remuneration was fixed uniformly at approximately 57 per 
cent of the maximum amount possible and totals 837,000  euros. 
At the start of 2019, the members of the Board of Manage-
ment had repaid a performance-related remuneration of 
104,000 euros for the two previous financial years, after the 
consolidated net income for the 2016/2017 and 2017/2018 
financial years had been adjusted.

Follow-up variable remuneration  
from old remuneration models

In the financial year 2018/2019, the two Board of Manage-
ment members who are members of the investment team also 
received follow-up variable remuneration components from 
one of the two old remuneration models for members of the 
investment team. Both models had a particularly long-term 
measurement of investment success in common; the models 
are now only relevant for the few investments in the portfolio 
that were entered into prior to 2007.

>	�The profit-sharing scheme for investments entered into up 
to 31 December 2000 is geared to the return on equity 
of DBAG. Profit-sharing awards are only granted if the 
return on equity for the reporting year exceeds the mark 
of 15 per cent before taxes and bonuses. The computation 
base of equity relates exclusively to these investments. 
The remuneration for 2018/2019 is based on the profit 
distribution of the investment in JCK Holding.

>	�For investments that were made between 2001 and 2006, 
profit-sharing starts from a minimum return on investment of 
eight per cent per year after imputed costs of two per cent. 
They are exclusively paid from realised profits. Two-thirds of 
these entitlements are paid after the close of the respective 
financial year. Entitlement to the remaining one-third is 
subject to a final review after the disinvestment phase of all 

investments involved has been completed, and is paid out in 
the amount of the remaining final entitlement. 2018/2019, 
remuneration was received on the basis of income from one 
of the two third-party managed international buyout funds.

The subsequent variable remuneration components from the 
two old remuneration models are each limited to 65 per cent 
(previously: 150 per cent) of the fixed salary per year.

Profit-sharing awards from personal  
co-investments in the DBAG funds

Since the start of the investment period of DBAG Fund V at 
the start of 2007, Board of Management members who are 
also members of the investment team have had to support 
DBAG’s investments by acquiring a stake in the DBAG funds 
under company law using their own money. The purpose of 
taking a personal investment risk is to promote the initiative 
and commitment of the members of the Board of Manage-
ment within the investment team vis-à-vis the success of DBAG 
funds' investments. If the funds are successful, these Board 
of Management members receive a profit share that is dis-
proportionate to their capital commitment, subject to certain 
conditions (carried interest), as is common worldwide in the 
private equity sector. Investments and amounts received from 
such private investments in DBAG funds are included in the dis-
closures in Note 39 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements ("Related party disclosures, carried-interest partic-
ipations of key management personnel and former key man-
agement personnel").

Adjustments to take effect at the start  
of the new financial year

At the start of the 2019/2020 financial year, a new element 
was added to the remuneration of Torsten Grede and Dr Rolf 
Scheffels, the two members of the Board of Management who 
belong to the investment team. In future, as part of their per-
formance-related remuneration, they are entitled to receive a 
bonus for the performance of DBAG's investments entered into 
exclusively from the Company's own funds (Principal Invest-
ments bonus). The remuneration takes into account the per-
formance of Principal Investments from two successive financial 
years (investment period). For the first investment period, an 
entitlement to a Principal Investments bonus may only arise 
from Principal Investments made from 1 October 2019 onwards 
during the active term of office of the relevant member of 
the Board of Management. Any entitlement to remuneration 
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arising in this way shall continue to exist after any termination 
of the Board of Management member's contract. The entitle-
ment to remuneration arises only if DBAG has realised its invest-
ed capital plus a minimum return of eight per cent per annum 
(internal rate of return). In this case, a certain percentage of 
the total performance achieved in the respective investment 
period is paid out to the members of the Board of Manage-
ment entitled to bonuses; for the first investment period, this is  
6.5 per cent. Payments will only be made once DBAG has  
received the returns. The remuneration from the Principal Invest-
ments bonus is limited to 65 per cent of the fixed annual salary.

Pension commitments under two models

Pension commitments to Board of Management members are 
based on two models. Members of the Board of Management 
appointed for the first time up to 1 January 2001 received a 
pension commitment; members appointed after this date par-
ticipate in what is known as the contribution plan. This plan 
is also extended to other staff of Deutsche Beteiligungs AG; 
however, it has been closed to those employees and board 
members not covered by collective agreements since the begin-
ning of the financial year 2004/2005.  Members of the Board 
of Management appointed for the first time since then do not 
receive defined pension benefits; this applies to Susanne Zeidler.

Pension arrangements for Torsten Grede provide for defined 
annual pension benefits; they amount to 87,000 euros. The 
present value of this pension obligation was 1,560,000 euros as 
at 30 September 2019 (previous year: 1,299,000 euros). Dr Rolf 
Scheffels participates in the contribution plan: for each year of 
service, a one-time pension contribution is paid that is mea
sured by a percentage of the fixed salary for the year in question. 
The annual retirement benefit component amounts to 0.75 per 
cent of this remuneration, and six per cent of those parts of the 
remuneration exceeding the income threshold set by the state 
pension plan, each multiplied by an age factor that decreases 
with increasing age. The accrued pension capital for Dr Scheffels 
is capped at a contribution that corresponds to an annual pen-
sion entitlement of 87,000 euros. At 30 September 2019, the 
cap did not have an effect. The present value of the retirement 
benefit commitment to Dr Scheffels was 1,427,000 euros as at 
30 September 2019 (previous year: 1,225,000 euros).

Benefits granted

The remuneration granted to Board of Management members 
in the 2018/2019 financial year totalled 3,682,000 euros (pre
vious year: 3,274,000 euros); of that amount, 199,000 euros are 
attributable to pension expenses (previous year: 118,000 euros). 

Remuneration disbursed

Torsten Grede
Spokesman of the Board  

of Management

Dr Rolf Scheffels
Member of the Board  

of Management
Susanne Zeidler

Chief Financial Officer

€’000
2017 / 
2018 2018 / 2019

2017 / 
2018 2018 / 2019

2017 / 
2018 2018 / 2019

min. max. min. max. min. max. 

Fixed salary (not linked to  
performance) 560 640 640 640 560 640 640 640 450 550 550 550

Fringe benefits 12 12 12 12 10 10 10 10 19 18 18 18

Total 572 652 652 652 570 650 650 650 469 568 568 568

Performance-linked component
(one-year variable remuneration) 280 256 0 256 280 256 0 256 225 220 0 220

Component with long-term incentive 
effects (multi-year variable remuneration)

Bonus for Company’s long-term 
performance 205 293 0 512 205 293 0 512 165 251 0 440

Profit-sharing up to 2000 6 6 0 416 6 6 0 416 0 0 0 0

Profit-sharing 2001 to 2006 108 20 0 416 65 12 0 416 0 0 0 0

Total 1,171 1,227 652 2,252 1,126 1,217 650 2,250 859 1,039 568 1,228

Pension service costs 70 94 94 94 48 105 105 105 0 0 0 0

Total remuneration 1,241 1,321 746 2,346 1,174 1,322 755 2,355 859 1,039 568 1,228
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Remuneration paid

The information in the following table also takes into account 
the aforementioned repayment of part of the performance-
related remuneration for the financial years 2016/2017 and 
2017/2018. In 2018/2019, the members of the Board of 
Management received inflows: 

Remuneration disbursed

Torsten Grede
Spokesman of  

the Board  
of Management

Dr Rolf Scheffels
Member of the Board  

of Management

Susanne Zeidler
Chief Financial  

Officer

€’000
2018 / 
2019

2017 /
2018

2018 / 
2019

2017 /
2018

2018 / 
2019

2017 /
2018

Fixed salary (not linked to performance)

Fringe benefits 12 12 10 10 18 19

Total 652 572 650 570 568 469

Performance-linked component  
(one-year variable remuneration) 256 280 256 280 220 225

Component with long-term incentive effects  
(multi-year variable remuneration)

Bonus for Company’s long-term performance 293 205 293 205 251 165

Profit-sharing up to 2000 6 397 6 397 0 0

Profit-sharing 2001 to 2006 108 51 65 31 0 0

Other1 (37) 0 (37) 0 (30) 0

Total 1,277 1,505 1,232 1,483 1,009 859

Pension service costs 94 70 105 48 0 0

Total remuneration 1,371 1,575 1,337 1,531 1,009 859

Other: bonus repayments for the 2016/2017 and 2017/2018 financial years due to figures being restated in accordance with IAS 8

Former Board of Management members or their surviving 
dependants received total payments of 1,074,000 euros (previous 
year: 1,497,000 euros) in the financial year under review. This also 
includes follow-on payments to former members of the Board of 
Management from older investments (investments committed up 
to 31 December 2000 or entered into between 2001 and 2006). 
These payments amounted to 115,000 euros for the financial year 
under review (previous year: 558,000 euros). The present value of 
pension obligations for former Board of Management members 
and their surviving dependants amounted to 25,170,000 euros 
at the reporting date (previous year: 22,516,000 euros). Amounts 
received by former Board of Management members from private 
equity investments in DBAG funds are included in the disclosures 
in Note 39 to the consolidated financial statements ("Information 
on related parties, carried interest investments by current and 
former key management staff").

Supervisory Board compensation

The remuneration for members of the Supervisory Board is 
geared to the resolution passed at the Annual Meeting on 
26  March 2013. It consists of two components: an annual 
fixed fee of 50,000 euros (base remuneration) and bonuses for 
the Chair, Vice Chair and committee membership (additional 
remuneration). The Chairman of the Supervisory Board receives 
a maximum of twice the base remuneration, irrespective of 
their membership on various committees. The Vice Chairman 
of the Supervisory Board and the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee receive a maximum of one and a half times the 
base remuneration. Members of the Executive and Nomination 
Committee receive a quarter of this amount.

Remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board 
amounted to 370,000 euros for the 2018/2019 financial year 
(previous year: 388,000 euros).
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€’000 Fixed fee Bonus Total

Andrew Richards  
Chairman until 13 October 2018 2 1 3

Sonja Edeler 50 – 50

Wilken Freiherr von Hodenberg 50 – 50

Philipp Möller 50 13 63

Dr Hendrik Otto
Deputy Chairman since  
14 October 2018 50 24 74

Gerhard Roggemann
Deputy Chairman until  
13 October 2018, Chairman  
since 14 October 2018 50 49 99

Dr Maximilian Zimmerer
since 21 February 2019 30 – 30

Total 282 88 370

In the financial year 2018/2019, members of the Supervisory 
Board did not receive any fees for consultancy services.

TAKEOVER- REL ATED D ISC LOSU RES (SEC T I ONS 

2 8 9 A  (1)  A N D  3 15 A  (1)  O F  T H E  H G B )

At 30 September 2019, the share capital of Deutsche Beteili-
gungs AG amounted to 53,386,664.43 euros. It is divided into 
15,043,994 no-par value registered shares with an imputed 
nominal value of 3.55 euros (rounded). There is only one class 
of shares. All shares carry the same rights and obligations. In 
accordance with section 67 (2) of the German Stock Corpo-
ration Act (Aktiengesetz – AktG), only shareholders who are 
listed in the share register are considered shareholders of the 
Company. With the exception of any treasury shares over which 
the Company is not entitled to exercise rights, each no-par val-
ue share carries one vote. The voting right does not begin until 
the contribution has been made in full. Rights and obligations 
attached to the shares ensue from the statutory provisions, in 
particular sections 12, 53a et seqq., 118 et seqq., and 186 of 
the AktG.

In June 2019, the Company was last notified in accordance 
with section 33 of the German Securities Trading Act (Wert-
papierhandelsgesetz – WpHG) that 20.03 per cent of the vot-
ing rights were held directly by Rossmann Beteiligungs GmbH, 
Burgwedel, Germany. An agreement for the relinquishing of 

control has existed between DBAG and this company since 
March 2013. The agreement initially had a term of five years 
until the end of the 2018 Annual Meeting; the agreement is ex-
tended automatically and can now be terminated annually with 
effect from the end of the next Annual Meeting. According 
to the agreement, for resolutions concerning the election or 
dismissal of Supervisory Board members, Rossmann Beteili-
gungs GmbH undertakes to exercise the voting rights attached 
to shares in DBAG attributable to the Rossmann Group as a 
whole – now and in the future – within a scope of no more 
than 45 per cent of the voting capital present at an Annual 
Meeting. The board of Management is not aware of any other 
restrictions relating to voting rights or the transfer of shares.

In accordance with the Articles of Association of DBAG, the 
Board of Management consists of at least two individuals. The 
appointment of these members to the Board of Management 
requires a simple majority of the votes cast by the Supervisory 
Board members. In the event of a tie, the Chairman has the 
casting vote (Article 11 (4) of the Articles of Association). The 
Supervisory Board may exempt all or individual members of 
the Board of Management, in general or in individual cases, 
from the restrictions in section 181 of the German Civil Code 
(Bürgerliches Gesetzbuch – BGB). So far it has not made use of 
this option.

Amendments to the Articles of Association may be adopted 
pursuant to the provisions of sections 179, 133 of the AktG and 
pursuant to Article 5 (3) and (4) and Article 17 of the Articles of 
Association. The Supervisory Board may adopt amendments to 
the Articles of Association that relate merely to wording. The 
Articles of Association provide that resolutions at the Annual 
Meeting shall be generally adopted with a simple majority 
of the votes, or, insofar as a majority of the share capital is  
required, by a simple majority of the share capital, except 
where the law or the Articles of Association demand otherwise.

At the Annual Meeting on 21 February 2018, the Board of 
Management was authorised, in accordance with section 
71 (1) no. 8 of the AktG, to purchase own shares of up to 
ten per cent of the share capital existing at the time of the 
Annual Meeting (53,386,664.43 euros) up to and including 
20 February 2023. The Board of Management may choose to  
acquire shares via the stock exchange or via a public tender  
to all shareholders or an invitation to submit such a tender. The 
Board of Management is authorised, subject to the consent of 
the Supervisory Board, to resell its own shares, for example, 
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as consideration in conjunction with corporate acquisitions or 
mergers or acquisitions of investments in enterprises under 
exclusion of shareholders’ subscription rights in other ways 
than via the stock exchange or by public offer to all sharehold-
ers. In the past financial year, the Board of Management did 
not make use of these authorisations.

On 22 February 2017, the Annual Meeting passed a resolu-
tion authorising the Board of Management to increase the 
share capital, with the consent of the Supervisory Board, until 
21 February 2022 by up to a total of 13,346,664.33  euros 
through one or more issues of new no-par value registered 
shares in exchange for cash or non-cash contributions (Author-
ised Capital 2017). Shareholders are generally to be granted 
subscription rights in such cases. The Board of Management 
is, however, authorised to exclude shareholders’ subscription 
rights in certain instances and within a certain capital range. In 
the past financial year, the Board of Management did not make 
use of this authorisation.

In conjunction with the authorisation adopted at the Annual 
Meeting on 22 February 2017 concerning the issuance of war-
rant-linked bonds and/or convertible bonds for a total of up 
to 140,000,000.00 euros until 21 February 2022, with the 
option of excluding shareholders’ subscription rights in cer-
tain instances and within a certain capital range, the share 
capital of the Company will be conditionally raised by up to 
13,346,664.33 euros through the issuance of 3,760,998 new 
no-par registered shares (Conditional Capital 2017/I). The con-
ditional capital increase will only be executed insofar as holders 
or creditors of warrant-linked bonds and/or convertible bonds 
exercise their option or conversion rights or fulfil their option/
conversion obligation, or to the extent that the Company or the 
Group company issuing the debt security exercises an option 
to service the entitlements by delivering shares in the Com-
pany instead of a cash settlement (in whole or in part), and 
insofar as, in each case, cash compensation is not granted and 
treasury shares or shares from authorised capital or shares of 
another listed company are not used for servicing. In the past 
financial year, the Board of Management did not make use of 
this authorisation.

The existing authorisations are detailed in the respective reso
lutions passed at the Annual Meetings mentioned above. 
Details on Authorised and Conditional Capital, and on the 
acquisition of treasury shares, are also provided in the Notes 
to the consolidated financial statements (under "Notes to the 
consolidated statement of financial position"), and in the con-
solidated financial statements.

The members of the Board of Management do not have a 
special right to terminate their service contracts in the event 
of a change of control at Deutsche Beteiligungs AG. In this 
event, they are also not entitled to severance payments based 
on compensation agreements.

C O R P O R AT E  G O V E R N A N C E  S TAT E M E N T 

( S E C T I O N S  2 8 9 F  A N D  3 15 D  O F  T H E  	

G E R M A N  C O M M E R C I A L  C O D E  ( H G B ) )

The Corporate Governance Statement pursuant to sections 289f 
and  315d of the HGB is permanently available in the Investor 
Relations section of our website under Corporate Governance 
(www.dbag.com/investor-relations/corporate-governance/
management-declaration). It includes the Declaration of Com-
pliance with the German Corporate Governance Code, pur-
suant to section 161 of the AktG, information on corporate 
governance practices and a description of how the Board 
of Management and the Supervisory Board work, as well as 
information on targets for the share of female members on the 
Supervisory Board, the Board of Management and the manage-
ment level below the Board of Management.
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B

Buyout fund A private equity fund focused 
on >  MBOs. 

C

Capital management company (Kapital-
verwaltungsgesellschaft – KVG) Company 
with its registered office and headquarters 
in Germany whose business operations are 
aimed at managing domestic investment 
assets, EU investment assets or foreign alter
native investment funds. Only one capital 
management company can be responsible 
for each investment fund category, which 
is also answerable for compliance with the 
rules of the German Capital Investment Code 
(KAGB). DBAG is a registered capital man-
agement company under the KAGB.

Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) Non-prof-
it organisation whose objective is worldwide 
transparency regarding environmental data. 
Within the scope of the CDP, DBAG issues 
detailed annual reports on its greenhouse gas 
emissions.

Carried Interest: A share of the profits 
of a private equity fund that is paid to the  
investment managers regardless of  
the amount they originally contributed to the 
fund, provided that a predefined hurdle rate  
(> preferred return) has been cleared. It  
provides an incentive to investment managers 
and creates an alignment of interest between 
them and the fund investors.

Co-investment DBAG invests in portfolio 
companies alongside the DBAG funds. The 
ratio of DBAG’s co-investment and the other 
investors in a fund is fixed for the fund’s 
entire term; DBAG holds a minority interest 
in the respective investment.

Co-investment vehicle Companies via 
which DBAG has structured its co-invest-
ments alongside the DBAG funds.

Corporate functions The auxiliary functions 
for the investment process and administrative 
tasks. These responsibilities also include port-
folio valuation and risk management. 

Cost of equity Calculatory return on the 
equity employed. Similar to providers of 
borrowings, equity providers (shareholders) 
expect a return on their invested capital. 

This is usually achieved through share price 
increases and distributions. The cost of equity 
can be determined by various models and 
generally exceeds that for borrowings, since 
equity capital entails greater risk. DBAG uses 
the capital asset pricing model (CAPM) to de-
termine the cost of equity. For this method, 
a company-specific risk premium calculated 
using a mathematical formula is added to a 
risk-free interest rate.

D

Deal flow Investment opportunities available 
to an investment company such as DBAG.

Deal sourcing The process of seeking and 
selecting potential portfolio companies.

Discounted cash flow method (DCF) 
Procedure used to measure the value of an 
enterprise, determined by the sum of dis-
counted cash flows expected in the future. 
Discounting is performed using an interest 
rate for a long-term risk-free investment plus 
a risk premium.

Due Diligence Systematic and detailed col-
lection, investigation and analysis of data on 
a target company preceding a commitment 
to invest. The purpose is to determine the 
strengths and weaknesses of that company 
as well as the risks involved.

E

ESG Short for “Environmental, Social and 
Governance”. DBAG regularly reports on 
these aspects.

Executive Circle The core of DBAG’s net-
work, comprising around 60 experts from 
different industries who, in the course of 
their career, have mostly held management 
positions and now share their knowledge 
and experience with DBAG’s investment 
team. Members of the Executive Circle are 
contractually bound to DBAG, some of them 
even exclusively.

F

Fair value The current amount for which an 
investment could be exchanged between 
knowledgeable, willing and independent 
parties. According to > IFRS accounting rules, 
financial assets such as corporate investments 
are to be valued based on this concept.

G

German Corporate Governance Code 
Lists key statutory rules and regulations on 
the management and oversight of German 
listed companies and contains internationally 
and nationally recognised standards of good 
responsible corporate governance by way of 
recommendations and suggestions. 

German Capital Investment Code (Kapital
anlagegesetzbuch – KAGB) Legal frame-
work for managers of open and closed-end 
funds.

German Special Investment Company 
Act (Gesetz über Unternehmensbeteili-
gungsgesellschaften – UBGG) In 1985, 
Deutsche Beteiligungs AG was the first firm 
to be recognised as a special investment 
company. This law, for example, exempts 
companies – subject to certain conditions – 
from municipal trade tax and is aimed at 
creating indirect access to the capital market 
for mid-sized companies.

Growth financing Minority stake in a com-
pany – the majority remains with the past 
owner. Both early-stage and established com-
panies may seek expansion capital to finance 
their next phase of growth. More informa-
tion: http://www.dbag.de/our-business/
investment-philosophy.

I

IFRIC Abbreviation for “International 
Financial Reporting Interpretations Com-
mittee”. Committee of the International 
Accounting Standards Committee Foundation  
(IASCF). It publishes guidance on IFRS and IAS 
accounting standards which have varying or 
incorrect interpretations, as well as on new 
scenarios that were not given sufficient con-
sideration in the current standards.

IFRS Short for “International Financial Report
ing Standards” (formerly IAS). Accounting 
rules that have been obligatory for the con-
solidated accounting of listed companies in 
the European Union since 2005.

Investment entity subsidiaries Umbrella 
term for the co-investment vehicles and DBG.

IRR Short for “Internal Rate of Return”. 
Financial mathematic method of determining 
the return on an investment.

GLOSSARY
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M

M&A Short for “mergers and acquisitions”. 
General term for such transactions in the cor-
porate sector.

Management buyout (MBO) The take-
over of a company by its management with 
the support of one or more financial inves-
tors who largely finance the transaction and 
assume the majority of the voting rights or 
share capital.

Mezzanine Hybrid capital ranking between 
voting capital and first lien debt.

Mid-market segment The market for invest
ment transactions is divided into three seg-
ments: transactions with a value of less than 
50 million euros are considered “small“; the 
mid-market segment comprises transactions 
valued from 50 to 300 million euros; transac-
tions with a value of more than 300 million 
euros form the upper market segment.

Multiples method Procedure used to value 
an enterprise. Expressed as the product of 
an indicator (e.g. earnings) and a multiple 
derived from current market prices. That mul-
tiple is based on the quotient of the market 
prices for a group of similar companies and 
their respective performance indicators.

N

Net asset value Sum of the portfolio’s fair 
value at the valuation date, less minority 
interest in the investment entity subsidiaries 
(primarily carried interest), other assets/
liabilities of these subsidiaries (such as capi-
tal drawn down, but not yet invested), other 
non-current assets and financial resources, 
less (any) bank liabilities.

New focus sectors Alongside investments 
in DBAG’s key sectors (automotive suppliers, 
mechanical and plant engineering, industrial 
components and industrial services), compa-
nies from focus sectors such as broadband 
telecommunications, IT services/software and 
healthcare have been added to the portfolio.

O

Other financial instruments Loans 
extended by DBAG to investment entity sub-
sidiaries for the temporary financing of new 
portfolio companies (also >short-term bridge 
financing)

P

Peer group A group of companies similar 
in terms of industry, structure, products and 
revenues, used for comparison purposes.

Portfolio All of the investments of DBAG.

Preferred return Ensures that fund inves-
tors receive base remuneration before the 
carried interest of the management com
pany/its management team (in DBAG’s case: 
the members of the investment team) takes  
effect; the base remuneration comprises the 
repayment of the paid-in capital, plus inter-
est on this capital corresponding to eight 
percent per annum, with compound interest  
calculated annually.

Principal Investments Equity participa-
tions in mid-sized companies that are being  
financed solely from DBAG’s balance sheet.

Private Debt Funds Loans granted by funds 
as opposed to by conventional banks

R

Recapitalisation Replaces part of the rel-
atively expensive equity tied in a company 
by lower-cost debt. The aim is to optimise 
the capital structure. The free funds are then  
distributed to the shareowners.

Refinancing For transactions in the corpo-
rate sector, an existing loan is substituted 
for a new loan.  For example, in an acquisi-
tion a shareholder loan can be replaced – or 
refinanced – by acquisition financing.

Return on equity per share Key target 
and performance indicator of DBAG. The 
closing return on equity per share at the end 
of the financial year is set against the open-
ing equity per share at the beginning of the  
financial year, less the dividend paid in  
the course of that year.

S

Secondary/tertiary buyout An investment 
that is sold by a financial investor to another 
financial investor.

Short-term interim financing Occasionally, 
DBAG initially uses proprietary capital when 
making an acquisition to bridge the time until 
the acquisition financing can be secured. 
When this is arranged after completion of 
a transaction, it replaces part of the capital 
employed, which is then returned to the 
investors.

Structured entity Term used in the IFRS. An 
entity that has been designed so that voting 
or similar rights are not the dominant factor 
in deciding who controls the entity.

T

Top-up fund Will invest together with the 
principal fund DBAG Fund VII in larger trans-
actions (investment amounts that exceed 
10 percent of the assets of DBAG Fund VII).

U

Unitranche A type of credit facility in which 
first-lien and second-lien components are 
combined in one tranche.
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F O R WA R D - L O O K I N G  S TAT E M E N T S

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements related 
to the prospects and progress of Deutsche Beteiligungs AG. 
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IDENTIF Y ING OPPORTUNIT IES .  DRIV ING DE VELOPMENT S .

€mn 2009 / 2010 2010 / 2011 2011 / 2012 2012 / 2013 2013 / 2014 2014 / 2015 2015 / 2016 2016/ 2017 2017 / 2018 2018 / 2019

Restated1 11 months Restated2 Restated3 Restated3

Core business objective: increase the Company's value

Net asset value (reporting date) 304.2 313.0 389.0 451.5 470.7 472.1

Net income from Fund Investment Services 8.0 2.2 (3.0) 4.7 5.6 3.0

Financial objective: increase the value of Private Equity Investments

Net income from investment activity 50.7 29.2 59.4 85.8 31.1 49.6

Earnings before tax 40.4 24.9 52.3 77.3 24.2 42.1

Cash fl ow from investing activities 37.5 (72.7) (6.0) 108.9 (30.6) (15.5)

Net asset value (reporting date) 304.2 313.0 389.0 451.5 470.7 472.1

Financial assets 163.4 256.3 316.3 254.2 318.9 385.7

Other fi nancial instruments – – – 35.6 32.8 17.0

Financial resources4 140.7 56.7 72.6 161.6 119.0 69.4

Ratio of invested to non-invested funds 1.16 times 4.52 times 4.35 times 1.79 times 2.95 times 5.80 times

Available liquidity 140.7 56.7 122.6 211.6 169.0 119.4

   Financial resources4 140.7 56.7 72.6 161.6 119.0 69.4

   Credit line – – 50.0 50.0 50.0 50.0

Co-investment commitments alongside DBAG funds – 110.7 278.2 253.7 198.5 130.0

Surplus of co-investment commitments over available liquidity (140.7) 54.0 155.6 42.1 29.4 10.6

Financial objective: increase the value of Fund Investment Services

Income from fund services 24.5 20.5 19.5 28.1 29.7 28.2

Earnings before tax 8.0 2.2 (3.0) 4.7 5.6 3.0

Assets under management or advisory (reporting date) – 1,073.7 1,775.9 1,805.9 1,831.4 1,704.4

Financial objective: ensure that shareholders participate in performance

Dividend per share (2018/2019 proposal; €) 1.40 0.80 1.20 1.20 2.00 1.00 1.20 1.40 1.45 1.50

Dividend yield5 (%) 7.9 4.2 7.2 6.2 9.5 3.6 4.4 3.9 3.5 4.4

Total distribution6 (2018/2019: proposal) 19.1 10.9 16.4 16.4 27.4 13.7 18.1 21.1 21.8 22.6

Non-financial objective: garner esteem as a financial investor in mid-sized companies

Number of investment opportunities 236 260 284 316 299 253 221 321 261 258

Number of portfolio investments 17 16 18 20 19 24 25 24 29 29

Non-financial objective: garner esteem as a fund advisor

Number of capital commitments of returning investors (most recent DBAG fund, %) > 50 > 50 > 75 > 75 > 75 > 75

Non-financial objective: retain experienced and motivated employees

Number of employees 51 53 54 55 56 62 63 67 71 75

Average length of company service (years) 8.6 7.8 7.4 7.0 6.8 7.3 8.0 7.5 7.7 7.6

Other indicators

Net income (IFRS) 34.1 (16.6 44.5 32.3 48.0 27.0 49.5 82.0 29.7 45.9

Net income (HGB) 65.4 2.3 2.2 144.3 9.9 29.1

Information on DBAG shares 

Number of shares at the beginning of the fi nancial year 13,676,359 13,676,359 13,676,359 13,676,359 13,676,359 13,676,359 15,043,994 15,043,994 15,043,994 15,043,994

Share price at the end of the fi nancial year (€) 20.79 15.50 19.49 19.36 21.83 24.90 29.57 45.51 35.40 34.70

Market capitalisation at the end of the fi nancial year 284.3 212.0 266.6 264.8 298.6 340.5 444.9 684.7 528.8 522.0

The table contains data as originally reported in the respective consolidated fi nancial statements. 
1 Data restated to the previous year‘s fi gure, based on changes in accounting (IFRS 10) 
2 Restated in accordance with IFRS 10  
3 Restated in accordance with IAS 8  
4 Cash and cash equivalents plus short-term and long-term securities 
5 Based on the average Xetra closing price during the fi nancial year 
6 Relates to the respective fi nancial year 
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10  D E C E M B E R  2 019

Publication of  2018 / 2019 consolidated 

financial statements, Press and analysts‘ conference, 

Frankfurt/Main, Germany

18  D E C E M B E R  2 019

Road show Zurich, Switzerland

9/10  J A N UA RY  2 0 2 0

Oddo BHF Forum, Lyon, France

15  J A N UA RY  2 0 2 0

Road show London, United Kingdom 

2 3  J A N UA RY  2 0 2 0

Road show Dublin, Ireland

10  F E B R UA RY  2 0 2 0

Publication of the quarterly statement 

on the first quarter 2019 / 2020, 

Analysts‘ conference call

2 0  F E B R UA RY  2 0 2 0

Annual Meeting,

Frankfurt/Main, Germany

2 5  F E B R UA RY  2 0 2 0

Dividend payment

2 4 – 2 6  M A R C H  2 0 2 0

Bankhaus Lampe Capital Markets Conference

(Germany Conference), Baden-Baden, Germany

13  M AY  2 019

Publication of the half-yearly 

financial report 2019 / 2020, 

Analysts‘ conference call

9/10  J U N E  2 0 2 0

Road show Warsaw, Poland

2 2  J U N E  2 0 2 0

Capital Markets Day, Frankfurt/Main, Germany

6  AU G U S T  2 0 2 0

Publication of the  quarterly statement 

on the third quarter 2019 / 2020, 

Analysts‘ conference call
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